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Committed to serving our customers with world-class products and timely 

delivery, we are actively working towards achieving our Vision 2025; to 

become a full family clothing partner of choice. Our focus is on enhancing 

customer experience through value-added services and a wide multi-

category product portfolio. Designed to serve all ages, genders, and 

abilities, our offerings are produced responsibly, meeting the highest 

environmental and social standards while strengthening our position as a 

trusted partner in the global apparel industry.
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Interloop Limited, headquartered in Pakistan, is a vertically integrated Full Family Clothing company, manufacturing 

Hosiery, Denim, Knitted Apparel & Seamless Activewear products, for top international brands and retailers, aiming to 

become a Partner of Choice. 

Being the largest listed apparel 

company on the Pakistan Stock 

Exchange by market capitalization and 

the only Pakistani apparel company on 

the Morgan Stanley Frontier Market 

Index (MSCI), Interloop stands as one 

of the country’s leading  exporters, 

with annual sales of PKR 173,382 

million. With 37,000+ employees 

representing 15 nationalities, Interloop 

brings together talent, expertise, 

and innovation, working across an 

organizational network operating from 

6 countries, including an extensive, 

well-equipped industrial infrastructure 

base in Pakistan, an associate 

manufacturing facility in Sri Lanka, a 

manufacturing facility and sourcing 

office in China, and marketing services 

offices in the USA, Europe, and Japan. 

Shaping the future of Pakistan’s 

apparel industry, Interloop is setting 

benchmarks in environmental 

sustainability. The company is 

targeting 100% waste diversion 

from landfill by FY 2026, supported 

by Reverse Resources for traceable 

circular solutions. Interloop achieved 

Alliance for Water Stewardship (AWS) 

Gold Certification for its Denim and 

Hosiery facilities in Lahore, recognizing 

excellence in water governance, 

management, and community 

WASH investments ,reinforcing its 

commitment to responsible water 

use. Interloop’s proprietary Looptrace 

platform enhances supply chain 

transparency by tracing raw materials 

back to their origins, with real-

time data collection and document 

management designed to ensure 

compliance, with global due diligence 

standards. To promote low-impact 

textiles, the company launched 

Loomshake™ a sustainable innovation 

that combines banana fiber derived 

from banana waste with cotton to 

produce hosiery, denim, and knitted 

apparel, all certified by ISCC Plus 

and OEKO-TEX 100 for quality and 

full traceability from farm to finished 

product. Its Hosiery Plants 4, 5 & 6 

have attained LEED Gold Certification, 

while its Denim and Apparel Plant 2 

are LEED Platinum certified facilities. 

In FY 2025, an additional 4.6 MW solar 

plant was commissioned, increasing 

total onsite capacity to 17.3 MW 

and reinforcing our commitment 

to renewable energy. Interloop’s 

Regenagri Kapas Project, certified by 

Control Union, is transforming cotton 

farming practices, promoting soil 

regeneration and biodiversity.

Interloop continues to advance 

its digital transformation journey, 

enhancing its ERP and MES landscape 

through Project Foglight across 

Hosiery, Denim, and Apparel units. 

By embedding AI and digital tools 

such as Digital Twin, Kanban, and 

real-time dashboards, the company is 

driving efficiency, agility, and smarter 

decision-making on the shop-floor. 

Home-grown AI solutions like YODA 

for product development, a product 

risk assessment solution in Denim, 

and machine health assessment and 

corrective-action recommendation 

system in Hosiery are moving from 

pilots to deployment, with further 

innovations in smart planning and 

automation underway. Interloop’s 

commitment to safeguard its critical IT 

infrastructure and data is reinforced by 

its dedicated IT Governance function, 

achieving ISO 27001:2022 certification. 

Interloop reinforces its traceability 

and compliance while moving toward 

Digital Product Passport.

As a Business with Purpose, Interloop 

embraces the Triple Bottom Line 

approach focusing on Planet, People, 

and Prosperity. Rooted in its Mission, 

Interloop’s reason for existence is 

to bring about positive change for 

its stakeholders and the community. 

Its ambition to transform lives and 

improve the wellbeing of its people 

and communities through targeted 

interventions, foster a diverse, 

engaged, and inclusive workforce, 

and conserve the environment is 

consistently reflected in the company’s 

business decisions, practices, and 

initiatives.

Our commitment to the UN Global 

Compact and the UN Fashion Industry 

Charter for Climate Action reinforces 

our drive to champion Net-Zero Goals 

and our commitment to sustainable 

development.

engaged associates from
15 nationalities

37,000+
solar installed

capacity

17.3MWOnly Apparel Company
from Pakistan on the main
Morgan Stanley Frontier

Market Index (MSCI)

COMPANY 
PROFILE



Drive efficiencies through digitalization

INTEGRITY 

CARE 

ACCOUNTABILITY 

RESPECT 

EXCELLENCE 

To be an agent of positive 
change for stakeholders and the 
community by pursuing an ethical 
and sustainable business.

Vision 2025 is our growth-led strategy 

centered around our customer-first 

approach, positioning Interloop as the 

preferred Full Family Clothing Partner of 

Choice.

This roadmap, spanning July 2021 to 

June 2026, re昀氀ects our commitment to 

delivering responsibly manufactured, 

multi-category products that meet 

the highest environmental and social 

performance standards. Our goal is 

to maintain leadership in hosiery and 

continue building global credibility of 

our denim, knitted apparel, and seamless 

activewear products, catering to our 

customers, for all ages, genders, and 

abilities.

To effectively implement this strategy, we 

are unlocking the true potential of our 

people by fostering a diverse, engaged 

and inclusive work environment that drives 

high performance. This transformation is 

supported by our commitment to digital 

innovation and an agile and lean mindset 
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OUR 
MISSION

OUR 
VALUES

across all aspects of our operations. By 

providing exceptional customer service 

through value-added offerings and 

responsible business practices, we are 

af昀椀rming our role as the partner of choice 

for our clients.
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$700M
REVENUE BY FY2026

Transforming into a full family clothing 
business will build further credibility with

our customers

2.5x
REVENUE THROUGH

VALUE ADDED SERVICES

Providing value added services creating
strong lasting partnerships

25%
LOWER CARBON FOOTPRINT

AND RESOURCE CONSUMPTION

Lead the way in responsible
manufacturing meeting highest standards
of environmental and social performance

PEOPLE

A diverse, inclusive and engaged workforce
creating a high performing organization

HOW WE�LL DO IT

DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION

Drive efficiencies through digitalization
and provide transparency to our customers
with real time information

AGILE MANUFACTURING

Drive an agile organization retaining our
competitive position as a responsive high
quality manufacturer

To Become a Full Family Clothing
Partner of Choice
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OUR VISION 
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TOTAL

SALES

PKR’B

173.38
156.13 FY 2024

EARNINGS

PER SHARE

PKR

3.84
11.25 FY 2024

PROFIT 

AFTER TAX 

PKR’B

5.38
15.77 FY 2024

CURRENT

RATIO

TIMES

1.17
1.14 FY 2024

RETURN

ON

EQUITY

9.74%
29.46% FY 2024

CASH DIVIDEND 

PER SHARE

PKR

1.00
4.50 FY 2024

*

KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS

* Final dividend PKR 1 per share subject to approval of shareholders
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Revenue in USD

615
Million

Revenue Growth

11%
Year - on - Year

Apparel Plant 2

LEED Platinum
Certification with 94 / 110 score

Empowering People

507,236 Hours
Technical Training

Record Ramp-up

330 Days
Hosiery Plant 6

Alliance for Water Stewardship

GOLD Certification
Only textile company

2025 
HIGHLIGHTS
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ORGANIZATIONAL 
STRUCTURE
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DISABILITY INCLUSION RECOGNITION AWARD

Interloop received the prestigious Diamond Award at the 2024 

Disability Inclusion Recognition Awards, from Employers’ Federation of 

Pakistan, for advancing workplace inclusion and scoring over 90% in a 

rigorous expert evaluation.

ISPO TEXTRENDS BEST PRODUCT AWARD

Interloop’s Socklab®, the world’s first Cradle to Cradle Certified™ 

GOLD sock, was named Best Product in the Accessories category 

at ISPO TexTrends FW 2026/27, Munich, reinforcing its leadership in 

sustainable and high-performance footwear.

TOP ETHICAL PERFORMING SUPPLIER AWARD 2024

Interloop Limited received the Top Ethical Performing Supplier Award 

2024 from TESCO, recognizing our outstanding commitment to ethical 

practices. This achievement reflects our dedication to compliance, 

capability, and transparency.

COLLABORATE TO ACCELERATE AWARD 2025

Interloop received Nike’s Collaborate to Accelerate Award 2025 

in February, Sri Lanka, recognizing our valuable contribution to the 

Learning Community and reaffirming our commitment to partnership 

and shared growth.

ENVIRONMENTAL EXCELLENCE AWARD

Interloop received the Environmental Excellence Award at the 

adidas ESG Summit in September 2024, recognizing its continued 

commitment to sustainable practices and environmental stewardship.

2025 
RECOGNITIONS
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HOSIERY

753M*
PAIRS OF SOCKS

ANNUAL PRODUCTION CAPACITY

Interloop stands among the world’s largest sock 

manufacturers, producing over 753 million pairs annually for 

some of the most iconic global brands and retailers, including 

Nike, adidas, STICHD, Target, H&M, C&A, M&S, Amazon, 

and Uniqlo. With more than three decades of expertise, the 

company has built its reputation on quality, scale, innovation, 

and sustainable practices, making it a preferred partner 

worldwide.

With six vertically integrated manufacturing facilities in 

Pakistan and one each in Sri Lanka and China. Leveraging 

advanced knitting and finishing technologies—such as auto-

linking, double-cylinder knitting, Jeanologia, and Tonello 

systems—the company manufactures a diverse portfolio of 

socks, from athletic and performance to fashion and casual 

wear for all age groups.

Interloop’s products are crafted using natural, man-made, 

and recycled fibers, enhanced with innovative features like 

extreme breathability, anti-blistering, anti-friction, and ultra-

grip. The company also holds one of the largest capacities 

for infant socks worldwide, meeting the requirements of its 

global clientele.

As a full-service partner, Interloop provides end-to-end 

solutions in product development, quality assurance, research 

and innovation, and digital sampling. Its strong emphasis 

on sustainability and investments in digital technologies 

continue to reshape operations across design, manufacturing, 

customer engagement, and warehousing, ensuring agility and 

efficiency in a dynamic global marketplace.

* Based on current mix

BUSINESS 
CATEGORIES
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DENIM

9.5M*
GARMENTS

ANNUAL PRODUCTION CAPACITY

Interloop Denim has rapidly emerged as a global 

benchmark for responsible denim manufacturing, combining 

sustainability, innovation, and style. Since its launch in 

December 2019, it has grown into one of the largest LEED 

Platinum-certified denim facilities in the world, producing 

up to 9.5 million garments annually while leading the way in 

environmentally conscious and resource-efficient production.

Rooted in sustainability, the facility integrates Industry 

4.0 practices and low-impact solutions to minimize its 

environmental footprint. From nano-bubble technology and 

waterless ozone bleaching to auto nebulisation systems 

that ensure a consistent 1:0.8 liquor ratio, every process is 

designed for efficiency and eco-responsibility. The use of 

ERP-driven optimization and digital sampling further enhance 

speed, precision, and waste reduction.

Equipped with cutting-edge machinery including auto 

spreaders, auto cutters, high-efficiency sewing systems, and 

advanced laundry equipment such as Jeanologia, Tonello, 

and Atmos—the plant delivers consistent quality. Its extensive 

in-house laser facility and a curated library of light-sensitive 

fabrics allow Interloop Denim to offer a wide product range, 

from jeans and cargos to shorts, skirts, and jackets for all 

genders, ages, and sizes.

Partnering with global fashion leaders such as Guess, Hugo 

Boss, ZARA, and Target, Interloop Denim continues to 

redefine denim by merging sustainable craftsmanship with 

cutting-edge fashion innovation.

* Based on current mix
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APPAREL

33.6M*
GARMENTS

ANNUAL PRODUCTION CAPACITY

Interloop’s Apparel division is a state-of-the-art, vertically 

integrated facility that manages the entire product lifecycle 

from yarn spinning and fabric processing to garment 

production, finishing, and packaging. With automation at 

scale and a strong focus on innovation, the plant is set to 

expand its annual production capacity to 69.76M pieces 

by 2026, positioning itself as a key player in global apparel 

manufacturing.

By maintaining complete control over production, Interloop 

ensures speed, flexibility, and customization while upholding 

the highest standards of quality and compliance. With a 

people-inspired mindset, the company invests heavily in skill 

and capability development through its dedicated Technical 

Training School, which focuses on knitting, stitching, machine 

maintenance, and behavioral competencies aligned with 

Interloop’s core values.

The apparel line covers a diverse range of knitted garments 

including tees, polos, hoodies, sweatshirts, pants, shorts, 

boxers, jackets, zipper jackets, and henleys, using fabrics 

such as single jersey, fleece, double-knit structures, cotton-

rich blends, and synthetics. This wide product range enables 

Interloop to cater to the evolving needs of a global customer 

base.

Sustainability is at the heart of the facility’s design, integrating 

renewable energy, water recycling systems, and even a 

wetland bird sanctuary. The Apparel Plant 2 achieved LEED 

Platinum certification, reflecting Interloop’s commitment to 

energy efficiency and environmental stewardship.

* Based on current mix
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ACTIVEWEAR

7.6M*
GARMENTS

ANNUAL PRODUCTION CAPACITY

Interloop’s seamless Activewear facility at the Interloop 

Industrial Park is a state-of-the-art, vertically integrated 

plant delivering 7.6 million garments annually. From high-

performance activewear to everyday underwear, the product 

range spans ten different sizes, ensuring inclusivity and 

versatility for a global customer base.

Engineered for performance and comfort, Interloop’s 

seamless garments are designed to move with the body, 

offering durability, flexibility, and style. By utilizing body-

mapping technology, products provide 360-degree stretch 

and unrestricted movement. The Activewear facility is 

equipped with 54 Santoni knitting machines, 5 Tonello dyeing 

machines, and 225 sewing machines, producing a wide range 

of items including bras, thongs, briefs, compression leggings, 

sports bras, tank tops, and tees.

Sustainability is a cornerstone of Interloop Activewear. The 

facility integrates recycled yarns, waterless dope dyeing, 

and low-liquor ratio technologies to minimize environmental 

impact, while maintaining GRS and Oeko-Tex certifications. 

Innovation is embedded across operations, with advanced 

garment washes, aesthetic materials such as lurex and shiny 

nylon, and diverse fabric constructions enhanced through 

body mapping techniques.

As a trusted partner to global brands like adidas, Reebok, 

Guess, Zara, H&M, K-Mart, and Dillard, Interloop Activewear 

continues to set benchmarks in quality, innovation, and 

sustainability while delivering products tailored to the 

dynamic needs of modern consumers.

* Based on current mix
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YARNS

32M*
LBS ANNUAL PRODUCTION CAPACITY

(CONVERTED INTO 20/S)

SPINNING

Interloop produces 32 million lbs of premium yarn annually, 
converted into 20/s, to serve a wide range of textile 
customers. The automated spinning plants are equipped 
with advanced European and Japanese machines, ensuring 
compliance with strict quality standards. Raw materials 
include virgin fibers such as Pakistani and imported cotton, 
synthetic and acrylic fibers, viscose-based fibers like Modal, 
Bamboo, and Lyocell, as well as cellulosic fibers such as 
hemp and linen/flax. In addition, Interloop utilizes recycled 
and sustainable fibers, including organic cotton, BCI, PSCP, 
CMIA, recycled (PIW/PCW) cotton, and various recycled 
or sustainable polyester and viscose fibers. The company 
produces a broad variety of yarns, including plain, slub, multi-
count, slub lycra, siro slub core, siro compact, polyamide core, 
and blended yarns. More than 50% of the yarn is consumed 
in-house, while the remaining is supplied to renowned 
weavers, apparel manufacturers, denim producers, knitters, 
and towel makers.

YARN DYEING & AIR COVERING

Interloop operates a state-of-the-art Yarn Dyeing & 
Elastomeric Yarn facility, equipped with modern systems 
such as highly automated dyeing operations and automatic 
dyestuff and chemical dispensing. With an annual dyeing 
capacity of 5.5 million kgs, Interloop offers a wide spectrum 
of colors across spun and filament yarns, including Polyester, 
Nylon, Acrylic, Coolmax, Modal, Tencel, Viscose, Wool, 
Bamboo, Blends, Microfibers, and Recycled Yarns. In addition, 
modern Italian Air Covering machines—with an annual 
production capacity of 1 million kgs are used to cover in-
house dyed, dope-dyed, and raw white yarns, utilizing leading 
spandex brands such as Lycra and Creora, at customized 
percentages. Looking ahead, Interloop is installing a spun 
yarn dyeing unit with a capacity of 20 tons per day at 
Interloop Apparel Park. Currently under construction, the 
project is expected to commence production in the second 
half of FY26.

* Converted into 20/s
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Some of our top clients across Europe, USA and Asia

OUR 
CUSTOMERS
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
 
Musadaq Zulqarnain
Chairperson

Navid Fazil
Chief Executive Officer

Muhammad Maqsood

Farwa Hasnain

Fatima Asad Khan

Romana Abdullah

Tariq Iqbal Khan

Faryal Sadiq

Jahan Zeb Khan Banth

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Tariq Iqbal Khan
Chairperson

Farwa Hasnain

Romana Abdullah

Jahan Zeb Khan Banth

HUMAN RESOURCE &
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Fatima Asad Khan
Chairperson

Navid Fazil

Farwa Hasnain

Faryal Sadiq

Jahan Zeb Khan Banth

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Musadaq Zulqarnain
Chairperson

Navid Fazil

Muhammad Maqsood

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Tariq Iqbal Khan
Chairperson

Muhammad Maqsood

Fatima Asad Khan

Romana Abdullah

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL & GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE

Navid Fazil
Chairperson

Farwa Hasnain

Faryal Sadiq

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
Muhammad Maqsood

COMPANY SECRETARY
Rana Ali Raza

HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT
Jamshaid Iqbal

CHIEF INFORMATION OFFICER
Muhammad Yaqub Ahsan Bhatti

LEGAL ADVISOR
Haidermota & Co.

CORPORATE 
INFORMATION
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AUDITORS

Kreston Hyder Bhimji & Co.
Chartered Accountants

SHARE REGISTRAR / TRANSFER AGENT

CDC Share Registrar Services Limited

KARACHI OFFICE:
Share Registrar Department

CDC House, 99-B, Block B, S.M.C.H.S,

Main Shahra-e-Faisal, Karachi – 74400

Tel: (92-21) 111-111-500

LAHORE OFFICE:
Mezzanine Floor, South Tower, LSE Plaza,

19-Khayaban-e-Aiwan-e-Iqbal, Lahore.

Tel: (92-42) – 36362061-66

BANKERS
Allied Bank Limited

Bank Alfalah Limited

Faysal Bank Limited

Habib Bank Limited

Habib Metropolitan Bank Limited

MCB Bank Limited

MCB Islamic Bank Limited

Meezan Bank Limited

National Bank of Pakistan

Standard Chartered Bank Pak Limited

The Bank of Punjab

United Bank Limited

E- COMMUNICATION
Website: www.interloop-pk.com

LinkedIn: Interloop Limited

Twitter: @InterloopLtd

Instagram: interlooplimited

YouTube: Interloop Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE

Interloop Limited
15-A, Peoples Colony No. 1,

Faisalabad, Pakistan

Phone: (92-41) 4360400

Fax: (92-41) 2428704

Email : externalaffairs@interloop.com.pk

Website: www. interloop-pk.com

PLANT LOCATIONS

Hosiery Plant 1 - Corporate Office
1 KM Khurrianwala-Jaranwala Road,

Khurrianwala, Faisalabad, Pakistan.

Hosiery Plant 2 & 4
7 KM Khurrianwala-Jaranwala Road,

Khurrianwala, Faisalabad, Pakistan.

Hosiery Plant 3 & Denim Plant
8 KM, Manga-Raiwind Road, Distt. Kasur,

Lahore, Pakistan.

Apparel Plant 1
117 / J.B near Paharang Nala, Millat Road, Dhanola, 

Faisalabad, Pakistan.

Hosiery Plant 5 & 6
Apparel Plant 2
6 KM, By Pass Road, Khurrianwala,

Faisalabad, Pakistan.
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Musadaq Zulqarnain is a Founding Director and Chairperson of Interloop Limited, 

Interloop Holdings & its subsidiaries. He serves on the board of Karandaaz; a not-for-

pro昀椀t organization promoting 昀椀nancial inclusion, and has been associated with The 

Citizens Foundation (TCF); the largest not-for-pro昀椀t organization providing education 

to the underprivileged children in Pakistan. He is also the President of Interloop 

Welfare Trust and Chairperson of Lyallpur Literary Council.

Musadaq is a Member of the Economic Advisory Council to the Prime Minister and Member of the Policy Board Ministry 

of Planning & Development, Govt. of Pakistan. He also serves as Vice-Chairman of the Pakistan Textile Council. In 

recognition of his contributions towards generating employment opportunities and his philanthropic endeavors for the 

well-being of society, the Government of Pakistan has conferred upon him one of the highest civilian awards; Tamgha-e-

Imtiaz.

Through his vision and commitment, he has successfully led Interloop over the last 33 years to become one of the world’s 

largest hosiery manufacturers and a full family clothing supplier, and the largest listed apparel company on Pakistan Stock 

Exchange. Besides the 昀氀agship company of the group, Musadaq has established 23 organizations in Pakistan and abroad 

covering Logistics, Dairy and Dairy products, Packaging, Apparel, Health Care, IT & Public Service. Musadaq has training 

in Mechanical Engineering and an Honorary Doctorate from the University of Engineering and Technology, Lahore, 

Pakistan.

A social development enthusiast and philanthropist, Musadaq is actively engaged in nurturing the youth of Pakistan 

through education, women empowerment, cultural & literary activities, and sports, especially for those with disabilities. 

He has always been at the forefront in providing free health care for poor patients, and relief activities during natural 

disasters including the Pandemic and 昀氀oods.

MUSADAQ ZULQARNAIN, T.I.
CHAIRPERSON / NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Navid Fazil, a Founding Director and CEO of Interloop Limited, enjoys over three 

decades’ experience as an entrepreneur and has played a key role in developing 

Interloop Limited as one of the world’s largest Hosiery manufacturers, and a Full 

Family Clothing supplier to leading international brands and retailers. His strategic 

vision and leadership have positioned Interloop as a key player in the global apparel 

market, contributing signi昀椀cantly to Pakistan’s economic development. Navid also 

serves on the Boards of Texlan Center (Pvt.) Limited and Interloop Holdings (Pvt.) 

NAVID FAZIL
CEO / EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Limited, and is the Vice President of Interloop Welfare Trust, engaged in numerous philanthropic activities across the 

country. An electrical engineer by training and a Masters in Management from Oxford, Navid puts great emphasis on lean 

manufacturing, research & innovation, sustainability, and workers’ well-being, setting high standards for ethical business 

practices within the industry.

A strong supporter of diversity, equity & inclusion, Navid is actively involved in many social responsibility programs and 

is part of the global Champions of Change Coalition; nurturing gender equality, women leadership, and respectful and 

inclusive workplaces.

Aligned with his climate conscious leadership, Interloop operates multiple LEED certi昀椀ed plants reducing environmental 

impact for a greener and sustainable future. Navid is also an avid farmer, and keenly follows developments in 

regenerative agriculture worldwide.

BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS
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MUHAMMAD MAQSOOD
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

FARWA HASNAIN
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

FATIMA ASAD KHAN
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

Muhammad Maqsood is an Executive Director on the Board of Interloop Limited. He 

is also a member of the Boards of Interloop Holdings (Pvt.) Limited, Interloop Dairies, 

Texlan Center (Pvt.) Limited, Interloop Assets Management Limited, and Interloop 

Welfare Trust. With an overall experience of 31 years, Maqsood’s association with 

Interloop spans 23 years. He is also performing his duties as the Group CFO. His 

current responsibility portfolio includes group 昀椀nances, budgeting, 昀椀nancial reporting, 

and taxation matters of the group. Maqsood is a fellow member of the Institute of 

Farwa Hasnain serves as an Independent Director on the Board of Interloop Limited 

and is a member of the Audit, HR, and ESG Committees. She is a highly seasoned 

professional with experience in institutional development, public health, technology 

and corporate governance, bringing in a unique blend of expertise across the 

international development and commercial/昀椀nancial sectors of Pakistan. Currently, 

Farwa is the Chief Executive Of昀椀cer of Rayn Group, a Singapore and Pakistan-based 

technology consulting company focused on leveraging digital innovation to improve 

public health outcomes, particularly for women and marginalized communities. Prior to Rayn, Farwa was part of the 

founding management team at Karandaaz Pakistan — a non-pro昀椀t funded by UKAid and the Gates Foundation — where 

she led governance and operations. She also served as Nominee Director on the Boards of Karandaaz-owned NBFCs, 

NCGC and PFSL, playing a pivotal role in the early operationalization and growth of these entities.

Farwa is deeply committed to diversity, inclusion, and women’s leadership, and has consistently built diverse and high-

performing teams throughout her career. She is a Certi昀椀ed Director from the Pakistan Institute of Corporate Governance 

(PICG); holds an Advanced Leadership Certi昀椀cate from the Judge Business School, University of Cambridge; and earned 

her MBA from NUST Business School.

Fatima Asad is an Independent Director on the Board of Interloop Limited and also 

serves as Chairperson of the Human Resource & Remuneration Committee and 

member of the Risk Management Committee.

Fatima is the Chief Executive Of昀椀cer of Abacus Consulting, one of the world’s premier 

international technology, outsourcing, and consulting 昀椀rm driving large-scale digital 

transformation across industries and geographies. With over 26 years of experience, 

Chartered Accountants of Pakistan, Associate member of the Institute of Chartered Accountant of England & Wales, 

Fellow member of the Institute of Financial Accountants, UK, and the Institute of Public Accountants Australia. He got 

trained at INSEAD on Strategic Financial Management in Global Markets.

she has pioneered progressive solutions in corporate governance, enterprise technology, AI, data and cloud services, 

human capital management, and sustainability. She also serves on the Boards of major corporations and institutions 

including Faysal Bank, Bata Pakistan, Kashf Foundation, Kaarvan Crafts Foundation, and Power IT Company, and has 

previously served as Trustee on the Board of LUMS. She is also deeply engaged in mentoring entrepreneurial ventures 

through initiatives such as NIC Lahore, Invest2Innovate, and Standard Chartered Women in Tech.
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Romana Abdullah is an Independent Director on the Board of Interloop Limited. She is 

the co-founder and CEO of Highpoint Ventures, a multi-brand fashion retail company 

that she started in 2014. She serves on the Boards of Nestle and Systems Limited and 

was selected as a Young Global Leader by the World Economic Forum in 2016.

 

In her early career, Romana was part of the management teams at MCB and Soneri 

Bank, leading their strategy function. She has also worked at The Boston Consulting 

ROMANA ABDULLAH
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

Tariq Iqbal Khan is an Independent Director on the Board of Interloop Limited 

and also serves as the Chairperson of Interloop Asset Management Limited. He is 

currently a member of the Audit Oversight Board (AOB) and has previously served as 

its Chairperson. He is also the Chairperson of Packages Converters Limited and serves 

on the boards of various prominent listed and non-listed companies. In the past, he 

has been on the boards of multiple banks, as well as pharmaceutical, chemical, and 

petroleum companies, and has held the position of Chairperson at SNGPL and ARL, 

TARIQ IQBAL KHAN
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

She has received the Top IT Female Export Award from the President of Pakistan, the Platinum Award for Top Women 

Entrepreneur in Tech at the IT & ITes Exporters Awards 2024, and has guided Abacus to win nine Global Diversity, Equity, 

and Inclusion (DEI) Best Practice Awards 2024-25, placing the company among Pakistan’s top 20 inclusive organizations. 

She also contributes as a member of the IT & Telecom Advisory Committee, advising the government on long-term 

strategies to strengthen Pakistan’s IT exports.

Beyond her corporate achievements, Ms. Asad-Said is an active advocate for social responsibility and gender diversity. 

She has provided pro-bono advisory support to organizations including SIUT, TCF, SKMT, UNICEF, and the Imran Khan 

Foundation. 

Fatima began her career with Coopers & Lybrand International and PricewaterhouseCoopers after completing her MBA 

from LUMS. She is a Certi昀椀ed Corporate Director from Harvard Business School and an active member of the Harvard 

Corporate Directors Forum, the Diversity & Inclusion Hub Leadership Council, and the Women Executives on Boards 

Forum.

Group and Merrill Lynch Investment Banking in New York, focusing on strategic, 昀椀nancial, and operational assignments 

for Fortune 500 昀椀nancial services and consumer clients. Romana has a BSc in Financial Engineering from Princeton 

University and an MBA from the Harvard Business School.

among others. A fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan, Tariq has served the country 

for more than four decades by holding prominent positions in the private and public sectors. He played a pivotal role 

in founding the Islamabad Stock Exchange and subsequently served as its President. He also served as Member of 

Tax Policy & Co-ordination at the Central Board of Revenue, followed by working as founder Commissioner, Securities 

& Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP), and later as Chairperson SECP (acting) for a brief period where he was 

instrumental in restructuring SECP. Tariq served as the Chairperson & MD of NIT for more than 8 years, which played a 

key role in establishing and stabilizing the capital markets. He also served as the Chairperson and Managing Director of 

Investment Corporation of Pakistan (ICP) for 3 years and Chairperson of KP Energy Board and KPOGDCL.
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FARYAL SADIQ
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Faryal Sadiq serves as an Executive Director on the Board of Interloop Limited, and is 

the Chief Marketing Of昀椀cer (CMO) at Interloop, responsible for all aspects of business 

development, sales and customer service. She also spearheads Sustainability, ensuring 

that Interloop leads the way in responsible manufacturing meeting the highest 

standards of environmental and social performance. Faryal plays a prominent role 

as a business leader, promoting awareness around gender dynamics and advocating 

strategies for accelerating gender equity.

JAHAN ZEB KHAN BANTH
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Jahan Zeb Khan Banth is a Non-Executive Director on the Board of Interloop Limited 

and contributes a wealth of strategic insight through extensive industry experience. 

He is also a member of the Boards of Interloop Holdings, Interloop Dairies, Interloop 

Welfare Trust, and IRC Dairy Products Pvt. Ltd. With background in chemical 

engineering, he has a strong record of success in his previous role as Director 

Technical for Interloop Limited.

Before joining Interloop in 2016, Faryal worked for over a decade as a management consultant with Deloitte and Ernst & 

Young, UK, specializing in the consumer products and retail industry. Faryal is a certi昀椀ed director, holds an MBA from the 

University of Oxford, and an Economics degree from the London School of Economics, UK.

During his 27 years illustrious tenure with the company, Jahan Zeb has led critical areas including maintenance of the 

plants, expansion projects, business process re-engineering (BMR), and the energy division. With over four decades of 

professional expertise, Jahan Zeb is a valuable asset to Interloop’s leadership team.
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Dear Shareholders,

I am pleased to present the Chairperson’s review on the 

overall performance of the Board and the effectiveness 

of its role in achieving the Company’s strategic and 

governance objectives.

FY 2025 was characterized by a challenging mix of 

global and domestic economic pressures, including 

persistent inflation, high interest rates, and currency 

volatility. Despite these challenges, Interloop remained 

resilient, committed to sustainable value creation, 

and steadfast in pursuing its long-term vision. Our 

focus on operational excellence, robust governance, 

and strategic growth enabled us to strengthen our 

foundations while expanding our global footprint, 

optimizing supply chain efficiencies, and fostering a 

data-driven culture across the organization.

Interloop’s Board, consisting of nine members with 

diverse educational and professional expertise, 

remained actively engaged in steering the Company’s 

strategic direction and exercising effective oversight. 

With women representation at 44%, the Board 

continues to demonstrate its firm commitment to 

gender diversity, inclusion, and equitable participation 

at the apex level of decision-making.

During the year, the Board diligently discharged its 

responsibilities in the best interest of shareholders, 

managing the Company’s affairs with efficiency and 

in alignment with the highest standards of corporate 

governance. In my role as the Chairperson, I observed 

several key strengths in the Board’s functioning, 

including active engagement, constructive dialogue, 

and a clear focus on long-term value creation. These 

attributes not only strengthened oversight but also 

reinforced the Board’s commitment to sustainable 

growth and stakeholder confidence.

The Board and its Committees remained committed on 

ensuring compliance with all statutory and regulatory 

requirements. With clearly defined Terms of Reference 

and proficient members, the Committees made 

significant contributions through regular meetings, 

ensuring robust deliberation, effective oversight, and 

well-informed decision-making.

CHAIRPERSON’S 
REVIEW REPORT
(In compliance with Section 192 of the Companies Act, 2017)
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An annual evaluation of the Board and its Committees was carried out in accordance with regulatory 

requirements, reflecting satisfactory performance, and the Committees actively fulfilling their respective 

mandates. To ensure impartiality and transparency, the Company has resolved to conduct an external 

evaluation of the Board and its Committees through the Pakistan Institute of Corporate Governance (PICG) in 

the upcoming year, enabling an independent assessment and strengthening the overall governance practices 

of the Company.

The Board also played an integral role in enhancing the internal control and risk management framework. The 

internal audit function, under the oversight of the Board Audit Committee, remained focused on reinforcing 

governance integrity and operational transparency. The risk management framework was regularly reviewed 

by the Risk Management Committee, with periodic risk assessments and implementation of mitigation 

strategies to support continuity and compliance.

Interloop remained committed to responsible business practices, driving impactful CSR initiatives in education, 

healthcare, environmental protection and women empowerment, fortifying its identity as a purpose-driven 

organization. Concurrently, we remain committed to sustainability through LEED-certified facilities, energy-

efficient operations, and innovative technologies that reduce our environmental footprint. 

Looking ahead, we remain cautiously enthusiastic about our future prospects. Our focus will remain on 

innovation, operational efficiency, upholding customer relationships, expanding sustainable practices, and 

unlocking new market opportunities. The Board and the Management remain aligned in our shared goal to 

deliver long-term value for all stakeholders.

I express my profound gratitude to the Board of Directors and Board Committees for their guidance and 

commitment to robust governance. I also wish to acknowledge our shareholders, customers, employees, and 

all stakeholders for their continued trust and support. Together, we will remain focused on driving sustainable 

growth and shaping a stronger future for the Company.

MUSADAQ ZULQARNAIN
Chairperson, Board of Directors

September 10, 2025
Faisalabad.
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The Board of Directors (“Board”) of 

Interloop Limited (‘the Company’ 

or ‘ILP’) is delighted to present the 

Annual Report of the Company, 

along with the Annual Audited 

Financial Statements (Consolidated 

& Unconsolidated) for the year 

ended June 30, 2025 and the 

accompanying Auditors’ Report. 

This report has been prepared in 

accordance with section 227 of the 

Companies Act, 2017 and Listed 

Companies (Code of Corporate 

Governance) Regulations, 2019.

ECONOMY OVERVIEW

As of mid 2025, the global economy 

is experiencing moderate expansion, 

with the IMF projecting global GDP 

growth at 3.0 percent for 2025 

and 3.1 percent in 2026, reflecting 

slight upward revisions from earlier 

forecasts, while warning that elevated 

U.S. tariff rates, geopolitical tensions, 

and trade policy uncertainty continue 

weighing on consumer spending 

and investment. Global inflation is 

expected to moderate but remain 

sticky, with headline rates targeted to 

settle around 4.2 percent in 2025.

In Pakistan, the economy is showing 

clear signs of stabilization. Real 

GDP growth is expected to reach 

2.7 percent in FY 2025, up from 

2.5 percent the previous year, as 

reported in the Economic Survey. 

On the inflation front, CPI inflation 

plunged to around 4.6 percent, 

down sharply from over 29 percent in 

FY 2024, facilitating the substantive 

easing in monetary policy. The State 

Bank of Pakistan has aggressively 

eased policy rates from 22 percent 

to 11 percent, aiming to inject 

momentum into the sluggish recovery. 

The external sector turned notably 

positive, with Pakistan recording 

a current account surplus of 

USD 2.1 billion in FY 2025, its first in 

14 years, driven by a sharp 27% rise 

in remittances to USD 38.3 billion and 

a 7.4% increase in textile exports to 

USD 17.9 billion. Improved external 

balances and structural reforms have 

contributed to replenishing foreign 

reserves and stabilizing the exchange 

rate.

APPAREL AND TEXTILE INDUSTRY 

OVERVIEW 

Pakistan’s apparel & textile sector 

remained challenged by global 

demand softness, tight monetary 

conditions, and high energy costs. 

The sector recorded a 7.4 percent 

growth in FY 2025, primarily led by 

strong performances in value-added 

categories, with total exports reaching 

USD 17.9 billion compared to USD 16.7 

billion in FY 2024. Knitwear exports 

rose by 13.7 percent to USD 5.1 billion, 

while bedwear export increased 11.07 

percent to USD 3.1 billion, and ready-

made garments posted an impressive 

15.9 percent jump to USD 4.1 billion 

respectively. However, structural 

weaknesses in the sector persisted 

as exports of some key raw material-

based products declined: cotton yarn 

fell sharply by 28.8 percent, while 

cotton cloth dropped 3.1 percent 

compared to the previous year. In 

contrast, cotton production dropped 

34.2 percent YoY to 5.5 million bales 

due to reduced cultivation, adverse 

weather, and pest issues. 

FINANCIAL AND 

OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE 

UNCONSOLIDATED

Interloop Limited during the year 

remained profitable, reflecting its 

resilience in a challenging business 

environment and continued its growth 

trajectory. Net sales stood at PKR 

173,382 million in FY 2025, showing 

an 11% increase from PKR 156,129 

million in FY 2024. However, ramp-up 

of the Apparel expansion combined 

with elevated input costs, persistent 

inflationary pressures, global and 

domestic economic headwind 

contributed to a 19% decline in 

gross profit, which fell to PKR 35,171 

million from PKR 43,544 million in the 

previous year. This contraction in gross 

margins, alongside higher operating 

overheads, led to a 34% reduction 

in operating profit, amounting to 

PKR 18,320 million versus PKR 27,933 

million in FY 2024.

Further pressure emerged from 

increased financial charges, primarily 

stemming from capital expenditure 

on expansion projects and higher 

working capital needs. Additionally, 

the transition to the normal tax 

regime significantly raised the 

effective tax burden resulting in 

approximately a 67% increase in tax 

incidence compared to the prior year. 

Collectively, these factors drove a 

66% decline in net profit, which fell 

to PKR 5,377 million from PKR 15,771 

million in FY 2024. Earnings per share 

(basic and diluted) correspondingly 

dropped to PKR 3.84, down from 

PKR 11.25 last year.

Despite the year’s challenges, ILP 

demonstrated resilience in the second 

half particularly in Q4 FY 2025, where 

profitability margins showed signs of 

recovery. Revenues grew 16% quarter-

on-quarter, and net profit margin 

improved to 5.6% in Q4 from 3.2% 

in Q3, reflecting the early benefits of 

cost control measures and a rebound 

in export revenues. 

DIRECTORS’ 
REPORT
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PKR in Million
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For the Year ended June 30, 2025 For the Year ended June 30, 2024

YEAR ENDED YEAR ENDED

JUNE 30, 2025 JUNE 30, 2024

PKR in Million

Sales Net 173,382 156,129

Gross Profit 35,171 43,544

EBITDA 24,794 31,910

Profit Before Tax 8,787 17,807

Tax Expense (3,410) (2,036)

Profit After Tax 5,377 15,771

Other Comprehensive Loss (182) (460)

Total Comprehensive Income 5,195 15,311

Unappropriated profit brought forward 36,357 26,641

Appropriations  

Final dividend 2023 – (2,803)

Interim dividend 2024 – (2,803)

Forfeited share options FY 2024 – 10

Final dividend 2024 (3,504)  –

   

Unappropriated profit carried forward 38,047 36,357

Earnings per share - Basic (PKR) 3.84 11.25

Earnings per share - Diluted (PKR) 3.84 11.25
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VERTICAL ANALYSIS 2025 2024

Gross Profit 20% 28%

Operating Profit 11% 18%

Profit Before Tax 5% 11%

Net Profit After Tax 3% 10%

EBITDA 14% 20%
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FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL 

PERFORMANCE – CONSOLIDATED

The Company has annexed 

consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended June 30, 2025, in 

accordance with the requirements 

of International Financial Reporting 

Standards and the Companies Act 

2017.

The group reported net sales of 

PKR 179,405 million, reflecting a 

YEAR ENDED YEAR ENDED

JUNE 30, 2025 JUNE 30, 2024 Var

PKR in Million %

Sales Net 179,405 158,183 13%

Gross Profit 36,761 44,166 -17%

EBITDA 25,404 32,767 -22%

Profit from Operations 18,648 28,648 -35%

Profit Before Tax 9,086 18,492 -51%

Profit After Tax 5,647 16,456 -66%

healthy increase of 13% compared to 

PKR 158,183 million in the previous 

year. Despite this top-line growth, 

profitability experienced significant 

pressure, with gross profit declining by 

17% to PKR 36,761 million, primarily 

due to the infancy period of the 

apparel project and rising input costs. 

This reduction in gross profit led to 

a 22% decrease in EBITDA, which 

stood at PKR 25,404 million, as higher 

operational expenses and initial 

project costs weighed on earnings. 

Profit from operations also dropped 

sharply by 35% to PKR 18,648 million. 

Consequently, profit before tax fell by 

51% to PKR 9,086 million, and profit 

after tax was significantly impacted, 

declining 66% to PKR 5,647 million. 

Below is a summary of the 

consolidated financial performance of 

the group for the year ended June 30, 

2025 as against June 30, 2024:
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VERTICAL ANALYSIS 2025 2024

Gross Profit 20% 28%

Profit from Operations 10% 18%

Profit Before Tax 5% 12%

Net Profit After Tax 3% 10%

EBITDA 14% 21%

EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS) 

The Unconsolidated Basic and 
Diluted earnings per share after tax 
for FY 2025 is PKR. 3.84 per share 
(FY 2024: PKR. 11.25 per share). 
The Consolidated Basic and Diluted 
earnings per share after tax for 
FY 2025 is PKR. 3.96 per share 
(FY 2024: PKR. 11.78 per share).

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

All financial obligations falling 
due during the year were met in a 
timely manner. Surplus funds were 
strategically and prudently invested. 
As of the end of the year, the 
Company had unutilized short-term 
borrowing limits exceeding 
PKR 45,370 million (2024: 
PKR 26,596 million) available from 
financial institutions, reflecting a 
strong liquidity position and financial 
flexibility.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Key historical operating and financial 
data of the Company has been 
annexed to this Annual Report. These 
highlights provide a concise yet 
comprehensive view of the Company’s 
performance trends, enabling 
stakeholders to assess growth, 
profitability, and financial strength 
over the years.

AUDITORS’ REPORT ON FINANCIAL 
STATEMENT

The Company’s external auditors, 
M/s Kreston Hyder Bhimji & Co, 
Chartered Accountants, have issued 
an unqualified opinion on both the 
Unconsolidated and Consolidated 
Financial Statements for the year 
ended June 30, 2025. These financial 
statements include the statement of 
financial position, statement of profit 
or loss, statement of comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in 
equity, statement of cash flows, and 
the accompanying notes, comprising 

a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory 
information.

DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION TO 
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company is always committed 
to the long-term growth of its 
shareholders along with provision 
of stable and consistent returns. In 
consideration of current expansions 
and future investments, the Board 
of Directors has recommended a 
final cash dividend for the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2025, at the rate of 
PKR.1 per share (i.e., 10%), subject to 
the approval of the members at the 
Annual General Meeting to be held 
on October 10, 2025. No transfers 
were made to general reserves. These 
financial statements do not include the 
effect of the proposed final dividend. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Interloop Limited was incorporated 
in Pakistan on April 25, 1992, and 
publicly listed on the Pakistan Stock 
Exchange on April 05, 2019. Interloop 
is a vertically integrated multi-category 
Full-Family Clothing Company that 
manufactures Hosiery, Denim, Knitted 
Apparel, and Seamless activewear 
products for prominent international 
brands and retailers. It also produces 
Yarn for a range of textile customers. 
Throughout the year, the Company’s 
core activities remained unchanged.

BUSINESS SEGMENTS 

Management has determined the 
operating segments to align with 
the information presented to the 
Board of Directors for strategic 
resource allocation and performance 
assessment. Management actively 
monitors the financial results of 
these segments independently to 
facilitate informed decision-making 
regarding resource distribution 
and to evaluate their performance. 

Based on the internal management 
reporting framework and the nature 
of the products manufactured and 
distributed, the company is organized 
into the following operating segments:

HOSIERY

Interloop Hosiery production delivered 
through six vertically integrated 
manufacturing facilities. The successful 
inauguration of Plant 6 marked 
a key milestone, with operations 
now running in line with planned 
commercial timelines. This segment 
supplies high-quality products to 
leading global brands and retailers, 
including Nike, adidas, STICHD, 
Target, H&M, C&A, Amazon, Uniqlo, 
and others.

Hosiery Plants 4, 5, and 6 have earned 
LEED Gold Certification, reinforcing 
Interloop’s commitment to sustainable 
and environmentally responsible 
manufacturing practices.

The strategic acquisition of Top Circle 
in FY 2024 has further strengthened 
the Company’s global footprint, with 
manufacturing operations in China 
performing effectively. Interloop 
remains committed to responsible 
manufacturing across the entire 
value chain, from farm to factory. 
With in-house capabilities in product 
development, quality assurance, and 
innovation, the Company continues 
to invest in digital transformation 
modernizing design, production, and 
customer engagement to stay ahead 
in a competitive market.

DENIM

Interloop Denim, a state-of-the-
art facility located in Southeast 
Asia, boasts a robust production 
capacity. Recognized globally for its 
environmental leadership, the facility 
holds LEED Platinum Certification 
and was ranked among the world’s 7 
greenest buildings in 2021.
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At the forefront of Industry 4.0 
adoption, Interloop Denim has 
significantly enhanced operational 
efficiency through integrated 
ERP systems and digital sampling 
technologies. The Company is 
committed to low-impact, sustainable 
solutions, positioning itself as a leader 
in responsible manufacturing.

Interloop Denim proudly partners with 
globally renowned brands including 
Guess, Hugo Boss, adidas, H&M, 
Target, NYDJ, Pearson, and INDITEX. 
Its innovative processes incorporate 
advanced technologies such as 
nano-bubble washing, waterless 
ozone bleaching, and automated 
nebulization setting new standards for 
eco-friendly denim production.

APPAREL

Interloop Apparel catering to leading 
brands across North America, Europe, 
and the UK. The division operates 
from a newly constructed, eco-friendly 
facility that holds LEED Platinum 
Certification, reflecting Interloop’s 
deep commitment to sustainable 
manufacturing.

Equipped with state-of-the-art 
machinery, the facility integrates a 
range of green features, including 
renewable energy sources, a wetland 
area, and even a bird sanctuary, 
highlighting its harmony with nature 
and environmental stewardship.

The Knitwear Apparel division 
produces a diverse range of products 
such as T-shirts, underwear, polo shirts, 
sweatshirts, pants, fleece hoodies, and 
jackets serving globally recognized 
brands and retailers with quality, 
innovation, and sustainability at its 
core.

ACTIVEWEAR

Interloop’s vertically integrated 
Seamless Activewear facility 
displays exceptional manufacturing 
capabilities. Offering a broad range of 
styles and sizes, the facility is outfitted 
with advanced technology, including 
Italian knitting and dyeing machines 
and Japanese sewing equipment, 
ensuring superior quality across fabric 
processing, dyeing, and stitching 
operations.

Seamless garments from Interloop 
provide 360-degree stretch and 

comfort, free from restrictive seams 
ideal for active lifestyles and high-
performance wear. The Company 
also benefits from a dedicated, 
self-sufficient product development 
department, enabling rapid sample 
turnaround to meet fast-changing 
market demands.

Complementing its technical 
capabilities, Interloop’s in-house 
design team stays aligned with global 
fashion trends, delivering innovative 
and trend-forward collections that 
resonate with leading brands and 
consumers alike.

YARNS

• Spinning

Interloop has production capacity 
of 32 million pounds (20/1 count) of 
high-quality yarn annually, using state-
of-the-art automated spinning plants 
equipped with the latest European and 
Japanese machinery. The company 
utilizes a variety of raw materials, 
including virgin, recycled, and 
sustainable fibers, to create different 
types of yarn. Over 50% of the yarn 
produced is used internally, while the 
remainder is supplied to renowned 
manufacturers across various sectors 
of the textile industry.

• Yarn Dyeing & Air Covering

Interloop operates an advanced Yarn 
Dyeing & Elastomeric Yarn facility with 
automated operations, offering a wide 
range of colors in Spun and Filament 
Yarns. Its annual dyeing capacity is 5.5 
million kgs. ILP also utilizes modern 
Italian Air Covering Machines with 
1 million kgs annual production 
capacity for various yarn types of 
in-house dyed, dope dyed, and raw 
white yarns with spandexes like Lycra 
and Creora at customized ratios. 
The Company has undertaken the 
expansion of dyeing segment through 
establishment of a spun yarn dyeing 
unit with a capacity of 20 tons per 
day at IL Apparel Park. The project is 
nearing completion and is expected to 
begin production by 2nd quarter of FY 
2026.

CORPORATE AND FINANCIAL 
REPORTING FRAMEWORK

The Company firmly upholds stringent 
Corporate Governance standards 
without any deviation. The Directors 
are delighted to affirm that the 

Company adheres to the provisions 
outlined in the Listed Companies 
(Code of Corporate Governance) 
Regulations, 2019 (CCG Regulations, 
2019) and Companies Act, 2017, 
issued by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission of Pakistan (SECP), which 
are integral to the Listing Regulations 
of the Pakistan Stock Exchange (PSX). 
Listing Regulations of the Pakistan 
Stock Exchange (PSX). 

The Board of Directors confirm that:

i. The Financial Statements, 
prepared by the Company’s 
management, fairly present the 
company’s state of affairs, the 
results of its operations, cash flow, 
and changes in equity.

ii. Proper books of account have 
been maintained by the Company.

iii. Appropriate accounting policies 
have been consistently applied in 
preparing financial statements and 
accounting estimates are based on 
reasonable and prudent judgment.

iv. International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), as applicable 
in Pakistan and the requirements 
of the Companies Act 2017, 
have been duly followed in the 
preparation of the financial 
statements. Any departure thereof 
has been adequately disclosed 
and explained.

v. The internal control system 
is sound in design and has 
been effectively implemented 
and monitored. Monitoring 
internal controls will continue 
to strengthen the controls and 
improve the system.

vi. There are no significant doubts 
upon the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.

vii. There has been no material 
departure from the best practices 
of Corporate Governance, as 
detailed in the Pakistan Stock 
Exchange listing regulations.

viii. Information regarding outstanding 
taxes and levies, as required by 
the listing regulations, is disclosed 
in the notes to the financial 
statements.

ix. The Company operates a 
contributory provident fund 
scheme for all employees and 
a defined benefit gratuity 
scheme for its Management/
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TOTAL NUMBER OF DIRECTORS

a) Male 5

b) Female 4

COMPOSITION:

Independent Directors 4

Non-Executive Directors 2

Executive Directors 3

S.NO NAME(S) OF DIRECTOR(S) CATEGORY 

i. Farwa Hasnain

Independent Director
ii. Fatima Asad Khan

iii. Romana Abdullah

iv. Tariq Iqbal Khan

v. Musadaq Zulqarnain
Non-Executive Director

vi. Jahan Zeb Khan Banth

vii. Navid Fazil 

Executive Directorviii. Muhammad Maqsood 

ix. Faryal Sadiq

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board of Directors has constituted the following Five (5) Committees to assist in carrying out its fiduciary duties. These 
Committees, along with their membership details and meetings held during the FY 2025, are as follows:

COMMITTEES NUMBER OF MEETINGS HELD DURING FY25

Audit Committee (AC) 10

Human Resource & Remuneration Committee (HR&RC) 3

Nomination Committee (NC) 1

Risk Management Committee (RMC) 3

Environmental, Social, and Governance Committee (ESGC) 1

non-management employees. 
The book value of investments as 
of June 30, 2025, is PKR. 527.4 
Million.

x. Statements regarding the 
following are annexed in this 
Annual Report:

• Key financial data for the last 
six (6) years

• Gender Pay Gap Statement 
under SECP circular no. 10 of 
2024 

• Pattern of Shareholding

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 
WITH THE CODE OF CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE 

The Company strictly adheres 
to the principles of Corporate 
Governance mandated by SECP and 
has implemented all the prescribed 
stipulations. The same has been 
summarized in the statement of 
compliance with the Listed Companies 
(Code of Corporate Governance) 
Regulations, 2019, duly reviewed by 
the auditors and annexed with this 
Annual Report.

COMPOSITION OF BOARD 

ILP maintains a Board of Directors 
consisting of Nine (9) members 
elected on October 22, 2023, 
encompassing individuals with a 
variety of backgrounds, essential skills, 
insights, and proficiencies pertinent to 
the Company’s operations. Our Board 
composition as of June 30, 2025 is as 
below;

45%

22%

33%

Independent Directors

Non-Executive Directors

Executive Directors
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 AC HR&RC NC RMC ESGC

Chairperson Tariq Iqbal Khan Fatima Asad Khan Musadaq Zulqarnain Tariq Iqbal Khan Navid Fazil

Member Farwa Hasnain Navid Fazil Navid Fazil Muhammad Maqsood Farwa Hasnain

Member Romana Abdullah Farwa Hasnain Muhammad Maqsood Fatima Asad Khan Faryal Sadiq 

Member Jahan Zeb Khan Banth Faryal Sadiq  Romana Abdullah  

Member  Jahan Zeb Khan Banth   

MEETINGS OF THE BOARD & COMMITTEES 

During FY 2025, Five (5) Board of Directors meeting were conducted along with requisite Committee meetings, as 
mentioned above, to cover its complete cycle of activities. The names of Directors and the number of meetings attended 
by each Director are presented below:

NAME(S) OF 
DIRECTOR(S)

 AGM BOD  AC HR&RC NC RMC ESGC

Musadaq Zulqarnain Chairperson/Non-Executive Director 1/1 5/5 1/1

Navid Fazil CEO/Executive Director 1/1 5/5 3/3 1/1 1/1

Muhammad Maqsood Executive Director 1/1 5/5 1/1 3/3

Farwa Hasnain Independent Director 1/1 5/5 *2/10 3/3 1/1

Fatima Asad Khan Independent Director 1/1 4/5 3/3 2/3

Romana Abdullah Independent Director 0/1 4/5 6/10 1/3

Tariq Iqbal Khan Independent Director 1/1 4/5 9/10 3/3

Faryal Sadiq Executive Director 1/1 5/5 2/3 1/1

Jahan Zeb Khan 
Banth

Non-Executive Director 1/1 5/5 10/10 3/3

* Ms. Farwa Hasnain was appointed as a member of the Audit Committee on April 29, 2025, and only two Committee 
meetings were held post her appointment as a member.

PERFORMANCE EVALUATION 
OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND 
COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

Board’s evaluation mechanisms have 
been established in line with the 
CCG Regulations, 2019 and global 
best practices, enabling the Board of 
Directors to assess its performance 
and effectiveness in providing 
strategic leadership and oversight 
to senior Management. Accordingly, 
appropriate procedures have been 
designed using emerging and leading 
practices to support the evaluation 
of the Board and its Committees. 
For this purpose, structured online 
questionnaire has been developed, 
covering key areas such as 
effectiveness, accountability, planning, 
leadership, and strategy formulation. 
Directors also complete self-evaluation 
questionnaires focused on their 
participation and overall satisfaction 
with Board proceedings.

The key areas of assessment include:

• Alignment of corporate 
goals and objectives with 
the Company’s vision and 
mission;

• Formulation of sustainable 
strategies;

• Ensuring Board 
independence; and

• Performance of Board 
Committees in fulfilling their 
respective terms of reference.

Additionally, separate evaluation 
questionnaires for the Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
have been developed to assess their 
performance. These are completed 
annually by all Directors, excluding 
the individuals being evaluated. The 
responses, submitted anonymously, 
are compiled by the Company 
Secretary. Based on the approved 

criteria, the overall performance of the 
Board and its Committees during the 
year has remained satisfactory.

To further strengthen transparency 
and impartiality, the Company has 
decided to conduct an external Board 
evaluation through the Pakistan 
Institute of Corporate Governance 
(PICG) in the coming year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

In compliance with regulatory 
requirements, a transparent and 
formal process has been established 
for ascertaining the remuneration 
of the Directors. In accordance 
with the Code of Corporate 
Governance, no Director is involved 
in the determination of his/her 
own remuneration package.  All 
Non–Executive and Independent 
Directors of the Company are entitled 
to remuneration for attending 
meetings along with reimbursement 
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of expenses incurred in connection 
with these meetings, as prescribed 
under the Companies Act, 2017. To 
retain the best talent, the Company’s 
remuneration policies are structured in 
line with the prevailing industry trends 
and business practices. For detailed 
information on the remuneration of 
Directors and CEO during the 
FY 2025, please refer to the notes to 
the Financial Statements.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING PROGRAM

The Directors on the Board are 
well aware of their duties and 
responsibilities, in compliance 
with the CCG Regulations, 2019. 
All our Directors, including the 
Chief Executive Officer, are either 
certificated under the Directors’ 
Training Program have exemption 
from the Directors’ Training Program 
based on their experience. The 
Board is kept up-to-date on legal, 
regulatory, and governance matters 
through regular papers and briefings 
from the Company Secretary, and 
presentations by internal and external 
advisors. Directors are responsible 
for upholding Corporate Governance 
and giving the Company a strategic 
direction. Your Company ensure that 
the entire Board is aligned with the 
Organization’s Mission and Corporate 
Governance.

REVIEW OF CEO’S PERFORMANCE

The Board of Directors conducts 
routine assessments including annual 
structured review of the CEO’s 
performance, utilizing a set of defined 
quantitative and qualitative metrics. 
These metrics encompass a range 
of financial and non-financial Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs). The 
primary KPIs used in this evaluation 
encompass financial performance, 
operational processes, regulatory 
compliance, operational excellence, 
and human resource management. 
This evaluation also considers the 
CEO’s achievements related to 
goals such as profit generation, 
organizational development, 
succession planning, and overall 
corporate success.

CHAIRPERSON’S REVIEW ON 
PERFORMANCE OF THE BOARD 

As required under the Companies 
Act, 2017, the Chairperson’s 

Review included in the Annual 
Report highlights the effectiveness 
of the Board in carrying out its 
responsibilities and achieving the 
Company’s objectives. The Board 
formally endorses the statements 
contained therein.

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF 
CHAIRPERSON AND CEO

To promote transparency and 
strengthen governance, we maintain 
a clear separation between the 
roles of the Chairperson of the 
Board of Directors and the Chief 
Executive Officer, each with distinct 
responsibilities. 

• Chairperson of the Board 

The Chairperson of the Board 
provides strategic leadership, guiding 
the Board in fulfilling its governance 
duties. This includes presiding over 
Board meetings, setting agendas, 
facilitating discussions, and ensuring 
adherence to corporate governance 
standards. The Chairperson also 
serves as a bridge between the 
Board and Executive Management, 
representing the Company externally 
and ensuring effective implementation 
of Board’s decisions. 

• Chief Executive Officer 

The Chief Executive Officer, as the 
Head of Management, is responsible 
for the Company’s day-to-day 
operations. This role focuses on 
executing the Board’s strategic vision 
and policies, achieving financial and 
operational targets, driving business 
growth, and managing relationships 
with key stakeholders.

REVIEW OF RELATED PARTIES’ 
TRANSACTIONS

All related party transactions are 
executed on arm’s length basis in 
the ordinary course of business, and 
are in compliance with the applicable 
laws and regulations, and the policies 
approved by the Board. All related 
party transactions during the 
FY 2025 were placed before the Audit 
Committee and subsequently the 
Board, for their review, and approved 
accordingly. Certain Related Party 
transactions, in which a majority of the 
Directors are interested, would require 

members’ approval under Sections 
207 and / or 208 (to the extent 
applicable) of the Companies Act, 
2017, read with Regulation 15 of the 
Listed Companies (Code of Corporate 
Governance) Regulations, 2019. For 
information on the transaction with 
the related party in 
FY 2025, please refer to the notes to 
the Financial Statements.

WEB PRESENCE

Company’s periodic financial 
statements for the current financial 
year including previous Annual, Half 
Year and/or Quarterly Reports are 
available on the Company’s website 
i.e., www.interloop-pk.com for the 
information of the investors and 
shareholders of the Company.

CODE OF CONDUCT

In order to establish professional 
standards and corporate values for 
promotion of integrity across the 
Board, Senior Management and other 
employees, the Board has approved 
and disseminated a Code of Conduct. 
This document defines acceptable and 
unacceptable behaviors and serves 
as a guiding framework for ethical 
decision-making and responsible 
business practices. 

The Code of Conduct, which 
is binding on all employees, 
Management, and members of the 
Board of Directors, establishes a 
clear framework for ethical behavior 
at ILP. Similarly, the Supplier Code 
of Conduct mandates that all 
contractors, suppliers, and third-party 
partners adhere to the Company’s 
standards of integrity, environmental 
responsibility, and anti-corruption 
compliance as a condition of doing 
business with ILP.

COMMITMENT TO ANTI-
CORRUPTION AND ETHICAL 
CONDUCT

ILP maintains a zero-tolerance 
approach to bribery, corruption, and 
all forms of unethical or improper 
business practices. The Company’s 
operations are grounded in integrity, 
transparency, and accountability, with 
strict adherence to both national 
and international anti-corruption 
laws and standards. Compliance with 
all applicable legal and regulatory 
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requirements forms a core element of 
ILP’s governance framework. 
The Company ensures that its 
operations align with local and global 
expectations for ethical conduct and 
responsible business behavior.

ILP’s leadership is unwavering 
in promoting a culture of ethics 
and transparency throughout the 
organization. The Company expects 
all employees, Management, Board 
members, and business partners to 
uphold these values consistently.

Consistent with the Code of Conduct, 
the Company strictly prohibits 
facilitation payments in any form, 
including unofficial payments made 
to secure or expedite routine 
governmental actions. This prohibition 
applies to all employees, directors, 
and third-party representatives. Any 
breach is taken seriously and may 
result in disciplinary action, including 
legal consequences where applicable.

TRADING IN THE SHARES OF THE 
COMPANY

The trading and holding of Company’s 
shares by the Directors & their 
Spouses or Executives, along with the 
price, the number of shares and nature 
of the transaction, were notified by 
the Company Secretary to the Board, 
SECP & PSX, within the stipulated 
time. All such holdings’ have been 
disclosed in the enclosed Pattern of 
Shareholding.

EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION 
SCHEME

The Company did not issue any fresh 
grant of stock options during the year.
 
EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT 
BENEFITS

The Company operates a contributory 
provident fund scheme and a 
defined benefit gratuity scheme for 
all employees. ILP established an 
‘Employees’ Provident Fund Trust’ to 
manage and control its financial affairs 
independently. Trust is recognized 
under Income Tax Laws and its income 
and contributions are exempt from 
tax. It receives subscription from 
employees as per company policy. The 
value of investments of fund as per 
its financial statement as on June 30, 
2025 was PKR.527.4 Million.

CREDIT RATING 

Management remains firmly 
committed to ensuring transparency 
and reliability in the presentation 
of financial information. In line with 
this commitment, Interloop Limited 
engaged VIS Credit Rating Company 
Limited (VIS), a well-recognized and 
independent credit rating agency in 
Pakistan.

In its press release dated August 4, 
2025, VIS reaffirmed the Company’s 
entity ratings at AA- / A1 (Double A 
Minus / A One). These ratings reflect 
Interloop’s strong financial position, 
underpinned by a robust capital 
structure, low credit risk exposure, 
and a strong capacity to meet financial 
obligations in a timely manner. The 
Company’s credit profile is considered 
resilient and not significantly exposed 
to foreseeable adverse events.

RISK GOVERNANCE AND 
INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board of Directors holds 
overarching responsibility for the risk 
management across the Company’s 
operations. To strengthen this 
oversight, the Board has constituted a 
Risk Management Committee (RMC), 
tasked with ensuring adherence to 
a comprehensive risk management 
framework aligned with ISO 31000 
standards.

The RMC is responsible for the 
effective identification, assessment, 
and mitigation of key risks faced 
by the Company. To support this 
mandate, the Committee presents 
quarterly risk management reports to 
the Board, enabling timely review and 
informed decision-making on critical 
risk areas. In addition, the Company 
has implemented robust internal 
control systems designed to promote 
sound risk governance. These controls 
facilitate operational efficiency, ensure 
compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations, and support the integrity 
and reliability of financial reporting.

ADEQUACY OF INTERNAL 
FINANCIAL CONTROLS

The Board is cognizant of its corporate 
governance responsibility and has 
developed an effective and efficient 
internal control system, providing 

due assurance over internal financial 
controls, safeguarding of Company’s 
assets, compliance with applicable 
laws and regulations and reliable 
financial reporting. The Board 
meetings are held at regular intervals, 
enabling effective oversight and 
due consideration of ILP’s financial 
performance, financial and operating 
budgets and forecasts, business 
growth and development plans, 
capital expenditure proposals and 
other key performance indicators. 
There is an Independent Internal 
Audit function which conducts regular 
reviews of internal control framework, 
along with insight monitoring by Audit 
Committee and Risk Committee. 
Structured procedural frameworks 
are in place for investment appraisal, 
encompassing rigorous evaluation and 
approval processes for new ventures 
as well as the expansion of capital 
expenditure plans.

INTERNAL AUDIT AND CONTROL

The Board has set up an Independent 
Audit function, with Head of Internal 
Audit functionally reporting to Audit 
Committee. The Audit Committee 
conducts regular reviews of the 
performance of Internal Audit function 
for its effective role and also ensures 
that it is staffed with appropriate 
professional resources to perform its 
duties efficiently. The Internal Audit 
function monitors the continuous 
implementation of financial and 
operational controls for compliance 
purposes.

PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING 

The pattern of shareholding as of 
June 30, 2025, is duly annexed to 
this report in accordance with the 
reporting framework’s disclosure 
requirements.

DEBTS SERVICING

The Company has implemented an 
effective cash flow management 
strategy, under which inflows and 
outflows are regularly projected and 
closely monitored. This comprehensive 
approach enables the Company to 
ensure the timely settlement of its 
financial obligations and maintain 
resilience in the face of evolving 
financial challenges.
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In line with this strategy, Management 
continues to make consistent the 
efforts to optimize borrowing costs 
through the maintenance of a well-
balanced funding portfolio and 
the execution of efficient financing 
arrangements. The Company has a 
strong track record of meeting its 
obligations on time, with no history of 
default on debt payments, including 
during the current year.

COMMUNICATION

The Company places strong emphasis 
on transparent and effective 
communication with all stakeholders. 
It ensures the timely dissemination 
of Annual, Half-Yearly, and Quarterly 
Reports, as well as notices for General 
Meetings, in compliance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act, 
2017.

To further enhance engagement with 
shareholders and market analysts, the 
Company conducts an annual briefing 
session to provide insights into its 
performance, strategy, and future 
outlook. In addition, the Company 
regularly updates its website 
www.interloop-pk.com with relevant 
information to keep stakeholders 
informed of key developments and 
ongoing activities

CORPORATE BRIEFING SESSION 
(CBS)

ILP conducted a Corporate Briefing 
Session on November 21, 2024, 
through a hybrid format via Zoom and 
in-person attendance. The session 
focused on the financial results for the 
year ended June 30, 2024, providing 
a comprehensive overview of the 
Company’s operational performance 
and future outlook. Participants 
included investors, analysts, 
fund managers, and Company 
representatives.

The Chief Financial Officer delivered a 
detailed presentation on the financial 
and operational performance for 
the year, which was followed by an 
interactive Q&A session. Management 
intended to schedule the next 
Corporate Briefing Session for the 
year ended June 30, 2025, in October 
2025.

BUSINESS CONTINUITY 
MANAGEMENT 

The Board of Directors has 
developed a robust Business 
Continuity Management (BCM) 
framework aligned with ISO 22301 
standards. This comprehensive 
framework acts as a policy guideline 
towards planning, preparation, and 
operational management, enabling 
organizational continuity in wave of 
potential challenging scenarios. BCM 
is a key element of the Company’s 
crisis management plan, specifically 
developed to mitigate the impact 
of disruptive incidents and facilitate 
a swift recovery. By maintaining 
a comprehensive BCM program, 
the Management is committed to 
safeguard the continuity of Company’s 
critical business operations, even 
during unforeseen challenges or 
physical disasters. Additionally, 
the Company has implemented a 
comprehensive insurance program 
to provide financial protection and 
minimize losses.

APPOINTMENT OF STATUTORY 
AUDITORS

M/s. Kreston Hyder Bhimji & Co. 
Chartered Accountants, have 
concluded their tenure for the 
FY 2025 and will retire after the 
upcoming Annual General Meeting. 
Fulfilling the eligibility criteria, they 
have expressed their willingness to be 
considered for re-appointment for 
FY 2026. The Board has recommended 
the appointment of M/s Kreston Hyder 
Bhimji & Co. Chartered Accountants 
as auditors for the forthcoming 
year, as recommended by the Audit 
Committee, subject to the approval 
of the members at the upcoming 33rd 
Annual General Meeting. 

HEALTH, SAFETY & ENVIRONMENT

Interloop remains steadfast in its 
commitment to environmental 
sustainability and responsible business 
practices. The Company rigorously 
adheres to the environmental 
standards across all production 
facilities, recognizing its critical role 
in minimizing environmental impact 
and actively pursues initiatives 
aimed at reducing its carbon 
footprint, alongside water and 
energy conservation efforts, ensuring 

sustainability is embedded throughout 
its value chain.

Equally, ILP is dedicated to fostering 
a safe, secure, and supportive work 
environment for its employees. The 
Company’s Environment, Health, 
and Safety (EHS) department has 
implemented comprehensive policies 
focused on the prevention of industrial 
accidents, the protection of employee 
health, and the promotion of overall 
workplace safety. As part of these 
efforts, mandatory annual medical 
check-ups are conducted, and any 
deviations from standard health 
parameters are addressed promptly 
to safeguard the well-being of the 
workforce.

CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY (CSR):

The Company is committed to driving 
meaningful change through a wide 
range of impactful CSR initiatives. 
These efforts are designed to benefit 
the communities in which we operate. 
From advancing sustainable business 
practices to fostering diversity and 
inclusion, each initiative reflects our 
commitment to creating long-term 
value and positive impact. Outlined 
below are some of the key CSR 
programs undertaken during the year:

• Education Support

Interloop sponsored 36 schools 
through The Citizens Foundation 
(TCF), including three higher 
secondary schools for girls, delivering 
quality and affordable education to 
over 5,700 children. In addition, the 
construction of three more schools 
is currently underway. Under the 
Interloop Scholarship Program, 833 
scholarships were awarded across 
leading academic institutions, with 
a strong focus on empowering 
women in STEM benefiting over 
566 female students at Government 
College Women University Faisalabad 
(GCWUF). The Company also 
advanced inclusive education by 
facilitating access to learning and 
rehabilitation services for more than 
2,000 children with special needs. 

To further support student 
development, Interloop has actively 
contributed to community well-being 
through its School Khana Program, 
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which delivers daily nutritious meals 
to more than 2,127 students across 
14 schools in underserved areas of 
Faisalabad and Lahore. This initiative 
not only combats malnutrition but also 
improves student attendance, health, 
and academic performance.

• Healthcare Services

In the area of healthcare, Interloop 
provided free medical services to over 
200,000 underprivileged patients and 
established a new Operation Theatre 
at Mujahid Hospital, Faisalabad. 
The Company collaborated with 
several healthcare service providers 
supporting the underprivileged and 
differently-abled persons including 
Syeda Khatoon-e-Jannat Trust 
Hospital & Special Education Center, 
Roshni Homes Trust, Al Faisal & Bashir 
Nabeena Center, Vocational Training 
Institute for specially abled children, 
Government Hearing Impaired 
Schools, and Child Protection & 
Welfare Bureau. Furthermore, ILP has 
also actively participated in fundraising 
for children with congenital heart 
disease through the Mending Kids’ 
Hearts Aga Khan University Golf 
Tournament, contributing to life-saving 
surgeries. 

Interloop extended support to 
30 children at the Autism Unit in 
Faisalabad in collaboration with the 
District Government, with further 
program development underway. In 
addition, the Company partnered 
with the Karachi Down Syndrome 
Program (KDSP) to launch its 
Faisalabad Chapter, providing early 
intervention and family support 
services for affected children. Further 
promoting inclusivity, the Company 
supports the deaf community 
through the provision of a 24/7 online 
interpretation desk, ensuring greater 
access to communication and essential 
services for individuals with hearing 
impairments.

• Women Empowerment 

Interloop firmly believes that 
women’s empowerment is essential 
for sustainable social and economic 
progress. The Company actively 
promotes gender equality by creating 
opportunities that enhance women’s 
mobility, financial independence, 

and social inclusion. In this regard, 
Interloop in collaboration with Salman 
Sufi Foundation under “Women 
on Wheels” Faisalabad initiative, 
provided free motorbike training, road 
safety workshops, and anti-harassment 
to more than 2,347 women, and 
subsidized bikes to those who applied. 
This program not only improved 
women’s access to education and 
employment but also promoted their 
confidence, independence, and safety 
in daily commuting.

To ensure sustainable support for 
women-led initiatives, the Company 
established a long-term endowment 
fund through the Interloop Welfare 
Trust in collaboration with the Kashf 
Foundation. This fund is dedicated 
to financing projects that enhance 
women’s financial inclusion, 
entrepreneurial opportunities, and 
livelihood generation.

• Sports Development

Believing in the power of sports as 
a tool for youth development and 
community engagement, Interloop 
actively supports initiatives that 
nurture talent and promote healthy 
lifestyles. Over 6,000 local youth 
were engaged in grassroots sports 
development programs, providing 
them with opportunities to enhance 
their skills and participate in structured 
sporting activities. 

The Company has also supported the 
improvement of facilities and provision 
of equipment at a Government Girls 
School in Faisalabad, encouraging 
greater female participation in 
sports. In addition, Interloop proudly 
sponsored the 3rd Pakistan Champion 
League, further contributing to the 
promotion of competitive sports at 
the national level.

SUSTAINABILITY INITIATIVES 

Sustainability is a core value deeply 
ingrained the Company’s ethos. The 
Management is always cognizant 
of its responsibility to safeguard 
the environment, enabling thriving 
communities, and ensuring equitable 
practices throughout the operations. 
By integrating sustainability into 
every aspect of our business, the 
Company strives to create a positive 

and enduring impact on the planet 
and its people. The commitment to 
sustainability is reflected in a range of 
initiatives that address environmental 
stewardship, social responsibility, and 
ethical governance.
 
• Water Stewardship & Green 

Infrastructure 

Interloop continues to strengthen its 
commitment to responsible water use 
and eco-friendly infrastructure. The 
centralized Effluent Treatment Plant
at Interloop Apparel Park is also 
recycling 20% of treated wastewater, 
ensuring sustainable water 
management within industrial
operations with plans for further 
enhancement in phase 2. The denim 
and hosiery plants in Lahore have 
been awarded with the Alliance for 
Water Stewardship (AWS) Gold-level 
Certification; a globally recognized 
benchmark for water stewardship.

Alongside water stewardship, 
Interloop has advanced its 
commitment to green infrastructure, 
with the Denim and Apparel Plant 2 
been awarded with LEED Platinum 
Certification and Hosiery Plants 4, 5, 
and 6 with LEED Gold Certifications 
by the U.S. Green Building Council, 
demonstrating compliance with the 
highest standards of energy efficiency 
and environmental performance. 

• Waste Reduction & Responsible 
Sourcing 

Reducing waste remains central to 
Interloop’s sustainability strategy. 
Through a partnership with Reverse 
Resources, the Company aims to 
achieve 100% landfill waste diversion 
by FY 2026. A digital waste-mapping 
platform has been introduced, 
enabling complete traceability 
of both pre- and post-consumer 
textile waste across the value chain. 
Reinforcing its commitment to 
responsible sourcing, Interloop has 
also secured the Forest Stewardship 
Council™ (FSC™ C196875) Chain of 
Custody certification. This certification 
ensures that plant-based fibers and 
yarns are procured from responsibly 
managed forests, which meet rigorous 
environmental, social, and economic 
standards.



43Governance

• Renewable Energy & Climate 
Action

To advance its climate action 
agenda, Interloop has significantly 
expanded its renewable energy 
portfolio. The Company has installed 
a cumulative 17.3 MW of on-site 
solar capacity, including an additional 
4.6 MW commissioned in FY 2025. 
Furthermore, two 27.5 TPH biomass 
boilers have been operationalized 
at the Interloop Apparel Park, which 
are expected to reduce greenhouse 
gas emissions by up to 50,000 
tons annually. These initiatives not 
only mitigate climate risks but also 
reinforce Interloop’s long-term 
commitment to energy transition and 
carbon reduction.

• Sustainable agriculture & 
Innovation

Interloop is investing in the future 
of sustainable agriculture and textile 
innovation. The “Loopkisan” platform 
empowers farmers to optimize input 
resources through GPS-based land 
mapping, crop tracking, and real-time 
input transparency by integrating 
with “Looptrace”. In parallel, the 
Company has pioneered sustainable 
innovation with Loomshake™, a 
unique natural fiber produced from 
banana stem waste. This initiative 
reflects Interloop’s ability to leverage 
innovation for building a sustainable 
and resilient supply chain while 
creating value from agricultural by-
products.

• Sustainability Awareness & 
Education 

Recognizing the importance of 
awareness and education in driving 
sustainable change, Interloop 
continues to support the ECO Schools 
initiative by the Academic Leaders’ 
Innovation Forum (ALIF). This initiative 
integrates sustainability practices 
into education across Pakistan, 
equipping the next generation 
with the knowledge and values 
necessary to champion environmental 
stewardship. By fostering awareness 
at the grassroots level, Interloop 
extends the impact of its sustainability 
agenda beyond operations and into 
communities.

DIVERSITY, EQUITY AND 
INCLUSION

The Management is committed 
in creating a positive impact by 
promoting diversity and inclusion, 
enhancing women’s representation 
in all roles, and supporting the 
well-being of our employees. 
Women now represent 44% of 
the company’s board, 25% of the 
management committee, and 45.3% 
of roles in STEM, highlighting our 
commitment to gender balance 
across the organization. ILP embraces 
a diverse workforce across all age 
groups, believing that diversity 
fuels innovation and leads to better 
decision-making. The Company 
maintains a non-discriminatory 
approach to salary and benefits, 
which are determined by employment 
contracts, individual performance, 
and role. The detail on Diversity, 
Equity and Inclusion is annexed in the 
report. To further advance workplace 
inclusivity, Interloop has introduced 
gender sensitization training programs 
and a robust anti-harassment policy, 
complemented by designated women 
Management Representatives at each 
plant to address and resolve concerns. 
The Reconnect Program supports 
women returning to their careers 
after extended breaks, and enhanced 
parental leave policies benefiting both 
male and female employees. 

GENDER PAY GAP STATEMENT 

As required under the SECP circular 
no. 10 of 2024, the following is the 
Gender Pay Gap calculated for the 
year ended June 30, 2025; The pay 
gap has been calculated for all full-
time employees based on gross hourly 
salary.

FY 2025 Mean Median

Gender 
pay gap

8.2% 3.8%

Men and women performing equal 
work receive equal remuneration 
across Interloop. Representation at 
different organizational levels and 
in different job families is the main 
reason of the pay gap. Our hiring 
practices and reward principles ensure 
that we are setting remuneration 
considering both external market data 
and internal parity to ensure equity 

and consistency. Our focus on hiring, 
retaining and promoting women in 
leadership roles, as well as across the 
organization in more diverse roles, 
will support the structural changes 
needed to reduce the pay gaps. In 
addition, we will continue to focus on 
transparency in remuneration which 
will help reduce the pay gaps over 
time.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Risks and opportunities, including 
those related to sustainability, along 
with the corresponding mitigation 
strategies and measures, have been 
discussed in detail in this Annual 
Report.

MATERIAL CHANGES DURING THE 
CURRENT YEAR

There are no material changes and 
commitments other than already 
disclosed which affect the Company’s 
financial position from the end of 
FY 2025 and the date of this report.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING 
PERIOD 

The Board of Directors, in its meeting 
held on September 10, 2025, has 
proposed a final cash dividend for 
the year ended June 30, 2025, @ 
PKR. 1 per share, for approval of 
the members in the Annual General 
Meeting.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK & 
CHALLENGES

FY 2026 unfolded within a complex 
global economic environment shaped 
by evolving monetary policies, 
geopolitical uncertainty, and a 
resurgence of protectionist trade 
measures. The International Monetary 
Fund (IMF) maintained its global GDP 
growth forecast at 3.1%, supported 
by easing inflation in advanced 
economies and a moderate recovery 
in consumer demand. However, the 
re-imposition and expansion of U.S. 
tariffs, particularly those targeting 
Chinese goods and key exports 
from South Asia introduced renewed 
friction into global trade flows. These 
tariffs have had a twofold impact: 
domestically, they elevated input costs 
and inflation for U.S. consumers, while 
globally, they triggered significant 
supply chain disruptions, compelling 
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firms to reconfigure sourcing, logistics, 
and vendor networks.

Domestically, Pakistan faced a series 
of macro and sectoral challenges. 
While the government sustained 
efforts to stabilize inflation, reduce 
the current account deficit, and meet 
IMF performance benchmarks under 
the Extended Fund Facility (EFF), 
devastating monsoon floods in mid-
2026 severely disrupted agricultural 
output, transport infrastructure, 
and rural supply chains. The textile 
sector, which forms the backbone 
of Pakistan’s exports, was especially 
impacted by significant losses in 

the local cotton crop, resulting in 
increased dependency on imports and 
rising input costs. High energy rates, 
high interest rates, and the imposition 
of additional fiscal measures including 
the rollback of export incentives 
in EFS scheme further added to 
operational strain across the industry.

Despite a complex and evolving 
market landscape, ILP’s Management 
has remained both proactive and 
resilient. Through the execution of 
strategic cost-efficiency initiatives, 
operational process optimization, and 
enhanced supply chain coordination, 
the Company continues to effectively 

navigate uncertainties and mitigate 
potential disruptions. ILP maintains a 
clear focus on cultivating a profitable 
customer portfolio, utilizing resources 
responsibly, and managing risks 
prudently to support long-term, 
sustainable growth and value creation 
for all stakeholders. The Company 
remains firmly committed to its 
strategic vision, consistently investing 
in high-impact initiatives such as the 
Yarn Dyeing Project, the Apparel 
Synthetic Project, and the Denim 
Expansion, all of which are key drivers 
of future competitiveness and growth.
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LISTED COMPANIES (CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE) REGULATIONS, 2019

Name of Company: Interloop Limited
Year Ended: June 30, 2025

Interloop Limited (the “Company”) has complied with the requirements of the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate 
Governance) Regulations, 2019 (the “Regulations”) for the year ended June 30, 2025 in the following manner:

1. The total number of Directors are Nine (9) as per the following:
 a) Male: Five (5)
 b) Female: Four (4)

2. The composition of Board is as follows:

CATEGORY NAMES

Independent Directors including Female Directors 

Farwa Hasnain

Fatima Asad Khan

Romana Abdullah

Tariq Iqbal Khan

Non-Executive Directors
Musadaq Zulqarnain

Jahan Zeb Khan Banth

Executive Directors including Female Director

Navid Fazil 

Muhammad Maqsood

Faryal Sadiq

3.	 The	Directors	have	con昀椀rmed	that	none	of	them	is	serving	as	a	Director	on	more	than	seven	listed	companies,	
including this Company;

4. The Company has prepared a code of conduct and has ensured that appropriate steps have been taken to disseminate 
it throughout the Company along with its supporting policies and procedures;

5.	 The	Board	has	developed	a	vision/mission	statement,	overall	corporate	strategy	and	signi昀椀cant	policies	of	the	
Company.	The	Board	has	ensured	that	complete	record	of	particulars	of	the	signi昀椀cant	policies	along	with	their	date	of	
approval or updating is maintained by the Company;

6. All the powers of the Board have been duly exercised and decisions on relevant matters have been taken by the Board/
Shareholders as empowered by the relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 2017 (the “Act”) and the Regulations;

7. The meetings of the Board were presided over by the Chairperson of the Board and, in his absence, by a Director 
elected by the Board for this purpose. The Board has complied with the requirements of Act and the Regulations with 
respect to frequency, recording and circulating minutes of meeting of the Board;

8. The Board has a formal policy and transparent procedures for remuneration of Directors, in accordance with the Act 
and the Regulations;

9.	 All	the	Directors	are	either	exempt	or	have	acquired	the	prescribed	certi昀椀cation	under	Directors’	Training	Program	
(DTP)	speci昀椀ed	and	approved	by	the	Commission.	Supplemental	to	that,	the	Code	encourages	to	arrange	trainings	
for	female	executives	and	the	head	of	the	department.	Accordingly,	the	DTP	certi昀椀cation	for	one	of	our	female	senior	
executive/head of department has been completed.

STATEMENT OF 
COMPLIANCE
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10.	 The	Board	has	approved	the	appointment	of	the	Chief	Financial	Of昀椀cer,	Company	Secretary,	and	Head	of	Internal	
Audit, including their remuneration and terms and conditions of employment and complied with the relevant 
requirements of the Regulations;

11.	 Chief	Financial	Of昀椀cer	and	Chief	Executive	Of昀椀cer	duly	endorsed	the	昀椀nancial	statements	before	approval	of	the	
Board;

12. The Board has formed its Board committees comprising of members given below:

A) AUDIT COMMITTEE 

1 Tariq Iqbal Khan Chairperson

2 Farwa Hasnain Member

3 Romana Abdullah Member

4 Jahan Zeb Khan Banth  Member 

B) HUMAN RESOURCE AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 

1 Fatima Asad Khan        Chairperson

2 Navid Fazil Member

3 Farwa Hasnain Member

4 Faryal Sadiq                  Member

5 Jahan Zeb Khan Banth  Member

C) NOMINATION COMMITTEE 

1 Musadaq Zulqarnain Chairperson

2 Navid Fazil Member

3 Muhammad Maqsood   Member

D) RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

1 Tariq Iqbal Khan Chairperson

2 Muhammad Maqsood   Member

3 Fatima Asad Khan        Member

4 Romana Abdullah Member 

E) ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

1 Navid Fazil                   Chairperson

2 Farwa Hasnain              Member

3 Faryal Sadiq                  Member

13. The terms of reference of the aforesaid committees have been formed, documented and advised to the committees 
for compliance;

14. The frequency of meetings (quarterly/half yearly/yearly) of the committees were as per following;
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Committee Frequency Meetings during FY 
2025

a) Audit Committee Quarterly and on requirement basis 10

b) Human Resource and Remuneration Committee Annually/On requirement basis 3

c) Nomination Committee On requirement basis 1

d) Risk Management Committee On requirement basis 3

e) Environmental, Social & Governance Committee On requirement basis 1

15.	 The	Board	has	set	up	an	effective	Internal	Audit	function	which	comprises	of	professionals	suitably	quali昀椀ed	and	
experienced for the purpose and are conversant with the policies and procedures of the Company;

16.	 The	statutory	auditors	of	the	Company	have	con昀椀rmed	that	they	have	been	given	a	satisfactory	rating	under	the	
Quality	Control	Review	program	of	the	Institute	of	Chartered	Accountants	of	Pakistan	and	registered	with	Audit	
Oversight	Board	of	Pakistan,	that	they	and	all	their	partners	are	in	compliance	with	International	Federation	of	
Accountants	(IFAC)	guidelines	on	code	of	ethics	as	adopted	by	the	Institute	of	Chartered	Accountants	of	Pakistan	and	
that	they	and	the	partners	of	the	昀椀rm	involved	in	the	audit	are	not	a	close	relative	(spouse,	parent,	dependent	and	non-
dependent	children)	of	the	Chief	Executive	Of昀椀cer,	Chief	Financial	Of昀椀cer,	Head	of	Internal	Audit,	Company	Secretary	
or Director of the Company;

17. The statutory auditors or the persons associated with them have not been appointed to provide other services except 
in	accordance	with	the	Act,	the	Regulations	or	any	other	regulatory	requirement	and	the	auditors	have	con昀椀rmed	that	
they have observed IFAC guidelines in this regard;

18.	 We	con昀椀rm	that	all	requirements	of	regulations	3,	6,	7,	8,	27,	32,	33	and	36	of	the	Regulations	have	been	complied	
with.

  

NAVID FAZIL JAHAN ZEB KHAN BANTH

Chief Executive Officer  Director

Faisalabad 

September 10, 2025
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Review Report on the Statement of Compliance Contained In Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) 

Regulations, 2019

We have reviewed the enclosed Statement of Compliance with the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) 

Regulation, 2019 (the Regulations) prepared by the Board of Directors of Interloop Limited (the Company) for the year 

ended June 30, 2025, in accordance with the requirements of regulation 36 of the Regulations.

The responsibility for compliance with the Regulations is that of the Board of Directors of the Company. Our Responsibility 

is to review whether the Statement of Compliance reflects the status of the Company’s compliance with the provisions of 

the Regulations and report if it does not and to highlight any non-compliance with the requirements of the Regulations. 

A review is limited primarily to inquiries of the Company’s personnel and review of various documents prepared by the 

Company to comply with the Regulations.

As a part of our audit of the financial statements we are required to obtain an understanding of the accounting and 

internal control system sufficient to plan the audit and develop an effective audit approach. We are not required to 

consider whether the Board of Directors’ Statement on internal control covers all risks and controls or to form an opinion 

on the effectiveness of such internal controls, the Company’s corporate governance procedures and risks.

The Regulations require the Company to place before the Audit Committee, and upon recommendations of the Audit 

Committee place before the Board of Directors for their review and approval, its related party transactions. We are only 

required and have ensured compliance of this requirement to the extent of the approval of the related party transactions 

by the Board of Directors upon recommendation of the Audit Committee. 

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe that the Statement of Compliance 

does not appropriately reflect the Company’s compliance, in all material respects, with the requirements contained in the 

Regulations as applicable to the Company for the year ended June 30, 2025.

Date: September 10, 2025 KRESTON HYDER BHIMJI & CO.
Place: Faisalabad CHARTERED ACCOUNANTS 

UDIN: CR202510475K9SI6V8NU Engagement Partner: Syed Aftab Hameed

Office No.1, 2nd Floor, Legacy Tower, Kohinoor City, Faisalabad-Pakistan. Phone: + 92-41-8731632, 8731650 
Email: hyderbhimjifsd@gmail.com  Website: www.krestonhb.com

Other offices: Karachi, Lahore, Islamabad.
A member of Kreston International- A Global Network of Independent Accounting Firms

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REVIEW
REPORT TO THE MEMBERS ON 
STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
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The Board of Directors approves and periodically 

reviews the Risk Management Policy. It provides 

oversight to ensure that the policies, processes, 

and systems are implemented effectively at all 

decision making levels. The Risk Management 

Committee (RMC) assists the Board in development 

and monitoring the Risk Management framework. 

RMC is also responsible for reviewing strategic and 

operational controls and ensuring robust mitigation 

measures. The Risk Management Policy adopts the 

three lines of defense model, and clarifies roles 

among the Board, RMC and Senior Management, 

including the Risk Management Department.

The Board has set up a dedicated Risk Management 

Department (RMD) for effective implementation 

of Risk Management Policy, Risks & Mitigation 

Strategies and associated framework. RMD is 

responsible for providing support and monitoring for 

the development, implementation, and continuous 

improvement of risk management practices including 

internal controls at all levels. It also collaborates with 

other departments to identify and evaluate risks 

related to their areas and devise suitable mitigating 

strategies. In addition, RMD also promotes the risk 

and responsible culture across ILP where risk can be 

identified and mitigated, effectively.

Risk Management encompasses identification, evaluation, controlling and reporting of risk factors that form 

part of Interloop Limited’s processes and systems. Interloop understands that effective Risk Management 

means controlling future outcomes as much as possible by acting proactively rather than reactively and 

therefore, reducing both the possibility of occurrence of a risk and its potential impact.

The Management, in collaboration with Risk Management Department, carries out an in-depth analysis of 

the major risks faced by the company business that could threaten the business model, future performance, 

solvency or liquidity of the company. Risks are identified along with the nature of their impact and likelihood of 

occurrence, and mitigation strategies are deployed to manage these risks.

RISK 
MANAGEMENT

RISK 
GOVERNANCE

RISK 
MITIGATION
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The Company manages its capital structure in the context of economic conditions and the risk characteristics 

of the underlying assets. For further details, related to the Company’s capital risk management, please refer to 

note in the financial statement.

LIQUIDITY AND CASH FLOW

MANAGEMENT STRATEGY

The Company is diligently 

managing its cash flow stream 

and has thoughtfully crafted 

its portfolio of investment 

and borrowing. Management 

meticulously reviews key financial 

ratios and adjusts the Company’s 

strategy to maintain financial 

discipline. Additionally, the 

Company maintains adequate 

reserves along with sufficient 

funded lines from financial 

institutions.

LIQUIDITY GENERATION

Liquidity generation is ensured 

through internal cash flows 

derived from revenues and income 

from deposits or short-term 

investments. Customer receipts 

are effectively managed through 

optimized credit control. The 

Management closely monitors 

operating cash flow requirements 

using effective forecasting 

techniques and regularly evaluates 

planned versus actual results, 

taking corrective measures as 

needed. Furthermore, before 

opting for external financing, the 

Company conducts in-depth cash 

flow forecasting and evaluates 

optimal returns, ensuring an 

optimal weighted average cost of 

capital and minimizing reliance on 

external sources.

INVESTMENTS AND PLACEMENT

OF FUNDS

The Company has strategically 

diversified its portfolio overtime to 

maintain maximum returns while 

taking prudent levels of risks and 

exposure. The Company prefers 

premium credit-rated institutions 

for investment and placement of 

funds to minimize liquidity and 

credit risk, and profitable returns 

are ensured by investments in 

the money-market / government 

securities, term deposits with 

banks / financial institutions, and 

any other investment schemes to 

enhance profitability and increase 

shareholders’ return. Further 

liquidity risk-related information is 

given in the financial statement.

INADEQUACY IN THE CAPITAL 
STRUCTURE & PLANS TO ADDRESS 
SUCH INADEQUACY

LIQUIDITY 
RISK STRATEGY
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PARTICULARS 2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

PROFITABILITY RATIOS

Gross Profit Margin %  20.29  27.89  33.45  28.68  25.86  21.66 

Net Profit Margin %  3.10  10.10  16.92  13.60  11.45  4.95 

Return on Equity %  9.74  29.46  46.05  41.28  30.67  10.40 

LIQUIDITY RATIOS

Current Ratio Times  1.17  1.14  1.14  1.30  1.22  1.14 

Quick/Acid Test Ratio Times  0.80  0.72  0.75  0.77  0.77  0.59 

INVESTMENT/MARKET RATIOS

Earnings per share - basic & 
diluted

Rs  3.84  11.25  14.39  8.82  4.49  1.28 

Dividend Yield Ratio % 1.48  6.35  14.18  6.56  3.57  4.55 

Cash dividend per share - 
declared

Rs 1.00  4.50  5.00  4.00  2.50  2.00 

Market Price - at year end Rs  67.76  70.83  35.26  61.00  70.03  43.92 

Break up value per share Rs  39.40  38.19  31.26  33.33  23.52  19.81 

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Gearing Ratio %  62.19  56.25  57.57  63.12  59.62  55.53 

Interest Cover Times  1.98  2.85  5.20  7.16  8.29  3.15 

Operating Cycle Days  131.44  127.33  156.20  151.97  135.56  144.66 

KEY FINANCIAL 
HIGHLIGHTS
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PARTICULARS
 2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

 Rupees in ‘000 

ASSETS 

Non Current Assets 

Property, plant and equipment  82,102,936   67,804,680   58,650,853   34,730,382   26,193,029   22,744,239 

Intangible Asset  485,395   454,557   394,618   227,457   209,623   171,459 

Long term investments  1,727,763   1,727,763   –     –     –     1,853,735 

Long term loans  198,075   176,873   147,858   179,626   144,673   113,823 

Long term deposits  95,481   89,451   81,701   86,955   60,478   38,337 

Deferred taxation – net  –     350,141   –     –     –     –   

Total non current assets  84,609,650   70,603,465   59,275,030   35,224,420   26,607,803   24,921,593 

 

Current Assets 

Stores and spares  3,476,263   3,184,425   2,490,975   1,866,417   1,199,116   1,062,524 

Stock in trade  25,735,469   26,360,852   19,728,810   23,142,048   11,276,308   8,810,625 

Trade debts  48,314,852   41,193,604   34,138,665   28,603,965   15,052,940   7,207,391 

Loan and advances  1,897,224   1,924,171   2,112,755   1,633,562   1,034,836   485,930 

Deposit, prepayment and other 

 receivables  296,554   347,722   671,874   998,491   318,708   193,182 

Derivative financial instruments  –     59,248   21,672   –     –     –   

Accrued Income  877   1,497   1,623   4,570   2,131   2,239 

Refunds due from Government and 

 statutory authorities  11,538,248   7,128,807   4,758,814   4,224,938   4,328,555   2,408,014 

Short term investments  500,000   500,000   500,000   500,000   500,000   125,044 

Cash and bank balances  357,519   370,386   1,544,502   117,119   374,442   150,787 

Total current assets  92,117,006   81,070,712   65,969,690   61,091,110   34,087,036   20,445,736 

Total Assets  176,726,656   151,674,177   125,244,720   96,315,530   60,694,839   45,367,329 

 

EQUITY & LIABILITIES 

Equity 

Issued, subscribed and paid up capital  14,017,095   14,017,095   14,014,469   8,983,635   8,721,975   8,721,975 

Reserves  3,158,734   3,158,734   3,150,573   3,528,149   3,791,602   3,791,602 

Unappropriated profit  38,047,206   36,356,646   26,641,364   17,428,486   8,001,035   4,766,115 

Total equity   55,223,035   53,532,475   43,806,406   29,940,270   20,514,612   17,279,692 

Non current liabilities 

Long term financing  28,593,987   16,194,813   15,348,901   14,396,116   8,213,978   6,861,130 

Lease liabilities  166,688   190,965   57,011   93,973   152,969   102,158 

Deferred liabilities  14,323,587   10,786,348   7,999,204   5,048,654   3,816,001   3,140,682 

Total non current liabilities   43,084,262   27,172,126   23,405,116   19,538,743   12,182,948   10,103,970 

Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables  15,033,780   15,536,209   12,003,908   9,084,790   5,551,641   3,031,231 

Unclaimed dividend  3,112   3,077   4,074   3,006   4,004   2,952 

Accrued mark up   1,022,132   2,689,232   1,830,013   702,689   221,674   191,136 

Short term borrowings  59,829,892   49,903,571   42,148,912   35,007,908   19,636,066   14,354,861 

Derivative financial instruments  13,056   –     –     94,154   33,074   –   

Current portion of non current liabilities  2,517,387   2,837,487   2,046,291   1,943,970   2,550,820   403,487 

Total current liabilities  78,419,359   70,969,576   58,033,198   46,836,517   27,997,279   17,983,667 

Total equity and liabilities  176,726,656   151,674,177   125,244,720   96,315,530   60,694,839   45,367,329

LAST SIX YEARS STATEMENT 
OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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PARTICULARS
 2025 vs 2024  2024 vs 2023 2023 vs 2022 2022 vs 2021 2021 vs 2020 2020 vs 2019

 Percentage 

ASSETS 

Non Current Assets 

Property, plant and equipment 21% 16% 69% 33% 15% 25%

Intangible Asset 7% 15% 73% 9% 22% 159%

Long term investments 0% 100% 0% 0% -100% 84%

Long term loans 12% 20% -18% 24% 27% 73%

Long term deposits 7% 9% -6% 44% 58% 37%

Deferred taxation - net -100% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Total non current assets 20% 19% 68% 32% 7% 28%

 

Current Assets 

Stores and spares 9% 28% 33% 56% 13% 20%

Stock in trade -2% 34% -15% 105% 28% 40%

Trade debts 17% 21% 19% 90% 109% -13%

Loan and advances -1% -9% 29% 58% 113% -54%

Deposit, prepayment and other receivables -15% -48% -33% 213% 65% -1%

Derivative financial instruments -100% 173% 100%  -     -     -   

Accrued Income -41% -8% -64% 114% -5% -79%

Refunds due from Government and 

 statutory authorities 62% 50% 13% -2% 80% 25%

Short term investments 0% 0% 0% 0% 300% -90%

Cash and bank balances -3% -76% 1219% -69% 148% -90%

Total current assets 14% 23% 8% 79% 67% -4%

Total Assets 17% 21% 30% 59% 34% 11%

EQUITY & LIABILITIES 

Equity 

Issued, subscribed and paid up capital 0% 0% 56% 3% 0% 0%

Reserves 0% 0% -11% -7% 0% 0%

Unappropriated profit 5% 36% 53% 118% 68% -11%

Total equity 3% 22% 46% 46% 19% -3%

Non current liabilities 

Long term financing 77% 6% 7% 75% 20% 89%

Lease liabilities -13% 235% -39% -39% 50% 100%

Deferred liabilities 33% 35% 58% 32% 22% 27%

Total non current liabilities 59% 16% 20% 60% 21% 65%

Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables -3% 29% 32% 64% 83% -15%

Unclaimed dividend 1% -24% 36% -25% 36% -98%

Accrued mark up  -62% 47% 160% 217% 16% 73%

Short term borrowings 20% 18% 20% 78% 37% 22%

Derivative financial instruments 100% 0% -100% 185% 100% 0%

Current portion of non current liabilities -11% 39% 5% -24% 532% -68%

Total current liabilities 10% 22% 24% 67% 56% 7%

Total equity and liabilities 17% 21% 30% 59% 34% 11%

HORIZONTAL ANALYSIS 
ON STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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PARTICULARS
 2025  2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

 Percentage

ASSETS 

Non Current Assets 

Property, plant and equipment 47% 45% 47% 36% 43% 50%

Intangible Asset 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Long term investments 1% 1% 0% 0% 0% 4%

Long term loans 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Long term deposits 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Deferred taxation - net 0% 0% 

Total non current assets 48% 47% 47% 36% 43% 54%

 

Current Assets 

Stores and spares 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2%

Stock in trade 15% 17% 16% 24% 19% 19%

Trade debts 27% 27% 27% 30% 25% 16%

Loan and advances 1% 1% 2% 2% 2% 1%

Deposit, prepayment and other receivables 0% 0% 1% 1% 0% 1%

Derivative financial instruments 0% 0% 0%  -     -     -   

Accrued Income 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Refunds due from Government and 

 statutory authorities 7% 5% 4% 4% 7% 5%

Short term investments 0% 0% 0% 1% 1% 1%

Cash and bank balances 0% 0% 1% 0% 1% 1%

Total current assets 52% 53% 53% 64% 57% 46%

Total Assets 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

EQUITY & LIABILITIES 

Equity 

Issued, subscribed and paid up capital 8% 9% 11% 9% 14% 19%

Reserves 2% 2% 3% 4% 6% 8%

Unappropriated profit 22% 24% 21% 18% 13% 11%

Total equity 32% 35% 35% 31% 33% 38%

Non current liabilities 

Long term financing 16% 11% 12% 15% 14% 15%

Lease liabilities 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Deferred liabilities 8% 7% 6% 6% 7% 7%

Total non current liabilities 24% 18% 18% 21% 21% 22%

Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 9% 10% 10% 9% 9% 7%

Unclaimed dividend 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Accrued mark up  1% 2% 2% 1% 1% 0%

Short term borrowings 34% 33% 34% 36% 32% 32%

Derivative financial instruments 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Current portion of non current liabilities 1% 2% 2% 2% 4% 1%

Total current liabilities 44% 47% 47% 48% 46% 40%

Total equity and liabilities 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

VERTICAL ANALYSIS 
ON STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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PARTICULARS
 2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

 Rupees in ‘000 

Sales  173,381,533   156,128,865   119,200,293   90,894,049   54,962,265   36,302,794 

Gross Profit  35,171,086   43,544,183   39,872,372   26,066,169   14,212,280   7,863,718 

Operating expenses  (16,851,161)  (15,611,680)  (12,760,981)  (10,149,751)  (6,192,379)  (4,610,725)

Profit from operations  18,319,925   27,932,503   27,111,391   15,916,418   8,019,901   3,252,993 

Finance cost  (9,533,364)  (10,125,154)  (5,527,536)  (2,492,950)  (1,147,038)  (1,137,162)

Profit before taxation  8,786,561   17,807,349   21,583,855   13,423,468   6,872,863   2,115,831 

Taxation  (3,409,962)  (2,036,082)  (1,412,009)  (1,063,972)  (581,292)  (319,428)

Profit for the year  5,376,599   15,771,267   20,171,846   12,359,496   6,291,571   1,796,403 

LAST SIX YEARS STATEMENT 
OF PROFIT OR LOSS

PARTICULARS
 2025 vs 2024  2024 vs 2023 2023 vs 2022 2022 vs 2021 2021 vs 2020 2020 vs 2019

 Percentage 

Sales 11% 31% 31% 65% 51% -3%

Gross Profit -19% 9% 53% 83% 81% -34%

Operating expenses 8% 22% 26% 64% 34% -17%

Profit from operations -34% 3% 70% 98% 147% -49%

Finance cost -6% 83% 122% 117% 1% 14%

Profit before taxation -51% -17% 61% 95% 225% -61%

Taxation 67% 44% 33% 83% 82% 41%

Profit for the year -66% -22% 63% 96% 250% -65%

HORIZONTAL ANALYSIS 
ON STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
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PARTICULARS
 2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

 Rupees in ‘000 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities  2,943,678  10,319,560   25,358,188   (7,205,843)  (707,684)  2,602,454 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities  (21,312,377)  (15,090,977)  (27,349,129)  (11,390,899)  (4,618,250)  (7,283,840)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities   18,350,048   3,637,503   3,418,324   18,339,419   5,413,852   2,477,398 

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and 

 cash equivalents (18,651) (1,133,914)  1,427,383   (257,323)  87,918   (2,203,988)

LAST SIX YEARS STATEMENT 
OF CASH FLOWS

PARTICULARS
 2025  2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

 Percentage 

Sales 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Gross Profit 20.29% 27.89% 33.45% 28.68% 25.86% 21.66%

Operating expenses -9.72% -10.00% -10.71% -11.17% -11.27% -12.70%

Profit from operations 10.57% 17.89% 22.74% 17.51% 14.59% 8.96%

Finance cost -5.50% -6.49% -4.64% -2.74% -2.09% -3.13%

Profit before taxation 5.07% 11.41% 18.11% 14.77% 12.50% 5.83%

Taxation -1.97% -1.30% -1.18% -1.17% -1.06% -0.88%

Profit for the year 3.10% 10.10% 16.92% 13.60% 11.45% 4.95%

VERTICAL ANALYSIS 
ON STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
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ENVIRONMENTAL TARGETS 2025-26

Lead the way in responsible manufacturing meeting the highest standards of environmental 
and social performance.

ACHIVEMENTS VS TARGETS 2025

IMPACT AREAS TARGETS ACHIEVEMENTS

GHG EMISSIONS
(KG CO

2
/KG)

-20% -21.17%

WATER
(Liters/KG)

-20% -19.67%

SUSTAINABLE MATERIAL
(% of total Material Procured)

70% 63%

SOLID WASTE
(Diversion from Landfills)

90% 90%

CHEMICAL
MANAGEMENT

ZDHC (Supplier to Zero)
(Progressive level compliant facilities)

Achieved

100%

DIVERT WASTE

FROM LANDFILLS 

100%

ZDHC

(SUPPLIER TO ZERO)

(Aspirational level
compliant facilities)

70%

INCREASE USE OF

SUSTAINABLE

RAW MATERIALS

25%

REDUCE WATER

CONSUMPTION

25%

REDUCE CARBON

 FOOTPRINT 

PLANET 
ENVIRONMENT & SOCIAL GOAL 2025-26
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Building a diverse, inclusive, and engaged workforce creating a high-performing organization. 

80%

TRAIN WORKFORCE ON 

RELEVANT AND FUTURE 

COMPETENCIES 

30%

INCREASE WORKFORCE

DIVERSITY

75%

BOOST EMPLOYEE

ENGAGEMENT

PEOPLE TARGETS 2025-26

ACHIVEMENTS VS TARGETS 2025

HIGHLIGHTS

IMPACT AREAS TARGETS ACHIEVEMENTS REMARKS

WORKFORCE DIVERSITY 15% 11.3% Women Ratio

EMPLOYEE ENGAGMENT 65% 64.8%

WORKFORCE
TRAININGS

Events / 
Sessions

63 69 For Executives Only

Man
Hours

22,671 26,594 For Executives Only

IDPs 560 336
It is based on Formal / Blended 

Learning and Coaching & Mentoring

PEOPLE 
PEOPLE GOAL 2025-26

DOMAIN AREA DETAIL

People & 
Leadership 

Development

Elevate Leadership 
Competencies 

(ELCs)

The Elevate Leadership Competencies (ELCs) framework is designed to nurture 
inclusive, value-driven leaders by providing tools, knowledge, and experiences 
that link individual aspirations with business needs, accelerate career growth, and 
identify high-potential talent for future leadership roles. By aligning leadership 
behaviors with Interloop’s ICARE values, ELCs drive collaboration, engagement, 
and inclusion across the organization. Integrated into core HR processes, the 
framework strengthens the leadership pipeline and embeds leadership as part 
of Interloop’s DNA. In 2025, an awareness campaign was launched through 
HOD onboarding, Change Navigators, interactive sessions, and sustained 
reinforcement, ensuring resilient teams, sustainable growth, and a thriving 
organizational culture that empowers people to shape the company’s future.
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PROSPERITY

4%

INVEST IN

COMMUNITY WELL-BEING

SOCIAL TARGETS 2025-26

IMPACT
AREA

TARGET ACHIEVEMENT INITIATIVES

INVEST % OF 
PROFIT IN 
COMMUNITY 
WELL-BEING

4% 2.33%

• Affordable, equitable quality education for 5,700+* children through sponsorship of 36 TCF 
schools, including 3 higher secondary schools for girls; 3 new schools under construction

• 833+* higher education scholarships awarded through the Interloop Scholarship Program 
across leading institutions, including 566+ for women at GCWUF

• Equal access to education and rehabilitation for 2,000+* children with special abilities
• Free nutritious meals daily for 2,127+* students across 14 schools in Faisalabad & Lahore 

under the School Khana Program
• Support for 30 children with autism at the Faisalabad Autism Unit, with an enhancement 

plan for the future
• Partnered with the Academic Leaders Innovation Forum to support ECO Schools, 

embedding sustainability in education through training, mentorship, and youth-led action
• Free and quality healthcare services for 200,000+* deserving patients; also established a 

new Operation Theatre at Mujahid Hospital, Faisalabad
• Partnered with Karachi Down Syndrome Program to establish its Faisalabad Chapter, 

providing early intervention and family support for children with Down syndrome
• Grassroots sports initiatives benefiting 6,000+* local talent; provided sports facilities and 

equipment to a Government Girls School in Faisalabad
• Supported the Karishma Ali Foundation to empower 1,000* young girls in marginalized 

regions through sports, leadership, and climate advocacy
• Supported the 4th Wheelchair T20 Cup, Pakistan’s premier inclusive cricket tournament, 

promoting talent, resilience, and unity
• Independent mobility for 2,347+* women through the Women on Wheels program with 

motorbike training, safety workshops, and subsidized bikes
• Partnered with ConnectHear to advance accessibility for the deaf community through sign 

language training, app-based support, career guidance, and inclusive hiring

ACHIVEMENTS VS TARGETS 2025

ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE

PARTICULARS FY 2025
PKR MILLION

FY 2024
PKR MILLION

DIRECT ECONOMIC VALUE GENERATED

Revenue a 175,600 157,583

DIRECT ECONOMIC VALUE DISTRIBUTED

Operating Cost b 111,570 92,679

Employee Wages/Benefits c 41,408 34,041

Payment to Providers of Capital d 10,908 16,402

Payment to Government e 7,795 4,824

Investments in Community f 125 633

ECONOMIC VALUE RETAINED g=a-b-c-d-e-f 3,793 9,005

COMMUNITY

* Approximate Figure
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Interloop supports multiple environmental and social initiatives to ensure sustainability in the 
supply chain and the betterment of communities.

MEMBERSHIPS

***

* Hosiery Plant 4,5 & 6   ** Denim & Apparel Plant 2   *** Hosiery Plant 2   **** Hosiery Plant 3 & Denim   ***** Spinning & Denim Plant   ****** Hosiery Plants & Spinning

* Hosiery Plant 1, 2 & IL Apparel Park

ENVIRONMENTAL CERTIFICATIONS

SOCIAL CERTIFICATIONS

CHEMICAL MANAGEMENT PORTALS 

OTHERS

COMMITMENTS & COLLABORATIONS 

CERTIFICATIONS

*

*** ****

***** *****

******

*

***
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Office No.1, 2nd Floor, Legacy Tower, Kohinoor City, Faisalabad–Pakistan. Phone: + 92–41–8731632, 8731650 
Email: hyderbhimjifsd@gmail.com  Website: www.krestonhb.com

Other offices: Karachi, Lahore, Islamabad.
A member of Kreston International– A Global Network of Independent Accounting Firms

Opinion 

We have audited the annexed unconsolidated financial statements of Interloop Limited (“the Company”), which 
comprise the unconsolidated statement of financial position as at June 30, 2025, the unconsolidated statement of profit 
or loss, the unconsolidated statement of comprehensive income, the unconsolidated statement of changes in equity, the 
unconsolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the unconsolidated financial statements 
comprising material accounting policy information and other explanatory information, and we state that we have obtained 
all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purpose of 
the audit.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the unconsolidated 
statement of financial position, the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss, the unconsolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, the unconsolidated statement of changes in equity and the unconsolidated statement of cash 
flows together with the notes forming part thereof conform with the Accounting and Reporting Standards as applicable 
in Pakistan and give the information required by the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017), in the manner so required and 
respectively give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at June 30, 2025 and of the profit, other 
comprehensive loss, the changes in equity and its cash flows for the year then ended.

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as applicable in Pakistan. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
unconsolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with 
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants as adopted by 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (the Code) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion.   

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
unconsolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the unconsolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. 
 
Following are the Key Audit Matter(s):

S. No Key Audit Matter(s) How the Matter was addressed in audit

1. Borrowings: (Refer notes 23, 25.2 and 28 to the unconsolidated financial statements)

The Company has significant amounts of borrowings 
from Banks amounting to Rs. 90.927 billion, being 
74.83% of total liabilities, as at reporting date.

Given the significant level of borrowings, finance 
costs, significant gearing, the disclosure given by the 
management in unconsolidated financial statements 
and compliance with various loan covenants, this is 
considered to be a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included:

• Review of loan agreements and facility letters 
to ascertain the terms and conditions of 
repayment, rates of markup used and disclosed 
by management for finance costs and to ensure 
that the borrowings have been approved at 
appropriate levels.

• Verification of disbursement of loans and utilization 
on sample basis. Review of documents for charge 
registration with regulator - SECP.

• Verification of repayments made by the Company 
during the year on sample basis to confirm that 
repayments are being made on time and no 
default has been made.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF INTERLOOP 
LIMITED 
Report on the Audit of Unconsolidated Financial Statements
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S. No Key Audit Matter(s) How the Matter was addressed in audit

• Assessing procedures designed by management 
to comply with the debt covenants and performing 
covenant tests on sample basis.

• Obtaining direct confirmations from Banks of the 
Company to confirm balances, terms & conditions 
stated in the facility offer letters and compliance 
thereof.

• Performing analytical procedures, recalculations 
and other related procedures for verification of 
finance costs.

• Ensuring that the outstanding liabilities have 
been properly classified and related securities 
and other terms are adequately disclosed in the 
unconsolidated financial statements.

2. Capital expenditures: (Refer notes  6 to the unconsolidated financial statements)

The Company is investing significant amounts in 
its operations and there is a number of areas where 
management’s judgment impacts the carrying value 
of property, plant and equipment and its respective 
depreciation profile. These include among others the 
decision to capitalize costs; and review of useful life of 
the assets.

The Company’s material accounting policy information 
on operating fixed assets and capital work in 
progress are disclosed in notes – 5.1 and 5.2 to the 
unconsolidated financial statements.

We focused on this area since the amounts have a 
significant impact on the financial position of the 
Company and there is significant management 
judgment required that has significant impact on the 
reporting of the financial position for the Company. 
Therefore, considered as one of the key audit matters.

Our audit procedures in relation to capitalization 
of property, plant and equipment, amongst others 
include the following: 

• Understanding the design and implementation 
of management controls over capitalization and 
performing tests of control over authorization of 
capital expenditure and accuracy of its recording 
in the system. 

• Testing, on sample basis, the costs incurred 
on projects with supporting documents and 
contracts. 

• Assessing the nature of costs incurred for capital 
projects through testing, on sample basis, of 
amounts recorded and considering whether the 
expenditure meets the criteria for capitalization 
as per the accounting policy and applicable 
accounting standards.  

• Checked the reasonableness of management’s 
assessment of categories of assets and working 
of reclassification in categories of assets including 
impact of reclassification on both cost of assets 
and accumulated depreciation in each category.  

• Inspecting supporting documents for the date 
of capitalization when project was ready for its 
intended use to assess whether depreciation 
commenced and further capitalization of costs 
ceased from that date and assessing the useful 
life assigned by management including the 
calculation of related depreciation.
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S. No Key Audit Matter(s) How the Matter was addressed in audit

3. Inventory existence and valuation: (Refer notes 11 and 12 to the unconsolidated financial statements)

The Company has significant levels of inventories 
amounting to Rs. 29.212 billion as at the reporting 
date, being 16.53% of the total assets of the Company.

There is a risk in estimating the eventual NRV of items 
held, as well as assessing which items may be slow-
moving or obsolete.

The Company’s material accounting policy information 
on stores and spares and stock in trade are disclosed 
in notes – 5.6 and 5.7 to the unconsolidated financial 
statements.

The significance of the balance coupled with the 
judgments and estimates involved on their valuation 
has resulted in the inventories being considered as a 
key audit matter.

Our audit procedures over existence and valuation of 
inventory include, but were not limited to:

• To test the quantity of inventories at all locations, 
we assessed the corresponding inventory 
observation instructions and participated in 
inventory counts on sites. Based on samples, 
we performed test counts and compared the 
quantities counted by us with the results of the 
counts of the management;

• For a sample of inventory items, re-performed the 
weighted average cost calculation and compared 
the weighted average cost appearing on valuation 
sheets;

• We tested that the ageing report used by 
management correctly aged inventory items by 
agreeing a sample of aged inventory items to the 
last recorded invoice;

• On a sample basis, we tested the net realizable 
value of inventory items to recent selling prices 
and reperformed the calculation of the inventory 
write down, if any;

• We also made enquires of management, including 
those outside of the finance function, and 
considered the results of our testing above to 
determine whether any specific write downs were 
required.

4. Revenue recognition: (Refer note 31 to the unconsolidated financial statements)

We identified recognition of revenue of the Company 
as a key audit matter because revenue is one of the key 
performance indicators and gives rise to an inherent 
risk that revenue could be subject to misstatement to 
meet expectations or targets. 

The Company earns revenue from multiple business 
lines which operate as distinct business segments with 
significant volume of revenue transactions.

Revenue is recorded in accordance with the requirements 
of IFRS-15 which provides a comprehensive model of 
revenue recognition and requires the Company to 
exercise judgement, taking into consideration all of 
the relevant facts and circumstances when applying 
the model to contracts with customers.

The Company’s material accounting policy information 
on revenue recognition is disclosed in notes – 5.19 to 
the unconsolidated financial statements.

We performed a range of audit procedures in relation 
to revenue including the following:

• We obtained an understanding of the process 
relating to recognition of revenue and testing 
the design, implementation and operating 
effectiveness of key internal controls over 
recording of revenue;

• We compared a sample of revenue transactions 
recorded during the year with sales orders, sales 
invoices, delivery documents and other relevant 
underlying documents;

• We performed analytical review procedures and 
other test of details over various revenue streams 
including the cut-off procedures to check that 
revenue has been recognized in the appropriate 
accounting period;

• We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures 
as per the guidelines set out in the applicable 
financial reporting requirements.
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Information Other than the Unconsolidated Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
annual report, but does not include the unconsolidated financial statements and auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the unconsolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the unconsolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the unconsolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information; we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Board of Directors for the Unconsolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the unconsolidated financial statements in 
accordance with accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan, the requirements of the Companies Act, 
2017 (XIX of 2017) and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
unconsolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the unconsolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Unconsolidated 昀椀nancial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the unconsolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
as applicable in Pakistan will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these unconsolidated financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the unconsolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of material accounting policy information used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the 
unconsolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.
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• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the unconsolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the unconsolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide to the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the unconsolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.  
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements:

Based on our audit, we further report that in our opinion:

a) proper books of account have been kept by the Company as required by the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017);

b) the unconsolidated statement of financial position, the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss, the 
unconsolidated statement of comprehensive income, the unconsolidated statement of changes in equity and the 
unconsolidated statement of cash flows together with the notes thereon have been drawn up in conformity with 
the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017) and are in agreement with the books of account and returns;

c) investments made, expenditure incurred and guarantees extended during the year were for the purpose of the 
Company’s business; and

d) zakat deductible at source under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance, 1980 (XVIII of 1980), was deducted by the 
Company and deposited in the Central Zakat Fund established under section 7 of that Ordinance. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Syed Aftab Hameed - FCA.

Date: September 10, 2025  KRESTON HYDER BHIMJI & CO.
Place: Faisalabad                      CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
UDIN: AR202510475Ax21dGfHU
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

ASSETS 

NON CURRENT ASSETS 

 Property, plant and equipment 6  82,102,936   67,804,680 
 Intangible assets 7  485,395   454,557 
 Long term investment 8  1,727,763   1,727,763 
 Long term loans 9  198,075   176,873 
 Long term deposits 10  95,481   89,451 
 Deferred taxation – net 25.3  –     350,141 

     84,609,650   70,603,465 
CURRENT ASSETS 

 Stores and spares 11  3,476,263   3,184,425 
 Stock in trade 12  25,735,469   26,360,852 
 Trade debts 13  48,314,852   41,193,604 
 Loans and advances 14  1,897,224   1,924,171 
 Deposit, prepayments and other receivables 15  296,554   347,722 
 Derivative financial instruments      –  59,248 
 Accrued income 16  877   1,497 
 Refunds due from Government and statutory authorities 17  11,538,248   7,128,807 
 Short term investments 18  500,000   500,000 
 Cash and bank balances 19  357,519   370,386 

     92,117,006   81,070,712 

TOTAL ASSETS   176,726,656   151,674,177 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

 Authorized share capital 20  50,000,000   50,000,000 

 Issued, subscribed and paid up share capital 21  14,017,095   14,017,095 
 Reserve 22  3,158,734   3,158,734 
 Unappropriated profit   38,047,206   36,356,646 

     55,223,035   53,532,475 
NON CURRENT LIABILITIES 

 Long term financing 23  28,593,987   16,194,813 
 Lease liabilities 24  166,688   190,965 
 Deferred liabilities 25  14,323,587   10,786,348 

     43,084,262   27,172,126 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 

 Trade and other payables 26  15,033,780   15,536,209 
 Unclaimed dividend   3,112   3,077 
 Derivative financial instruments   13,056   –   
 Accrued mark up  27  1,022,132   2,689,232 
 Short term borrowings 28  59,829,892   49,903,571 
 Current portion of non current liabilities 29  2,517,387   2,837,487 

     78,419,359   70,969,576 
CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 30  –     –

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   176,726,656   151,674,177

The annexed notes 1 to 52 form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements.

Chief Executive Of昀椀cer Director Chief Financial Officer

UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at June 30, 2025
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

Sales – net 31   173,381,533   156,128,865 

Cost of sales 32   (138,210,447)  (112,584,682)

Gross pro昀椀t   35,171,086   43,544,183 

Operating expenses 

Distribution cost 33   (6,682,333)  (5,627,791)

Administrative expenses 34   (9,620,445)  (8,582,768)

Other operating expenses 35   (948,128)  (2,041,452)

     (17,250,906)  (16,252,011)

Other income 36   399,745   640,331 

Pro昀椀t from operations   18,319,925   27,932,503 

Finance cost 37   (9,533,364)  (10,125,154)

Pro昀椀t before income tax and levies   8,786,561   17,807,349 

Levies 38   21,568   (2,046,211)

Pro昀椀t before income tax   8,808,129   15,761,138 

Income tax 39   (3,431,530)  10,129 

Pro昀椀t for the year   5,376,599   15,771,267

 

Earnings per share – basic and diluted (Rupees) 40  3.84   11.25

The annexed notes 1 to 52 form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements.

UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
PROFIT OR LOSS 
For the year ended June 30, 2025

Chief Executive Of昀椀cer Director Chief Financial Officer
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Chief Executive Of昀椀cer Director Chief Financial Officer

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

Pro昀椀t for the year   5,376,599   15,771,267 

Other comprehensive loss: 

Items that will not be reclassi昀椀ed subsequently 

 to pro昀椀t or loss: 

Actuarial loss on remeasurement of post retirement 

 benefits obligations 25.1.4  (297,975)  (753,756)

Related effect of deferred tax   116,210   293,965 

     (181,765)  (459,791)

Total comprehensive income for the year   5,194,834   15,311,476 

 

The annexed notes 1 to 52 form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements.

UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended June 30, 2025
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UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the year ended June 30, 2025

Chief Executive Of昀椀cer Director Chief Financial Officer

Balance as at July 01, 2023  14,014,469   3,143,605   6,968   26,641,364   43,806,406 

Profit for the year  –     –     –     15,771,267   15,771,267 

Other comprehensive loss  –     –     –     (459,791)  (459,791)

Total comprehensive income for the year  –     –     –     15,311,476   15,311,476 

Transaction cost on issuance of 

 bonus shares  –     (34)  –     –     (34)

Employee share option scheme (ESOS)  –     –     4,187   –     4,187 

Forfeited share options  –     –     (10,119)  10,119   –   

Transactions with owners: 

Shares issued under employee share 

 option scheme  2,626   15,163   (1,036)  –     16,753 

Final cash dividend @ Rs. 2 per share  

 for the year ended June 30, 2023  –     –     –     (2,802,894)  (2,802,894)

Interim cash dividend @ Rs. 2 per share  

for the year ended June 30, 2024  –     –     –     (2,803,419)  (2,803,419)

Balance as at June 30, 2024  14,017,095   3,158,734   –     36,356,646   53,532,475 

Profit for the year  –     –     –     5,376,599   5,376,599 

Other comprehensive loss  –     –     –     (181,765)  (181,765)

Total comprehensive income 

 for the year  –     –     –     5,194,834   5,194,834 

Transactions with owners: 

Final cash dividend @ Rs. 2.5 per share  

 for the year ended June 30, 2024  –     –     –     (3,504,274)  (3,504,274)

Balance as at June 30, 2025  14,017,095   3,158,734   –     38,047,206   55,223,035 

 

The annexed notes 1 to 52 form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements. 

Share
Capital

Capital Reserves
Revenue 
Reserve

Total

Share Premium

Employee 
Share Option 
Compensation 

Reserve

Unappropriated           
Pro昀椀t

(Rupees ‘000)
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

a) CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

 Pro昀椀t before income tax and levies   8,786,561   17,807,349 

 Adjustments for: 

 Depreciation  6.1.2  6,838,364   4,320,377 
 Amortization 7.2  78,220   73,273 
 Depreciation on right of use assets 6.3.1  99,893   95,501 
 Workers’ welfare fund 35  179,317   363,416 
 Workers’ profit participation fund 35  463,465   943,788 
 Staff retirement gratuity  25.1.3  3,559,300   2,796,402 
 Employee share option compensation expense   –     4,187 
 Loss on disposal of non current assets 35.1  136,410   32,659 
 Exchange (gain)/loss – net 36 & 35  (3,698)  20,769 
 Provision for obsolete inventory 35  30,489   48,274 
 Realized gain on derivative financial instruments 36  (288,794)  (442,679)
 Unrealized loss/(gain) on derivative financial instruments 35 & 36  13,056   (59,248)
 Profit on term finance certificates (TFCs) 36  (84,058)  (118,072)
 Dividend income 36  (22,927)  (19,794)
 Finance cost 37  9,533,364   10,125,154 

 Operating cash 昀氀ows before working capital changes   29,318,962   35,991,356 

 Changes in working capital 

 (Increase)/decrease in current assets 

  Stores and spares   (291,838)  (693,450)
  Stock in trade   594,894   (6,680,316)
  Trade debts   (7,121,248)  (7,054,939)
  Loans and advances   127,428   210,345 
  Deposit, prepayments and other receivables   51,168   324,152 
  Refunds due from Government and statutory authorities  (3,031,534)  (2,190,538)

 (Decrease)/increase in current liabilities 

  Trade and other payables   (106,098)  3,351,956 

    (9,777,228)  (12,732,790)

 Cash generated from operations  19,541,734  23,258,566 

  Finance cost paid   (11,135,716)  (9,203,381)
  Income tax paid   (3,775,633)  (2,271,714)
  Staff retirement gratuity paid 25.1.1  (839,114)  (734,428)
  Workers’ profit participation fund paid 26.6  (975,836)  (1,154,741)
  Workers’ welfare fund paid 26.7  (90,000)  –   
  Long term loans paid   (121,683)  (50,776)
  Long term deposits paid   (6,030)  (7,750)
  Settlement of derivative financial instruments   288,794   442,679 
  Exchange gain – net  57,162   41,105 

 Net cash generated from operating activities   2,943,678   10,319,560

UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended June 30, 2025
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

b) CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

 Additions in: 
  Property, plant and equipment   (21,584,044)  (13,517,609)
  Intangible assets   (114,384)  (133,212)
 Proceeds from disposal of non current assets   278,446   149,615 
 Long term investments   –     (1,727,763)
 Profit on term finance certificates (TFCs) received   84,678   118,198 
 Dividend received   22,927   19,794 

 Net cash used in investing activities   (21,312,377)  (15,090,977)

 
c) CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  

 Long term financing obtained   16,332,285   3,568,165 
 Repayment of long term financing   (4,275,344)  (1,974,071)
 Payment of lease rentals 24  (128,975)  (120,659)
 Changes in short term borrowings – net   9,926,321   7,754,659 
 Share capital issued   –     2,626 
 Share premium net of transaction cost   –     14,093 
 Dividend paid   (3,504,239)  (5,607,310)

 Net cash generated from 昀椀nancing activities   18,350,048   3,637,503 

 Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (a+b+c) (18,651)  (1,133,914)

 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  370,386 1,544,502

 Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   5,784  (40,202)

 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 19  357,519   370,386 
 

The annexed notes 1 to 52 form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements. 



98 Annual Report 2025

1. LEGAL STATUS AND OPERATIONS 

 Interloop Limited (the Company) was incorporated in Pakistan on April 25, 1992 and publicly listed on Pakistan 
Stock Exchange on April 5, 2019. The registered office of the Company is situated at 15–A, Peoples Colony 
No. 1, Faisalabad, Pakistan. The manufacturing facilities are located at 1–km, 6–km, 7–km Jaranwala Road, 
Khurrianwala, Faisalabad and 8–km Manga Mandi, Raiwand Road, Lahore. The Company is a vertically integrated 
multi–category Full Family Clothing, manufacturing Hosiery, Denim, Knitted Apparel and Seamless Active wear, 
for top international brands and retailers, besides producing yarns for a range of textile customers. The Company’s 
commitment to environmental, social responsibility & governance (ESG) is deeply rooted in its mission and has 
gained it global recognition as a pioneer in responsible manufacturing. The Company’s diverse & engaged 
workforce and operational excellence has established it as a Partner of Choice for its customers.  

 
 These financial statements (hereinafter referred to as ‘unconsolidated financial statements’) are the separate 

financial statements of the Company in which investment in subsidiary has been accounted for at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses, if any. The consolidated financial statements of the Company are presented 
separately. Details of investment held by the Company in its subsidiary has been presented in note 8 of these 
unconsolidated financial statements.   

 
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

2.1 Statement of compliance 

 These unconsolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and 
reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan. The accounting and reporting standards applicable in 
Pakistan comprise of:  

 
– International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Standards) issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board (IASB) as notified under the Companies Act, 2017; 
 
– Islamic Financial Accounting Standards (IFAS) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 

Pakistan as are notified under the Companies Act, 2017; and 
 
– Provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017. 

 
 Where the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 differ from the IFRS 

Standards or IFAS, the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 have been 
followed.

2.2 Basis of measurement 

 These unconsolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention 
except as otherwise stated in the respective accounting policy information notes. In these unconsolidated 
financial statements, all the transactions are recorded on actual basis except for the statement of cash 
flows.

2.3 Functional and presentation currency 

 These unconsolidated financial statements are presented in Pakistani Rupee which is also the Company’s 
functional currency. 

 
3. NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS, AMENDMENTS AND IMPROVEMENTS

3.1 Standards, interpretations and amendments to approved accounting standards which became 
effective during the year 

 There are certain amendments to the accounting and reporting standards which became effective during 
the year and are adopted by the Company for the financial year beginning on July 01, 2024. However, 
these amendments do not have any significant impact on the Company’s financial reporting.  

 
– Amendments to IAS 1 – ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ 

 Classi昀椀cation of Liabilities as Current or Non–current and Non–current Liabilities with 
Covenants

NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended June 30, 2025
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 (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024)

 The amendments aim to enhance consistency in classifying liabilities in the statement of financial 
position, particularly where the timing of settlement is uncertain. They clarify that classification 
depends on whether the entity has a right to defer settlement at the end of the reporting period, 
regardless of expectations of settlement. In addition, the amendments address non–current 
liabilities with covenants that must be complied with within twelve months after the reporting date. 
Only covenants with which an entity is required to comply on or before the reporting date affect the 
classification of a liability as current or non–current. Entities are now required to provide enhanced 
disclosures to help users assess the risk of early repayment if those covenants are not met.

– Amendments to IFRS 16 – ‘Leases’ 

 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 

 (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024) 
 
 The amendments clarify the requirements for a seller–lessee in a sale and leaseback transaction, 

particularly in relation to the subsequent measurement of lease liabilities and recognition of any 
gains or losses. These amendments ensure that the seller–lessee continues to account for the 
lease liability arising from the leaseback in a way that does not recognize any gain relating to the 
right of use retained. The new requirements do not prevent a seller–lessee from recognizing in 
profit or loss any gain or loss relating to the partial or full termination of a lease. A seller–lessee 
applies the amendments retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors to sale and leaseback transactions entered into after the date of 
initial application.

– Amendments to IAS 7 – ‘Statement of Cash Flows’ and IFRS 7 – ‘Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures’

 Supplier Finance Arrangements, disclosure requirements to enhance the transparency of 
supplier 昀椀nance arrangements and their effects on a Company’s liabilities, cash 昀氀ows and 
exposure to liquidity risk

 (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024)
 
 These amendments introduce new disclosure requirements that are supplement to existing 

disclosure requirements to IFRS accounting standards and are aimed at enhancing the transparency 
of supplier finance arrangements. These require a Company to disclose;

i) the terms and conditions of arrangements; 

ii) the amount of the liabilities that are part of the arrangements, breaking out the amounts for 
which the suppliers have already received payment from the finance providers, and stating 
where the liabilities stand on the statement of financial position; 

iii) ranges of payment due dates; 

iv) liquidity risk information. 

 
 The adoption of above amendments have no material impact on these unconsolidated financial 

statements other than presentation and disclosures. 
 
3.2 Standards, interpretations, amendments and improvements to approved accounting standards 

that are issued but not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Company 

 The following standards, amendments and improvements with respect to the approved accounting 
standards as applicable in Pakistan would be effective from the dates mentioned below and have not 
been early adopted by the Company:

NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended June 30, 2025
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  Effective date 
  (Annual periods  
Standards Interpretations and Amendments beginning on or after) 

IAS 21 ‘The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates’,
 Lack of exchangeability — (Amendments) 01 January 2025 

IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’, To address 
 matters identified during the post–implementation 
 review of the classification and measurement 
 requirements of IFRS 9 — (Amendments) 01 January 2026 

IFRS 7  ‘Financial Instruments’ and ‘Financial
IFRS 9 instruments: Disclosures’, Contracts Referencing 
 Nature–dependent Electricity — (Amendments) 01 January 2026 

IFRS 17 ‘Insurance contracts’ 01 January 2026

Annual  Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting
Improvements Standards — Volume 11 (related to IFRS 1, 
 IFRS 7, IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7) 01 January 2026 

IFRS S1 ‘General Requirements for Disclosure of 
 Sustainability–Related Financial Information’ 01 July 2025 

IFRS S2 ‘Climate–Related Disclosures’ 01 July 2025

 
 Further, the following new standards have been issued by IASB and ISSB which are yet to be notified by 

the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) for the purpose of applicability in Pakistan:

Standard  

IFRS 1 First–time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards 
IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 
IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures 

 
 The management expects that the adoption of above standards, amendments and improvements 

will not have any material impact on the Company’s unconsolidated financial statements except for 
presentation and disclosures.

4. KEY JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES 

 The preparation of these unconsolidated financial statements in conformity with the approved accounting 
standards require management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments about carrying 
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates. 

 
 The estimates and associated assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 

are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods. Judgments made by management in application of the approved 
accounting standards that have significant effect on the financial statements and estimates with a significant 
risk of material adjustments in the next year are discussed in respective policy notes. The areas where various 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the Company’s unconsolidated financial statements or where 
judgment was exercised in application of accounting policies are as follows: 

 
– Estimate of useful life of operating fixed assets – note 5.1 
– Estimated useful life of intangible assets – note 5.3 
– Impairment of non–financial assets – note 5.5 
– Stores and spares – note 5.6 
– Stock–in–trade – note 5.7 
– Estimates for expected credit loss (ECL) of financial assets i.e. trade debts and other receivables– note 

5.8
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– Estimation used in right of use asset and corresponding lease liability – note 5.10 
– Staff retirement benefits – note 5.12 
– Provisions – note 5.16 
– Contingencies  – note 5.17 
– Estimates as to expected value or most likely amount method for determination of variable consideration  

of transaction price – note 5.19
– Taxation – note 5.21 
– Derivative financial instruments – note 5.26 
– Impairment of financial assets – note 5.26 
 

5. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 

 The material accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
unconsolidated financial statements. 

 
5.1 Operating 昀椀xed assets and depreciation 

 Operating fixed assets, except freehold land which is stated at cost, are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and identified accumulated impairment loss, if any. Cost comprises acquisition and other 
directly attributable costs.

 Depreciation is calculated on reducing balance method at the rates stated in note – 6.1 of these 
unconsolidated financial statements. The useful life and residual value of major components of operating 
fixed assets are reviewed annually to determine that expectations are not significantly different from the 
previous estimates. Adjustment in depreciation rate for current and future periods is made if expectations 
are significantly different from the previous estimates. Depreciation is charged from the month when an 
asset becomes available for use, whereas no depreciation is charged in the month of its disposal. 

 
 Expenditure, which enhances or extends the performance of operating fixed assets beyond its original 

specification and its useful life, is recognized as a capital expenditure and is added to the cost of the 
relevant category of operating fixed assets. These are depreciated on reducing balance method at the 
rate mentioned in note – 6.1. 

 
 An item of operating fixed asset and any significant part initially recognized is derecognized upon disposal 

or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use. The gain or loss arising on derecognition 
of an item of operating fixed asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the 
carrying amounts of the asset and is recognized in the statement of profit or loss.  

 
5.2 Capital work in progress 

 Capital work in progress is stated at cost less identified impairment loss, if any,  and represents direct 
cost of material, labour, applicable overheads and borrowing costs on qualifying assets. Transfers are 
made to relevant category of property, plant and equipment as and when assets are available for its 
intended use.  

 
5.3 Intangible assets – Computer software 

 Intangible assets are recognized if it is probable that future economic benefits attributable to the assets 
will flow to the Company and that the cost of such assets can be measured reliably. These are stated at 
cost less accumulated amortization and impairment, if any. 

 
 Costs that are directly associated with identifiable software and have probable economic benefits 

exceeding one year, are recognized as intangible asset at the time of initial recognition. Direct costs 
include the purchase cost of software, implementation cost and related overhead cost. 

 
 Expenditure, which enhances or extends the performance of computer software beyond its original 

specification and useful life, is recognized as a capital expenditure and added to the cost of the software. 

 Intangible assets are amortized using the reducing balance method at the rates given in note – 7.1 of 
these unconsolidated financial statements. Amortization on additions is charged from the month in 
which an intangible asset is available for use, while no amortization is charged for the month in which 
intangible asset is disposed off. 

NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED 
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 The carrying value of intangible assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and 
where the carrying value exceeds the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down to 
their recoverable amount. 

5.3.1 Development costs 

 Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique 
software products controlled by the Company are recognized as development cost in intangible assets. 
Directly attributable costs that are capitalized as part of the software include advance payments for the 
software. Capitalized development costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortized from the point 
at which the asset is ready for use. 

 
5.4 Investment in subsidiary 

 Investment in subsidiary is recognized at cost less impairment loss, if any, in accordance with 
IAS–27 ‘Consolidated and separate financial statements’. Cost in relation to investment made in foreign 
currency is determined by translating the consideration paid in foreign currency into Pak Rupees at 
exchange rate prevailing on the date of transaction.  

 
 At each reporting date, the recoverable amount is estimated to determine the extent of impairment 

loss, if any, and carrying amount of investment is adjusted accordingly. Impairment loss is recognized 
as expense. Where impairment loss subsequently reverse, the carrying amount of the investment is 
increased to the revised recoverable amount but limited to the extent of initial cost of investment. A 
reversal of impairment loss is recognized in the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss. The profits 
and losses of subsidiary are not dealt within these unconsolidated financial statements except to the 
extent of dividend declared by the subsidiary. Gain and loss on disposal of investment is included in 
other income. 

 
5.5 Impairment of non–昀椀nancial assets 

 The carrying amounts of the Company’s non–financial assets, other than stock in trade and stores & 
spares, are assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. 
If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible 
assets that have indefinite lives or that are not yet available for use, recoverable amount is assessed at 
each reporting date. 

 
 An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash–generating unit exceeds 

its recoverable amount. A cash–generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates 
cash flows that largely are independent from other assets and groups. 

 
 Impairment losses are recognized as expense in unconsolidated statement of profit or loss. Impairment 

losses recognized in respect of cash–generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount 
of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets of the 
unit on a pro–rata basis. Impairment losses on goodwill shall not be reversed. 

 
 An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 

recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized. Prior impairments of non–financial assets are 
reviewed for possible reversal at each reporting date. 

 
5.6 Stores and spares 

 Stores and spares are carried at moving average cost. Provision is made for slow moving and obsolete 
store items when so identified. Stores and spares held for capital expenditure are included in capital 
work in progress.
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5.7 Stock–in–trade 

 These are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV). The methods used for the calculation 
of cost are as follows:

Raw material – At factory Moving average cost 

                      – In transit Invoice value plus direct charges in respect thereof. 

Work in process and finished goods Prime cost including a proportion of production 
overheads. 

Wastes Net realizable value.

 Stock–in–trade is regularly reviewed by the management and any obsolete items are brought down to 
their net realizable value. Net realizable value signifies the selling price in the ordinary course of business 
less costs necessary to be incurred to affect such sale. 

 
5.8 Trade debts and other receivables 

 Trade debts are recognized and carried at the original invoice amounts, being the fair value, less 
allowance for expected credit loss, if any. For measurement of loss allowance for trade debts, the 
Company applies simplified approach to measure the expected credit loss as required by IFRS 9. 

 
 Other receivables are recognized at amortized cost, less any allowance for expected credit loss. 
 
5.9 Cash and cash equivalents 

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash in hand, cheques in hand/cheques overdrawn, balances 
with banks and include short term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or 
less. The cash and cash equivalents are readily convertible to known amount of cash and are subject to 
insignificant risk of change in value. 

 
5.10 Leases 

 Right of use assets 

 At inception, the Company assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease. This assessment involves 
the exercise of judgement about whether the Company obtains substantially all the economic benefits 
from the use of the asset and whether the Company has a right to direct the use of the asset. The 
Company recognizes right of use assets (RoU) at the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date 
the underlying asset is available for use). Right of use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of 
RoU includes the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. 

 
 Unless the Company is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the 

lease term, the recognized right of use assets are depreciated on a straight–line basis over the shorter 
of its estimated useful life and the lease term. Depreciation of RoU is charged to statement of profit or 
loss. Residual value and the useful life of an RoU are reviewed at least at each financial year–end and the 
impact on depreciation is adjusted in the statement of profit or loss. Depreciation on additions to RoU 
is charged from the month in which an asset is acquired, while no depreciation is charged for the month 
in which the asset is disposed off. 

 
 Lease liabilities 

 At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognizes lease liabilities measured at the 
present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed 
payments (including in–substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease 
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value 
guarantees.
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 The related payment obligations, net of finance costs are classified as current and long term liability 
depending upon the timing of the payment. 

 
 In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses the incremental borrowing rate 

at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. 
After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of 
interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities 
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the in–substance fixed 
lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase the underlying asset. 

 
 Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost so as to achieve a constant rate 

on the balance outstanding. The interest element of the rental is charged to statement of profit or loss 
over the lease term. 

 
 Payments associated with short–term leases and leases of low–value assets are recognized on a straight–

line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short–term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or 
less and leases of low value items. 

 
5.11 Share capital 

 Ordinary shares are classified as equity and recognized at their face value. Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from 
the proceeds.

 
5.12 Staff retirement bene昀椀ts 

 The Company operates an unfunded gratuity scheme for all its employees (executives and non 
executives) and also a contributory provident fund for only executive employees of the Company. 
Executive employees of the Company can avail contributory provident fund along with 50% of their 
entitlement for gratuity. 

 
(a) De昀椀ned bene昀椀t plan 

 The Company operates an un–funded gratuity scheme covering all eligible employees completing the 
minimum qualifying period of service as specified by the scheme. Annual provision is made on the 
basis of actuarial valuation to cover obligations under the scheme for all employees eligible to gratuity 
benefits respective of the qualifying period. The projected unit credit method used for the valuation of 
the scheme is based on assumptions stated in Note 25.1 of these unconsolidated financial statements.

 The Company’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated by estimating the amount 
of future benefit that employees would have earned in the current and prior periods and discounting 
that amount. The calculation of defined benefit obligations is performed by a qualified actuary using the 
projected unit credit method.  

 
 Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, are 

recognized immediately in other comprehensive income. The Company determines the net interest 
expense on the net defined benefit liability for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure 
the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the then net defined benefit 
liability, taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability during the period as a result 
of the benefit payments. Net interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plan are 
recognized in unconsolidated statement of profit or loss. Past service costs are immediately recognized 
in unconsolidated statement of profit or loss.  

 
(b) De昀椀ned contribution plan 

 The Company also operates a contributory provident fund scheme for only executive staff of the 
Company for which contributions are charged to profit or loss as and when incurred.  

 
 Equal monthly contributions are made to the fund, both by the Company and the employees at the rate 

of 7.5% of the monthly basic pay. However, employees have the option to contribute more than 7.5% 
but not exceeding 12.5% of the basic pay subject to the written approval of the Board. The assets of the 
fund are held separately under the control of trustees. 
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(c) Compensated absences 

 The Company provides leave encashment benefit to its executive employees as per the company policy. 
The executive employees are entitled to 14 days annual leaves per annum. The un–utilized leaves are 
accumulated subject to a maximum of 28 days, any un availed leaves over 28 days lapse. The company 
has made provision against accumulated leaves of employees on the basis of last drawn salary. 

 
5.13 Government grants 

 Government grants are transfers of resources to an entity by a government entity in return for compliance 
with certain past or future conditions related to the entity’s operating activities – e.g. a government 
subsidy. The definition of “government” refers to governments, government agencies and similar 
bodies, whether local, national or international. 

 
 The Company recognizes government grants when there is reasonable assurance that grants will be 

received and the Company will be able to comply with conditions associated with grants. Government 
grants are recognized at fair value, as deferred income, when there is reasonable assurance that the 
grants will be received and the Company will be able to comply with the conditions associated with the 
grants.

 Grants that compensate the Company for expenses incurred, are recognized on a systematic basis in the 
income for the year in which the related expenses are recognized. Grants that compensate for the cost 
of an asset are recognized in income on a systematic basis over the expected useful life of the related 
asset.

 Government grant includes any benefit earned on account of a government loan obtained at below–
market rate of interest. The loan is initially recognized and subsequently measured at its fair value in 
accordance with IFRS 9. The fair value of the loan would be the present value of loan proceeds received, 
discounted using prevailing market rate of mark–up for a similar instrument. The benefit of below–
market mark–up (i.e. differential between the loan proceeds and fair value of the loan) is accounted for 
as deferred income – Government grant. In subsequent periods, the loan amount would be accreted by 
the amortized amount of Government grant. The accretion would increase the carrying value of the loan 
with a corresponding effect on the carrying value of Government grant. As per IFRS 9, the loan liability 
and related Government grant shall be derecognized when it is extinguished i.e., these amounts are 
paid–off.

5.14 Trade and other payables 

 Liabilities for trade and other payables are carried at their amortized cost, which approximate fair value 
of the consideration to be paid in future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the 
Company. Exchange gain and loss arising on translation in respect of liabilities in foreign currency are 
added to the carrying amount of the respective liabilities. 

 
5.15 Contract liabilities 

 Contract liability is the obligation of the Company to transfer goods to a customer for which the Company 
has received consideration from the customer. If a customer pays consideration before the Company 
transfers goods, a contract liability is recognized when the payment is made. Contract liabilities are 
recognized as revenue when the Company performs its performance obligations under the contract.

5.16 Provisions 

 Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
past events and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and 
a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.  

 
 Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and are adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If 

it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation, the provisions are reversed. 
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5.17 Contingencies 

 The Company reviews the status of all pending litigations and claims against the Company. Based on 
the judgment and the advice of the legal advisors for the estimated financial outcome, appropriate 
disclosure or provision is made. The actual outcome of these litigations and claims can have an effect on 
the carrying amounts of the liabilities recognized at the statement of financial position date. 

 
5.18 Foreign currency translation 

 Transactions in foreign currency during the period are initially recorded in the functional currency at 
the rate prevailing at the date of transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at functional currency at the rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date. 
All non–monetary assets and liabilities are translated into rupees at exchange rates prevailing on the 
date of transaction or on date when fair values are determined. Exchange differences are recognized in 
statement of profit or loss. 

 
5.19 Revenue recognition 

 Revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company is expected 
to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. For each contract with a 
customer, the Company: identifies the contract with a customer; identifies the performance obligations 
in the contract; determines the transaction price which takes into account estimates of variable 
consideration and the time value of money; allocates the transaction price to the separate performance 
obligations on the basis of the relative stand–alone selling price of each distinct good or service to be 
delivered; and recognizes revenue when or as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that 
depicts the transfer to the customer of the goods or services promised. 

 
 Variable consideration within the transaction price, if any, reflects concessions provided to the customer 

such as discounts, rebates and refunds, any potential bonuses receivable from the customer and any 
other contingent events. Such estimates are determined using either the ‘expected value’ or ‘most 
likely amount’ method. The measurement of variable consideration is subject to a constraining principle 
whereby revenue will only be recognized to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal 
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur. The measurement constraint continues 
until the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. Amounts 
received that are subject to the constraining principle are initially recognized as deferred revenue in the 
form of a separate refund liability. 

a) Sale of goods 

 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized at the point in time when the customer obtains control 
of the goods, which is generally at the time of delivery. Otherwise, control is transferred over time and 
revenue is recognized over time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the 
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met: 

 
– the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Company’s 

performance as the Company performs;
 
– the Company’s performance creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the 

Company performs; or 
 
– the Company’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Company and 

the Company has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. 
 
b) Rendering of services 

 Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognized over time as the services are rendered.

c) Interest income 

 Interest income is recognized as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method 
of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant 
period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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d) Other revenue 

 Other revenue is recognized when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established.

5.20 Borrowing costs 

 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or 
sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time when the assets are substantially ready for 
their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are charged to statement of profit or loss in the 
period of as and when incurred. 

 
5.21 Taxation 

 Income tax 

 The charge for current income tax is based on taxable income at current rates of taxation including 
related super tax applicable for companies after taking into account tax credits, rebates and exemptions 
available, if any. The charge for current tax also includes adjustments, where considered necessary, and 
the tax assessed from assessments framed during the year for such years is over/under the provision of 
tax then made. 

 
 The Company designate the amount calculated on taxable income using the notified tax rate as an 

income tax within the scope of IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’ and recognize it as current income tax expense. 
Any excess over the amount designated as income tax, is then recognized as a levy falling under the 
scope of IFRIC 21/IAS 37. 

 
 Levies 

 The Company recognize the charge for minimum and final taxes, calculated under the provisions of 
the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001, as levies. The charge for levies are not based on ‘taxable profit’ as 
defined in IAS 12 but calculated on turnover or other basis as per provisions and applicable tax rates 
under minimum and final tax regime. The charge for levies also includes adjustments, where considered 
necessary, and the tax assessed from assessments framed during the year for such years is over/under 
the provision of tax then made. 

 
 Deferred tax 

 Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences 
arising from differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements 
and the corresponding tax basis used in the computation of taxable income. Deferred tax is calculated 
by using the tax rates enacted at the reporting date. 

 
 Deferred tax liability is recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax asset is 

recognized for all deductible temporary differences and carry forward of unused tax losses and unused 
tax credits, if any, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which 
these can be utilized. 

 
 Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit 

will be realized. Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax 
assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together 
with future tax planning strategies. 

 
 Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability 

is settled or the asset is realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date. 

 
 The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow 

from the manner in which the Company expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle 
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 
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 Deferred tax is charged or credited in the statement of profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates 
to items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also 
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 

 
 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 

assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

 
5.22 Earnings per share 

 The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS 
is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is determined by 
adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

 
5.23 Dividend 

 Dividend is recognized as a liability in the period in which it is declared. Movement in reserves is 
recognized in the year in which it is approved.  

 
 Final dividend distributions to the Company’s shareholders are recognized as a liability in the 

unconsolidated financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting, while interim dividend distributions are recognized in the 
period in which the dividends are declared by the Board of Directors. 

 
5.24 Segment reporting 

 Segment reporting is based on the operating (business) segments of the Company. An operating 
segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to the transactions with any 
of the Company’s other components. An operating segment’s operating results are reviewed regularly 
by the chief operating decision maker (‘CODM’) to make decisions about resources to be allocated 
to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. 
The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating 
segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors of the Company that makes the strategic 
decisions.

 Segment results that are reported to the CODM include items directly attributable to a segment as well 
as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Those incomes, expenses, assets, liabilities and 
other balances which cannot be allocated to a particular segment on a reasonable basis are reported as 
unallocated.

 Transactions among the business segments are recorded at cost. Inter segment sales and purchases are 
eliminated from the total. 

 
5.25 Related party transactions 

 All transactions with related parties are carried out at arm’s length prices. Each transaction is evaluated 
to be characterized as an ”arm’s length transaction” and approximated to the arm’s length criteria using 
one of the following methodologies:

  •  Market–based pricing 
  •  Negotiated pricing 
  •  Cost–based pricing
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5.26 Financial instruments: 

5.26.1 Financial assets 

 A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it is held in order to collect contractual cash flows which 
arise on specified dates and that are ‘solely payment of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal 
amount outstanding. A debt investment is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 
if it is held in order to collect contractual cash flows which arise on specified dates that are solely 
principal and interest and as well as selling the asset on the basis of its fair value. All other financial assets 
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss unless the Company makes an irrevocable 
election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on equity instruments in other comprehensive 
income. Despite these requirements, a financial asset may be irrevocably designated as measured at fair 
value through profit or loss to reduce the effect of, or eliminate, an accounting mismatch. 

 A.  Classi昀椀cation and measurement of 昀椀nancial assets 

 Investments and other 昀椀nancial assets 

 Classi昀椀cation: 

 The Company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: 
 

–  those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income, or 
through profit or loss), and 

 
–  those to be measured at amortized cost. 

 
 The classification depends on the Company’s business model for managing the financial assets and 

the contractual terms of the cash flows. In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at 
amortized cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of 
principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the 
SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. The Company’s business model for managing financial 
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.

 For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or other 
comprehensive income. For investments in debt instruments, this will depend on the business model 
in which the investment is held. For investments in equity instruments, this will depend on whether 
the Company has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the 
equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income. The Company reclassifies debt 
investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes. 

 
 Measurement: 

 At initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a 
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through 
profit or loss are expensed in statement of profit or loss. 

 
 Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether 

their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest. 
 
 Debt instruments 

 Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Company’s business model for managing 
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into 
which the Company classifies its debt instruments:

 Amortized cost 

 Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent 
solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized cost. Interest income from these 
financial assets is included in other income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss 
arising on derecognition is recognized directly in statement of profit or loss and presented in other 
income / (other operating expenses) together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment 
losses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss. 
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 Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 

 Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, 
where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at 
FVTOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive income, except for 
the recognition of impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses), interest income and foreign 
exchange gains and losses which are recognized in statement of profit or loss. When the financial asset 
is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income is 
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognized in other income / (other operating expenses). 
Interest income from these financial assets is included in other income using the effective interest rate 
method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in other income/ (other operating expenses) 
and impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss. 

 
 Fair value through pro昀椀t or loss 

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets 
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily 
required to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are 
acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Financial assets with cash flows 
that are not solely payments of principal and interest are classified and measured at fair value through 
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be 
classified at amortized cost or at fair value through OCI, as described above, debt instruments may be 
designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly 
reduces, an accounting mismatch. 

 
 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair 

value with net changes in fair value recognized in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
B. Derecognition 

 A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial 
assets) is primarily derecognized when: 

 
 The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or 
 
 The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation 

to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass–through’ 
arrangement; and either (a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, or (b) the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of 
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

 When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a 
pass–through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of 
ownership.

 When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, 
nor transferred control of the asset, the Company continues to recognize the transferred asset to the 
extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the Company also recognizes an associated liability. 
The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and 
obligations that the Company has retained. 

 
 Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the 

lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the 
Company could be required to repay. 

 
C. Impairment 

 The Company record an allowance for a forward–looking expected credit loss (ECL) approach for all 
loans and other debt financial assets not held at FVPL. 
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 ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the 
contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted at 
an approximation to the asset’s original effective interest rate.

 For trade and other receivables, the Company has applied the standard’s simplified approach and has 
calculated ECLs based on lifetime expected credit losses. The Company has established a provision 
matrix that is based on the Company’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward–looking 
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. However, in certain cases, the Company 
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates 
that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into 
account any credit enhancements held by the Company.  

 
D. Derivative 昀椀nancial instruments 

 Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value. Any directly attributable transaction costs are recognized 
in the statement of profit or loss as incurred. They are subsequently remeasured at fair value, with all 
gains or losses, realized and unrealized, recognized in the statement of profit or loss.  

 
5.26.2 Financial liabilities

A. Classi昀椀cation and measurement 

 Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective 
hedge, as appropriate. 

 
 All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and 

payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.
 
i) Financial liabilities at fair value through pro昀椀t or loss 

 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and 
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Gains or 
losses on liabilities held for trading are recognized in the statement of profit or loss. Financial liabilities 
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of 
recognition, and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. The Company has not designated any financial 
liability as at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
ii) Loans and borrowings 

 This is the category most relevant to the Company. After initial recognition, interest–bearing loans and 
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are 
recognized in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the 
EIR amortization process. 

 
 Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees 

or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included as finance costs in the 
statement of profit or loss. 

 
 This category generally applies to interest–bearing loans and borrowings. 
 
B. Derecognition 

 A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or 
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. 
The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the statement of profit or loss. 
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5.26.3 Offsetting of 昀椀nancial assets and liabilities 

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are set off and the net amount is reported in the unconsolidated 
financial statements when there is a legally enforceable right to set off and the Company intends either 
to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and to settle the liabilities simultaneously.

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 Operating fixed assets 6.1  72,704,304   46,610,901 
 Capital work in progress 6.2  9,193,409   20,951,344 
 Right of use assets 6.3  205,223   242,435 

    82,102,936   67,804,680 
 

6.1  Operating 昀椀xed assets

2025

 Description

 Cost Depreciation W.D.V

 Rate 
% 

 As On  
July 1, 
2024

 Additions   Deletions 
As on  

June 30, 
2025

As on  
July 1, 
2024

 For the 
year 

Adjustments 
As on  

June 30, 
2025

As on  
June 30, 

2025

(Rupees ‘000)

 Owned 

 Freehold land  2,676,955   869,341   –     3,546,296   –     –     –     –     3,546,296   –   

 Buildings on freehold land  19,759,349   5,601,379   –     25,360,728   5,438,610   1,715,619   –     7,154,229   18,206,499  10

 Buildings on leasehold land  225,811   4,692   –     230,503   62,484   16,684   –     79,168   151,335  10

 Plant and machinery  36,958,063   19,693,525   (463,999)  56,187,589   14,748,249   3,558,027   (237,347)  18,068,929   38,118,660  10

 Tools and equipment  2,626,731   1,747,444   (10,149)  4,364,026   980,854   294,664   (5,637)  1,269,881   3,094,145  10

 Office equipment  1,366,446   752,343   (17,445)  2,101,344   661,203   253,378   (11,098)  903,483   1,197,861  20

 Electric installations  4,154,854   2,790,561   (20,907)  6,924,508   1,474,137   471,320   (15,330)  1,930,127   4,994,381  10

 Furniture and fixtures  1,229,964   968,754   (5,004)  2,193,714   410,857   156,643   (3,346)  564,154   1,629,560  10

 Vehicles  1,986,187   913,940   (330,117)  2,570,010   597,065   372,029   (164,651)  804,443   1,765,567  20

  Total   70,984,360   33,341,979   (847,621)  103,478,718   24,373,459   6,838,364   (437,409)  30,774,414   72,704,304 

2024

 Description

 Cost Depreciation W.D.V

 Rate 
% 

 As On  
July 1, 
2023

 Additions   Deletions 
As on  

June 30, 
2024

As on  
July 1, 
2023

 For the 
year 

Adjustments 
As on  

June 30, 
2024

As on  
June 30, 

2024

(Rupees ‘000)

 Owned 

 Freehold land  2,651,715   25,240   –     2,676,955   –     –     –     –     2,676,955   –   

 Buildings on freehold land  11,121,222   8,638,517   (390)  19,759,349   4,250,473   1,188,205   (68)  5,438,610   14,320,739  10

 Buildings on leasehold land  233,051   1,140   (8,380)  225,811   47,929   18,399   (3,844)  62,484   163,327  10

 Plant and machinery  30,264,956   6,885,230   (192,123)  36,958,063   12,733,111   2,174,353   (159,215)  14,748,249   22,209,814  10

 Tools and equipment  2,357,623   273,945   (4,837)  2,626,731   813,529   169,552   (2,227)  980,854   1,645,877  10

 Office equipment  1,127,693   259,726   (20,973)  1,366,446   533,096   140,674   (12,567)  661,203   705,243  20

 Electric installations  3,767,795   392,403   (5,344)  4,154,854   1,215,359   261,336   (2,558)  1,474,137   2,680,717  10

 Furniture and fixtures  1,038,088   204,264   (12,388)  1,229,964   336,198   81,984   (7,325)  410,857   819,107  10

 Vehicles  1,408,380   845,264   (267,457)  1,986,187   452,760   285,874   (141,569)  597,065   1,389,122  20

  Total   53,970,523   17,525,729   (511,892)  70,984,360   20,382,455   4,320,377   (329,373)  24,373,459   46,610,901  
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6.1.1 The detail of operating 昀椀xed assets disposed / written off during the year are as follows: 

Description  Cost 
Accumulated 
Depreciation

Book 
Value

Sale 
Proceeds

Gain / 
(Loss)

Mode of 
Disposal

Relationship of Buyer 
with the Company

Particulars of Buyers

(Rupees ‘000)

 
 Assets having book value exceeding 

 Rs. 500,000 each

 Plant and Machinery 

 Boarding Machines - Tecnopea - Ghibli  34,361   27,534   6,827   2,542   (4,285) Negotiation Independent Third Party Al-Mushtaq Corporation, Opposite Multan Golf
            City, Sher Shah Road, Multan Cantt.
 Filament Dyeing Machine -   40,032   5,792   34,240   48,011   13,771  Negotiation Independent Third Party Fong’s National Dyeing and Finishing 
    Allwin - 2054A-208 KGs           Machinery Co., Ltd. 
 Knitting Machine - Lonati - L-462- L-462J  54,230   9,894   44,336   8,100   (36,236) Negotiation Independent Third Party Aartexx Mills, Chak # 245 RB, Abbas Pur, Jhang 
            Road, Faisalabad.
 Knitting Machines - Lonati - L474J  1,677   124   1,553   300   (1,253) Negotiation Independent Third Party Aartexx Mills, Chak # 245 RB, Abbas Pur, Jhang 
            Road, Faisalabad.
 Knitting Machines - Lonati   - L454J  38,420   2,833   35,587   8,100   (27,487) Negotiation Independent Third Party Aartexx Mills, Chak # 245 RB, Abbas Pur, Jhang 
            Road, Faisalabad.
 Knitting Machines - Lonati - FL54J  2,373   119   2,254   216   (2,038) Negotiation Independent Third Party Fine Knit Enterprises, Ismaeel Road, Opp. Sitara 
            Sapna City, Main Daewoo Road, Fsd.
 Knitting Machines - Lonati - L454J  7,218   361   6,857   720   (6,137) Negotiation Independent Third Party Fine Knit Enterprises, Ismaeel Road, Opp. Sitara 
            Sapna City, Main Daewoo Road, Fsd.
 Knitting Machines - Lonati - L472  6,442   322   6,120   504   (5,616) Negotiation Independent Third Party Fine Knit Enterprises, Ismaeel Road, Opp. Sitara 
            Sapna City, Main Daewoo Road, Fsd.
 Knitting Machines - Lonati - L474- L474J  36,519   1,826   34,693   2,809   (31,884) Negotiation Independent Third Party Fine Knit Enterprises, Ismaeel Road, Opp. Sitara 
            Sapna City, Main Daewoo Road, Fsd.
 Sub Total  221,272   48,805   172,467   71,302   (101,165) 

 Tools and Equipments 

 Spectro Photometer - Processing Lab  6,613   4,112   2,501   3   (2,498) Negotiation Independent Third Party Al-Mushtaq Corporation, Opposite Multan Golf 
            City, Sher Shah Road, Multan Cantt.
 Fire Alarm System - LIFCO UK  1,326   764   562   2   (560) Negotiation Independent Third Party Al-Mushtaq Corporation, Opposite Multan Golf 
            City, Sher Shah Road, Multan Cantt.
 Sub Total  7,939   4,876   3,063   5   (3,058) 

 Electric Installations 

 Outdoor Condensing Unit - Haier 
    30.14 Tons - AV44NMMEUB  2,816   1,528   1,288   29   (1,259) Negotiation Independent Third Party Al-Mushtaq Corporation, Opposite Multan Golf  

        City, Sher Shah Road, Multan Cantt.
 Outdoor Condensing Unit - Haier 
    27.30 Tons - AV40NMMEUB  2,351   1,275   1,076   29   (1,047) Negotiation Independent Third Party Al-Mushtaq Corporation, Opposite Multan Golf  

        City, Sher Shah Road, Multan Cantt.
 HD-I Unit - I Main Building - HT LT  7,645   6,697   948   121   (827) Negotiation Independent Third Party Mr. Muhammad Rizwan - Faisalabad.

 Sub Total  12,812   9,500   3,312   179   (3,133) 

 Furniture and Fixtures 

 Storage Racks and Pallets  3,250   2,297   953   67   (886) Negotiation Independent Third Party Al-Mushtaq Corporation, Opposite Multan Golf  
        City, Sher Shah Road, Multan Cantt.

 
 Vehicles 

 BMW 530-E   21,012   14,815   6,197   6,197   -     Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Tariq Rashid Malik
 Toyota - Yaris Ativ Cvt 1.3   5,189   1,081   4,108   4,500   392   Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Mubashar Shafiq
 Toyota Fortuner   9,596   5,618   3,978   1,597   (2,381)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Feroze Ahmed
 KIA Sportage   5,580   3,294   2,286   1,425   (861)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Waheed Iqbal 
 Honda Civic   4,127   2,323   1,804   1,497   (307)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Jamshaid Iqbal
 Toyota Corolla Altis Grande   4,175   2,379   1,796   1,017   (779)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Waqas Ahmad Gill
 Toyota - Corolla Grande Cvt  4,076   2,328   1,748   1,497   (251)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Ghulam Qasim Shaheen
 Toyota Corolla Altis   3,566   2,028   1,538   812   (726)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Shahid Mahmood
 Toyota - Yaris 1.3 Ativ Mt   2,786   1,262   1,524   1,550   26   Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Sajjad Ahmad Shah
 Toyota Altis   3,512   2,003   1,509   712   (797)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Irfan Saeed
 Toyota Altis   3,403   1,966   1,437   1,121   (316)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Awais Asghar
 Corolla Altis 1.6L   3,483   2,046   1,437   712   (725)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Altaf Rasool
 Honda Civic   3,961   2,550   1,411   876   (535)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Fahid Hussain Kahlon
 Honda City Aspire   3,007   1,621   1,386   1,121   (265)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Saeed Hassan Bhatti
 Toyota Yaris Ativ   3,175   1,810   1,365   1,017   (348)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Rizwan Zahid
 Honda BRV  3,256   1,910   1,346   1,105   (241)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Humayun Javed Khan
 Toyota Corolla Altis   3,286   1,940   1,346   1,021   (325)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Aftab Ahmad Gondal
 Toyota Yaris   3,104   1,769   1,335   812   (523)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Abid Bilal
 Toyota Yaris 1.5   3,104   1,770   1,334   1,017   (317)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Waqas Ahsan
 Toyota Yaris 1.3H Mt   2,787   1,500   1,287   812   (475)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Ghulam Murtaza
 Honda City Pt   2,943   1,674   1,269   798   (471)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Imtiaz Ahmad
 Toyota Yaris 1.3H Cvt   2,890   1,629   1,261   436   (825)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Jamshed Khalid
 Toyota Yaris 1.5   3,036   1,781   1,255   1,017   (238)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Abid Ali Gill
 Toyota Yaris   2,869   1,615   1,254   812   (442)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Amjad Farooq
 Toyota Yaris 1.5X   3,065   1,818   1,247   712   (535)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Saad Mahmood
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 Toyota Yaris  2,921   1,687   1,234   1,017   (217)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Imran Riaz
 Toyota Yaris 1.5L  2,997   1,755   1,242   1,017   (225)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Rafique
 Toyota Yaris 1.3   2,868   1,628   1,240   812   (428)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Safdar Ali
 Toyota Yaris   2,868   1,631   1,237   812   (425)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Ghazala Kanwal
 Toyota Yaris 1.3H Mt   2,803   1,578   1,225   812   (413)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Ateeq Ur Rehman
 Toyota Yaris   2,880   1,664   1,216   798   (418)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Danish Shafiq
 Honda City - Aspire Pt  2,934   1,719   1,215   1,001   (214)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Saboor Abid
 Toyota Yaris 1.3H Cvt  2,830   1,637   1,193   712   (481)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Fahim
 Toyota Yaris Cvt   2,834   1,660   1,174   712   (462)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Shakeel Anwar Khan
 Toyota Yaris   2,824   1,649   1,175   1,001   (174)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Mian Muhammad Tahir
 Toyota Corolla Altis  3,290   2,139   1,151   476   (675)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Amjad Mahmood Vaince
 Toyota Yaris 1.3L  2,718   1,570   1,148   812   (336)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Tanzeel Ur Rehman
 Honda - City Mts   2,579   1,447   1,132   712   (420)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Toufique
 Toyota Yaris Gli  2,565   1,463   1,102   712   (390)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Afzal
 Suzuki Swift  2,201   1,105   1,096   1,100   4   Company Policy  Company Employee Ms. Sana Ehsan
 Honda BRV  3,153   2,068   1,085   691   (394)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Fauz Ul Azeem
 Suzuki Cultus  1,815   808   1,007   1,010   3   Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Zain Amjad
 Suzuki Swift - Dlx A/T   2,201   1,242   959   859   (100)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Ayub
 Suzuki Swift  2,193   1,267   926   798   (128)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Salman Khalil
 Honda City   2,795   1,885   910   436   (474)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Rehan Saleem
 Suzuki Cultus Vxl  2,010   1,095   915   712   (203)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Ayub
 Suzuki Cultus   2,010   1,095   915   712   (203)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Rasheed Ahmad
 KIA Picanto  2,114   1,205   909   712   (197)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Kashif Javaid
 KIA Picanto  2,122   1,226   896   712   (184)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Junaid Khalid
 KIA Picanto  2,114   1,221   893   712   (181)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Boota Muhammad Mushtaq
 Suzuki Cultus Vxl  2,010   1,118   892   712   (180)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Shahbaz
 Toyota Corolla Xli M/T   2,613   1,721   892   633   (259)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Shafique
 Suzuki Cultus AGS  2,071   1,181   890   712   (178)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Wasiud Din
 KIA Picanto  2,111   1,236   875   712   (163)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Ijaz Hussain
 Suzuki Cultus Vxl  2,071   1,198   873   712   (161)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Mussanis Raza
 Honda City Pt 1500Cc   2,613   1,753   860   712   (148)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Shahid Imran
 Suzuki Wagon R AGS  1,934   1,076   858   712   (146)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Ali Javaid
 Suzuki Cultus Vxl   1,940   1,092   848   712   (136)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Usman Akram Khan
 KIA Picanto  1,962   1,119   843   712   (131)  Company Policy  Company Employee Ms. Maimoona Jameel
 Suzuki Cultus Vxl   2,010   1,170   840   712   (128)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Maqbool Alam Baig
 Honda City Mts  2,438   1,599   839   499   (340)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Naveed Ur Rehman
 KIA Picanto   1,962   1,134   828   712   (116)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Omer Ali Bhatti
 Honda City  2,441   1,616   825   499   (326)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Atif Haved
 Suzuki Cultus Vxl  1,940   1,121   819   712   (107)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Sajjad Akbar
 Suzuki Cultus Vxr   1,875   1,059   816   712   (104)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Mudassar Salman
 Honda City Mts 1339Cc  2,384   1,580   804   436   (368)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Touqeer Qamar
 Suzuki Cultus Vxl   1,940   1,136   804   712   (92)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Haseeb Ahmad
 Suzuki Cultus Vxr  1,819   1,027   792   712   (80)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Rizwan
 Honda City Mts  2,381   1,595   786   436   (350)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Muzaffar Iqbal
 Suzuki Cultus Vxr  1,818   1,040   778   712   (66)  Company Policy  Company Employee Ms. Arshia Zia
 Suzuki Cultus Vxr   1,819   1,052   767   712   (55)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Azam
 Suzuki Cultus   1,819   1,056   763   712   (51)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Shahid Aslam
 Suzuki Cultus Vxr   1,818   1,067   751   712   (39)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Zubair Afzal
 Honda City    2,441   1,721   720   499   (221)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Abdul Nasir Minhas
 Suzuki Swift Dlax A/T   1,255   559   696   436   (260)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mrs. Afsheen Adnan
 KIA Picanto   2,038   1,350   688   436   (252)  Company Policy  Company Employee Ms. Muniba Rashid
 Suzuki Cultus  1,903   1,238   665   436   (229)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Jumshaid Nisar
 Suzuki Swift  1,953   1,294   659   476   (183)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Imran
 Suzuki Cultus Vxl   1,893   1,253   640   436   (204)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Shabbir Ahmad
 Suzuki Cultus Vxl   1,893   1,253   640   436   (204)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Naeem Akhtar
 Suzuki Cultus Vxl   1,903   1,267   636   436   (200)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Asghar Ali
 Suzuki Cultus Vxl   1,893   1,267   626   436   (190)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Raza Ul Mustafa
 Suzuki Cultus Vxl   1,893   1,277   616   436   (180)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Zahid Latif
 Suzuki Cultus Vxr   1,784   1,170   614   436   (178)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Umair Javed
 Suzuki Cultus Vxr  1,792   1,186   606   436   (170)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Umair Qamar
 Suzuki Cultus Vxr   1,782   1,206   576   436   (140)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Bilal Anwar Minhas
 Toyota Yaris 1.3 Cvt Ativ   3,171   1,508   1,663   1,675   12   Negotiation  Independent Third Party Saeed Autos - Mr. Sheraz - House No. P-231,
             Street No. 1 Muhammad Pura Faisalabad. 
 Hyundai - Elantra A/T 1999Cc   4,059   2,085   1,974   2,050   76   Negotiation  Independent Third Party Saeed Autos - Mr. Sheraz - House No. P-231, 
            Street No. 1 Muhammad Pura Faisalabad. 
 Toyota Yaris 1.3 Ativ Mt   3,112   1,153   1,959   2,000   41   Negotiation  Independent Third Party Saeed Autos - Mr. Sheraz - House No. P-231, 
            Street No. 1 Muhammad Pura Faisalabad. 
 Honda - City 1.2L Mt  4,788   239   4,549   4,100   (449)  Negotiation  Independent Third Party Saeed Autos - Mr. Sheraz - House No. P-231, 
            Street No. 1 Muhammad Pura Faisalabad. 
 Honda - City 1.2L Cvt   4,815   469   4,346   4,350   4   Negotiation  Independent Third Party Saeed Autos - Mr. Sheraz - House No. P-231, 
            Street No. 1 Muhammad Pura Faisalabad. 
 Toyota Yaris Ativ Cvt 1.3  5,088   1,119   3,969   4,000   31   Negotiation  Independent Third Party Saeed Autos - Mr. Sheraz - House No. P-231,
             Street No. 1 Muhammad Pura Faisalabad. 
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 KIA - Stonic Ex Plus   5,691   285   5,406   5,425   19   Negotiation  Independent Third Party Mr. Muhammad Majid, House No. P-214, 203 
            RB, Faisal Town, Faisalabad. 
 Toyota Yaris Gli 1.3 Cvt  4,949   247   4,702   4,650   (52)  Negotiation  Independent Third Party Mr. Tanveer Ahmad, Dak Khana Khas, Chak 77 
            RB, Lahoka Kalan, Distt. Faisalabad.
 Toyota - Yaris Gli 1.3 Cvt  4,949   495   4,454   4,550   96   Negotiation  Independent Third Party Mr. Furrukh Mahmood, House No. P-559, Jawala 
            Nagar, Faisalabad.
 Honda - City 1.2L Cvt   4,979   871   4,108   4,125   17   Negotiation  Independent Third Party Mr. Tanveer Ahmad, Dak Khana Khas, Chak 77 
            RB, Lahoka Kalan, Distt. Faisalabad.
 High Roof Van ARF - 908 (Ict)  4,822   1,206   3,616   1,800   (1,816)  Negotiation  Independent Third Party Mr. Rashid Mahmood, House No. P-5003, Street 
            No. 15, Data Park, Faisalabad. 
 Suzuki - Swift Gl-M/T 1198 Cc   4,350   1,212   3,138   3,150   12   Negotiation  Independent Third Party Mr. Mohsin Raza, House No. 185-F, Eden Valley,  

           Faisalabad.
 Changan Oshan X7 Future Sense 1.5L   8,961   597   8,364   8,749   385   Insurance Claim  Independent Third Party EFU General Insurance Limited.
 Hyundai Tucson Awd Ultimate  9,054   3,139   5,915   8,859   2,944   Insurance Claim  Independent Third Party EFU General Insurance Limited.
 Changan Alsvin 1.5 Dct Lumiere  4,700   1,249   3,451   4,600   1,149   Insurance Claim  Independent Third Party EFU General Insurance Limited.
 Honda City 1.2 Mt   3,882   1,177   2,705   4,000   1,295   Insurance Claim  Independent Third Party EFU General Insurance Limited.

 Sub Total  329,209   163,812   165,397   143,226   (22,171) 

 Other assets having book value 

 below Rs. 500,000 each  273,139   208,119   65,020   63,667   (1,353) 

 Total - 2025  847,621   437,409   410,212   278,446   (131,766) 

 Total - 2024  511,892   329,373   182,519   149,615   (32,904)

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

6.1.2 Depreciation expense for the year has 
  been allocated as under; 

 Cost of sales 32  5,917,682   3,753,104 
 Administrative expenses 34  920,682   567,273 

      6,838,364   4,320,377 
 
6.2 Capital work in progress 

 Civil works 6.2.1  1,952,364   3,650,569 
 Plant and machinery 6.2.1  4,994,429   12,226,029 
 Capital stores 6.2.2  1,467,218   4,134,937 
 Advances to suppliers   779,398   939,809 

      9,193,409   20,951,344 
 
6.2.1 Civil works and plant and machinery includes borrowing cost capitalized during the year, calculated at 

the rate of 7.50% to 22.95% per annum (2024: 4.50% to 24.14% per annum).

   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
 Civil works   72,141   649,819 
 Plant and machinery   64,503   612,075 

      136,644   1,261,894 
 
6.2.2 Capital stores include factory tools and equipment, office equipment, electric installations and furniture 

and fixtures that are held in store for future use and capitalization.
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

6.3 Right of use assets 

 Buildings 

 Cost: 

 Opening balance   556,254   324,521 
 Additions during the year   92,541   236,558 
 Disposal during the year   (33,124)  (4,825)

 Closing balance   615,671   556,254 
 
 Accumulated depreciation: 

 Opening balance   313,819   221,200 
 Depreciation for the year 6.3.1  99,893   95,501 
 Adjustment on disposal   (3,264)  (2,882)

 Closing balance   410,448   313,819 

 Net book value   205,223   242,435 

6.3.1 Depreciation on right of use assets has been allocated as under;

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
 Cost of sales 32  97,283   89,293 
 Administrative expenses 34  2,610   6,208 

      99,893   95,501 
 
6.4 Details of immovable property in the name of the Company:

  Usage Location  Area

  Chak # 76 RB. 1 - KM, Jaranwala Road, 
     Khurrianwala, Faisalabad. 22 Acres 7 Kanals 15 Marlas 

 Plant 1 Chak # 194 RB. 1 - KM, Jaranwala Road, 
     Khurrianwala, Faisalabad. 3 Acres 13 Marlas 

  Chak # 108 RB. 1 - KM, Jaranwala Road, 
     Khurrianwala, Faisalabad. 9 Marlas 

 Interloop Industrial  Chak # 103 RB, 7 - KM, Jaranwala Road,  142 Acres 4 Kanals 7 Marlas 5
    Park - (Plant 2, Plant 4     Khurrianwala, Faisalabad.    Sarsai 
    & Spinning unit)    

 Plant 3 8 - KM, Manga Raiwind Road, Distt. 
     Kasur, Lahore. 41 Acres 3 Kanals 8 Marlas 

 Denim Division 8 - KM, Manga Raiwind Road, Distt. 
     Kasur, Lahore. 26 Acres 7 Kanals 14 Marlas 

 Apparel Industrial Park -  Chak # 106 RB, 6 - KM, By Pass Road, 
    (Plant 5 & Apparel unit)    Khurrianwala, Faisalabad. 247 Acres 4 Kanals 8 Sarsai 

 Land Chak # 200 RB, Near Toll Plaza Gatwala, 
     Lathianwala, Faisalabad. 2 Acres 13 Marlas 5 Sarsai 

  Chak # 33/10-R, Tehsil & District Khanewal.  13 Acres 7 Kanals 3 Marlas 5 Sarsai

  Chak # 266 RB, Tehsil Jaranwala,     29 Acres 7 Marlas   
     District Faisalabad.   
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 Computer software 7.1   374,359   299,594 
 Development cost - in progress   111,036   154,963 

      485,395   454,557

7.1  Computer Software 

 Cost: 

 Opening balance   574,137   562,825 
 Addition during the year   158,311   11,312 
 Written off during the year   (19,208) –  

      713,240   574,137 
 Amortization: 

 Opening balance   274,543   201,270 
 For the year amortization 7.2   78,220   73,273 
 Adjustment   (13,882) –   

      338,881   274,543 

 Net book value   374,359   299,594 
 
 Amortization rate  20% 20%
 
7.2 Amortization on intangible assets has 
  been allocated as under; 

 Cost of sales 32  426  –   
 Administrative expenses 34  77,794   73,273 

      78,220   73,273 
 

8. LONG TERM INVESTMENT 

 Unquoted equity - at cost 

 Subsidiary company 

 Top Circle Hosiery Mills Co., Inc. 8.1  1,727,763   1,727,763 
 
8.1 This represents investment in 640 fully paid ordinary shares of $ 1 each of Top Circle Hosiery Mills Co., 

Inc., which is incorporated under the laws of the United States of America. This investment represents 
64% of issued subscribed and paid up capital of Top Circle Hosiery Mills Co., Inc. 

 
 Consequently, following subsidiaries of Top Circle Hosiery Mills Co., Inc have also been considered 

subsidiaries of the Company: 
 

–  Shanghai Haolu Trading Co., Ltd 

– Pinghu Top Circle Knitting Co., Ltd 

– Zhejiang Top Circle Textiles Co., Ltd 

– Shanghai Chenzhou Industry Co., Ltd 

– Haolu Trading USA Co., Inc.
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

9. LONG TERM LOANS 

 Considered good - Secured 

 Loans to employees 9.1  198,075   174,373 
 Loan to director 9.2 –   2,500 

      198,075   176,873 
   
9.1 Loans to employees 

 Opening balance   397,439   342,047 
 Add: disbursement made during the year   1,738,839   463,885 

      2,136,278   805,932 
 Less: amount received during the year   (1,613,503)  (408,493)

      522,775   397,439 
 Less: receivable within twelve months 14  (324,700)  (223,066)

      198,075   174,373 
 
9.1.1 These represent loans given to executives and other employees as per the Company’s policy for house 

building and general purposes. The loan balances except for housing finance are interest free. The loans 
are recoverable in equal monthly installments from respective employees based on the tenor of the loan. 
The loans are secured against the employees’ respective retirement benefits. These loans have not been 
carried at amortized cost as the effect of discounting is not considered material.

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
9.2 Loan to director 

 Opening balance   3,653   8,269 
 Less: amount received/amortized during the year   (3,653)  (4,616)

     –   3,653 
 Less: receivable within twelve months 14 –  (1,153)

     –    2,500

9.2.1 This represented loan paid to executive director of the Company as per house building finance policy of 
the Company. Under the first policy, home ownership grant was Rs. 2.5 million and mortgage assistance 
was Rs. 23.25 million. Tenure of  the home ownership grant and mortgage assistance was six years. 
Mortgage assistance was repayable in 60 equal monthly installments along with markup thereon. During 
the year, mortgage assistance has been fully repaid and home ownership grant has been amortized as 
per Company policy.  

 
9.2.2 The maximum aggregate amount of loan to director at the end of any month during the year was Rs. 

3.27 million (2024: Rs. 7.89 million).

   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
10. LONG TERM DEPOSITS 

 Considered good: 

 Security deposits - unsecured   95,481   89,451
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

11. STORES AND SPARES 

 Stores   1,123,896   1,120,474 
 Spares   2,352,367   2,063,951 

      3,476,263   3,184,425 
 
12. STOCK IN TRADE 

 Raw materials   12,406,832   14,673,464 
 Work in process   5,012,176   4,466,813 
 Finished goods   8,346,950   7,268,849 

      25,765,958   26,409,126 
 Less: Provision for obsolete inventory 12.1  (30,489)  (48,274)

      25,735,469   26,360,852 

12.1 Provision for obsolete inventory 

 Opening balance   48,274  –  
 Provision for the year 35   30,489   48,274 
 Written off during the year   (48,274) –  

 Closing balance  30,489  48,274 
 
13. TRADE DEBTS  

 Considered good: 

 Foreign 

 - Secured 13.1   13,475,660   18,317,679 
 - Unsecured   33,156,592   21,189,023 

      46,632,252   39,506,702 
 Local 

 - Unsecured 13.1   1,682,600   1,686,902 

      48,314,852   41,193,604 
 

13.1 It includes receivables from following 
  related parties; 

 Foreign 

 Texlan Center (Pvt) Limited   607,515   526,313 
 Interloop Europe   375,571   79,875 

 Local 

 Socks & Socks (Pvt) Limited   139,230   184,530 

      1,122,316   790,718 
 
13.2 The maximum aggregate amount of receivable due from related parties at the end of any month during 

the year was Rs. 1,122.316 million (2024: Rs. 1,301.287 million).
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13.3 At June 30, 2025, trade debts due from related parties aggregating to Rs. 225.040 million (2024: Rs. 
181.496 million) were past due but not impaired. The aging analysis of receivables from related parties 
is as follows:

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
 Not yet due   897,276   609,222 
 Upto 1 month    91,636   30,298 
 More than 1 month   133,404   151,198 

      1,122,316   790,718 
 

14. LOANS AND ADVANCES  

 Considered good: 

 Loans - secured 

 Current portion of loans to employees 9.1  324,700   223,066 
 Current portion of loan to director 9.2 –     1,153 

 Advances - unsecured 

 Advances to suppliers 14.1  1,547,623   1,678,337 
 Advances to employees 14.2  24,901   21,615 

      1,897,224   1,924,171 

14.1 It includes advances to following 
  related parties; 

 Socks & Socks (Pvt) Limited   12,709   22,865 
 IRC Dairy Products (Pvt) Limited   72  – 

      12,781   22,865 
 
14.1.1 The maximum aggregate amount of receivable due from related parties at the end of any month during 

the year was Rs. 54.325 million (2024: Rs. 229.289 million). The aging analysis of these advances is as 
follows:

   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 Less than 3 months   12,781   22,865 
 
14.2 Advances to employees are given to meet business expenses and are settled as and when expenses are 

incurred.
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
15. DEPOSIT, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 Deposit 

  LC margin   83,099   61,755 

 Prepayments 

  Insurance premium   22,142   16,905 
  Prepaid expenses   169,610   195,276 

 Other receivables - considered good 

  Subsidy on gas 15.1 –   60,619 
  Others   21,703   13,167 

      296,554   347,722 

15.1 This represents the subsidy receivable against sui gas consumption from Sui Northern Gas Pipelines 
Limited (SNGPL) amounting to Nil (2024: Rs. 60.619 million). SNGPL allowed 25% system gas adjustment 
capped at initial contractual load. During the year, the entire receivable balance was fully adjusted 
against amounts payable in SNGPL’s billing.

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
16. ACCRUED INCOME  

 Profit on term finance certificates (TFCs)   877   1,497 
 
17. REFUNDS DUE FROM GOVERNMENT AND 
  STATUTORY AUTHORITIES 

 DDT   1,331,404   1,328,799 
 Sales tax refundable  8,232,977  5,204,048 
 Income tax refundable   1,973,867   595,960 

      11,538,248   7,128,807 
 
18. SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS 

 Term Finance Certificates (TFCs) - Amortized cost: 
 Habib Bank Limited 18.1  500,000   500,000 

 
18.1 This represents investment as fully paid-up, rated, privately placed, perpetual, unsecured, subordinated, 

noncumulative, contingent convertible, additional Tier 1, capital eligible 5,000 term finance certificates 
(TFCs) of Habib Bank Limited having face value of Rs. 100,000/- each aggregating to Rs. 500 million 
(2024: Rs. 500 million).  TFCs carry profit at the rate of 3 months KIBOR + 1.60% per annum payable 
quarterly in arrears.

   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
19. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 

 Cash in hand   15,911   25,880 
 Cash at banks 
  In current accounts   295,899   35,206 
  In foreign currency accounts   45,709   309,300 

      341,608  344,506 

      357,519   370,386 
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20. AUTHORIZED SHARE CAPITAL

  2025 2024 2025 2024
 (Number of shares in ‘000) (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

   5,000,000   5,000,000  Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each   50,000,000   50,000,000 

21. ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID UP SHARE CAPITAL

  2025 2024 2025 2024
 (Number of shares in ‘000) (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

   132,429   132,429  Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each 
       fully paid in cash   1,324,289   1,324,289 
   1,269,281   1,269,281  Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each issued 
       as fully paid bonus shares   12,692,806   12,692,806 

   1,401,710   1,401,710     14,017,095   14,017,095 
 
21.1  Movement in issued, subscribed and paid up share capital

2025 2024

Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each

 Fully paid in cash 
Fully paid bonus 

shares
 Fully paid in cash 

Fully paid bonus 
shares

Number of shares in ‘000 Number of shares in ‘000

 Opening balance  132,429   1,269,281   132,166   1,269,281 
 Issued during the year –    –    263  –

 Closing balance  132,429   1,269,281   132,429   1,269,281 
 
21.2  All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets. Holders of these shares are 

entitled to dividends from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at the general meetings 
of the Company.

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
22. RESERVE 

 Capital reserve 

 Share premium 22.1   3,158,734   3,158,734 
 
22.1  This represents premium received over and above face value of the shares issued to institutional investors, 

high net worth individuals and general public through initial public offering (IPO) and employees of the 
Company through employees stock option scheme (ESOS). This reserve can be utilized by the Company 
only for the purposes specified in section 81 of the Companies Act, 2017.
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

24. LEASE LIABILITIES 

 Opening balance   274,716   128,935 
 Additions during the year   92,541   236,558 
 Accretion of interest   38,025   32,070 
 Payments during the year   (128,975)  (120,659)
 Termination during the year   (30,542)  (2,188)

      245,765   274,716 
 Less: Current portion shown under current liabilities 29  (79,077)  (83,751)

      166,688   190,965 
 

24.1 These represent lease contracts for Company manufacturing facility, warehouses, and employees hostel 
and have estimated lease terms between 3 to 5 years. These are discounted using incremental borrowing 
rate of the Company. 

 
24.2 The future minimum lease payments to which the Company is committed under the agreements will be 

due as follows:

 Not later than 
one year

Later than one 
year and not later 
than three years

More than three 
years

(Rupees ‘000)

 At 30 June 2025 

 Future minimum lease payments  108,098   185,276   7,907 
 Less: Un-amortized finance charges  (29,021)  (26,355)  (140)

 Present value of future minimum 
    lease payments  79,077   158,921   7,767 
 
 At 30 June 2024 

 Future minimum lease payments  118,223   225,323   9,482 
 Less: Un-amortized finance charges  (34,472)  (43,776)  (64)

 Present value of future minimum 
    lease payments  83,751   181,547   9,418

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
25. DEFERRED LIABILITIES 

 Staff retirement gratuity 25.1  13,712,790   10,694,629 
 Deferred income - Government grant 25.2  64,912   91,719 
 Deferred taxation - net 25.3  545,885  – 

      14,323,587   10,786,348 
 
25.1 Staff retirement gratuity 

 This represents an unfunded gratuity scheme which provides termination benefits for all employees of 
the Company who attain the minimum qualifying period. The latest actuarial valuation of the defined 
benefit plan was carried out as at June 30, 2025 using the Projected Unit Credit (PUC) Actuarial Cost 
Method. Details of the defined benefit plan are as follows:
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
25.1.1 Movement in the present value of de昀椀ned 
  bene昀椀t obligation 

 Opening balance   10,694,629   7,876,298 
 Expenses recognized in the statement of 
  profit or loss 25.1.2  3,559,300   2,796,402 
 Remeasurement of plan obligation chargeable 
  to other comprehensive income 25.1.4  297,975   753,756 
 Balance transferred from associated companies  –    2,601 
 Paid during the year   (839,114)  (734,428)

 Closing balance   13,712,790   10,694,629 
 
25.1.2 Expenses recognized in the statement 
  of pro昀椀t or loss 

 Current service cost   2,121,347   1,613,721 
 Past service cost   (557) –  
 Interest cost   1,438,510   1,182,681 

      3,559,300   2,796,402 
 
25.1.3 Amounts charged in the statement of pro昀椀t 
  or loss are as follows: 

 Cost of sales 32  3,112,743   2,401,355 
 Distribution cost 33  82,967   60,518 
 Administrative expenses 34  363,590   334,529 

      3,559,300   2,796,402 
 
25.1.4 Total remeasurement chargeable to other 
  comprehensive income 

 Remeasurement of plan obligation: 
 Actuarial gain from changes in financial assumptions  (416,005)  (274,791)
 Experience adjustments   713,980   1,028,547 

      297,975   753,756 
 

   2025 2024

25.1.5 Principal actuarial assumptions used

 Discount rate used for profit and loss charge  14.00% 15.75%
 Discount rate for year end obligation  12.50% 14.00%
 Salary increase used for year end obligation 
 Salary increase for FY 2025  N/A 12.00%
 Salary increase for FY 2026  10% for executive & 
     5% for workers 12.00%
 Salary increase for FY 2027  12.00% 12.00%
 Salary increase for FY 2028   12.50% 14.00%
 Salary increase for FY 2029  12.50% 14.00%
 Salary increase for FY 2030  12.50% 14.00%
 Salary increase for FY 2031 onward  12.50% 14.00%

 Demographic assumption 

 Mortality rates (for deaths in service)  SLIC SLIC
     2001-2005 2001-2005
     Setback 1 year Setback 1 year
 
 Retirement assumption  60 years 60 years
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25.1.6 The expected contribution to defined benefit obligation for the year ending June 30, 2026 will be Rs. 
4,057.934 million.

25.1.7 Sensitivity analysis

 If the significant actuarial assumptions used to estimate the defined benefit obligation at the reporting 
date, had fluctuated by 100 bps with all other variables held constant, the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation as at June 30, 2025 would have been as follows:

   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
 Discount rate + 100 bps   12,318,371   9,618,138 
 Discount rate - 100 bps   15,376,283   11,977,603 
 Salary change + 100 bps   15,398,929   11,994,564 
 Salary change - 100 bps   12,273,104   9,583,819 
 
 The sensitivity analysis of the defined benefit obligation to the significant actuarial assumptions has 

been performed using the same calculation techniques as applied for calculation of defined benefit 
obligation reported in the statement of financial position. 

 
25.1.8 Maturity pro昀椀le 

 The average duration of defined benefit obligation for the year ended 2025 is 11 years (2024: 11 years). 
 
 The expected benefit payment for the upcoming years is as follows;

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
 Between 1 to 3 years   3,933,760   3,288,112 
 Between 3 to 5 years   3,218,927   2,715,233 
 Beyond 5 years   571,988,687   678,814,505 

      579,141,374   684,817,850 
 
25.2 Deferred income - Government grant 

 Opening balance   122,906   158,092 
 For the year amortization   (31,149)  (35,186)

      91,757   122,906 
 Current portion of deferred income 29  (26,845)  (31,187)

 Closing balance   64,912   91,719 
 
25.2.1 There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching to these grants.

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
25.3 Deferred taxation - net 

 Deferred tax liability/(asset) 25.3.1  545,885   (350,141)
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

25.3.1 Movement in deferred tax liability/(asset) 
  is as follows; 

 Opening balance   (350,141) –  
 Deferred tax expense/(credit) recognized in 
  profit or loss   1,012,236   (56,176)
 Deferred tax credit recognized in other 
  comprehensive income   (116,210)  (293,965)

      896,026  (350,141)

 Closing balance 25.3.2  545,885   (350,141)

25.3.2 This comprise of following: 

 Taxable temporary differences arising 
  in respect of; 

 Accelerated tax depreciation allowance   7,025,704   4,709,175 
 Right of use assets   80,037   94,550 
 Intangibles   65,144   49,792 
 Derivative financial instruments  –  23,107 
 
 Deductible temporary differences 
  arising in respect of; 

 Staff retirement gratuity   (5,347,988)  (4,170,905)
 Lease liabilities   (95,849)  (107,139)
 Derivative financial instruments   (5,092) – 
 Disallowance of provisions   (1,176,071)  (948,721)

      545,885   (350,141)
 

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 Trade creditors 26.1  6,148,664   5,393,385 
 Accrued liabilities 26.2  6,019,633   6,912,256 
 Contract liabilities - advances from customers 26.3  113,423   93,592 
 Other payables 26.4  556,656   607,617 
 Payable to employees provident fund trust 26.5  12,369   9,001 
 Withholding tax payable   347,308   288,300 
 Workers’ profit participation fund 26.6  484,652   970,300 
 Workers’ welfare fund 26.7  1,351,075   1,261,758 

      15,033,780   15,536,209 
 
26.1 It includes payable to following 
  related parties; 

 Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited   31,607   12,313 
 Octans Digital (Pvt) Limited   31,014   7,503 
 Printkraft (Pvt) Limited   16,593   39,652 
 Momentum Logistics (Pvt) Limited   104,927   114,571 
 Zhejiang Top Circle Textiles Co., Limited   464,795   221,870 
 Texlan Center (Pvt) Limited   271,070  – 

      920,006   395,909 
 
26.2 It includes an amount of Rs. 1,634.010 million (2024: Rs. 1,122.971 million) relating to infrastructure cess 

payable.
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26.2.1 Honourable Sindh High Court in its decision dated September 17, 2008 declared the imposition of 
infrastructure cess before December 28, 2006 as void and invalid. However, the Excise and Taxation 
Department filed an appeal before the Honourable Supreme Court of Pakistan. The Honourable 
Supreme court of Pakistan had disposed off the appeal with a joint statement of the parties that 
during the pendency of the appeal, another law i.e. fifth version came into existence which was not 
the subject matter of the appeal hence the case was referred back to High Court of Sindh with right to 
appeal to Supreme Court. The Company filed constitutional petition bearing No. 1809 of 2011 before 
Honourable High Court Sindh. On May 31, 2011, the High Court of Sindh had granted an interim relief 
on an application of petitioners on certain terms including discharge and return of bank guarantees / 
security furnished on consignment released up to December 27, 2006 and any bank guarantee / security 
furnished on consignment released after December 27, 2006 shall be encashed to the extent of 50% of 
the guaranteed or secured amount only with balance kept intact till the disposal of petition. In case the 
High Court upholds the applicability fifth version of law and its retrospective application, the authorities 
are entitled to claim the amounts due under the said law with the right to appeal available to petitioner. 
In the light of interim relief the Company has paid 50% of the amount of Infrastructure cess. Imports 
of the Company are being released against 50% payment of Infrastructure cess to Excise and Taxation 
Department and furnishing of bank guarantee of balance amount. On 4th June 2021, Honorable Sindh 
High Court passed an order whereby it upheld the contention of Sindh Government and suspend its 
own order for 90 days. The Company has filed writ petition CPLA NO. 4611 against the said order 
before the Supreme Court of Pakistan.

 The Honourable Supreme Court of Pakistan granted an interim relief on September 01, 2021 against 
the impugned Judgment of the Sindh High Court. The Honourable Apex Court directed that till further 
orders, operation of the impugned Judgment of the High Court of Sindh dated June 04, 2021 and 
recovery of the impugned levy shall remain suspended. The petitioner shall keep the bank guarantee 
already submitted, pursuant to the order of the Sindh High Court, valid, operative and enforceable 
and shall furnish fresh bank guarantees equivalent to the amount of levy claimed by the respondents 
against release of all future import consignments. However, in the light of the order of the Supreme 
Court of Pakistan, the Company has issued bank guarantees equivalent to the amount of the levy and 
no payment is being made subsequent to the order date of the Court. 

 
 The full amount of Infrastructure cess forms component of cost of imported items and provision recorded 

in books. Bank guarantees furnished ragarding imposition of infrastructure cess have been disclosed in 
note - 30.1.2 to these unconsolidated financial statements. 

 
 
26.2.2 The Government of Punjab imposed Punjab Infrastructure Development Levy in terms of the Punjab 

Infrastructure Development Cess Act, 2015 (the Act) read with PRA Notification No.PRA/IDC/2015 
dated May 16, 2016 and PRA order No.PRA/Orders.08/2015 dated May 23, 2016. The Company 
being aggrieved filed writ petition vide WP No.24536 of 2016 before Honorable Lahore High Court 
challenging the constitutionality of the Act .  The Lahore High Court on July 28, 2016 granted interim 
relief for clearance of goods subject to payment of 50% of the disputed amount and upon furnishing of a 
bank guarantee for the balance of 50% of the amount. The case is pending litigation before  Honorable 
Lahore High Court, Lahore, the same has been adjourned without any next date. 

 
 
26.3 The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advance consideration received from customers for sale of 

goods, for which revenue is being recognized at point in time when goods are transferred. Out of Rs. 
93.592 million recognized in contract liabilities as on June 30, 2024, an amount of Rs. 93.244 million has 
been adjusted and recognized as revenue during the year. 

 
26.4 It includes an amount of Rs. 125.178 million (2024: Rs. 127.145 million) payable to ILNA Inc. USA, an 

associated company. 
 
26.5 The investments out of provident fund have been made in accordance with the provisions of section 218 

of the Companies Act, 2017 and the rules formulated in Employees Contributory Funds (Investment in 
Listed Securities) Regulations, 2018. 
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

26.6 Workers’ pro昀椀t participation fund 

 Opening balance   970,300   1,150,769 
 Interest on funds utilized in the 
  Company’s business 37  26,723   30,484 
 Expense allocation for the year 35  463,465   943,788 

      1,460,488   2,125,041 
 Paid during the year   (975,836)  (1,154,741)

 Closing balance   484,652   970,300 
 
26.7 Workers’ welfare fund 

 Opening balance   1,261,758   898,342 
 Provision for the year 35  179,317   363,416 

      1,441,075   1,261,758 
 Paid during the year   (90,000) –   

 Closing balance   1,351,075   1,261,758 
 

27. ACCRUED MARK UP  

 Mark up on: 
  Long term financing   959,164   631,078 
  Short term borrowings   62,968   2,058,154 

      1,022,132   2,689,232 
 
28. SHORT TERM BORROWINGS 

 From banking companies - Secured 

 Under mark up arrangements 

 Islamic banking: 

 IERS - II   3,230,000   7,030,000 
 Exim IERS - II   9,475,000  – 
 Islamic export finance scheme (IEFS)   2,100,000   2,099,982 
 Running musharika  –    6,793,209 
 
 Conventional banking: 

 ERF - II   21,361,960   29,306,960 
 Exim ERF - II   18,413,040  – 
 Export finance scheme (EFS)   5,249,892   4,671,988 
 Running finance  –    1,432 

      59,829,892   49,903,571 
 
28.1 All short-term credit lines are secured against a first Joint Pari Passu (JPP) charge of Rs. 147,837 million, 

registered on July 16, 2025 (2024: Rs. 108,569 million). As at June 30, 2025, these facilities stood 
secured against a JPP charge of Rs. 108,569 million and a ranking charge of Rs. 38,670 million (2024: Nil) 
over all present and future current assets of the Company, in favor of all lending banks. The aggregate 
sanctioned limits available to the Company for short-term borrowings from all banks amount to Rs. 
105,200 million (2024: Rs. 76,500 million).
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 Mark up is charged as; 

ERF - II / IERS - II SBP Rate + 0.25% to 1% per annum (2024: SBP Rate + 0.25% to 1% per 
annum)

 
Exim ERF-II/ Exim IERS-II SBP Rate + 0.25% to 1% per annum (2024: Nil) 
 
EFS / IEFS SBP refinance rate for EFS and IEFS (2024: SBP refinance rate for EFS 

and IEFS)
 
Running finance/musharika 1 to 3 months Kibor -2.8% to +1% per annum (2024: 1 to 6 months Kibor 

-2.7% to +1% per annum)

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
29. CURRENT PORTION OF NON CURRENT LIABILITIES 

 Long term financing 23  2,411,465   2,722,549 
 Lease liabilities 24  79,077   83,751 
 Deferred income - Government grant 25.2   26,845   31,187 

      2,517,387   2,837,487 
 

30. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 

30.1 Contingencies

30.1.1 The Punjab Revenue Authority (PRA) raised a demand of Rs. 60.720 million against the Company for 
the alleged default in withholding provincial sales tax on various transport services obtained during 
the period March 01, 2015 to May 31, 2016. The demand, comprising principal tax, default surcharge, 
and penalty, was raised under the provisions of the Punjab Sales Tax on Services Act, 2012 through 
Order No. ENF-Unit-1/32/2018 dated March 15, 2018. Aggrieved by the order, the Company filed an 
appeal before the Commissioner (Appeals), PRA, who through Appellate Order No. 175/2018 partially 
allowed the appeal by deleting amount of Rs. 36.753 million, while upholding a balance demand of Rs. 
23.967 million. The Company further contested the matter before the Honourable Appellate Tribunal 
PRA, which, through Order No. 85/2018 dated February 21, 2019, set aside the earlier decision and 
remanded the case back to the assessing officer for fresh examination. 

 
 In the second round of litigation, the Commissioner PRA, through Order-in-Original No. 16/2019 dated 

July 16, 2019, revised the demand to Rs. 13.195 million. The Company once again appealed before 
the Honourable Appellate Tribunal, which through Order-in-Appeal No. 99/2019 dated October 22, 
2019, again remanded the matter back to the Additional Commissioner Enforcement – I for denovo 
consideration. Meanwhile, the department initiated coercive recovery measures and forcibly recovered 
Rs. 15.317 million by attaching the Company’s bank account. In response, the Company filed a writ 
petition before the Honourable Lahore High Court, Lahore, which directed the concerned Commissioner 
PRA to review the matter and either refund the amount recovered or appropriately adjust it against any 
lawful tax liability. 

 
 However, in compliance with the aforementioned Order dated October 22, 2019 of the Honourable 

Appellate Tribunal, a third round of litigation was initiated, resulting in the creation of an alleged tax 
demand of Rs. 45.248 million. After adjusting the previously recovered amount of Rs. 15.317 million, a 
net demand of Rs. 29.931 million was raised through Order-in-Original No. 109/2020 dated June 30, 
2020. The Company filed an appeal before the Commissioner (Appeals), PRA, who, through Appeal 
No. 203/2020 dated November 28, 2023, upheld the order of the assessing authority in its entirety. 
Consequently, the Company has preferred a further appeal before the Honourable Appellate Tribunal 
PRA, where the matter is currently pending adjudication. 

 
 The Company has not made any provision against the above demand as the management is confident 

that the ultimate outcome of the appeal would be in favor of the Company, inter alia on the basis of the 
advice of the tax consultant and relevant law and facts. 
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   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

30.1.2 Bank guarantees issued by various banks on 
  behalf of the company in favour of: 
 
 Sui Northern Gas Pipelines limited (SNGPL) 
  against supply of gas   1,731,380   1,598,138 
 
 The Director, Excise and Taxation, Karachi against 
  imposition of infrastructure cess   1,462,353   942,353 
 
 Faisalabad Electric Supply Company (FESCO) 
  against supply of electricity   154,425   152,195 
 
 Lahore Electric Supply Company (LESCO) against 
  supply of electricity   7,370  – 
 
 Punjab Revenue Authority against imposition of 
  infrastructure cess   11,533   11,533 
 
 Total Parco Pakistan Ltd   6,000   6,000 

      3,373,061   2,710,219 
 
30.1.2.1 The total limits available to the Company for bank guarantees from all the banks are amounting to Rs. 

6,300 million, out of which Rs. 4,100 million are available as stand alone limits and Rs. 2,200 million can 
be availed under sublimits of short term borrowings. These are also secured against cumulative 1st JPP 
charge as mentioned in note 28.1 of these unconsolidated financial statements.

   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
30.1.3 Post dated cheques issued in favour of custom 
  authorities for release of imported goods.   7,878,158   9,694,785 
 
30.2 Commitments 

 Under letters of credit for: 
  Raw materials   2,972,579   3,385,803 
  Capital expenditure   622,930   3,107,762 
  Stores and spares   207,293   65,948 

      3,802,802   6,559,513 
 
30.2.1 The total limits available to the Company for letters of credit - Sight/Usance from all the banks are 

amounting to Rs. 35,750 million, out of which Rs. 22,850 are available as stand alone limits and Rs. 12,900 
million can be availed under sublimits of short term borrowings. Letter of Credit - Sights are secured 
against lien over valid import documents, whereas the Letter of Credit - Usance are also secured against 
cumulative 1st JPP charge as mentioned in note 28.1 of these unconsolidated financial statements and 
lien on import documents. 
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

31. SALES - NET 

 Export sales 31.1  163,938,422   148,765,593 
 Local sales   11,834,341   8,522,195 

      175,772,763   157,287,788 
 Less: 
 Sales discount   (572,739)  (344,673)
 Sales tax   (1,818,491)  (814,250)

      (2,391,230)  (1,158,923)

      173,381,533   156,128,865 
 
31.1 It includes exchange gain/(loss) amounting to Rs. 893.275 million  (2024: Rs. (742.727) million). 
 
31.2 Revenue is disaggregated based on geographical locations of our customers. The same is disclosed in 

note - 46.

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
32. COST OF SALES 

 Raw material consumed 32.1  79,041,392   68,214,884 
 Stores and spares consumed 32.2  3,963,896   3,440,277 
 Knitting, processing and packing charges   5,979,010   3,332,674 
 Salaries, wages and benefits 32.3  30,297,717   23,642,444 
 Staff retirement gratuity 25.1.3  3,112,743   2,401,355 
 Fuel and power   9,732,382   8,898,497 
 Repairs and maintenance   980,961   901,848 
 Insurance   219,313   164,607 
 Depreciation 6.1.2  5,917,682   3,753,104 
 Depreciation on right of use assets 6.3.1  97,283   89,293 
 Amortization 7.2  426  –   
 Rent, rate and taxes   42,108   52,114 
 Other manufacturing costs   448,998   311,113 

      139,833,911   115,202,210 
 Work in process 
  Opening balance   4,466,813   3,124,698 
  Closing balance   (5,012,176)  (4,466,813)

      (545,363)  (1,342,115)

 Cost of goods manufactured   139,288,548   113,860,095 
 
 Finished goods 
  Opening balance   7,268,849   5,993,436 
  Closing balance   (8,346,950)  (7,268,849)

      (1,078,101)  (1,275,413)

      138,210,447   112,584,682
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   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

32.1 Raw material consumed 

 Opening balance   14,673,464   10,610,676 
 Purchases   76,774,760   72,277,672 

      91,448,224   82,888,348 
 Closing balance   (12,406,832)  (14,673,464)

      79,041,392   68,214,884 

32.2 Stores and spares consumed 

 Opening balance   3,184,425   2,490,975 
 Purchases   4,255,734   4,133,727 

      7,440,159   6,624,702 
 Closing balance   (3,476,263)  (3,184,425)

      3,963,896   3,440,277 
 
32.3 Salaries, wages and benefits include Rs. 21.934 million (2024: Rs. 16.967 million) in respect of the 

provident fund contribution.

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
33. DISTRIBUTION COST 

 Staff salaries and benefits 33.1  1,189,854   952,896 
 Staff retirement gratuity 25.1.3  82,967   60,518 
 Sea and air freight   863,862   507,220 
 Shipping expenses   1,866,180   1,589,152 
 Selling commission   1,778,499   1,815,048 
 Export development surcharge   408,301   374,646 
 Marketing and advertisement   492,670   328,311 

      6,682,333   5,627,791 
 
33.1 Staff salaries and benefits include Rs. 5.194 million (2024: Rs. 3.315 million) in respect of the provident 

fund contribution.
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
34. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

 Staff salaries and benefits  34.1 & 34.2  5,375,974   4,776,412 
 Directors’ remuneration   197,467   145,179 
 Staff retirement gratuity 25.1.3  363,590   334,529 
 Postage and communication   62,703   66,065 
 Electricity, gas and water   139,319   102,723 
 Rent, rates and taxes   765,399   585,827 
 Printing and stationery   265,124   244,933 
 Travelling and conveyance   194,949   194,357 
 Vehicles running and maintenance   65,436   74,734 
 Legal and professional charges   452,529   892,302 
 Repairs and maintenance   64,176   42,042 
 Auditors’ remuneration 34.2  11,525   10,055 
 Insurance   46,752   36,001 
 Entertainment   420,011   295,897 
 Advertisement   8,251   3,276 
 Newspapers and periodicals   211   450 
 Depreciation 6.1.2  920,682   567,273 
 Depreciation on right of use assets 6.3.1  2,610   6,208 
 Amortization 7.2  77,794   73,273 
 Others   185,943   131,232 

      9,620,445   8,582,768 
 
34.1 Staff salaries and benefits include Rs. 25.304 million (2024: Rs. 17.328 million) in respect of the provident 

fund contribution.

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
34.2 Auditors’ remuneration 

 Annual audit fee   9,450   7,875 
 Other certification  –     105 
 Half yearly review   1,575   1,575 
 Out of pocket expenses   500   500 

      11,525   10,055 
 

35. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 

 Exchange loss - net  –    20,769 
 Loss on disposal of non current assets 35.1  136,410   32,659 
 Provision for obsolete inventory 12.1  30,489   48,274 
 Unrealized loss on derivative financial instruments   13,056  –  
 Charity and donations 35.2  125,391   632,546 
 Workers’ profit participation fund 26.6  463,465   943,788 
 Workers’ welfare fund 26.7  179,317   363,416 

      948,128   2,041,452 
 
35.1 Loss on disposal of non current assets

 Loss on disposal of operating fixed assets   131,766   32,904 
 Gain on disposal of right of use assets   (682)  (245)
 Loss on disposal of intangible assets   5,326  –   

      136,410   32,659
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35.2 Charity and donations include the following;

 Names of donees’ in which a director or his spouse has an interest:

 Name of Donee Interest  Name of 2025 2024
  in Donee Director / Spouse (Rupees ‘000) 

   Mr. Navid Fazil  43,300  588,107
 Interloop Welfare Trust Trustees Mr. Musadaq Zulqarnain 
   Mr. Jahanzeb Khan Banth 
   Mr. Muhammad Maqsood 
 
 

Lyallpur Literary Council Trustees
 Mr. Musadaq Zulqarnain  4,500  8,000

   Mrs. Nazia Navid

     47,800  596,107
 

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

36. OTHER INCOME 

 Income from 昀椀nancial assets 

 Dividend income   22,927   19,794 
 Exchange gain - net   3,698  –  
 Realized gain on derivative financial instruments   288,794   442,679 
 Unrealized gain on derivative financial instruments  –    59,248 
 Profit on term finance certificates (TFCs)   84,058   118,072 

 Income from non-昀椀nancial assets  

 Scrap sales   268   538 

      399,745   640,331 

37. FINANCE COST 

 Mark up on: 
  Short term borrowings   6,801,839   8,083,365 
  Long term financing - net   2,124,185   1,467,703 
 Interest on workers’ profit participation fund 26.6  26,723   30,484 
 Interest on lease liabilities 24  38,025   32,070 
 Bank charges and commission   542,592   511,532 

      9,533,364   10,125,154 
 
38. LEVIES 

 Current year 38.1  8,025    2,018,512 
 Prior year   (29,593)  27,699 

      (21,568)  2,046,211 
 
38.1 These represent final tax under section 150 (2024: under section 154 and 150) and related super tax 

under section 4C, applicable for the companies, under the provisions of the Income Tax Ordinance, 
2001, representing levies in terms of requirements of IFRIC 21/IAS 37.

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

39. INCOME TAX 

 Current year 39.1  2,419,294   46,047 
 Deferred   1,012,236   (56,176)

      3,431,530   (10,129)
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39.1 The provision for current income tax is made on taxable income at standard rate of 29% and related 
super tax under section 4C, applicable for the Companies, under the provision of the Income Tax 
Ordinance, 2001. 

 
39.2 Reconciliation of current tax charge charged as per tax laws for the year, with current tax recognized in 

statement of profit or loss is as follows

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
 Current tax liability for the year as per 
  applicable tax laws 39.2.1  2,427,319   2,064,559 
 
 Current tax liability as per tax laws, 
  representing income tax under IAS 12 39  (2,419,294)  (46,047)
 
 Current tax liability as per tax laws, 
  representing levies in terms of requirements 
  of IFRIC 21/IAS 37 38  (8,025)  (2,018,512)

     –    –  
 
39.2.1 The aggregate of levies and income tax, amounting to Rs. 2,427.319 million represents tax liability of the 

Company calculated in terms of provision of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001.

   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
39.3 Relationship between accounting pro昀椀t 
  and tax expense: 

 Profit before income tax   8,808,129   15,761,138 
 Income tax rate  29% 29%
 Income tax on profit before income tax   2,554,357   4,570,730 
 
 Tax effect of: 
  - Inadmissible deductions    3,362,964  – 
  - Admissible deductions    (4,092,882) – 
  - Presumptive tax regime and others   –    (5,129,891)
  - Levies    (6,255)  593,401 
  - Super tax - excluding levy    626,960   11,807 
  - Tax credit for the year    (25,850) –   
  - Deferred tax    1,012,236   (56,176)

      877,173   (4,580,859)

      3,431,530   (10,129)

   2025 2024

40. EARNINGS PER SHARE - BASIC AND DILUTED

40.1 Earnings per share - Basic 

 Profit for the year (Rupees in ‘000)   5,376,599   15,771,267 
 
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
  outstanding during the year (Numbers in’000)   1,401,710   1,401,562 
 
 Earnings per share - basic   (Rupees)   3.84   11.25 
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40.2 Earnings per share - Diluted 

 No figures for diluted earnings per share have been presented as the Company has not issued any 
instruments carrying options which would have an impact on earnings per share when exercised.

41. RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENT OF LIABILITIES TO CASH FLOWS ARISING FROM FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES

Balance  
as on July 01, 

2024

Non Cash 
Changes

Cash Flows
Balance  

as on June 30, 
2025

(Rupees ‘000)

 
 Issued, subscribed and paid up 
    share capital  14,017,095  –   –     14,017,095 
 Capital reserve - share premium  3,158,734  –    –    3,158,734 
 Long term financing  18,917,362   31,149   12,056,941   31,005,452 
 Lease liabilities  274,716   100,024   (128,975)  245,765 
 Short term borrowings  49,903,571  –    9,926,321   59,829,892 
 Unclaimed dividend  3,077   3,504,274   (3,504,239)  3,112 

   86,274,555   3,635,447   18,350,048   108,260,050 

 

Balance  
as on July 01, 

2023

Non Cash 
Changes

Cash Flows
Balance  

as on June 30, 
2024

(Rupees ‘000)

 
 Issued, subscribed and paid up 
    share capital  14,014,469  –     2,626   14,017,095 
 Capital reserve - share premium  3,143,605   1,036   14,093   3,158,734 
 Long term financing  17,288,082   35,186   1,594,094   18,917,362 
 Lease liabilities  128,935   266,440   (120,659)  274,716 
 Short term borrowings  42,148,912  –    7,754,659   49,903,571 
 Unclaimed dividend  4,074   5,606,313   (5,607,310)  3,077 

   76,728,077   5,908,975   3,637,503   86,274,555

   2025 2024
 

42. NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

 Average number of employees during the year  37,122 32,537
 
 Number of employees at end of the year  37,786 34,736

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
43. SHARIAH COMPLIANCE DISCLOSURE 

 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

 Assets: 

 Shariah compliant investments and bank deposits/bank balances 

 Long term investment 8  1,727,763   1,727,763 
 Bank balances 19  26,894   59,325 

 Liabilities: 
 Financing as per Islamic mode 

 Long term financing 23  18,138,353   9,676,364 
 Short term borrowings 28  14,805,000   15,923,191 
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 Accrued mark up as per conventional mode 
 Long term financing 27  282,437   228,488 
 Short term borrowings 27  32,480   1,413,284 

 STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 

 Revenue earned from a shariah compliant business 31  173,381,533   156,128,865 

 Mark up on Islamic mode of 昀椀nancing 37  (3,156,998)  (4,097,945)

 Source and detailed break up of other income 

 Other income earned from shariah compliant: 36 

 Dividend income  –     19,794 
 Exchange gain - net   3,698   –   
 Scrap sales   268   538 

 Other income earned from non - shariah compliant: 36  

 Dividend income   22,927   –   
 Realized gain on derivative financial instruments   288,794   442,679 
 Unrealized gain on derivative financial instruments  –     59,248 
 Profit on term finance certificates (TFCs)   84,058   118,072 
 
 Relationship with shariah compliant banks 

Name of institutions Relationship with institutions 

MCB Islamic Bank Bank balance, long term financing and short term borrowing

Meezan Bank Limited Bank balance, long term financing and short term borrowing

Habib Bank Limited (Islamic Banking) Bank balance, long term financing and short term borrowing

Faysal Bank Limited Bank balance, long term financing and short term borrowing

Bank Alfalah Limited (Islamic) Bank balance and short term borrowing 

Bank of Punjab (Taqwa Islamic Banking) Bank balance and short term borrowing 

United Bank Limited - Ameen Bank balance and short term borrowing 

Allied Bank Limited (Islamic Banking) Bank balance  

44. REMUNERATION TO CHIEF EXECUTIVE, DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES 

 
2025

Chief Executive Directors Executives

(Rupees ‘000)

 Managerial remuneration  61,560   99,783   4,267,225 
 Directorship fee –    25,498  –   
 Reimbursable expenses –   –    704,715 
 Bonus  –  –    313,198 
 Staff retirement gratuity –    –   204,758 
 Contribution to provident fund –    –     42,068 
 Other allowances –    10,626   732,495 

   61,560   135,907   6,264,459 

 Number of persons 1 9 970
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2024

Chief Executive Directors Executives

(Rupees ‘000)

 Managerial remuneration  48,060   66,691   2,754,136 
 Directorship fee –     20,900  –  
 Reimbursable expenses –   –     546,252 
 Bonus –   –   279,381 
 Staff retirement gratuity –   –    128,856 
 Contribution to provident fund –    –    28,938 
 Other allowances –    9,528   344,764 

   48,060   97,119   4,082,327 

 Number of persons 1 8 640

 
 The chief executive officer, executive director and some executives are provided with company maintained cars. 
 
45. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

 Related parties include, subsidiaries, associated companies and undertakings, entities under common directorship, 
directors, major shareholders, key management personnel, employees benefit trust and post employment 
benefit plans. The Company in the normal course of business carries out transactions with various related 
parties. Amounts due from and to related parties are shown under the relevant notes to the unconsolidated 
financial statements. Remuneration to directors and key management personnel is disclosed in note 44. Detail 
of transactions with related parties, other than those which have been specifically disclosed elsewhere in these 
unconsolidated financial statements are as follows:

     2025 2024
  Name Nature of transaction  (Rupees ‘000)  (Rupees ‘000)

 Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited Services received   561,506   264,908 
   Purchase of assets – net  –     8,275 
   Gratuity transferred  –     2,601 

 Texlan Center (Pvt) Limited Sale of yarn  2,229,525   2,852,716 
   Sale of packing material   77,438   122,989 
   Services received  279,951   –   
   Purchase of assets  13,908   –   

 Momentum Logistics (Pvt) Limited Services received  1,546,237   1,204,122 

 PrintKraft (Pvt) Limited Purchase of packing material  641,373   731,832 

 Octans Digital (Pvt) Limited Services received  81,465   220,965 
   Purchase of assets  62,396   46 

 Socks & Socks (Pvt) Limited Services received  126,223   87,960 
   Sale of goods – net  185,988   54,184 
   Purchase of assets  –     838,935 

 Abacus Consulting Technology  Services received  7,258   – 
  (Private) Limited 

 Interloop Europe Sale of socks  694,329   952,990 

 ILNA Inc. USA Services received  1,468,209   1,523,745 

 Zhejiang Top Circle Textiles Co., Ltd Services received  2,662,771   547,400 

 Top Circle Hosiery Mills Co., Inc. Dividend income  –     19,794 

 Interloop Provident Fund Trust Contribution to the fund  138,045   101,346 

 Key management personnel and  Repayment of housing finance loan  1,154   4,616
  other related parties Mark up on house building finance loan  52   444 
   Rent expenses  1,883   1,712 
   Dividend paid  2,955,774   4,739,070
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45.1 Following are the related parties with whom the Company had entered into transactions or have 
arrangements / agreements in place.

   Common Directorship Address
 Company Name Basis of  / Percentage of  and Country
  Relationship shareholding of Incorporation

 Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited Associate Common Directors 15-A, Peoples Colony No. 1, Faisalabad,

    Pakistan. 

 Interloop Dairies Limited Associate Common Directors 15-A, Peoples Colony No. 1,Faisalabad, 

     Pakistan. 

 Texlan Center (Pvt) Limited Associate Common Directors Dagonna Road, Minuwangoda, 

     Sri Lanka. 

 Momentum Logistics (Pvt) Limited Associate Common Directors 15-A, Peoples Colony No. 1, Faisalabad, 

     Pakistan. 

 PrintKraft (Pvt) Limited Associate Subsidiary of Associate 15-A, Peoples Colony No. 1, Faisalabad,

     Pakistan. 

 IRC Dairy products (Pvt) Limited Associate Common Directors 15-A, Peoples Colony No. 1, Faisalabad, 

     Pakistan. 

 Global Veneer Trading Limited Associate Common Directors Bahnhofasteasse22, 6300 Zug,

     Switzerland. 

 Interloop Europe Associate Subsidiary of Associate Constructieweg 1, 7451 PS Holten,

     Netherlands. 

 Interloop Welfare Trust Trustee Common Directors 15-A, Peoples Colony No. 1, Faisalabad, 

     Pakistan. 

 Interloop Provident Fund Trust Trustee Post Employment 15-A, Peoples Colony No. 1, Faisalabad,  

   Benefit Plan  Pakistan. 

 Octans Digital (Pvt) Limited Associate Subsidiary of 15-A, Peoples Colony No. 1, Faisalabad, 

   Associate  Pakistan. 

 Shifa Medical Center Islamabad  Associate Common Directors Shifa, International Hospitals, Sector

   (Pvt) Limited    H-8/4 Islamabad, Pakistan.

 Shifa National Hospital  Associate Common Directors Shifa, International Hospitals, Sector

   Faisalabad (Pvt) Limited    H-8/4 Islamabad, Pakistan. 

 Lyallpur Literary Council Associate Common Directors 15-A, Peoples Colony No. 1, Faisalabad, 

     Pakistan. 

 Socks & Socks (Pvt) Limited Associate Subsidiary of Associate 15-A, Peoples Colony No. 1, Faisalabad, 

     Pakistan. 

 IL Foods Limited Associate Common Directors 15-A, Peoples Colony No. 1, Faisalabad, 

     Pakistan.

 Abacus Consulting Technology  Associate Common Directors Abacus House,  4 - Noon Avenue, Main

   (Private) Limited    Canal, Lahore. 54000 

 ILNA Inc. USA Associate Common Directors 102 West 3rd Street, Suite 200 Winton

     -Salem, NC 27101, US 

 IL Bangla Limited Associate Common Directors House # 267, Road # 19, New 

     DOHS Mohakhali, Dhaka. 

 Top Circle Hosiery Mills  Subsidiary 64% Shareholdings 329 Franklin St. Weissport, PA, 

   Co., Inc.    USA.
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   Common Directorship Address
 Company Name Basis of  / Percentage of  and Country
  Relationship shareholding of Incorporation

 Shanghai Haolu Trading  Subsidiary Subsidiary of Subsidiary Room 808, Pulian Building, No. 98,

   Co., Limited    Rushan Road, (Shanghai) Pilot

     Free Trading Zone, China. 

 Pinghu Top Circle Knitting  Subsidiary Subsidiary of Subsidiary Southwest side of the third floor,

   Co., Limited    Building 6, No. 671, Xingping 4th 

     Floor, Zhongdai Street, Pinghou City, 

     Jiaxing City, Zhejiang Province, China.

 Zhejiang Top Circle Textiles  Subsidiary Subsidiary of Subsidiary 2nd and 3rd Floors, Northeast Side of

   Co., Limited    Workshop 6, No. 671, Xingping 4th 

     Road, Pinghu Economic and

     Technological Development Zone,

     Jiaxing City, Zhejiang Province, China.

 Shanghai Chenzhou Industry  Subsidiary Subsidiary of Subsidiary Room 3412, No. 800, Quyang Road,

   Co. Limited    Hongkou District, Shanghai, China.

 Haolu Trading USA Co., Inc. Subsidiary Subsidiary of Subsidiary 329 Franklin St. Weissport, PA, USA.

46. OPERATING SEGMENTS 

 Management has determined the operating segments based on the information that is presented to the Board 
of Directors of the Company for allocation of resources and assessment of performance. Operating segments 
are reported in a manner consistent with internal reporting provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker 
(‘CODM’). Segment performance is generally evaluated based on certain key performance indicators including 
business volume and gross profit.

 Based on internal management reporting structure and products produced and sold, the Company is organized 
into the following operating segments :

 
a) Hosiery 

 This segment relates to the sale of socks. 

b) Spinning 

 This segment relates to the sale of yarn and its in-house use. 

c) Denim 

 This segment relates to the sale of denim products and garments. 

d) Apparel 

 This segment relates to the sale of  fashion apparels. 

e) Other operating segments

 These represent various segments of the Company which currently do not meet the minimum reporting 
threshold mentioned in International financial reporting standards ‘Operating Segments’ (IFRS 8). These 
mainly include energy, yarn dyeing and active wear.       
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   2025 2024
  UOM Figures in ‘000 Figures in ‘000

47. PLANT CAPACITY AND ACTUAL PRODUCTION 

 Hosiery 

 Installed capacity - knitting [DZN]  74,391   72,724 
 Actual production - knitting [DZN]  57,249   59,958 
 
 Spinning 

 Installed capacity after conversion into 20/s [LBS]  31,377   31,377 
 Actual production after conversion into 20/s  [LBS]  26,731   28,729 
 
 Yarn Dyeing 

 Installed capacity [KGs]  6,442   6,407 
 Actual production [KGs]  4,669   4,934 
 
 Denim 

 Installed capacity [Pieces]  9,500   6,975 
 Actual production [Pieces]  8,017   6,116 
 
 Active Wear and Apparel 

 The plant capacity of these divisions is indeterminable due to multi product plans involving varying processes of 
manufacturing and run length of order lots. 

 
47.1 The actual production is planned to meet the internal demand and orders in hand. 

 
48. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 The carrying values of the financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their fair values. Fair value is the 
amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in 
an arm’s length transaction. 

 
 Fair value hierarchy 

 Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to settle a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 

 
 Underlying the definition of fair value is the presumption that the Company is a going concern and there is no 

intention or requirement to curtail materially the scale of its operations or to undertake a transaction on adverse 
terms.

 
 A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available 

from an exchange dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent 
actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.
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 IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ requires the Company to classify fair value measurements and fair value 
hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements of fair value hierarchy has 
the following levels: 

  
Level 1 :  Fair value measurements using quoted (unadjusted) in active markets for identical asset or liability.

Level 2 :  Fair value measurements using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable 
for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 

Level 3 :  Fair value measurements using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 
data (i.e. unobservable inputs). 

 
 Transfer between levels of the fair value hierarchy are recognized at the end of the reporting period during which 

the changes have occurred. 
 
 The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including 

their levels in the fair value hierarchy. It does not include fair value information for financial assets and financial 
liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

2025

Carrying Amount Fair Value

Fair value 
through 
pro昀椀t or 

loss

Amortized 
cost

Cash 
and cash 

equivalents
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

(Rupees ‘000)

 On balance sheet 昀椀nancial instruments 

 Financial assets measured at fair value 

 Derivative financial instruments  –     –     –     –     –     –     –     –   

 Financial assets not measured at fair value 

 Long term loans  –     198,075   –     198,075   –     –     –     –   

 Long term deposits  –     95,481   –     95,481   –     –     –     –   

 Trade debts  –     48,314,852   –     48,314,852   –     –     –     –   

 Loans and advances  –     324,700   –     324,700   –     –     –     –   

 Other receivables  –     21,703   –     21,703   –     –     –     –   

 Accrued income  –     877   –     877   –     –     –     –   

 Short term investments  –     500,000   –     500,000   –     –     –     –   

 Cash and bank balances  –     –     357,519 357,519  –     –     –     –   

   –     49,455,688   357,519  49,813,207  –     –     –     –   

 

 Financial liabilities measured at fair value 

 Derivative financial instruments  13,056   –     –     13,056   –     13,056   –     13,056 

 Financial liabilities not measured at fair value 

 Long term financing  –     31,005,452   –     31,005,452   –     –     –     –   

 Lease liabilities  –     245,765   –     245,765   –     –     –     –   

 Trade and other payables  –     12,737,322   –     12,737,322   –     –     –     –   

 Unclaimed dividend  –     3,112   –     3,112   –     –     –     –   

 Accrued mark up   –     1,022,132   –     1,022,132   –     –     –     –

 Short term borrowings  –     59,829,892   –     59,829,892   –     –     –     –   

   13,056   104,843,675   –     104,856,731   –     13,056   –     13,056
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2024

Carrying Amount Fair Value

Fair value 
through 
pro昀椀t or 

loss

Amortized 
cost

Cash 
and cash 

equivalents
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

(Rupees ‘000)

 On balance sheet 昀椀nancial instruments 

 Financial assets measured at fair value 

 Derivative financial instruments  59,248   –     –     59,248   –     59,248   –     59,248 

 Financial assets not measured at fair value 

 Long term loans  –     176,873   –     176,873   –     –     –     –   

 Long term deposits  –     89,451   –     89,451   –     –     –     –   

 Trade debts  –     41,193,604   –     41,193,604   –     –     –     –   

 Loans and advances  –     224,219   –     224,219   –     –     –     –   

 Other receivables  –     73,786   –     73,786   –     –     –     –   

 Accrued income  –     1,497   –     1,497   –     –     –     –   

 Short term investments  –     500,000   –     500,000   –     –     –     –   

 Cash and bank balances  –     –     370,386   370,386   –     –     –     –   

   59,248   42,259,430   370,386   42,689,064   –     59,248   –     59,248 

 

 Financial liabilities measured at fair value  –     –     –     –     –     –     –     –   

 Financial liabilities not measured at fair value 

 Long term financing  –     18,917,362   –     18,917,362   –     –     –     –   

 Lease liabilities  –     274,716   –     274,716   –     –     –     –   

 Trade and other payables  –     12,922,259   –     12,922,259   –     –     –     –   

 Unclaimed dividend  –     3,077   –     3,077   –     –     –     –   

 Accrued mark up   –     2,689,232   –     2,689,232   –     –     –     –    

Short term borrowings  –     49,903,571   –     49,903,571   –     –     –     –   

   –     84,710,217   –     84,710,217   –     –     –     –   

49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

 The Company finances its operations through equity, borrowings and management of working capital with a view 
to maintain an appropriate mix between various sources of finance to minimize risk. The Company follows an 
effective cash management and planning policy and maintains flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit 
lines available. Market risks are managed by the Company through the adoption of appropriate policies to cover 
currency risks and interest rate risks.

 The Company has exposures to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 
 
 – Market risk 
 – Credit risk 
 – Liquidity risk 
 

49.1 Market risk 

 Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises interest rate risk, currency risk and other 
price risk. The sensitivity analysis in the following sections relate to the position as at June 30, 2025 and 
2024.
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49.1.1 Interest rate risk: 

 Interest rate risk represents the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Majority of the interest rate exposure arises from 
investments in term finance certificates, long term and short term loans, lease liabilities, short term 
borrowings and long term financing.  

 
 At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Company’s interest bearing financial instruments is 

as follows:

   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 Fixed rate instruments 

 Long term financing - Secured   7,209,947   8,473,992 
 Lease liabilities against right of use assets   245,765   274,716 
 Short term borrowings - Secured   59,829,892   43,108,930

 Variable rate instruments 

 Short term investments   500,000   500,000 
 Loan to director - Secured  –  1,153 
 
 Long term financing from financial institutions - Secured   23,795,505   10,443,370 
 Short term borrowings from financial institutions - Secured –    6,794,641 
 
 Fair value sensitivity analysis for 昀椀xed rate instruments 

 The Company does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss. Therefore, a change in interest rate at the balance sheet date would not affect statement 
of profit or loss of the Company. 

 
 Cash 昀氀ow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 

 The following analysis demonstrates the sensitivity to a change in interest rates of 1%, with all other 
variables held constant, of the Company’s profit before tax. The analysis is prepared assuming the 
amounts of floating rate instruments outstanding at reporting date were outstanding for the whole year.

   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 Effect on profit and (loss) of an increase in interest 
  rate for short term investments   4,655   4,655 
 
 Effect on profit and (loss) of an increase in interest 
  rate for loan to director  –    11 
 
 Effect on profit and (loss) of an increase in interest 
  rate for long term financing   (221,536)  (97,228)
 
 Effect on profit and (loss) of an increase in interest 
  rate for short term borrowings   –    (63,258)

      (216,881)  (155,820)
 
 Decrease in interest rates at June 30 would have had the equal but opposite effect of these amounts. 

Sensitivity analysis has been prepared on symmetric basis.
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49.1.2 Currency risk / Foreign Exchange risk: 

 Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument, will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Foreign currency risk arises mainly where receivables and 
payables exist due to foreign currency transactions. 

 Exposure to Currency Risk 

 The Company’s exposure to currency risk is restricted to the amounts receivable from/payable to the 
foreign entities and bank balances which are denominated in currency other than the functional currency 
of the Company. The Company’s exposure to currency risk is as follows:

 2025 2024

 Particulars Currency F.Currency Rupees F.Currency Rupees
    (Amount ‘000 )

 Foreign currency bank accounts US $  161.12   45,709   1,122.60   309,300 

  EUR € – –  –   – 

     45,709    309,300 

 

 Trade debts US $  160,240.44   45,444,188   140,794.83   39,183,202

  EUR €  3,575.81   1,188,064   1,086.01   323,500 

     46,632,252    39,506,702 

     46,677,961    39,816,002 

 Less: Payables - Creditors US $  (3,020.00)  (857,983)  (2,086.65)  (581,758)

  EUR €  (84.93)  (28,268)  (135.05)  (40,299)

  GBP £  (3.40)  (1,325) – –

  CHF  (0.60)  (213) –   – 

     (887,789)   (622,057)

 Less: Other payables US $  (440.61)  (125,178)  (456.04)  (127,145)

 On Balance sheet Exposure    45,664,994    39,066,800 

 

 Under letter of credit US $  9,784.02   2,779,641   9,307.05   2,594,806 

  EUR €  870.15   289,611   7,235.19   2,159,053

  GBP £  19.83   7,728   39.30   13,828 

  JPY  ¥  7,765.34   15,299   46,834.50   81,047

  CHF  71.28   25,339   1,500.00   464,565 

 Off Balance Sheet Exposure    3,117,618    5,313,299 

 

 The following significant exchange rates have been applied as at reporting date:

 2025 2024

 Foreign Currency  Selling Buying Selling Buying
    (Rupees)

 US $   284.10   283.60   278.80   278.30

 EUR €   332.83   332.25   298.41   297.88

 GBP £   389.65   388.97   351.85   351.22 

 JPY  ¥   1.97   1.97   1.73   1.73 

 CHF   355.50   354.87   309.71   309.16 
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 Currency rate sensitivity analysis 

 If the functional currency, at reporting date, had weakened by 10% against the foreign currencies with 
all other variables held constant, the profit before taxation would have increased / (decreased) for the 
year 2025 and 2024 by the following amounts:

   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
 Foreign Currency

 US $   4,143,577   3,610,753 
 EUR €   107,977   26,366 
 GBP £   123  –  
 CHF    20  –  

      4,251,697   3,637,119 
 
 A 10% strengthening of the functional currency against foreign currencies at June 30 would have had 

the equal but opposite effect of these amounts. 
 
 Currency risk sensitivity to foreign exchange movements has been calculated on a symmetric basis. The 

analysis assumes that all other variables remained constant. 
 
49.1.3 Other price risk: 

 Price risk represents the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), 
whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, 
or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. The Company is not exposed 
to any significant other price risk.

49.2 Credit risk: 

 Credit risk is the risk representing accounting loss that would be recognized at the reporting date if 
one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation or its failure to perform duties 
under the contract as contracted. Concentration of credit risk arises when a number of counterparties 
are engaged in similar business activities or have similar economic features that would cause their 
ability to meet contractual obligations that is susceptible to changes in economic, political or other 
conditions. Concentration of credit risk indicates the relative sensitivity of the Company’s performance 
to developments affecting a particular industry. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting 
date is as follows :

   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
 Long term loans   198,075   176,873 
 Long term deposits   95,481   89,451 
 Trade debts   48,314,852   41,193,604 
 Loans and advances   324,700   224,219 
 Other receivables   21,703   73,786 
 Accrued income   877   1,497 
 Short term investments   500,000   500,000 
 Bank balances  341,608  344,506 

     49,797,296  42,603,936 
 
 Loans and advances consist of loans to employees and director. Loans to employees and director are 

secured against their retirement benefits. Therefore, the Company is not exposed to any significant 
credit risk on these loans and advances. 
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 Long term deposits have been mainly placed with suppliers of electricity, gas, telecommunication 
services and deposits against services and leased assets. Considering the financial position and credit 
quality of the parties and institutions, the Company’s exposure to credit risk is not significant.

 Trade debts amounting to Rs. 13,476 million (2024: Rs. 18,318 million) out of total debts are secured 
against letters of credit and insured contract. Furthermore, credit quality of customers is assessed taking 
into consideration their financial position and previous dealings and on that basis, individual credit 
limits are set. Moreover, the management regularly monitors and reviews customers’ credit exposure. 
Accordingly, the Company is not exposed to any significant credit risk. 

 
 Other receivables constitute mainly subsidy on gas and receivables from custom authorities and 

State Bank of Pakistan. Considering the financial position of and credit quality of the institutions, the 
Company’s exposure to credit risk is not significant. 

 
 The Company has no material expected credit loss or impairment allowance at the year end regarding 

trade debts and other receivables. 
 
 Short term investments are investments in TFCs. The credit risk on these investments and their accrued 

profit is limited because counter party is bank with reasonably high credit ratings.  
 
 The credit quality of the Company’s bank balances can be assessed by reference to external credit 

ratings or to historical information about counterparty default rate:

 Name of Bank Date Long term Short term Outlook Agency

 Allied Bank Limited 24-Jun-25 AAA A1+ Stable PACRA
 Askari Bank Limited 24-Jun-25 AA+ A1+ Stable PACRA
 Bank Alfalah Limited 28-Jun-25 AAA A1+ Stable PACRA
 Faysal Bank Limited 24-Jun-25 AA A1+ Stable PACRA
 Habib Bank Limited 30-Jun-25 AAA A1+ Stable JCR-VIS
 Habib Metropolitan 
    Bank Limited 24-Jun-25 AA+ A1+ Stable PACRA
 MCB Bank Limited 23-Jun-25 AAA A1+ Stable PACRA
 MCB Islamic Bank Limited 23-Jun-25 A+ A1 Stable PACRA
 Meezan Bank Limited 30-Jun-25 AAA A1+ Stable JCR-VIS
 National Bank of Pakistan 23-Jun-25 AAA A1+ Stable PACRA
 Standard Chartered Bank 
    (Pakistan) Limited 23-Jun-25 AAA A1+ Stable PACRA
 The Bank of Punjab 30-Jun-25 AA+ A1+ Stable PACRA
 United Bank Limited 30-Jun-25 AAA A1+ Stable JCR-VIS
 
 Due to the Company’s long standing relationships with these counterparties and after giving due 

consideration to their strong financial standing, the management does not expect non-performance by 
these counter parties on their obligations to the Company. Accordingly, the risk is minimal. 

 
49.3 Liquidity risk 

 Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities.  

 
 The Company’s approach to manage liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient level of liquidity by holding 

highly liquid assets and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit 
facilities. At June 30, 2025 the Company has Rs. 45,370 million (2024: Rs. 26,596 million) unutilized 
borrowing limits available from financial institutions and Rs. 357.519 million (2024: Rs. 370.386 million) 
cash and bank balances. The management believes that the Company is not exposed to any liquidity 
risk. 
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 The following are the contractual maturity analysis of financial liabilities as at June 30, 2025 and 2024:

2025

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash 昀氀ows

Within 1  
Year

More than 1 
Year and up 
to 5 years

More than 5 
Years

(Rupees ‘000)

 Financial Liabilities : 

 Long term financing  31,005,452   45,416,392   5,300,251   24,670,266   15,445,875 
 Lease liabilities  245,765   301,281   108,098   193,183   –   
 Trade and other payables  12,737,322   12,737,322   12,737,322   –     –   
 Unclaimed dividend  3,112   3,112   3,112   –     –   
 Accrued mark up   1,022,132   1,022,132   1,022,132   –     –   
 Short term borrowings  59,829,892   59,829,892   59,829,892   –     –   

   104,843,675   119,310,131   79,000,807   24,863,449   15,445,875
 
 2024

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash 昀氀ows

Within 1  
Year

More than 1 
Year and up 
to 5 years

More than 5 
Years

(Rupees ‘000)

 Financial Liabilities : 
 Long term financing  18,917,362   27,389,598   4,810,932   15,384,133   7,194,533 
 Lease liabilities  274,716   353,028   118,223   234,805   –   
 Trade and other payables  12,922,259   12,922,259   12,922,259   –     –   
 Unclaimed dividend  3,077   3,077   3,077   –     –   
 Accrued mark up   2,689,232   2,689,232   2,689,232   –     –   
 Short term borrowings  49,903,571   49,903,571   49,903,571   –     –   

   84,710,217   93,260,765   70,447,294   15,618,938   7,194,533 
 
 The contractual cash flows relating to the above financial liabilities have been determined on the basis of 

interest rates / mark-up rates effective as at 30 June. The rates of interest / mark up have been disclosed 
in note 23, 24 and 28 to these unconsolidated financial statements.

49.4 Capital risk management 

 The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to safeguard the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, maintain healthy capital ratios, strong credit rating and optimal capital 
structures in order to ensure ample availability of finance for its existing and potential investment 
projects, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders thereby maximizing their wealth, 
benefits for other stakeholders and reduce the cost of capital.  

 
 The Company manages the capital structure in the context of economic conditions and the risk 

characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company 
may, for example, adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets 
to reduce debt. 

 
 The Company monitors capital on the basis of debt to equity ratio, calculated on the basis of total debt 

to equity.
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   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 Long term financing   31,005,452   18,917,362 
 Short term borrowings   59,829,892   49,903,571 

 Debts   90,835,344   68,820,933 
 Equity   55,223,035   53,532,475 

 Total capital (equity + debt)   146,058,379   122,353,408 
 
 Gearing ratio (percentage)   62.19   56.25
 

50. EVENT AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 

 The Board of Directors in their meeting held on September 10, 2025 have proposed a final cash dividend of Re. 
1 (2024: Rs. 2.5 per share), amounting to Rs. 1,401.71 million (2024: Rs. 3,504.27 million), for approval of the 
members at the Annual General Meeting of the Company. 

 
51. DATE OF AUTHORIZATION FOR ISSUE 

 These unconsolidated financial statements were authorized for issue on September 10, 2025 by the Board of 
Directors of the Company.

 
52. GENERAL 

52.1 Corresponding 昀椀gures 

 Corresponding figures have been rearranged and reclassified wherever necessary for the purpose of 
better presentation. However, during the year no reclassification is made in the corresponding figures. 
   

52.2 Following nomenclature has been changed during the year

 Previous year nomenclature Current year nomenclature  

 Final taxes Levies  
     
52.3 Rounding

 Figures have been rounded off to the nearest thousand of rupees.    

Chief Executive Of昀椀cer Director Chief Financial Officer
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Office No.1, 2nd Floor, Legacy Tower, Kohinoor City, Faisalabad–Pakistan. Phone: + 92–41–8731632, 8731650 
Email: hyderbhimjifsd@gmail.com  Website: www.krestonhb.com

Other offices: Karachi, Lahore, Islamabad.
A member of Kreston International– A Global Network of Independent Accounting Firms

Opinion 

We have audited the annexed consolidated financial statements of Interloop Limited and its subsidiaries (“the Group”), 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at June 30, 2025, the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity, 
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements 
comprising material accounting policy information and other explanatory information, and we state that we have obtained 
all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purpose of 
the audit.

In our opinion, consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 
Group as at June 30, 2025 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan.

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as applicable in Pakistan. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated 
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants as adopted by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Pakistan (the Code) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters. 
 
Following are the Key Audit Matter(s):

S. No Key Audit Matter(s) How the Matter was addressed in audit

1. Borrowings: (Refer notes 25, 27.2 and 30 to the consolidated financial statements)

The Group has significant amounts of borrowings from 
Banks amounting to Rs. 91.046 billion, being 73.87% 
of total liabilities, as at reporting date.

Given the significant level of borrowings, finance 
costs, significant gearing, the disclosure given by the 
management in consolidated financial statements 
and compliance with various loan covenants, this is 
considered to be a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included:

• Review of loan agreements and facility letters 
to ascertain the terms and conditions of 
repayment, rates of markup used and disclosed 
by management for finance costs and to ensure 
that the borrowings have been approved at 
appropriate levels.

• Verification of disbursement of loans and utilization 
on sample basis. Review of documents for charge 
registration with regulator - SECP.

• Verification of repayments made by the Group 
during the year on sample basis to confirm that 
repayments are being made on time and no 
default has been made.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF INTERLOOP 
LIMITED 
Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements
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S. No Key Audit Matter(s) How the Matter was addressed in audit

• Assessing procedures designed by management 
to comply with the debt covenants and performing 
covenant tests on sample basis.

• Obtaining direct confirmations from Banks to 
confirm balances, terms & conditions stated in the 
facility offer letters and compliance thereof.

• Performing analytical procedures, recalculations 
and other related procedures for verification of 
finance costs.

• Ensuring that the outstanding liabilities have 
been properly classified and related securities 
and other terms are adequately disclosed in the 
consolidated financial statements.

2. Capital expenditures: (Refer note 7 to the consolidated financial statements)

The Group is investing significant amounts in its 
operations and there is a number of areas where 
management’s judgment impacts the carrying value 
of property, plant and equipment and its respective 
depreciation profile. These include among others the 
decision to capitalize costs; and review of useful life of 
the assets.

The Group’s material accounting policy information on 
operating fixed assets and capital work in progress are 
disclosed in notes – 6.1 and 6.2 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

We focused on this area since the amounts have a 
significant impact on the financial position of the 
Group and there is significant management judgment 
required that has significant impact on the reporting 
of the financial position for the Group. Therefore, 
considered as one of the key audit matters.

Our audit procedures in relation to capitalization 
of property, plant and equipment, amongst others 
include the following: 

• Understanding the design and implementation 
of management controls over capitalization and 
performing tests of control over authorization of 
capital expenditure and accuracy of its recording 
in the system. 

• Testing, on sample basis, the costs incurred 
on projects with supporting documents and 
contracts. 

• Assessing the nature of costs incurred for capital 
projects through testing, on sample basis, of 
amounts recorded and considering whether the 
expenditure meets the criteria for capitalization 
as per the accounting policy and applicable 
accounting standards.  

• Checked the reasonableness of management’s 
assessment of categories of assets and working 
of reclassification in categories of assets including 
impact of reclassification on both cost of assets 
and accumulated depreciation in each category.  

• Inspecting supporting documents for the date 
of capitalization when project was ready for its 
intended use to assess whether depreciation 
commenced and further capitalization of costs 
ceased from that date and assessing the useful 
life assigned by management including the 
calculation of related depreciation.
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S. No Key Audit Matter(s) How the Matter was addressed in audit

3. Inventory existence and valuation: (Refer notes 12 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements)

The Group has significant levels of inventories 
amounting to Rs. 30.191 billion as at the reporting 
date, being 16.70% of the total assets of the Group.

There is a risk in estimating the eventual NRV of items 
held, as well as assessing which items may be slow-
moving or obsolete.

The Group’s material accounting policy information 
on stores and spares and stock in trade are disclosed 
in notes – 6.5 and 6.6 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

The significance of the balance coupled with the 
judgments and estimates involved on their valuation 
has resulted in the inventories being considered as a 
key audit matter.

Our audit procedures over existence and valuation of 
inventory include, but were not limited to:

•  To test the quantity of inventories at all locations, 
we assessed the corresponding inventory 
observation instructions and participated in 
inventory counts on sites. Based on samples, 
we performed test counts and compared the 
quantities counted by us with the results of the 
counts of the management;

• For a sample of inventory items, re-performed the 
weighted average cost calculation and compared 
the weighted average cost appearing on valuation 
sheets;

• We tested that the ageing report used by 
management correctly aged inventory items by 
agreeing a sample of aged inventory items to the 
last recorded invoice;

• On a sample basis, we tested the net realizable 
value of inventory items to recent selling prices 
and reperformed the calculation of the inventory 
write down, if any;

• We also made enquiries of management, 
including those outside of the finance function, 
and considered the results of our testing above to 
determine whether any specific write downs were 
required.

4. Revenue recognition: (Refer note 33 to the consolidated financial statements)

We identified recognition of revenue of the Group as 
a key audit matter because revenue is one of the key 
performance indicators and gives rise to an inherent 
risk that revenue could be subject to misstatement to 
meet expectations or targets. 

The Group earns revenue from multiple business lines 
which operate as distinct business segments with 
significant volume of revenue transactions.

Revenue is recorded in accordance with the requirements 
of IFRS-15 which provides a comprehensive model 
of revenue recognition and requires the Group to 
exercise judgement, taking into consideration all of 
the relevant facts and circumstances when applying 
the model to contracts with customers.

The Group’s material accounting policy information on 
revenue recognition is disclosed in notes – 6.19 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

We performed a range of audit procedures in relation 
to revenue including the following:

• We obtained an understanding of the process 
relating to recognition of revenue and testing 
the design, implementation and operating 
effectiveness of key internal controls over 
recording of revenue;

•  We compared a sample of revenue transactions 
recorded during the year with sales orders, sales 
invoices, delivery documents and other relevant 
underlying documents;

•  We performed analytical review procedures and 
other test of details over various revenue streams 
including the cut-off procedures to check that 
revenue has been recognized in the appropriate 
accounting period;

•  We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures 
as per the guidelines set out in the applicable 
financial reporting requirements. 



156 Annual Report 2025

Information Other than the Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
annual report, but does not include the unconsolidated financial statements, the consolidated financial statements and 
our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information; we are required to report that fact. 
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan, the requirements of the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 
2017) and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
as applicable in Pakistan will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of material accounting policy information used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide to the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.  
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Syed Aftab Hameed - FCA.

Date: September 10, 2025  KRESTON HYDER BHIMJI & CO.
Place: Faisalabad                      CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
UDIN: AR202510475Ayh5WmxCn
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

ASSETS 

NON CURRENT ASSETS 

 Property, plant and equipment 7  84,050,845   69,601,770 
 Intangible assets 8  485,463   454,709 
 Long term investment 9  198,017   191,526 
 Long term loans 10  198,075   176,873 
 Long term deposits 11  95,481   89,451 
 Deferred taxation – net 27.3  –     349,849 

     85,027,881   70,864,178 
CURRENT ASSETS 

 Stores and spares 12  3,476,263   3,184,425 
 Stock in trade 13  26,714,281   26,903,189 
 Trade debts 14  49,388,925   41,638,589 
 Loans and advances 15  2,371,977   1,937,369 
 Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 16  720,788   911,260 
 Derivative financial instruments   –     59,248 
 Accrued income 17  877   1,497 
 Refunds due from Government and statutory authorities 18  11,538,248   7,128,807 
 Short term investment 19  500,000   500,000 
 Cash and bank balances 20  1,088,334   1,510,910 

     95,799,693   83,775,294 

TOTAL ASSETS   180,827,574   154,639,472 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

 Authorized share capital 21  50,000,000   50,000,000 

 Issued, subscribed and paid up share capital 22  14,017,095   14,017,095 
 Reserves 23  3,130,793   3,048,006 
 Unappropriated profit   38,960,121   37,096,363 

 Equity attributable to shareholders of Parent Company   56,108,009   54,161,464 
 Non – controlling interest 24  1,469,665   1,325,672 

 Total equity   57,577,674   55,487,136 
 
NON CURRENT LIABILITIES 

 Long term financing 25  28,593,987   16,194,813 
 Lease liabilities 26  312,429   190,965 
 Deferred liabilities 27  14,323,587   10,786,348 

     43,230,003   27,172,126 
 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 

 Trade and other payables 28  16,515,419   16,010,051 
 Unclaimed dividend   3,112   3,077 
 Derivative financial instruments   13,056   –   
 Accrued mark up  29  1,022,221   2,689,751 
 Short term borrowings 30  59,948,702   50,439,844 
 Current portion of non current liabilities 31  2,517,387   2,837,487 

     80,019,897   71,980,210 
CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 32  –     – 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   180,827,574   154,639,472 

The annexed notes 1 to 54 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at June 30, 2025

Chief Executive Of昀椀cer Director Chief Financial Officer
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

Sales - net 33   179,405,283   158,182,719 

Cost of sales 34   (142,644,672)  (114,017,105)

Gross pro昀椀t   36,760,611   44,165,614 

Operating expenses 

Distribution cost 35   (7,011,902)  (5,814,125)

Administrative expenses 36   (10,686,810)  (9,092,940)

Other operating expenses 37   (947,784)  (2,138,230)

     (18,646,496)  (17,045,295)

Other income 38   534,368   670,831 

Gain on acquisition of subsidiaries  –    857,304 

Pro昀椀t from operations   18,648,483   28,648,454 

Finance cost 39   (9,562,239)  (10,156,373)

Pro昀椀t before income tax and levies   9,086,244   18,492,081 

Levies 40   21,568   (2,046,211)

Pro昀椀t before income tax   9,107,812   16,445,870 

Income tax 41   (3,460,590)  10,129 

Pro昀椀t for the year   5,647,222   16,455,999 

Attributable to: 

Shareholders of Parent Company   5,549,797   16,510,984 

Non - controlling interest   97,425   (54,985)

     5,647,222   16,455,999

 

Earnings per share - basic and diluted (Rupees) 42  3.96   11.78

The annexed notes 1 to 54 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
PROFIT OR LOSS 
For the year ended June 30, 2025

Chief Executive Of昀椀cer Director Chief Financial Officer
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Chief Executive Of昀椀cer Director Chief Financial Officer

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

Pro昀椀t for the year   5,647,220   16,455,999 

Other comprehensive income/(loss): 

Items that will not be reclassi昀椀ed subsequently 

 to pro昀椀t or loss: 

Actuarial loss on remeasurement of post retirement 

 benefits obligations 27.1.4  (297,975)  (753,756)

Related effect of deferred tax   116,210   293,965 

     (181,765)  (459,791)

Items that may be reclassi昀椀ed subsequently 

 to pro昀椀t or loss: 

Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations   129,355   (173,013)

Total comprehensive income for the year   5,594,812   15,823,195 

 

Attributable to: 

Shareholders of Parent Company   5,450,819   15,940,465 

Non - controlling interest   143,993   (117,270)

     5,594,812   15,823,195 

 

The annexed notes 1 to 54 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.   

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended June 30, 2025



161Financial Statements

Chief Executive Of昀椀cer Director Chief Financial Officer

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the year ended June 30, 2025

Equity Attributable to Shareholders of Parent Company

Non - 
controlling 

Interest
Total

Share 
Capital

Capital Reserves Revenue Reserves

Sub
total

Share 
Premium

Employee 
Share Option 
Compensation 

Reserve

Un-
appropriated           

Pro昀椀t

Translation 
Reserve

(Rupees ‘000)

Balance as at July 01, 2023  14,014,469   3,143,605   6,968   26,641,364   –     43,806,406   –     43,806,406 

Non – controlling interest on acquisition 

 of subsidiaries  –     –     –     –     –     –     1,454,100   1,454,100 

Profit for the year  –     –     –     16,510,984   – 16,510,984   (54,985)  16,455,999 

Other comprehensive loss  –     –     –     (459,791)  (110,728)  (570,519)  (62,285)  (632,804)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  –     –     –     16,051,193   (110,728)  15,940,465   (117,270)  15,823,195 

Transaction cost on issuance of cash shares  –     (34)  –     –     –     (34)  –     (34)

Employee share option scheme (ESOS)  –     –     4,187   –     –     4,187   –     4,187 

Forfeited share options  –     –     (10,119)  10,119   –     –     –     –   

Transactions with owners: 

Shares issued under employee share 

 option scheme  2,626   15,163   (1,036)  –     –     16,753   –     16,753 

Final cash dividend @ Rs. 2 per share  

 for the year ended June 30, 2023  –     –     –     (2,802,894)  –     (2,802,894)  –     (2,802,894)

Interim cash dividend @ Rs. 2 per share  

 for the year ended June 30, 2024  –     –     –     (2,803,419)  –     (2,803,419)  (11,158)  (2,814,577)

Balance as at June 30, 2024  14,017,095   3,158,734   –     37,096,363   (110,728)  54,161,464   1,325,672   55,487,136 

Profit for the year  –     –     –     5,549,797   –     5,549,797   97,425   5,647,222 

Other comprehensive income/(loss)  –     –     –     (181,765)  82,787   (98,978)  46,568  (52,410)

Total comprehensive income for the year  –     –     –     5,368,032   82,787   5,450,819   143,993   5,594,812 

Transactions with owners: 

Final cash dividend @ Rs. 2.5 per share  

 for the year ended June 30, 2024  –     –     –     (3,504,274)  –     (3,504,274)  –     (3,504,274)

Balance as at June 30, 2025  14,017,095   3,158,734   –     38,960,121   (27,941)  56,108,009   1,469,665   57,577,674 

          

The annexed notes 1 to 54 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

a) CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

 Pro昀椀t before income tax and levies   9,086,244   18,492,081 

 Adjustments for: 

 Depreciation  7.1.2  7,051,589   4,464,195 
 Amortization 8.2  78,300   73,332 
 Depreciation on right of use assets 7.3.1  183,638   95,501 
 Workers’ welfare fund 37  179,317   363,416 
 Workers’ profit participation fund 37  463,465   943,788 
 Staff retirement gratuity  27.1.3  3,559,300   2,796,402 
 Employee share option compensation expense   –     4,187 
 Loss on disposal of non current assets 37.1  136,066   28,232 
 Exchange gain – net 38  (130,762)  (23,026)
 Provision for obsolete inventory 37  30,489   48,274 
 Realized gain on derivative financial instruments 38  (288,794)  (442,679)
 Unrealized loss/(gain) on derivative financial instruments 37 & 38  13,056   (59,248)
 Dividend income 38  (22,927)  –   
 Gain on acquisition of subsidiaries   –     (857,304)
 Profit on term finance certificates (TFCs) 38  (84,058)  (118,072)
 Finance cost 39  9,562,239   10,156,373 

 Operating cash 昀氀ows before working capital changes   29,817,162   35,965,452 

 Changes in working capital 

 (Increase)/decrease in current assets 

  Stores and spares   (291,838)  (693,450)
  Stock in trade   158,419   (6,758,180)
  Trade debts   (7,750,336)  (6,382,438)
  Loans and advances   (334,127)  280,822 
  Deposits, prepayments and other receivables   190,472   906,842 
  Refunds due from Government and statutory authorities   (3,031,534)  (2,190,538)

 Increase in current liabilities 

  Trade and other payables   901,698   1,947,953 

     (10,157,246)  (12,888,989)

 Cash generated from operations   19,659,916   23,076,463 

  Finance cost paid   (11,165,021)  (9,234,081)
  Income tax paid   (3,804,693)  (2,271,713)
  Staff retirement gratuity paid 27.1.1  (839,114)  (734,428)
  Workers’ profit participation fund paid 28.6  (975,836)  (1,154,741)
  Workers’ welfare fund paid 28.7  (90,000)  –   
  Long term loans paid   (121,683)  (50,776)
  Long term deposits paid   (6,030)  (7,750)
  Settlement of derivative financial instruments   288,794   442,679 
  Exchange gain – net   225,445  71,553 

 Net cash generated from operating activities  3,171,778   10,137,206

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended June 30, 2025
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Chief Executive Of昀椀cer Director Chief Financial Officer

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

b) CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

 Additions in: 
    Property, plant and equipment   (21,833,497)  (15,544,081)
    Intangible assets   (114,384)  (133,423)
 Proceeds from disposal of non current assets   282,739   155,735 
 Long term investments – net   (6,491)  200,257 
 Profit on term finance certificates (TFCs) received   84,678   118,198 
 Dividend received   22,927   –   

 Net cash used in investing activities   (21,564,028)  (15,203,314)

c) CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  

 Long term financing obtained   16,332,285   3,568,165 
 Repayment of long term financing   (4,275,344)  (1,974,071)
 Payment of lease rentals 26  (128,975)  (120,659)
 Changes in short term borrowings – net   9,508,858   7,173,501 
 Share capital issued   –     2,626 
 Share premium net of transaction cost   –     14,093 
 Dividend paid   (3,504,239)  (5,618,468)

 Net cash generated from 昀椀nancing activities   17,932,585   3,045,187 

 Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (a+b+c)  (459,665) (2,020,921)

 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year   1,510,910   1,544,502 

 Cash and cash equivalents on acquisition of subsidiaries   –     2,053,571 

 Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   37,089   (66,242) 

 Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 20  1,088,334   1,510,910 
     
The annexed notes 1 to 54 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.   
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1. THE GROUP AND ITS OPERATIONS 

 The “Group” comprises of: 

 Interloop Limited - The Holding Company 

 Interloop Limited (the Holding Company) was incorporated in Pakistan on April 25, 1992 and publicly listed 
on Pakistan Stock Exchange on April 5, 2019. The registered office of the Holding Company is situated at 15-
A, Peoples Colony No. 1, Faisalabad, Pakistan. The manufacturing facilities are located at 1-km, 6-km, 7-km 
Jaranwala Road, Khurrianwala, Faisalabad and 8-km Manga Mandi, Raiwand Road, Lahore. The Holding Company 
is a vertically integrated multi-category Full Family Clothing, manufacturing Hosiery, Denim, Knitted Apparel and 
Seamless Active wear, for top international brands and retailers, besides producing yarns for a range of textile 
customers. The Holding Company’s commitment to environmental, social responsibility & governance (ESG) is 
deeply rooted in its mission and has gained it global recognition as a pioneer in responsible manufacturing. The 
Holding Company’s diverse & engaged workforce and operational excellence has established it as a Partner of 
Choice for its customers. 

 Top Circle Hosiery Mills Co., Inc. -  The Subsidiary Company (Holding- 64% (2024: 64%))

 Top Circle Hosiery Mills Co., Inc. was incorporated in 1992. The registered office of the company is situated at 
329 Franklin St. Weissport, PA, USA and manufacturing facility is located in 800 Quyang Road, Shanghai, China. 
The principle business activity is manufacturing and trading of highest quality hosiery products. The company has 
100% equity stake directly and indirectly in following companies; 

 
–  Shanghai Haolu Trading Co., Ltd 

– Pinghu Top Circle Knitting Co., Ltd 

– Zhejiang Top Circle Textiles Co., Ltd 

– Shanghai Chenzhou Industry Co., Ltd 

– Haolu Trading USA Co., Inc. 
 
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

2.1 Statement of compliance 

 These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and 
reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan. The accounting and reporting standards applicable in 
Pakistan comprise of:  

 
– International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Standards) issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board (IASB) as notified under the Companies Act, 2017; 
 
– Islamic Financial Accounting Standards (IFAS) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 

Pakistan as are notified under the Companies Act, 2017; and 
 
– Provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017. 

 
 Where the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 differ from the IFRS 

Standards or IFAS, the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 have been 
followed.

2.2 Basis of measurement 

 These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except 
as otherwise stated in the respective accounting policy information notes. In these consolidated financial 
statements, all the transactions are recorded on actual basis except for the statement of cash flows.

2.3 Functional and presentation currency 

 These consolidated financial statements are presented in Pakistani Rupee which is also the Holding 
Company’s functional currency. 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended June 30, 2025
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3. BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION 

 Subsidiaries 

 Subsidiaries are the entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is 
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the 
date on which control is transferred to the Group and is deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

 The assets and liabilities of Subsidiary Companies have been consolidated on a line by line basis and carrying 
value of investments held by the Holding Company is eliminated against Holding Company’s share in paid up 
capital of the Subsidiary Companies. 

 
 Intragroup balances and transactions have been eliminated. 
 
 Non-controlling interests are that part of net results of the operations and of net assets of Subsidiary Companies 

attributable to interest which are not owned by the Holding Company. Non-controlling interests are presented as 
separate item in the consolidated financial statements.

4. NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS, AMENDMENTS AND IMPROVEMENTS 

4.1 Standards, interpretations and amendments to approved accounting standards which became 
effective during the year 

 There are certain amendments to the accounting and reporting standards which became effective during 
the year and are adopted by the Group for the financial year beginning on July 01, 2024. However, these 
amendments do not have any significant impact on the Group’s financial reporting.  

 
– Amendments to IAS 1 – ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ 

 Classi昀椀cation of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and Non-current Liabilities with 
Covenants 

 (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024) 
 
 The amendments aim to enhance consistency in classifying liabilities in the statement of financial 

position, particularly where the timing of settlement is uncertain. They clarify that classification 
depends on whether the entity has a right to defer settlement at the end of the reporting period, 
regardless of expectations of settlement. In addition, the amendments address non-current 
liabilities with covenants that must be complied with within twelve months after the reporting date. 
Only covenants with which an entity is required to comply on or before the reporting date affect the 
classification of a liability as current or non-current. Entities are now required to provide enhanced 
disclosures to help users assess the risk of early repayment if those covenants are not met.

– Amendments to IFRS 16 – ‘Leases’ 

 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 

 (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024) 
 
 The amendments clarify the requirements for a seller-lessee in a sale and leaseback transaction, 

particularly in relation to the subsequent measurement of lease liabilities and recognition of any 
gains or losses. These amendments ensure that the seller-lessee continues to account for the 
lease liability arising from the leaseback in a way that does not recognize any gain relating to the 
right of use retained. The new requirements do not prevent a seller-lessee from recognizing in 
profit or loss any gain or loss relating to the partial or full termination of a lease. A seller-lessee 
applies the amendments retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors to sale and leaseback transactions entered into after the date of 
initial application.
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– Amendments to IAS 7 – ‘Statement of Cash Flows’ and IFRS 7 – ‘Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures’ 

 Supplier Finance Arrangements, disclosure requirements to enhance the transparency of 
supplier 昀椀nance arrangements and their effects on a Company’s liabilities, cash 昀氀ows and 
exposure to liquidity risk 

 (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024) 
 
 These amendments introduce new disclosure requirements that are supplement to existing 

disclosure requirements to IFRS accounting standards and are aimed at enhancing the transparency 
of supplier finance arrangements. These require a Company to disclose;  

 
i) the terms and conditions of arrangements; 

ii) the amount of the liabilities that are part of the arrangements, breaking out the amounts for 
which the suppliers have already received payment from the finance providers, and stating 
where the liabilities stand on the statement of financial position; 

iii) ranges of payment due dates; 

iv) liquidity risk information. 
 
 The adoption of above amendments have no material impact on these consolidated financial 

statements other than presentation and disclosures. 
 
4.2 Standards, interpretations, amendments and improvements to approved accounting standards 

that are issued but not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group 

 The following standards, amendments and improvements with respect to the approved accounting 
standards as applicable in Pakistan would be effective from the dates mentioned below and have not 
been early adopted by the Group:

  Effective date 
  (Annual periods  
Standards Interpretations and Amendments beginning on or after) 

IAS 21 ‘The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates’,
 Lack of exchangeability — (Amendments) 01 January 2025

IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’, To address 
 matters identified during the post-implementation 
 review of the classification and measurement 
 requirements of IFRS 9 — (Amendments) 01 January 2026 

IFRS 7  ‘Financial Instruments’ and ‘Financial 
IFRS 9 instruments: Disclosures’, Contracts Referencing 
 Nature-dependent Electricity — (Amendments) 01 January 2026 

IFRS 17 ‘Insurance contracts’ 01 January 2026 

Annual  Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting
Improvements Standards — Volume 11 (related to IFRS 1, IFRS 7, 
 IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7) 01 January 2026 

IFRS S1 ‘General Requirements for Disclosure of 
 Sustainability-Related Financial Information’ 01 July 2025

IFRS S2 ‘Climate-Related Disclosures’ 01 July 2025

 Further, the following new standards have been issued by IASB and ISSB which are yet to be notified by 
the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) for the purpose of applicability in Pakistan:
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Standard  

IFRS 1 First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards 
IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 
IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures 

 
 The management expects that the adoption of above standards, amendments and improvements will 

not have any material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements except for presentation 
and disclosures.

5. KEY JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES 

 The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with the approved accounting standards 
require management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting 
policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments about carrying values 
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates.

 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods. Judgments made by management in application of the approved 
accounting standards that have significant effect on the financial statements and estimates with a significant 
risk of material adjustments in the next year are discussed in respective policy notes. The areas where various 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the Group’s consolidated financial statements or where judgment 
was exercised in application of accounting policies are as follows: 

 
– Estimate of useful life of operating fixed assets - note 6.1 
– Estimated useful life of intangible assets - note 6.3 
– Impairment of non-financial assets - note 6.4 
– Stores and spares - note 6.5 
– Stock-in-trade - note 6.6 
– Estimates for expected credit loss (ECL) of financial assets i.e. trade debts and other receivables- note 

6.7
– Estimation used in right of use asset and corresponding lease liability - note 6.9 
– Staff retirement benefits - note 6.11 
– Provisions - note 6.16 
– Contingencies  - note 6.17 
– Estimates as to expected value or most likely amount method for determination of variable consideration  

of transaction price - note 6.19
– Taxation - note 6.21 
– Derivative financial instruments - note 6.26 
– Impairment of Financial Assets - note 6.26 

 
6. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 

 The material accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
consolidated financial statements. 

 
6.1 Operating 昀椀xed assets and depreciation 

 Operating fixed assets, except freehold land which is stated at cost, are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and identified accumulated impairment loss, if any. Cost comprises acquisition and other 
directly attributable costs. 

 
 Depreciation is calculated on reducing balance method at the rates stated in note - 7.1 of these 

consolidated financial statements. The useful life and residual value of major components of operating 
fixed assets are reviewed annually to determine that expectations are not significantly different from 
the previous estimates. Adjustment in depreciation rate for current and future periods is made if 
expectations are significantly different from the previous estimates. Depreciation is charged from the 
month when an asset becomes available for use, whereas no depreciation is charged in the month of its 
disposal. 
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 Expenditure, which enhances or extends the performance of operating fixed assets beyond its original 
specification and its useful life, is recognized as a capital expenditure and is added to the cost of the 
relevant category of operating fixed assets. These are depreciated on reducing balance method at the 
rate mentioned in note - 7.1. 

 
 An item of operating fixed asset and any significant part initially recognized is derecognized upon disposal 

or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use. The gain or loss arising on derecognition 
of an item of operating fixed asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the 
carrying amounts of the asset and is recognized in the statement of profit or loss.  

 
6.2 Capital work in progress 

 Capital work in progress is stated at cost less identified impairment loss, if any,  and represents direct 
cost of material, labour, applicable overheads and borrowing costs on qualifying assets. Transfers are 
made to relevant category of property, plant and equipment as and when assets are available for its 
intended use.  

 
6.3 Intangible assets - Computer software 

 Intangible assets are recognized if it is probable that future economic benefits attributable to the assets 
will flow to the Group and that the cost of such assets can be measured reliably. These are stated at cost 
less accumulated amortization and impairment, if any. 

 
 Costs that are directly associated with identifiable software and have probable economic benefits 

exceeding one year, are recognized as intangible asset at the time of initial recognition. Direct costs 
include the purchase cost of software, implementation cost and related overhead cost. 

 
 Expenditure, which enhances or extends the performance of computer software beyond its original 

specification and useful life, is recognized as a capital expenditure and added to the cost of the software. 

 Intangible assets are amortized using the reducing balance method at the rates given in note - 8.1 
of these consolidated financial statements. Amortization on additions is charged from the month in 
which an intangible asset is available for use, while no amortization is charged for the month in which 
intangible asset is disposed off. 

 
 The carrying value of intangible assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and 
where the carrying value exceeds the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down to 
their recoverable amount. 

 
6.3.1 Development costs 

 Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique 
software products controlled by the Group are recognized as development cost in intangible assets. 
Directly attributable costs that are capitalized as part of the software include advance payments for the 
software. Capitalized development costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortized from the point 
at which the asset is ready for use. 

 
6.4 Impairment of non-昀椀nancial assets 

 The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than stock in trade and stores & spares, 
are assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any 
such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets 
that have indefinite lives or that are not yet available for use, recoverable amount is assessed at each 
reporting date. 

 
 An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds 

its recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates 
cash flows that largely are independent from other assets and groups. 
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 Impairment losses are recognized as expense in consolidated statement of profit or loss. Impairment 
losses recognized in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount 
of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets of the 
unit on a pro-rata basis. Impairment losses on goodwill shall not be reversed. 

 
 An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 

recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized. Prior impairments of non-financial assets are 
reviewed for possible reversal at each reporting date. 

 
6.5 Stores and spares 

 Stores and spares are carried at moving average cost. Provision is made for slow moving and obsolete 
store items when so identified. Stores and spares held for capital expenditure are included in capital 
work in progress. 

 
6.6 Stock-in-trade 

 These are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV). The methods used for the calculation 
of cost are as follows: 

 
Raw material – At factory Moving average cost 

                      – In transit Invoice value plus direct charges in respect thereof. 

Work in process and finished goods Prime cost including a proportion of production 
overheads. 

 Wastes     Net realizable value. 
 
 Stock-in-trade is regularly reviewed by the management and any obsolete items are brought down to 

their net realizable value. Net realizable value signifies the selling price in the ordinary course of business 
less costs necessary to be incurred to affect such sale.

6.7 Trade debts and other receivables 

 Trade debts are recognized and carried at the original invoice amounts, being the fair value, less 
allowance for expected credit loss, if any. For measurement of loss allowance for trade debts, the Group 
applies simplified approach to measure the expected credit loss as required by IFRS 9. 

 
 Other receivables are recognized at amortized cost, less any allowance for expected credit loss. 
 
6.8 Cash and cash equivalents 

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash in hand, cheques in hand/cheques overdrawn, balances 
with banks and include short term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or 
less. The cash and cash equivalents are readily convertible to known amount of cash and are subject to 
insignificant risk of change in value.

6.9 Leases 

 Right of use assets 

 At inception, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease. This assessment involves the 
exercise of judgement about whether the Group obtains substantially all the economic benefits from the 
use of the asset and whether the Group has a right to direct the use of the asset. The Group recognizes 
right of use assets (RoU) at the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset 
is available for use). Right of use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of RoU includes the 
amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before 
the commencement date less any lease incentives received. 
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 Unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease 
term, the recognized right of use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its 
estimated useful life and the lease term. Depreciation of RoU is charged to statement of profit or loss. 
Residual value and the useful life of an RoU are reviewed at least at each financial year-end and the 
impact on depreciation is adjusted in the statement of profit or loss. Depreciation on additions to RoU 
is charged from the month in which an asset is acquired, while no depreciation is charged for the month 
in which the asset is disposed off. 

 
 Lease liabilities 

 At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognizes lease liabilities measured at the present 
value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments 
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that 
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. 

 
 The related payment obligations, net of finance costs are classified as current and long term liability 

depending upon the timing of the payment. 
 
 In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the 

lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the 
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and 
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured 
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments 
or a change in the assessment to purchase the underlying asset. 

 
 Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost so as to achieve a constant rate 

on the balance outstanding. The interest element of the rental is charged to statement of profit or loss 
over the lease term. 

 
 Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognized on a straight-

line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or 
less and leases of low value items. 

 
6.10 Share capital 

 Ordinary shares are classified as equity and recognized at their face value. Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from 
the proceeds. 

 
6.11 Staff retirement bene昀椀ts 

 The Group operates an unfunded gratuity scheme for all its employees (executives and non executives) 
and also a contributory provident fund for only executive employees of the Group. Executive employees of 
the Group can avail contributory provident fund along with 50% of their entitlement for gratuity. 

 
(a) De昀椀ned bene昀椀t plan 

 The Group operates an un-funded gratuity scheme covering all eligible employees completing the 
minimum qualifying period of service as specified by the scheme. Annual provision is made on the basis 
of actuarial valuation to cover obligations under the scheme for all employees eligible to gratuity benefits 
respective of the qualifying period. The projected unit credit method used for the valuation of the 
scheme is based on assumptions stated in Note 27.1 of these consolidated financial statements. 

 
 The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated by estimating the amount 

of future benefit that employees would have earned in the current and prior periods and discounting 
that amount. The calculation of defined benefit obligations is performed by a qualified actuary using the 
projected unit credit method.  

 
 Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, are 

recognized immediately in other comprehensive income. The Group determines the net interest 
expense on the net defined benefit liability for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure 
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the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the then net defined benefit 
liability, taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability during the period as a result 
of the benefit payments. Net interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plan are 
recognized in consolidated statement of profit or loss. Past service costs are immediately recognized in 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

(b) De昀椀ned contribution plan 

 The Group also operates a contributory provident fund scheme for only executive staff of the Group for 
which contributions are charged to profit or loss as and when incurred.  

 
 Equal monthly contributions are made to the fund, both by the Group and the employees at the rate of 

7.5% of the monthly basic pay. However, employees have the option to contribute more than 7.5% but 
not exceeding 12.5% of the basic pay subject to the written approval of the Board. The assets of the 
fund are held separately under the control of trustees. 

 
(c) Compensated absences 

 The Group provides leave encashment benefit to its executive employees as per the Group policy. 
The executive employees are entitled to 14 days annual leaves per annum. The un-utilized leaves are 
accumulated subject to a maximum of 28 days, any un availed leaves over 28 days lapse. The Group has 
made provision against accumulated leaves of employees on the basis of last drawn salary.

 
6.12 Employees’ Share Option Scheme (ESOS) 

 Equity settled share based payments to the employees are measured at fair value at grant date. The fair 
value determined at grant date of equity settled share based payments is recognized as an employee 
compensation expense on a straight line basis over the vesting period. 

 
 Fair value is measured using the Black-Scholes Pricing model. The expected life used in the model has 

been adjusted, based on the management’s best estimate for the effects of exercise restrictions. 
 
 When a vested option lapses on expiry of exercise period. employee compensation expense already 

recognized in statement of profit and loss is transferred to unappropriated profit from employee share 
option compensation reserve in the statement of changes in equity. 

 
 When options are exercised, employee share option compensation reserve relating to these options 

is transferred to share capital and share premium. An amount equivalent to the face value of related 
shares is transferred to share capital. Any amount over and above the share capital is transferred to share 
premium.

6.13 Government grants 

 Government grants are transfers of resources to an entity by a government entity in return for compliance 
with certain past or future conditions related to the entity’s operating activities - e.g. a government 
subsidy. The definition of “government” refers to governments, government agencies and similar 
bodies, whether local, national or international. 

 
 The Group recognizes government grants when there is reasonable assurance that grants will be received 

and the Group will be able to comply with conditions associated with grants. Government grants are 
recognized at fair value, as deferred income, when there is reasonable assurance that the grants will be 
received and the Group will be able to comply with the conditions associated with the grants. 

 
 Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred, are recognized on a systematic basis in the 

income for the year in which the related expenses are recognized. Grants that compensate for the cost 
of an asset are recognized in income on a systematic basis over the expected useful life of the related 
asset.
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 Government grant includes any benefit earned on account of a government loan obtained at below-
market rate of interest. The loan is initially recognized and subsequently measured at its fair value in 
accordance with IFRS 9. The fair value of the loan would be the present value of loan proceeds received, 
discounted using prevailing market rate of mark-up for a similar instrument. The benefit of below-market 
mark-up (i.e. differential between the loan proceeds and fair value of the loan) is accounted for as 
deferred income - Government grant. In subsequent periods, the loan amount would be accreted by 
the amortized amount of Government grant. The accretion would increase the carrying value of the loan 
with a corresponding effect on the carrying value of Government grant. As per IFRS 9, the loan liability 
and related Government grant shall be derecognized when it is extinguished i.e., these amounts are 
paid-off.

6.14 Trade and other payables 

 Liabilities for trade and other payables are carried at their amortized cost, which approximate fair value 
of the consideration to be paid in future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the 
Group. Exchange gains and losses arising on translation in respect of liabilities in foreign currency are 
added to the carrying amount of the respective liabilities. 

 
6.15 Contract liabilities 

 Contract liability is the obligation of the Group to transfer goods to a customer for which the Group has 
received consideration from the customer. If a customer pays consideration before the Group transfers 
goods, a contract liability is recognized when the payment is made. Contract liabilities are recognized as 
revenue when the Group performs its performance obligations under the contract. 

 
6.16 Provisions 

 Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
past events and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and 
a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.  

 
 Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and are adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If 

it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation, the provisions are reversed. 

 
6.17 Contingencies 

 The Group reviews the status of all pending litigations and claims against the Group. Based on the 
judgment and the advice of the legal advisors for the estimated financial outcome, appropriate 
disclosure or provision is made. The actual outcome of these litigations and claims can have an effect on 
the carrying amounts of the liabilities recognized at the statement of financial position date. 

 
6.18 Foreign currency translation 

 Transactions in foreign currency during the period are initially recorded in the functional currency at 
the rate prevailing at the date of transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at functional currency at the rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date. 
All non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated into rupees at exchange rates prevailing on the 
date of transaction or on date when fair values are determined. Exchange differences are recognized in 
statement of profit or loss. 

 
 On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Pak Rupees at the 

rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their statements of profit or loss are translated at 
average rates prevailing during the year. The exchange differences arising on translation for consolidation 
are recognized in consolidated other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the 
component of consolidated other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
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6.19 Revenue recognition 

 Revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group is expected to be 
entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. For each contract with a customer, 
the Group: identifies the contract with a customer; identifies the performance obligations in the contract; 
determines the transaction price which takes into account estimates of variable consideration and the 
time value of money; allocates the transaction price to the separate performance obligations on the 
basis of the relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or service to be delivered; and 
recognizes revenue when or as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that depicts the 
transfer to the customer of the goods or services promised. 

 
 Variable consideration within the transaction price, if any, reflects concessions provided to the customer 

such as discounts, rebates and refunds, any potential bonuses receivable from the customer and any 
other contingent events. Such estimates are determined using either the ‘expected value’ or ‘most 
likely amount’ method. The measurement of variable consideration is subject to a constraining principle 
whereby revenue will only be recognized to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal 
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur. The measurement constraint continues 
until the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. Amounts 
received that are subject to the constraining principle are initially recognized as deferred revenue in the 
form of a separate refund liability. 

 
a) Sale of goods 

 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized at the point in time when the customer obtains control 
of the goods, which is generally at the time of delivery. Otherwise, control is transferred over time and 
revenue is recognized over time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the 
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met: 

 
– the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s 

performance as the Group performs;
 
– the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group 

performs; or 
 
– the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the 

Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. 
 
b) Rendering of services 

 Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognized over time as the services are rendered. 
 
c) Interest income 

 Interest income is recognized as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method 
of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant 
period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

d) Other revenue 

 Other revenue is recognized when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established.
 
6.20 Borrowing costs 

 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or 
sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time when the assets are substantially ready for 
their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are charged to statement of profit or loss in the 
period of as and when incurred. 
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6.21 Taxation 

 Income tax 

 The charge for current income tax is based on taxable income at current rates of taxation including 
related super tax applicable for companies after taking into account tax credits, rebates and exemptions 
available, if any. The charge for current tax also includes adjustments, where considered necessary, and 
the tax assessed from assessments framed during the year for such years is over/under the provision of 
tax then made. 

 
 The Group designate the amount calculated on taxable income using the notified tax rate as an income 

tax within the scope of IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’ and recognize it as current income tax expense. Any 
excess over the amount designated as income tax, is then recognized as a levy falling under the scope 
of IFRIC 21/IAS 37. 

 
 Levies 

 The Group recognize the charge for minimum and final taxes, calculated under the provisions of the 
Income Tax Ordinance, 2001, as levies. The charge for levies are not based on ‘taxable profit’ as defined 
in IAS 12 but calculated on turnover or other basis as per provisions and applicable tax rates under 
minimum and final tax regime. The charge for levies also includes adjustments, where considered 
necessary, and the tax assessed from assessments framed during the year for such years is over/under 
the provision of tax then made. 

 
 Deferred tax 

 Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences 
arising from differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements 
and the corresponding tax basis used in the computation of taxable income. Deferred tax is calculated 
by using the tax rates enacted at the reporting date. 

 Deferred tax liability is recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax asset is 
recognized for all deductible temporary differences and carry forward of unused tax losses and unused 
tax credits, if any, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which 
these can be utilized. 

 Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit 
will be realized. Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax 
assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together 
with future tax planning strategies. 

 
 Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability 

is settled or the asset is realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date. 

 
 The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow 

from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the 
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 

 
 Deferred tax is charged or credited in the statement of profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates 

to items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also 
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 

 
 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 

assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 
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6.22 Earnings per share 

 The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS 
is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is determined by 
adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

6.23 Dividend 

 Dividend is recognized as a liability in the period in which it is declared. Movement in reserves is 
recognized in the year in which it is approved.  

 
 Final dividend distributions to the Group’s shareholders are recognized as a liability in the consolidated 

financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Group’s shareholders at 
the Annual General Meeting, while interim dividend distributions are recognized in the period in which 
the dividends are declared by the Board of Directors. 

 
6.24 Segment reporting 

 Segment reporting is based on the operating (business) segments of the Group. An operating segment is 
a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur 
expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to the transactions with any of the Group’s other 
components. An operating segment’s operating results are reviewed regularly by the chief operating 
decision maker (‘CODM’) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess 
its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. The CODM, who is responsible 
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as 
the Board of Directors of the Group that makes the strategic decisions.

 
 Segment results that are reported to the CODM include items directly attributable to a segment as well 

as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Those incomes, expenses, assets, liabilities and 
other balances which cannot be allocated to a particular segment on a reasonable basis are reported as 
unallocated.

 Transactions among the business segments are recorded at cost. Inter segment sales and purchases are 
eliminated from the total. 

 
6.25 Related party transactions 

 All transactions with related parties are carried out at arm’s length prices. Each transaction is evaluated 
to be characterized as an ”arm’s length transaction” and approximated to the arm’s length criteria using 
one of the following methodologies:

 
  •  Market-based pricing 
  •  Negotiated pricing 
  •  Cost-based pricing 
 
6.26 Financial instruments: 

6.26.1 Financial assets 

 A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it is held in order to collect contractual cash flows which 
arise on specified dates and that are ‘solely payment of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal 
amount outstanding. A debt investment is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 
if it is held in order to collect contractual cash flows which arise on specified dates that are solely 
principal and interest and as well as selling the asset on the basis of its fair value. All other financial assets 
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss unless the Group makes an irrevocable 
election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on equity instruments in other comprehensive 
income. Despite these requirements, a financial asset may be irrevocably designated as measured at fair 
value through profit or loss to reduce the effect of, or eliminate, an accounting mismatch.  
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 A.  Classi昀椀cation and measurement of 昀椀nancial assets 

 Investments and other 昀椀nancial assets 

 Classi昀椀cation: 

 The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: 
 

–  those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income, or 
through profit or loss), and 

 
–  those to be measured at amortized cost. 

 
 The classification depends on the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the 

contractual terms of the cash flows. In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at 
amortized cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of 
principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the 
SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. The Group’s business model for managing financial 
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.

 For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or other 
comprehensive income. For investments in debt instruments, this will depend on the business model 
in which the investment is held. For investments in equity instruments, this will depend on whether 
the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity 
investment at fair value through other comprehensive income. The Group reclassifies debt investments 
when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes. 

 
 Measurement: 

 At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial 
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit 
or loss are expensed in statement of profit or loss. 

 
 Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether 

their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest. 
 
 Debt instruments 

 Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing 
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into 
which the Group classifies its debt instruments: 

 
 Amortized cost 

 Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent 
solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized cost. Interest income from these 
financial assets is included in other income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss 
arising on derecognition is recognized directly in statement of profit or loss and presented in other 
income / (other operating expenses) together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment 
losses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss. 

 
 Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 

 Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, 
where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at 
FVTOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive income, except for 
the recognition of impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses), interest income and foreign 
exchange gains and losses which are recognized in statement of profit or loss. When the financial asset 
is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income is 
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognized in other income / (other operating expenses). 
Interest income from these financial assets is included in other income using the effective interest rate 
method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in other income/ (other operating expenses) 
and impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss. 
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 Fair value through pro昀椀t or loss 

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets 
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily 
required to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are 
acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Financial assets with cash flows 
that are not solely payments of principal and interest are classified and measured at fair value through 
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be 
classified at amortized cost or at fair value through OCI, as described above, debt instruments may be 
designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly 
reduces, an accounting mismatch. 

 
 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair 

value with net changes in fair value recognized in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
B. Derecognition 

 A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial 
assets) is primarily derecognized when: 

 
 The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or 
 
 The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation 

to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ 
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, 
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, 
but has transferred control of the asset. 

 When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a 
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of 
ownership.

 When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor 
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognize the transferred asset to the extent of 
its continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognizes an associated liability. The transferred 
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the 
Group has retained. 

 
 Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the 

lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the 
Group could be required to repay. 

C. Impairment 

 The Group record an allowance for a forward-looking expected credit loss (ECL) approach for all loans 
and other debt financial assets not held at FVPL. 

 
 ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the 

contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted at an 
approximation to the asset’s original effective interest rate. 

 
 For trade and other receivables, the Group has applied the standard’s simplified approach and has 

calculated ECLs based on lifetime expected credit losses. The Group has established a provision matrix 
that is based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors 
specific to the debtors and the economic environment. However, in certain cases, the Group may also 
consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Group 
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit 
enhancements held by the Group.  
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D. Derivative 昀椀nancial instruments 

 Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value. Any directly attributable transaction costs are recognized 
in the statement of profit or loss as incurred. They are subsequently remeasured at fair value, with all 
gains or losses, realized and unrealized, recognized in the statement of profit or loss.  

 
6.26.2 Financial liabilities 

A. Classi昀椀cation and measurement 

 Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective 
hedge, as appropriate. 

 
 All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and 

payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.
 
i) Financial liabilities at fair value through pro昀椀t or loss 

 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and 
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Gains or 
losses on liabilities held for trading are recognized in the statement of profit or loss. Financial liabilities 
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the initial date 
of recognition, and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. The Group has not designated any financial 
liability as at fair value through profit or loss.

ii) Loans and borrowings 

 This is the category most relevant to the Group. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are 
recognized in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the 
EIR amortization process. 

 
 Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees 

or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included as finance costs in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

 
 This category generally applies to interest-bearing loans and borrowings. 
 
B. Derecognition 

 A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or 
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. 
The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the statement of profit or loss. 

 
6.26.3 Offsetting of 昀椀nancial assets and liabilities 

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are set off and the net amount is reported in the consolidated 
financial statements when there is a legally enforceable right to set off and the Group intends either to 
settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and to settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 Operating fixed assets 7.1  74,380,911   48,407,540 
 Capital work in progress 7.2  9,304,294   20,951,795 
 Right of use assets 7.3  365,640   242,435 

    84,050,845   69,601,770

7.1  Operating 昀椀xed assets  

2025

 Description

 Cost Depreciation  W.D.V 

Rate
%

 As On  
July 1, 
2024

Additions   Deletions 
Exchange 

gain

As on 
June 30, 

2025

As on  
July 1, 
2024 

For the 
year

Adjustments
As on  

June 30, 
2025

As on  
June 30, 

2025

(Rupees ‘000)

 Owned 

 Freehold land  2,684,961   869,341   –     271   3,554,573   –     –     –     –     3,554,573   –

 Buildings on freehold land  20,909,385   5,601,379   –     28,632   26,539,396   5,714,368   1,776,009   –     7,490,377   19,049,019  10

 Buildings on leasehold land  225,811   4,692   –     –     230,503   62,484   16,684   –     79,168   151,335  10

 Plant and machinery  38,969,002   19,731,509   (463,999)  27,237   58,263,749   15,903,900   3,701,478   (237,347)  19,368,031   38,895,718  10

 Tools and equipment  2,626,731   1,747,444   (10,149)  –     4,364,026   980,854   294,664   (5,637)  1,269,881   3,094,145  10

 Office equipment  1,523,324   755,673   (19,729)  585   2,259,853   805,479   247,102   (13,267)  1,039,314   1,220,539  20

 Electric installations  4,154,854   2,790,561   (20,907)  –     6,924,508   1,474,137   471,320   (15,330)  1,930,127   4,994,381  10

 Furniture and fixtures  1,229,964   968,754   (5,004)  –     2,193,714   410,857   156,643   (3,346)  564,154   1,629,560  10

 Vehicles  2,276,419   911,828   (338,907)  1,215   2,850,555   840,832   387,689   (169,607)  1,058,914   1,791,641  20

  Total   74,600,451   33,381,181   (858,695)  57,940   107,180,877   26,192,911   7,051,589   (444,534)  32,799,966   74,380,911 

2024

 Description

 Cost Depreciation  W.D.V 

Rate
%

 As On  
July 1, 
2023

Transfer on 
acquisition 

of 
subsidiaries

Additions   Deletions 
Exchange 

loss

As on 
June 30, 

2024

As on  
July 1, 
2023

Transfer on 
acquisition 

of 
subsidiaries

For the year Adjustments
As on  

June 30, 
2024

As on  
June 30, 

2024

(Rupees ‘000)

 Owned 

 Freehold land  2,651,715   8,374   25,240   –     (368)  2,684,961   –     –     –     –     –     2,684,961   –   

 Buildings on 

    freehold land  11,121,222   1,190,388   8,638,517   (390)  (40,352)  20,909,385   4,250,473   252,688   1,211,275   (68)  5,714,368   15,195,017  10

 Buildings on 

    leasehold land  233,051   –     1,140   (8,380)  –     225,811   47,929   –     18,399   (3,844)  62,484   163,327  10

 Plant and machinery  30,264,956   2,002,839   6,938,419   (197,169)  (40,043)  38,969,002   12,733,111   1,060,504   2,273,119   (162,834)  15,903,900   23,065,102  10

 Tools and equipment  2,357,623   –     273,945   (4,837)  –     2,626,731   813,529   –     169,552   (2,227)  980,854   1,645,877  10

 Office equipment  1,127,693   157,706   259,726   (20,973)  (828)  1,523,324   533,096   133,025   151,925   (12,567)  805,479   717,845  20

 Electric installations  3,767,795   –     392,403   (5,344)  –     4,154,854   1,215,359   –     261,336   (2,558)  1,474,137   2,680,717  10

 Furniture and fixtures  1,038,088   –     204,264   (12,388)  –     1,229,964   336,198   –     81,984   (7,325)  410,857   819,107  10

 Vehicles  1,408,380   293,846   849,254   (272,778)  (2,283)  2,276,419   452,760   238,091   296,605   (146,624)  840,832   1,435,587  20

  Total   53,970,523   3,653,153   17,582,908   (522,259)  (83,874)  74,600,451   20,382,455   1,684,308   4,464,195   (338,047)  26,192,911   48,407,540  
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7.1.1 The detail of operating 昀椀xed assets disposed / written off during the year are as follows: 

Description  Cost 
Accumulated 
Depreciation

Book 
Value

Sale 
Proceeds

Gain / 
(Loss)

Mode of 
Disposal

Relationship of Buyer 
with the Company

Particulars of Buyers

(Rupees ‘000)

 
 Assets having book value exceeding 

 Rs. 500,000 each

 Plant and Machinery 

 Boarding Machines - Tecnopea - Ghibli  34,361   27,534   6,827   2,542   (4,285) Negotiation Independent Third Party Al-Mushtaq Corporation, Opposite Multan Golf
            City, Sher Shah Road, Multan Cantt.
 Filament Dyeing Machine - Allwin - 
    2054A-208 KGs  40,032   5,792   34,240   48,011   13,771  Negotiation Independent Third Party Fong’s National Dyeing and Finishing Machinery
            Co., Ltd. 
 Knitting Machine - Lonati - L-462- L-462J  54,230   9,894   44,336   8,100   (36,236) Negotiation Independent Third Party Aartexx Mills, Chak # 245 RB, Abbas Pur, Jhang 
            Road, Faisalabad.
 Knitting Machines - Lonati - L474J  1,677   124   1,553   300   (1,253) Negotiation Independent Third Party Aartexx Mills, Chak # 245 RB, Abbas Pur, Jhang 
            Road, Faisalabad.
 Knitting Machines - Lonati   - L454J  38,420   2,833   35,587   8,100   (27,487) Negotiation Independent Third Party Aartexx Mills, Chak # 245 RB, Abbas Pur, Jhang 
            Road, Faisalabad.
 Knitting Machines - Lonati - FL54J  2,373   119   2,254   216   (2,038) Negotiation Independent Third Party Fine Knit Enterprises, Ismaeel Road, Opp. Sitara 
            Sapna City, Main Daewoo Road, Fsd.
 Knitting Machines - Lonati - L454J  7,218   361   6,857   720   (6,137) Negotiation Independent Third Party Fine Knit Enterprises, Ismaeel Road, Opp. Sitara 
            Sapna City, Main Daewoo Road, Fsd.
 Knitting Machines - Lonati - L472  6,442   322   6,120   504   (5,616) Negotiation Independent Third Party Fine Knit Enterprises, Ismaeel Road, Opp. Sitara 
            Sapna City, Main Daewoo Road, Fsd.
 Knitting Machines - Lonati - L474- L474J  36,519   1,826   34,693   2,809   (31,884) Negotiation Independent Third Party Fine Knit Enterprises, Ismaeel Road, Opp. Sitara 
            Sapna City, Main Daewoo Road, Fsd.
 Sub Total  221,272   48,805   172,467   71,302   (101,165) 

 Tools and Equipments 

 Spectro Photometer - Processing Lab  6,613   4,112   2,501   3   (2,498) Negotiation Independent Third Party Al-Mushtaq Corporation, Opposite Multan Golf 
           City, Sher Shah Road, Multan Cantt.
 Fire Alarm System - LIFCO UK  1,326   764   562   2   (560) Negotiation Independent Third Party Al-Mushtaq Corporation, Opposite Multan Golf 
           City, Sher Shah Road, Multan Cantt.
 Sub Total  7,939   4,876   3,063   5   (3,058) 

 Electric Installations 
 Outdoor Condensing Unit - Haier 
   30.14 Tons - AV44NMMEUB  2,816   1,528   1,288   29   (1,259) Negotiation Independent Third Party Al-Mushtaq Corporation, Opposite Multan Golf
            City, Sher Shah Road, Multan Cantt.
 Outdoor Condensing Unit - Haier 
   27.30 Tons - AV40NMMEUB  2,351   1,275   1,076   29   (1,047) Negotiation Independent Third Party Al-Mushtaq Corporation, Opposite Multan Golf 
           City, Sher Shah Road, Multan Cantt.
 HD-I Unit - I Main Building - HT LT  7,645   6,697   948   121   (827) Negotiation Independent Third Party Mr. Muhammad Rizwan - Faisalabad.

 Sub Total  12,812   9,500   3,312   179   (3,133) 

 Furniture and Fixtures 

 Storage Racks and Pallets  3,250   2,297   953   67   (886) Negotiation Independent Third Party Al-Mushtaq Corporation, Opposite Multan Golf
           City, Sher Shah Road, Multan Cantt.
 Vehicles 

 BMW 530-E   21,012   14,815   6,197   6,197   –     Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Tariq Rashid Malik
 Toyota - Yaris Ativ Cvt 1.3   5,189   1,081   4,108   4,500   392   Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Mubashar Shafiq
 Toyota Fortuner   9,596   5,618   3,978   1,597   (2,381)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Feroze Ahmed
 KIA Sportage   5,580   3,294   2,286   1,425   (861)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Waheed Iqbal 
 Honda Civic   4,127   2,323   1,804   1,497   (307)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Jamshaid Iqbal
 Toyota Corolla Altis Grande   4,175   2,379   1,796   1,017   (779)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Waqas Ahmad Gill
 Toyota - Corolla Grande Cvt  4,076   2,328   1,748   1,497   (251)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Ghulam Qasim Shaheen
 Toyota Corolla Altis   3,566   2,028   1,538   812   (726)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Shahid Mahmood
 Toyota - Yaris 1.3 Ativ Mt   2,786   1,262   1,524   1,550   26   Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Sajjad Ahmad Shah
 Toyota Altis   3,512   2,003   1,509   712   (797)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Irfan Saeed
 Toyota Altis   3,403   1,966   1,437   1,121   (316)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Awais Asghar
 Corolla Altis 1.6L   3,483   2,046   1,437   712   (725)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Altaf Rasool
 Honda Civic   3,961   2,550   1,411   876   (535)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Fahid Hussain Kahlon
 Honda City Aspire   3,007   1,621   1,386   1,121   (265)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Saeed Hassan Bhatti
 Toyota Yaris Ativ   3,175   1,810   1,365   1,017   (348)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Rizwan Zahid
 Honda BRV  3,256   1,910   1,346   1,105   (241)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Humayun Javed Khan
 Toyota Corolla Altis   3,286   1,940   1,346   1,021   (325)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Aftab Ahmad Gondal
 Toyota Yaris   3,104   1,769   1,335   812   (523)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Abid Bilal
 Toyota Yaris 1.5   3,104   1,770   1,334   1,017   (317)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Waqas Ahsan
 Toyota Yaris 1.3H Mt   2,787   1,500   1,287   812   (475)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Ghulam Murtaza
 Honda City Pt   2,943   1,674   1,269   798   (471)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Imtiaz Ahmad
 Toyota Yaris 1.3H Cvt   2,890   1,629   1,261   436   (825)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Jamshed Khalid
 Toyota Yaris 1.5   3,036   1,781   1,255   1,017   (238)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Abid Ali Gill
 Toyota Yaris   2,869   1,615   1,254   812   (442)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Amjad Farooq
 Toyota Yaris 1.5X   3,065   1,818   1,247   712   (535)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Saad Mahmood
 Toyota Yaris  2,921   1,687   1,234   1,017   (217)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Imran Riaz
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 Toyota Yaris 1.5L  2,997   1,755   1,242   1,017   (225)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Rafique
 Toyota Yaris 1.3   2,868   1,628   1,240   812   (428)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Safdar Ali
 Toyota Yaris   2,868   1,631   1,237   812   (425)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Ghazala Kanwal
 Toyota Yaris 1.3H Mt   2,803   1,578   1,225   812   (413)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Ateeq Ur Rehman
 Toyota Yaris   2,880   1,664   1,216   798   (418)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Danish Shafiq
 Honda City - Aspire Pt  2,934   1,719   1,215   1,001   (214)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Saboor Abid
 Toyota Yaris 1.3H Cvt  2,830   1,637   1,193   712   (481)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Fahim
 Toyota Yaris Cvt   2,834   1,660   1,174   712   (462)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Shakeel Anwar Khan
 Toyota Yaris   2,824   1,649   1,175   1,001   (174)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Mian Muhammad Tahir
 Toyota Corolla Altis  3,290   2,139   1,151   476   (675)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Amjad Mahmood Vaince
 Toyota Yaris 1.3L  2,718   1,570   1,148   812   (336)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Tanzeel Ur Rehman
 Honda - City Mts   2,579   1,447   1,132   712   (420)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Toufique
 Toyota Yaris Gli  2,565   1,463   1,102   712   (390)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Afzal
 Suzuki Swift  2,201   1,105   1,096   1,100   4   Company Policy  Company Employee Ms. Sana Ehsan
 Honda BRV  3,153   2,068   1,085   691   (394)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Fauz Ul Azeem
 Suzuki Cultus  1,815   808   1,007   1,010   3   Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Zain Amjad
 Suzuki Swift - Dlx A/T   2,201   1,242   959   859   (100)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Ayub
 Suzuki Swift  2,193   1,267   926   798   (128)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Salman Khalil
 Honda City   2,795   1,885   910   436   (474)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Rehan Saleem
 Suzuki Cultus Vxl  2,010   1,095   915   712   (203)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Ayub
 Suzuki Cultus   2,010   1,095   915   712   (203)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Rasheed Ahmad
 KIA Picanto  2,114   1,205   909   712   (197)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Kashif Javaid
 KIA Picanto  2,122   1,226   896   712   (184)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Junaid Khalid
 KIA Picanto  2,114   1,221   893   712   (181)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Boota Muhammad Mushtaq
 Suzuki Cultus Vxl  2,010   1,118   892   712   (180)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Shahbaz
 Toyota Corolla Xli M/T   2,613   1,721   892   633   (259)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Shafique
 Suzuki Cultus AGS  2,071   1,181   890   712   (178)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Wasiud Din
 KIA Picanto  2,111   1,236   875   712   (163)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Ijaz Hussain
 Suzuki Cultus Vxl  2,071   1,198   873   712   (161)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Mussanis Raza
 Honda City Pt 1500Cc   2,613   1,753   860   712   (148)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Shahid Imran
 Suzuki Wagon R AGS  1,934   1,076   858   712   (146)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Ali Javaid
 Suzuki Cultus Vxl   1,940   1,092   848   712   (136)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Usman Akram Khan
 KIA Picanto  1,962   1,119   843   712   (131)  Company Policy  Company Employee Ms. Maimoona Jameel
 Suzuki Cultus Vxl   2,010   1,170   840   712   (128)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Maqbool Alam Baig
 Honda City Mts  2,438   1,599   839   499   (340)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Naveed Ur Rehman
 KIA Picanto   1,962   1,134   828   712   (116)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Omer Ali Bhatti
 Honda City  2,441   1,616   825   499   (326)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Atif Haved
 Suzuki Cultus Vxl  1,940   1,121   819   712   (107)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Sajjad Akbar
 Suzuki Cultus Vxr   1,875   1,059   816   712   (104)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Mudassar Salman
 Honda City Mts 1339Cc  2,384   1,580   804   436   (368)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Touqeer Qamar
 Suzuki Cultus Vxl   1,940   1,136   804   712   (92)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Haseeb Ahmad
 Suzuki Cultus Vxr  1,819   1,027   792   712   (80)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Rizwan
 Honda City Mts  2,381   1,595   786   436   (350)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Muzaffar Iqbal
 Suzuki Cultus Vxr  1,818   1,040   778   712   (66)  Company Policy  Company Employee Ms. Arshia Zia
 Suzuki Cultus Vxr   1,819   1,052   767   712   (55)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Azam
 Suzuki Cultus   1,819   1,056   763   712   (51)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Shahid Aslam
 Suzuki Cultus Vxr   1,818   1,067   751   712   (39)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Zubair Afzal
 Honda City    2,441   1,721   720   499   (221)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Abdul Nasir Minhas
 Suzuki Swift Dlax A/T   1,255   559   696   436   (260)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mrs. Afsheen Adnan
 KIA Picanto   2,038   1,350   688   436   (252)  Company Policy  Company Employee Ms. Muniba Rashid
 Suzuki Cultus  1,903   1,238   665   436   (229)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Jumshaid Nisar
 Suzuki Swift  1,953   1,294   659   476   (183)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Imran
 Suzuki Cultus Vxl   1,893   1,253   640   436   (204)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Shabbir Ahmad
 Suzuki Cultus Vxl   1,893   1,253   640   436   (204)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Muhammad Naeem Akhtar
 Suzuki Cultus Vxl   1,903   1,267   636   436   (200)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Asghar Ali
 Suzuki Cultus Vxl   1,893   1,267   626   436   (190)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Raza Ul Mustafa
 Suzuki Cultus Vxl   1,893   1,277   616   436   (180)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Zahid Latif
 Suzuki Cultus Vxr   1,784   1,170   614   436   (178)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Umair Javed
 Suzuki Cultus Vxr  1,792   1,186   606   436   (170)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Umair Qamar
 Suzuki Cultus Vxr   1,782   1,206   576   436   (140)  Company Policy  Company Employee Mr. Bilal Anwar Minhas
 Toyota Yaris 1.3 Cvt Ativ   3,171   1,508   1,663   1,675   12   Negotiation  Independent Third Party Saeed Autos - Mr. Sheraz - House No. P-231, 
             Street No. 1 Muhammad Pura Faisalabad. 
 Hyundai - Elantra A/T 1999Cc   4,059   2,085   1,974   2,050   76   Negotiation  Independent Third Party Saeed Autos - Mr. Sheraz - House No. P-231,
             Street No. 1 Muhammad Pura Faisalabad. 
 Toyota Yaris 1.3 Ativ Mt   3,112   1,153   1,959   2,000   41   Negotiation  Independent Third Party Saeed Autos - Mr. Sheraz - House No. P-231,
             Street No. 1 Muhammad Pura Faisalabad. 
 Honda - City 1.2L Mt  4,788   239   4,549   4,100   (449)  Negotiation  Independent Third Party Saeed Autos - Mr. Sheraz - House No. P-231, 
             Street No. 1 Muhammad Pura Faisalabad. 
 Honda - City 1.2L Cvt   4,815   469   4,346   4,350   4   Negotiation  Independent Third Party Saeed Autos - Mr. Sheraz - House No. P-231,
             Street No. 1 Muhammad Pura Faisalabad. 
 Toyota Yaris Ativ Cvt 1.3  5,088   1,119   3,969   4,000   31   Negotiation  Independent Third Party Saeed Autos - Mr. Sheraz - House No. P-231, 
             Street No. 1 Muhammad Pura Faisalabad. 
 KIA - Stonic Ex Plus   5,691   285   5,406   5,425   19   Negotiation  Independent Third Party Mr. Muhammad Majid, House No. P-214, 203
             RB, Faisal Town, Faisalabad. 
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 Toyota Yaris Gli 1.3 Cvt  4,949   247   4,702   4,650   (52)  Negotiation  Independent Third Party Mr. Tanveer Ahmad, Dak Khana Khas, Chak 77 
             RB, Lahoka Kalan, Distt. Faisalabad.
 Toyota - Yaris Gli 1.3 Cvt  4,949   495   4,454   4,550   96   Negotiation  Independent Third Party Mr. Furrukh Mahmood, House No. P-559, Jawala 
             Nagar, Faisalabad.
 Honda - City 1.2L Cvt   4,979   871   4,108   4,125   17   Negotiation  Independent Third Party Mr. Tanveer Ahmad, Dak Khana Khas, Chak 77
             RB, Lahoka Kalan, Distt. Faisalabad.
 High Roof Van ARF - 908 (Ict)  4,822   1,206   3,616   1,800   (1,816)  Negotiation  Independent Third Party Mr. Rashid Mahmood, House No. P-5003, Street 
             No. 15, Data Park, Faisalabad. 
 Suzuki - Swift Gl-M/T 1198 Cc   4,350   1,212   3,138   3,150   12   Negotiation  Independent Third Party Mr. Mohsin Raza, House No. 185-F, Eden Valley, 
             Faisalabad.
 Changan Oshan X7 Future Sense 1.5L   8,961   597   8,364   8,749   385   Insurance Claim  Independent Third Party EFU General Insurance Limited.
 Hyundai Tucson Awd Ultimate  9,054   3,139   5,915   8,859   2,944   Insurance Claim  Independent Third Party EFU General Insurance Limited.
 Changan Alsvin 1.5 Dct Lumiere  4,700   1,249   3,451   4,600   1,149   Insurance Claim  Independent Third Party EFU General Insurance Limited.
 Honda City 1.2 Mt   3,882   1,177   2,705   4,000   1,295   Insurance Claim  Independent Third Party EFU General Insurance Limited.

 Sub Total  329,209   163,812   165,397   143,226   (22,171)   

 Other assets having book value 

 below Rs. 500,000 each  284,213   215,244   68,969   67,960   (1,009)   

 Total - 2025  858,695   444,534   414,161   282,739   (131,422)   

 Total - 2024  522,259   338,047   184,212   155,735   (28,477)

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

7.1.2 Depreciation expense for the year has 
  been allocated as under; 

 Cost of sales 34  6,058,625   3,853,460 
 Administrative expenses 36  992,964   610,735 

      7,051,589   4,464,195 
 
7.2 Capital work in progress 
 Civil works 7.2.1  1,952,364   3,650,569 
 Plant and machinery 7.2.1  5,105,314   12,226,480 
 Capital stores 7.2.2  1,467,218   4,134,937 
 Advances to suppliers   779,398   939,809 

      9,304,294   20,951,795 
 
7.2.1 Civil works and plant and machinery includes borrowing cost capitalized during the year, calculated at 

the rate of 7.50% to 22.95% per annum (2024: 4.50% to 24.14% per annum).

   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
 Civil works   72,141   649,819 
 Plant and machinery   64,503   612,075 

      136,644   1,261,894 
 
7.2.2 Capital stores include factory tools and equipment, office equipment, electric installations and furniture 

and fixtures that are held in store for future use and capitalization.
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
7.3 Right of use assets 

 Buildings 

 Cost: 

 Opening balance   556,254   324,521 
 Additions during the year   338,099   236,558 
 Exchange loss   (1,396) –  
 Disposal during the year   (33,124)  (4,825)

 Closing balance   859,833   556,254 
 
 Accumulated depreciation: 

 Opening balance   313,819   221,200 
 Depreciation for the year 7.3.1  183,638   95,501 
 Adjustment on disposal   (3,264)  (2,882)

 Closing balance   494,193   313,819 

 Net book value   365,640   242,435 
 
7.3.1 Depreciation on right of use assets has been allocated as under;

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
 Cost of sales 34  156,626   89,293 
 Administrative expenses 36  27,012   6,208 

      183,638   95,501 
 
7.4 Details of immovable property in the name of the Group:

  Usage Location  Area
 
  Chak # 76 RB. 1 - KM, Jaranwala Road, 
     Khurrianwala, Faisalabad. 22 Acres 7 Kanals 15 Marlas 

 Plant 1 Chak # 194 RB. 1 - KM, Jaranwala Road, 
     Khurrianwala, Faisalabad. 3 Acres 13 Marlas 

  Chak # 108 RB. 1 - KM, Jaranwala Road, 
     Khurrianwala, Faisalabad. 9 Marlas 

 Interloop Industrial  Chak # 103 RB, 7 - KM, Jaranwala Road, 
    Park - (Plant 2, Plant 4     Khurrianwala, Faisalabad. 142 Acres 4 Kanals 7 Marlas 5 Sarsai 

    & Spinning unit)  

 Plant 3 8 - KM, Manga Raiwind Road, Distt. 
     Kasur, Lahore. 41 Acres 3 Kanals 8 Marlas

 Denim Division 8 - KM, Manga Raiwind Road, Distt. 
     Kasur, Lahore. 26 Acres 7 Kanals 14 Marlas 

 Apparel Industrial Park -  Chak # 106 RB, 6 - KM, By Pass Road, 
    (Plant 5 & Apparel unit)    Khurrianwala, Faisalabad. 247 Acres 4 Kanals 8 Sarsai 

 Office Top Circle Hosiery  329 Franklin St. Weissport, PA, USA. 54,450 Sqft
    Mills Co., Inc.  

 Offices Zhejiang Top Circle  Shanghai and Hangzhou, China. 14,184 Sqft
    Textiles Co., Limited  
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  Usage Location  Area
 

 Office Pinghu Top Circle  Nanyuan World Trade Garden, 
    Knitting Co., Limited    Pinghu, China. 1,866 Sqft 

 Land Chak # 200 RB, Near Toll Plaza Gatwala,  2 Acres 13 Marlas 5 Sarsai
     Lathianwala, Faisalabad.  

  Chak # 33/10-R, Tehsil & District Khanewal.  13 Acres 7 Kanals 3 Marlas 5 
      Sarsai

  Chak # 266 RB, Tehsil Jaranwala, 
     District Faisalabad.  29 Acres 7 Marlas 

  Chak # 76 RB, Tehsil Jaranwala, 
     District Faisalabad.  3 Acres 3 Marlas 

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 Computer software 8.1   374,427   299,746 
 Development cost - in progress   111,036   154,963 

      485,463   454,709 
 
8.1  Computer software 

 Cost: 

 Opening balance   575,472   562,825 
 Transfer on acquisition of subsidiaries  –    1,335 
 Exchange loss   (4) –  
 Written off during the year   (19,208) –
 Addition during the year   158,311   11,312 

      714,571   575,472 
 Amortization: 

 Opening balance   275,726   201,270 
 Adjustment   (13,882) –  
 Transfer on acquisition of subsidiaries  –  1,124 
 For the year amortization 8.2   78,300   73,332 

      340,144   275,726 

 Net book value   374,427   299,746 
 
 Amortization rate  20% 20%

8.2 Amortization on intangible assets has 
  been allocated as under; 

 Cost of sales 34  426  –   
 Administrative expenses 36  77,874   73,332 

      78,300   73,332 
 

9. LONG TERM INVESTMENT 

 Considered good - Secured 

 Equity investment 9.1  198,017   191,526 
 

9.1 This represents investment in a private equity fund which is a portfolio of stocks covering various equity 
investments in companies.
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

10. LONG TERM LOANS 

 Considered good - Secured 

 Loans to employees 10.1  198,075   174,373 
 Loan to director 10.2 –   2,500 

      198,075   176,873 
   

10.1 Loans to employees 

 Opening balance   397,439   342,047 
 Add: disbursement made during the year   1,738,839   463,885 

      2,136,278   805,932 
 Less: amount received during the year   (1,613,503)  (408,493)

      522,775   397,439 
 Less: receivable within twelve months 15  (324,700)  (223,066)

      198,075   174,373 
 
10.1.1 These represent loans given to executives and other employees as per the Holding Company’s policy 

for house building and general purposes. The loan balances except for housing finance are interest free. 
The loans are recoverable in equal monthly installments from respective employees based on the tenor 
of the loan. The loans are secured against the employees’ respective retirement benefits. These loans 
have not been carried at amortized cost as the effect of discounting is not considered material.

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
10.2 Loan to director

 Opening balance   3,653   8,269 
 Less: amount received/amortized during the year   (3,653)  (4,616)

     –    3,653 
 Less: receivable within twelve months 15 –     (1,153)

     –    2,500

10.2.1 This represented loan paid to executive director of the Holding Company as per house building finance 
policy of the Holding Company. Under the first policy, home ownership grant was Rs. 2.5 million 
and mortgage assistance was Rs. 23.25 million. Tenure of  the home ownership grant and mortgage 
assistance was six years. Mortgage assistance was repayable in 60 equal monthly installments along with 
markup thereon. During the year, mortgage assistance has been fully repaid and home ownership grant 
has been amortized as per Holding Company policy.  

 
10.2.2 The maximum aggregate amount of loan to director at the end of any month during the year was Rs. 

3.27 million (2024: Rs. 7.89 million).

   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

11. LONG TERM DEPOSITS 

 Considered good: 

 Security deposits - unsecured   95,481   89,451
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

12. STORES AND SPARES 

 Stores   1,123,896   1,120,474 
 Spares   2,352,367   2,063,951 

      3,476,263   3,184,425 
 
13. STOCK IN TRADE 

 Raw materials   12,740,681   14,819,494 
 Work in process   5,196,509   4,523,957 
 Finished goods   8,807,580   7,608,012 

      26,744,770   26,951,463 
 Less: Provision for obsolete inventory 13.1  (30,489)  (48,274)

      26,714,281   26,903,189 
 
13.1 Provision for obsolete inventory 

 Opening balance   48,274  –  
 Provision for the year 37   30,489   48,274 
 Written off during the year   (48,274) –   

 Closing balance   30,489   48,274 
 

14. TRADE DEBTS  

 Considered good: 

 Foreign 

 - Secured 14.1   13,475,660   18,317,679 
 - Unsecured   34,230,665   21,634,008 

      47,706,325   39,951,687 
 Local 

 - Unsecured 14.1   1,682,600   1,686,902 

      49,388,925   41,638,589 
 
14.1 It includes receivables from following 
  related parties; 

 Foreign 

 Texlan Center (Pvt) Limited   607,515   526,313 
 Interloop Europe   375,571   79,875 
 
 Local 

 Socks & Socks (Pvt) Limited   139,230   184,530 

      1,122,316   790,718 
 
14.2 The maximum aggregate amount of receivable due from related parties at the end of any month during 

the year was Rs. 1,122.316 million (2024: Rs. 1,301.287 million).

14.3 At June 30, 2025, trade debts due from related parties aggregating to Rs. 225.040 million (2024: Rs. 
181.496 million) were past due but not impaired. The aging analysis of receivables from related parties 
is as follows:
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
 Not yet due   897,276   609,222 
 Upto 1 month    91,636   30,298 
 More than 1 month   133,404   151,198 

      1,122,316   790,718

15. LOANS AND ADVANCES  

 Considered good: 

 Loans - secured 

 Current portion of loans to employees 10.1  324,700   223,066 
 Current portion of loan to director 10.2 –     1,153 

 Advances - unsecured 

 Advances to suppliers 15.1  2,022,376   1,691,535 
 Advances to employees 15.2  24,901   21,615 

      2,371,977   1,937,369 
 
15.1 It includes advances to following 
  related parties; 

 Socks & Socks (Pvt) Limited   12,709   22,865 
 IRC Dairy Products (Pvt) Limited   72  –  

      12,781   22,865 
 
15.1.1 The maximum aggregate amount of receivable due from related parties at the end of any month during 

the year was Rs. 54.325 million (2024: Rs. 229.289 million). The aging analysis of these advances is as 
follows:

   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
 Less than 3 months   12,781   22,865 
 
15.2 Advances to employees are given to meet business expenses and are settled as and when expenses are 

incurred.

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
16. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 Deposits 

  LC margin   83,099   61,755 
  Security deposits   63,365   83,245 

 Prepayments 

  Insurance premium   22,142   16,905 
  Prepaid expenses   240,109   372,940 

 Other receivables - considered good  

  Subsidy on gas 16.1 –    60,619 
  Others   312,072   315,796 

      720,788   911,260 
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16.1 This represents the subsidy receivable against sui gas consumption from Sui Northern Gas Pipelines 
Limited (SNGPL) amounting to Nil (2024: Rs. 60.619 million). SNGPL allowed 25% system gas adjustment 
capped at initial contractual load. During the year, the entire receivable balance was fully adjusted 
against amounts payable in SNGPL’s billing.

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
17. ACCRUED INCOME  

 Profit on term finance certificates (TFCs)   877   1,497 
 
18. REFUNDS DUE FROM GOVERNMENT AND 
  STATUTORY AUTHORITIES 

 DDT   1,331,404   1,328,799 
 Sales tax refundable   8,232,977   5,204,048 
 Income tax refundable   1,973,867   595,960 

      11,538,248   7,128,807 
 
19. SHORT TERM INVESTMENT 

 Term Finance Certificates (TFCs) - Amortized cost: 
 Habib Bank Limited 19.1  500,000   500,000 

 
19.1 This represents investment as fully paid-up, rated, privately placed, perpetual, unsecured, subordinated, 

noncumulative, contingent convertible, additional Tier 1, capital eligible 5,000 term finance certificates 
(TFCs) of Habib Bank Limited having face value of Rs. 100,000/- each aggregating to Rs. 500 million 
(2024: Rs. 500 million).  TFCs carry profit at the rate of 3 months KIBOR + 1.60% per annum payable 
quarterly in arrears. 

   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

20. CASH AND BANK BALANCES  

 Cash in hand   17,534   27,344 
 Cash at banks 
  In current accounts   295,899   35,206 
  In foreign currency accounts   774,901   1,448,360 

      1,070,800   1,483,566 

      1,088,334   1,510,910
 

21. AUTHORIZED SHARE CAPITAL

  2025 2024 2025 2024
 (Number of shares in ‘000) (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

   5,000,000    5,000,000  Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each   50,000,000   50,000,000 
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22. ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID UP SHARE CAPITAL 
 

  2025 2024 2025 2024
 (Number of shares in ‘000) (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

   132,429   132,429  Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each 
          fully paid in cash   1,324,289   1,324,289 
   1,269,281   1,269,281  Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each issued 
       as    fully paid bonus shares   12,692,806   12,692,806 

   1,401,710   1,401,710     14,017,095   14,017,095 
 
22.1  Movement in issued, subscribed and paid up share capital 
 

2025 2024

Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each

 Fully paid in cash 
Fully paid bonus 

shares
 Fully paid in cash 

Fully paid bonus 
shares

Number of shares in ‘000 Number of shares in ‘000

 Opening balance  132,429   1,269,281   132,166   1,269,281 
 Issued during the year –   –    263  –

 Closing balance  132,429   1,269,281   132,429   1,269,281 
 
22.2  All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Holding Company’s residual assets. Holders of these 

shares are entitled to dividends from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at the general 
meetings of the Holding Company. 

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

23. RESERVES 

 Capital reserve 

 Share premium 23.1   3,158,734   3,158,734 

 Revenue reserve 

 Translation reserve   (27,941)  (110,728)

      3,130,793   3,048,006 
 
23.1  This represents premium received over and above face value of the shares issued to institutional investors, 

high net worth individuals and general public through initial public offering (IPO) and employees of the 
Holding Company through employees stock option scheme (ESOS). This reserve can be utilized by the 
Holding Company only for the purposes specified in section 81 of the Companies Act, 2017. 
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24. NON - CONTROLLING INTEREST 

 Following is the summarized financial information, before inter company eliminations, of Top Circle Hosiery Mills 
Co., Inc. 

 
 Summarized statement of 昀椀nancial position

 Top Circle Hosiery 
 Mills Co., Inc. 

 NCI Percentage  36.00% 36.00%
   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)
 

 Non current assets   2,145,994   1,988,474 
 
 Current assets   4,147,482   2,926,453 
 
 Non current liabilities   (145,741) – 
 
 Current liabilities   (2,065,333)  (1,232,501)
 
 Net assets   4,082,402   3,682,426 

 Accumulated NCI   1,469,665   1,325,672 
 
 Summarized statement of comprehensive income 
 
 Net revenue   8,686,521   2,601,254 
 
 Other income   134,623   71,105 
 
 Profit/(loss) for the year/period   270,623   (152,736)
 
 Other comprehensive loss  –   –   
 
 Total comprehensive income/(loss)   270,623   (152,736)
 
 Profit/(loss) attributable to NCI   97,425   (54,985)
      
 Comprehensive income/(loss) for the year/period 
  attributable to NCI   46,568   (62,285)
       

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year/period 
  attributable to NCI   143,993   (117,270)
  
 Dividend paid to NCI  –   (11,158)
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

26. LEASE LIABILITIES 

 Opening balance   274,716   128,935 
 Additions during the year   238,282   236,558 
 Accretion of interest 39  38,025   32,070 
 Payments during the year   (128,975)  (120,659)
 Termination during the year   (30,542)  (2,188)

      391,506   274,716 
 Less: Current portion shown under current liabilities 31  (79,077)  (83,751)

      312,429   190,965 
 
26.1 These represent lease contracts for the Group manufacturing facility, warehouses, and employees hostel 

and have estimated lease terms between 3 to 5 years. These are discounted using incremental borrowing 
rate of the Group. 

 
26.2 The future minimum lease payments to which the Group is committed under the agreements will be due 

as follows:

 Not later than 
one year

Later than one 
year and not later 
than three years

More than three 
years

(Rupees ‘000)

 At 30 June 2025
 Future minimum lease payments  108,098   331,017   7,907 
 Less: Un-amortized finance charges  (29,021)  (26,355)  (140)

 Present value of future minimum 
    lease payments  79,077   304,662   7,767 
 
 At 30 June 2024 

 Future minimum lease payments  118,223   225,323   9,482 
 Less: Un-amortized finance charges  (34,472)  (43,776)  (64)

 Present value of future minimum 
    lease payments  83,751   181,547   9,418

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

27. DEFERRED LIABILITIES 

 Staff retirement gratuity 27.1  13,712,790   10,694,629 
 Deferred income - Government grant 27.2  64,912   91,719 
 Deferred tax liability 27.3  545,885  –   

      14,323,587   10,786,348 
 
27.1 Staff retirement gratuity 

 This represents an unfunded gratuity scheme which provides termination benefits for all employees of 
the Holding Company who attain the minimum qualifying period. The latest actuarial valuation of the 
defined benefit plan was carried out as at June 30, 2025 using the Projected Unit Credit (PUC) Actuarial 
Cost Method. Details of the defined benefit plan are as follows:
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
27.1.1 Movement in the present value of de昀椀ned 
  bene昀椀t obligation 

 Opening balance   10,694,629   7,876,298 
 Expenses recognized in the statement of 
  profit or loss 27.1.2  3,559,300   2,796,402 
 Remeasurement of plan obligation chargeable 
  to other comprehensive income 27.1.4  297,975   753,756 
 Balance transferred from associated companies  –    2,601 
 Paid during the year   (839,114)  (734,428)

 Closing balance   13,712,790   10,694,629 
 
27.1.2 Expenses recognized in the statement 
  of pro昀椀t or loss 

 Current service cost   2,121,347   1,613,721 
 Past service cost   (557) –  
 Interest cost   1,438,510   1,182,681 

      3,559,300   2,796,402 
 
27.1.3 Amounts charged in the statement of pro昀椀t 
  or loss are as follows: 

 Cost of sales 34  3,112,743   2,401,355 
 Distribution cost 35  82,967   60,518 
 Administrative expenses 36  363,590   334,529 

      3,559,300   2,796,402 
 
27.1.4 Total remeasurement chargeable to other 
  comprehensive income 

 Remeasurement of plan obligation: 
 Actuarial gain from changes in financial assumptions   (416,005)  (274,791)
 Experience adjustments   713,980   1,028,547 

      297,975   753,756 
 

   2025 2024

27.1.5 Principal actuarial assumptions used

 Discount rate used for profit and loss charge  14.00% 15.75%
 Discount rate for year end obligation  12.50% 14.00%
 Salary increase used for year end obligation 
 Salary increase for FY 2025  N/A 12.00%
 Salary increase for FY 2026  10% for executive & 
     5% for workers 12.00%
 Salary increase for FY 2027  12.00% 12.00%
 Salary increase for FY 2028   12.50% 14.00%
 Salary increase for FY 2029  12.50% 14.00%
 Salary increase for FY 2030  12.50% 14.00%
 Salary increase for FY 2031 onward  12.50% 14.00%

 Demographic assumption 

 Mortality rates (for deaths in service)  SLIC SLIC
     2001-2005 2001-2005
     Setback 1 year Setback 1 year
 Retirement assumption  60 years 60 years
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27.1.6 The expected contribution to defined benefit obligation for the year ending June 30, 2026 will be Rs. 
4,057.934 million.

 
27.1.7 Sensitivity analysis 

 If the significant actuarial assumptions used to estimate the defined benefit obligation at the reporting 
date, had fluctuated by 100 bps with all other variables held constant, the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation as at June 30, 2025 would have been as follows:

   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
 Discount rate + 100 bps   12,318,371   9,618,138 
 Discount rate - 100 bps   15,376,283   11,977,603 
 Salary change + 100 bps   15,398,929   11,994,564 
 Salary change - 100 bps   12,273,104   9,583,819 
 
 The sensitivity analysis of the defined benefit obligation to the significant actuarial assumptions has 

been performed using the same calculation techniques as applied for calculation of defined benefit 
obligation reported in the statement of financial position.

 
27.1.8 Maturity pro昀椀le 

 The average duration of defined benefit obligation for the year ended 2025 is 11 years (2024: 11 years).
 
 The expected benefit payment for the upcoming years is as follows;

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
 Between 1 to 3 years   3,933,760   3,288,112 
 Between 3 to 5 years   3,218,927   2,715,233 
 Beyond 5 years   571,988,687   678,814,505 

      579,141,374   684,817,850 
 
27.2 Deferred income - Government grant 

 Opening balance   122,906   158,092 
 For the year amortization   (31,149)  (35,186)

      91,757   122,906 
 Current portion of deferred income 31  (26,845)  (31,187)

 Closing balance   64,912   91,719 
 
27.2.1 There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching to these grants.

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
27.3 Deferred taxation - net 

 Deferred tax liability/(asset) 27.3.1  546,177   (349,849)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended June 30, 2025



195Financial Statements

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

27.3.1 Movement in deferred tax liability/(asset) 
  is as follows; 

 Opening balance   (349,849) –  
 Deferred tax expense/(credit) recognized in 
  profit or loss   1,012,236   (56,176)
 Deferred tax on acquisition of subsidiary  –     292 
 Deferred tax credit recognized in other 
  comprehensive income   (116,210)  (293,965)

      896,026   (349,849)

 Closing balance 27.3.2  546,177   (349,849)
 
27.3.2 This comprise of following: 

 Taxable temporary differences arising 
  in respect of; 

 Accelerated tax depreciation allowance   7,025,704   4,709,467 
 Right of use assets   80,037   94,550 
 Intangibles   65,144   49,792 
 Derivative financial instruments  –    23,107 
 
 Deductible temporary differences 
  arising in respect of; 

 Staff retirement gratuity   (5,347,988)  (4,170,905)
 Lease liabilities   (95,849)  (107,139)
 Derivative financial instruments   (5,092) –  
 Disallowance of provisions   (1,176,071)  (948,721)

      545,885   (349,849)
 

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 Trade creditors 28.1  7,266,638   5,782,925 
 Accrued liabilities 28.2  6,081,051   6,974,829 
 Contract liabilities - advances from customers 28.3  271,703   100,897 
 Other payables 28.4  677,142   610,681 
 Employees provident fund trust 28.5  12,369   9,001 
 Withholding tax payable   370,790   299,660 
 Workers’ profit participation fund 28.6  484,652   970,300 
 Workers’ welfare fund 28.7  1,351,075   1,261,758 

      16,515,419   16,010,051 
 
28.1 It includes payable to following 
  related parties; 

 Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited   31,607   12,313 
 Octans Digital (Pvt) Limited   31,014   7,503 
 Printkraft (Pvt) Limited   16,593   39,652 
 Momentum Logistics (Pvt) Limited   104,927   114,571 
 Texlan Center (Pvt) Limited   271,070  –   

      455,211   174,039 
 
28.2 It includes an amount of Rs. 1,634.010 million (2024: Rs. 1,122.971 million) relating to infrastructure cess 

payable.
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28.2.1 Honourable Sindh High Court in its decision dated September 17, 2008 declared the imposition of 
infrastructure cess before December 28, 2006 as void and invalid. However, the Excise and Taxation 
Department filed an appeal before the Honourable Supreme Court of Pakistan. The Honourable 
Supreme court of Pakistan had disposed off the appeal with a joint statement of the parties that during 
the pendency of the appeal, another law i.e. fifth version came into existence which was not the subject 
matter of the appeal hence the case was referred back to High Court of Sindh with right to appeal to 
Supreme Court. The Holding Company filed constitutional petition bearing No. 1809 of 2011 before 
Honourable High Court Sindh. On May 31, 2011, the High Court of Sindh had granted an interim relief 
on an application of petitioners on certain terms including discharge and return of bank guarantees / 
security furnished on consignment released up to December 27, 2006 and any bank guarantee / security 
furnished on consignment released after December 27, 2006 shall be encashed to the extent of 50% of 
the guaranteed or secured amount only with balance kept intact till the disposal of petition. In case the 
High Court upholds the applicability fifth version of law and its retrospective application, the authorities 
are entitled to claim the amounts due under the said law with the right to appeal available to petitioner. 
In the light of interim relief the Holding Company has paid 50% of the amount of Infrastructure cess. 
Imports of the Holding Company are being released against 50% payment of Infrastructure cess to 
Excise and Taxation Department and furnishing of bank guarantee of balance amount. On 4th June 2021, 
Honorable Sindh High Court passed an order whereby it upheld the contention of Sindh Government 
and suspend its own order for 90 days. The Holding Company has filed writ petition CPLA NO. 4611 
against the said order before the Supreme Court of Pakistan. 

 
 The Honourable Supreme Court of Pakistan granted an interim relief on September 01, 2021 against 

the impugned Judgment of the Sindh High Court. The Honourable Apex Court directed that till further 
orders, operation of the impugned Judgment of the High Court of Sindh dated June 04, 2021 and 
recovery of the impugned levy shall remain suspended. The petitioner shall keep the bank guarantee 
already submitted, pursuant to the order of the Sindh High Court, valid, operative and enforceable and 
shall furnish fresh bank guarantees equivalent to the amount of levy claimed by the respondents against 
release of all future import consignments. However, in the light of the order of the Supreme Court of 
Pakistan, the Holding Company has issued bank guarantees equivalent to the amount of the levy and no 
payment is being made subsequent to the order date of the Court. 

 
 
 The full amount of Infrastructure cess forms component of cost of imported items and provision recorded 

in books. Bank guarantees furnished ragarding imposition of infrastructure cess have been disclosed in 
note - 32.1.2 to these financial statements. 

 
28.2.2 The Government of Punjab imposed Punjab Infrastructure Development Levy in terms of the Punjab 

Infrastructure Development Cess Act, 2015 (the Act) read with PRA Notification No.PRA/IDC/2015 dated 
May 16, 2016 and PRA order No.PRA/Orders.08/2015 dated May 23, 2016. The Holding Company 
being aggrieved filed writ petition vide WP No.24536 of 2016 before Honorable Lahore High Court 
challenging the constitutionality of the Act . The Lahore High Court on July 28, 2016 granted interim 
relief for clearance of goods subject to payment of 50% of the disputed amount and upon furnishing of a 
bank guarantee for the balance of 50% of the amount. The case is pending litigation before  Honorable 
Lahore High Court, Lahore, the same has been adjourned without any next date. 

 
28.3 The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advance consideration received from customers for sale of 

goods, for which revenue is being recognized at point in time when goods are transferred. Out of Rs. 
100.897 million recognized in contract liabilities as on June 30, 2024, an amount of Rs. 100.549 million 
has been adjusted and recognized as revenue during the year. 

 
28.4 It includes an amount of Rs. 125.178 million (2024: Rs. 127.145 million) payable to ILNA Inc. USA, an 

associated company. 
 
28.5 The investments out of provident fund have been made in accordance with the provisions of section 218 

of the Companies Act, 2017 and the rules formulated in Employees Contributory Funds (Investment in 
Listed Securities) Regulations, 2018.
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

28.6 Workers’ pro昀椀t participation fund 

 Opening balance   970,300   1,150,769 
 Interest on funds utilized in the Holding 
  Company’s business 39  26,723   30,484 
 Expense allocation for the year 37  463,465   943,788 

      1,460,488   2,125,041 
 Paid during the year   (975,836)  (1,154,741)

 Closing balance   484,652   970,300 
 
28.7 Workers’ welfare fund 

 Opening balance   1,261,758   898,342 
 Provision for the year   179,317   363,416 

      1,441,075   1,261,758 
 Paid during the year   (90,000) – 

 Closing balance   1,351,075   1,261,758 
 

29. ACCRUED MARK UP  

 Mark up on: 
  Long term financing   959,164   631,078 
  Short term borrowings   63,057   2,058,673 

      1,022,221   2,689,751 
 
30. SHORT TERM BORROWINGS 

 From banking companies - Secured 

 Under mark up arrangements 

 Islamic banking: 

 IERS - II   3,230,000   7,030,000 
 Exim IERS - II   9,475,000  –  
 Islamic export finance scheme (IEFS)   2,100,000   2,099,982 
 Running musharika  –    6,793,209 
 
 Conventional banking: 

 ERF - II   21,361,960   29,306,960 
 Exim ERF - II   18,413,040  –  
 Export finance scheme (EFS)   5,249,892   4,671,988 
 Running finance   118,810   537,705 

      59,948,702   50,439,844 
 
30.1 All short-term credit lines are secured against a first Joint Pari Passu (JPP) charge of Rs. 147,837 million, 

registered on July 16, 2025 (2024: Rs. 108,569 million). As at June 30, 2025, these facilities stood 
secured against a JPP charge of Rs. 108,569 million and a ranking charge of Rs. 38,670 million (2024: Nil) 
over all present and future current assets of the Company, in favor of all lending banks. The aggregate 
sanctioned limits available to the Company for short-term borrowings from all banks amount to Rs. 
105,319 million (2024: Rs. 77,036 million).
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 Mark up is charged as; 

ERF - II / IERS - II SBP Rate + 0.25% to 1% per annum (2024: SBP Rate + 0.25% to 1% per
 annum) 
 
Exim ERF-II/ Exim IERS-II SBP Rate + 0.25% to 1% per annum (2024: Nil)
 
EFS / IEFS SBP refinance rate for EFS and IEFS (2024: SBP refinance rate for EFS 

and IEFS)
 
 1 to 3 months Kibor -2.8% to +1% per annum (2024: 1 to 6 months Kibor
Running finance/musharika -2.7% to +1% per annum) 
 3.01% to 3.50% per annum (2024: 3.50% to 4.35% per annum)

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
31. CURRENT PORTION OF NON CURRENT LIABILITIES 

 Long term financing 25  2,411,465   2,722,549 
 Lease liabilities 26  79,077   83,751 
 Deferred income - Government grant 27.2   26,845   31,187 

      2,517,387   2,837,487 
 

32. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 

32.1 Contingencies 

32.1.1 The Punjab Revenue Authority (PRA) raised a demand of Rs. 60.720 million against the Holding Company 
for the alleged default in withholding provincial sales tax on various transport services obtained during 
the period March 01, 2015 to May 31, 2016. The demand, comprising principal tax, default surcharge, 
and penalty, was raised under the provisions of the Punjab Sales Tax on Services Act, 2012 through Order 
No. ENF-Unit-1/32/2018 dated March 15, 2018. Aggrieved by the order, the Holding Company filed an 
appeal before the Commissioner (Appeals), PRA, who through Appellate Order No. 175/2018 partially 
allowed the appeal by deleting amount of Rs. 36.753 million, while upholding a balance demand of Rs. 
23.967 million. The Holding Company further contested the matter before the Honourable Appellate 
Tribunal PRA, which, through Order No. 85/2018 dated February 21, 2019, set aside the earlier decision 
and remanded the case back to the assessing officer for fresh examination.

 In the second round of litigation, the Commissioner PRA, through Order-in-Original No. 16/2019 dated 
July 16, 2019, revised the demand to Rs. 13.195 million. The Holding Company once again appealed 
before the Honourable Appellate Tribunal, which through Order-in-Appeal No. 99/2019 dated October 
22, 2019, again remanded the matter back to the Additional Commissioner Enforcement – I for denovo 
consideration. Meanwhile, the department initiated coercive recovery measures and forcibly recovered 
Rs. 15.317 million by attaching the Holding Company’s bank account. In response, the Holding Company 
filed a writ petition before the Honourable Lahore High Court, Lahore, which directed the concerned 
Commissioner PRA to review the matter and either refund the amount recovered or appropriately adjust 
it against any lawful tax liability.

 However, in compliance with the aforementioned Order dated October 22, 2019 of the Honourable 
Appellate Tribunal, a third round of litigation was initiated, resulting in the creation of an alleged tax 
demand of Rs. 45.248 million. After adjusting the previously recovered amount of Rs. 15.317 million, a 
net demand of Rs. 29.931 million was raised through Order-in-Original No. 109/2020 dated June 30, 
2020. The Holding Company filed an appeal before the Commissioner (Appeals), PRA, who, through 
Appeal No. 203/2020 dated November 28, 2023, upheld the order of the assessing authority in its 
entirety. Consequently, the Holding Company has preferred a further appeal before the Honourable 
Appellate Tribunal PRA, where the matter is currently pending adjudication. 

 
 The Holding Company has not made any provision against the above demand as the management is 

confident that the ultimate outcome of the appeal would be in favor of the Holding Company, inter alia 
on the basis of the advice of the tax consultant and relevant law and facts. 
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   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
32.1.2 Bank guarantees issued by various banks on 
  behalf of the Holding Company in favour of: 
 
 Sui Northern Gas Pipelines limited (SNGPL) 
  against supply of gas   1,731,380   1,598,138 
  
 The Director, Excise and Taxation, Karachi against 
  imposition of infrastructure cess   1,462,353   942,353 
 
 Faisalabad Electric Supply Company (FESCO) 
  against supply of electricity   154,425   152,195 
 
 Lahore Electric Supply Company (LESCO) against 
  supply of electricity   7,370  –   
 
 Punjab Revenue Authority against imposition of 
  infrastructure cess   11,533   11,533 
 
 Total Parco Pakistan Ltd   6,000   6,000 

      3,373,061   2,710,219 
 
32.1.2.1 The total limits available to the Holding Company for bank guarantees from all the banks are amounting 

to Rs. 6,300 million, out of which Rs. 4,100 are available as stand alone limits and Rs. 2,200 million can 
be availed under sublimits of short term borrowings. These are also secured against cumulative 1st JPP 
charge as mentioned in note 30.1 of these financial statements.

   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
32.1.3 Post dated cheques issued in favour of custom 
  authorities for release of imported goods.   7,878,158   9,694,785 
 
32.2 Commitments 

 Under letters of credit for: 
  Raw materials   2,972,579   3,385,803 
  Capital expenditure   622,930   3,107,762 
  Stores and spares   207,293   65,948 

      3,802,802   6,559,513 
 
32.2.1 The total limits available to the Holding Company for letters of credit - Sight/Usance from all the banks 

are amounting to Rs. 35,750 million, out of which Rs. 22,850 are available as stand alone limits and Rs. 
12,900 million can be availed under sublimits of short term borrowings. Letter of Credit - Sights are 
secured against lien over valid import documents, whereas the Letter of Credit - Usance are also secured 
against cumulative 1st JPP charge as mentioned in note 30.1 of these consolidated financial statements 
and lien on import documents.
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
33. SALES - NET 

 Export sales 33.1  169,962,172   150,819,447 
 Local sales   11,834,341   8,522,195 

      181,796,513   159,341,642 
 Less: 
 Sales discount   (572,739)  (344,673)
 Sales tax   (1,818,491)  (814,250)

      (2,391,230)  (1,158,923)

      179,405,283   158,182,719 
 
33.1 It includes exchange gain/(loss) amounting to Rs. 893.242 million  (2024: Rs. (742.727) million). 
 
33.2 Revenue is disaggregated based on geographical locations of our customers. The same is disclosed in 

note - 48.

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

34. COST OF SALES 

 Raw material consumed 34.1  85,427,563   69,735,499 
 Stores and spares consumed 34.2  3,993,073   3,457,672 
 Knitting, processing and packing charges   3,493,032   2,887,081 
 Salaries, wages and benefits 34.3  30,684,879   23,821,644 
 Staff retirement gratuity 27.1.3  3,112,743   2,401,355 
 Fuel and power   9,871,526   8,975,715 
 Repairs and maintenance   999,946   902,365 
 Insurance   219,313   164,607 
 Depreciation 7.1.2  6,058,625   3,853,460 
 Depreciation on right of use assets 7.3.1  156,626   89,293 
 Amortization 8.2  426  – 
 Rent, rate and taxes   50,042   93,493 
 Other manufacturing costs   448,998   311,113 

      144,516,792   116,693,297 
 Work in process 
 Opening balance   4,523,957   3,124,698 
 Closing balance   (5,196,509)  (4,523,957)

      (672,552)  (1,399,259)

 Cost of goods manufactured   143,844,240   115,294,038 
 
 Finished goods 
 Opening balance   7,608,012   5,993,436 
 Transfer on acquisition of subsidiaries  –    337,643 
 Closing balance   (8,807,580)  (7,608,012)

      (1,199,568)  (1,276,933)

      142,644,672   114,017,105
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   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

34.1 Raw material consumed 

 Opening balance   14,819,494   10,610,676 
 Transfer on acquisition of subsidiary  –   126,831 
 Purchases   83,340,804   73,817,486 

      98,160,298   84,554,993 
 Closing balance   (12,740,681)  (14,819,494)

      85,419,617   69,735,499 
 
34.2 Stores and spares consumed 

 Opening balance   3,184,425   2,490,975 
 Purchases   4,284,911   4,151,122 

      7,469,336   6,642,097 
 Closing balance   (3,476,263)  (3,184,425)

      3,993,073   3,457,672 
 
34.3 Salaries, wages and benefits include Rs. 21.934 million (2024: Rs. 16.967 million) in respect of the 

provident fund contribution.

   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
35. DISTRIBUTION COST 

 Staff salaries and benefits 35.1  1,341,322   1,067,372 
 Staff retirement gratuity 27.1.3  82,967   60,518 
 Sea and air freight   863,862   507,220 
 Shipping expenses   1,916,076   1,611,432 
 Selling commission   1,905,165   1,817,845 
 Export development surcharge   408,301   374,646 
 Marketing and advertisement   494,209   375,092 

      7,011,902   5,814,125 
 
35.1 Staff salaries and benefits include Rs. 5.194 million (2024: Rs. 3.315 million) in respect of the provident 

fund contribution.
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

36. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

 Staff salaries and benefits  36.1  5,742,574   4,949,442 
 Directors’ remuneration   220,840   182,477 
 Staff retirement gratuity 27.1.3  363,590   334,529 
 Postage and communication   82,123   70,831 
 Electricity, gas and water   141,603   109,087 
 Rent, rates and taxes   939,606   638,569 
 Printing and stationery   286,791   262,425 
 Travelling and conveyance   246,869   216,938 
 Vehicles running and maintenance   78,421   88,758 
 Legal and professional charges   541,987   928,075 
 Repairs and maintenance   71,675   42,042 
 Auditors’ remuneration 36.2  11,525   10,055 
 Insurance   79,772   54,330 
 Entertainment   425,415   299,544 
 Advertisement   8,251   3,276 
 Newspapers and periodicals   211   450 
 Depreciation 7.1.2  992,964   610,735 
 Depreciation on right of use assets 7.3.1  27,012   6,208 
 Amortization 8.2  77,874   73,332 
 Others   347,707   211,837 

      10,686,810   9,092,940 
 
36.1 Staff salaries and benefits include Rs. 25.304 million (2024: Rs. 17.328 million) in respect of the provident 

fund contribution.

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
36.2 Auditors’ remuneration 

 Annual audit fee   9,450   7,875 
 Other certification  –   105 
 Half yearly review   1,575   1,575 
 Out of pocket expenses   500   500 

      11,525   10,055

37. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 

 Loss on disposal of non current assets 37.1  136,066   28,232 
 Provision for obsolete inventory 13.1  30,489   48,274 
 Unrealized loss on derivative financial instruments   13,056  –  
 Forex options trading losses  –  121,974 
 Charity and donations 37.2  125,391   632,546 
 Workers’ profit participation fund 28.6  463,465   943,788 
 Workers’ welfare fund 28.7  179,317   363,416 

      947,784   2,138,230 
 
37.1 Loss on disposal of non current assets 

 Loss on disposal of operating fixed assets   131,422   28,477 
 Gain on disposal of right of use assets   (682)  (245)
 Loss on disposal of intangible assets   5,326  –  

      136,066   28,232
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37.2 Charity and donations include the following;

 Names of donees’ in which a director or his spouse has an interest:

 Name of Donee Interest  Name of 2025 2024
  in Donee Director / Spouse (Rupees ‘000) 

   Mr. Navid Fazil  43,300  588,107
   Mr. Musadaq Zulqarnain 
 

Interloop Welfare Trust Trustees
 Mr. Jahanzeb Khan Banth 

   Mr. Muhammad Maqsood 
 
 

Lyallpur Literary Council Trustees
 Mr. Musadaq Zulqarnain  4,500  8,000

   Mrs. Nazia Navid

     47,800  596,107
 

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

38. OTHER INCOME 

 Income from 昀椀nancial assets 

 Dividend income   22,927  – 
 Exchange gain - net   130,762   23,026 
 Realized gain on derivative financial instruments   288,794   442,679 
 Unrealized gain on derivative financial instruments  –  59,248 
 Profit on term finance certificates (TFCs)   84,058   118,072 

 Income from non-昀椀nancial assets 

 Scrap sales and others   7,827   27,806 

      534,368   670,831 
 
39. FINANCE COST 

 Mark up on: 
  Short term borrowings   6,815,602   8,112,039 
  Long term financing - net   2,124,185   1,467,703 
 Interest on workers’ profit participation fund 28.6  26,723   30,484 
 Interest on lease liabilities 26  38,025   32,070 
 Bank charges and commission   557,704   514,077 

      9,562,239   10,156,373 
 
40. LEVIES 

 Current year  40.1  8,025   2,018,512 
 Prior year   (29,593)  27,699 

      (21,568)  2,046,211 
 
40.1 These represent final tax under section 150 (2024: under section 154 and 150) and related super tax 

under section 4C, applicable for the companies, under the provisions of the Income Tax Ordinance, 
2001, representing levies in terms of requirements of IFRIC 21/IAS 37.
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   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

41. INCOME TAX 

 Current year   2,448,354   46,047 
 Deferred   1,012,236   (56,176)

      3,460,590   (10,129)
 
41.1 The provision for current income tax is made on taxable income at standard rate of 29% and related 

super tax under section 4C, applicable for the Companies, under the provision of the Income Tax 
Ordinance, 2001. 

 
41.2 Reconciliation of current tax charge charged as per tax laws for the year, with current tax recognized in 

statement of profit or loss is as follows

   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
 Current tax liability for the year as per 
  applicable tax laws 41.2.1  2,456,379   2,064,559 
 
 Current tax liability as per tax laws, 
  representing income tax under IAS 12 
    41  (2,448,354)  (46,047)
 Current tax liability as per tax laws, 
  representing levies in terms of 
  requirements of IFRIC 21/IAS 37 40  (8,025)  (2,018,512)

     –    –  
 
41.2.1 The aggregate of levies and income tax, amounting to Rs. 2,456.379 million represents tax liability of the 

Company calculated in terms of provision of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001.

   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
41.3 Relationship between accounting pro昀椀t 
  and tax expense: 

 Profit before income tax   9,107,812   16,445,870 
 Income tax rate  29% 29%
 Income tax on profit before income tax   2,641,265   4,769,302 
 
 Tax effect of: 
  - Inadmissible deductions    3,362,963  –  
  - Admissible deductions    (4,092,882) –  
  - Presumptive tax regime and others    (57,848)  (5,328,463)
  - Levies    (6,255)  593,401 
  - Super tax - excluding levy    626,960   11,807 
  - Tax credit for the year    (25,850) –  
  - Deferred tax    1,012,236   (56,176)

      819,324   (4,779,431)

      3,460,589   (10,129)
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   2025 2024

42. EARNINGS PER SHARE - BASIC AND DILUTED

42.1 Earnings per share - Basic 

 Profit for the year (Rupees in ‘000)   5,549,797   16,510,984 
 
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
  outstanding during the year (Numbers in’000)   1,401,710   1,401,562 
 
 Earnings per share - basic   (Rupees)   3.96   11.78 
 
42.2 Earnings per share - Diluted 

 No figures for diluted earnings per share have been presented as the Parent Company has not issued 
any instruments carrying options which would have an impact on earnings per share when exercised.

 
43. RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENT OF LIABILITIES TO CASH FLOWS ARISING FROM FINANCING 

ACTIVITIES 
 

Balance  
as on July 01, 

2024

Non Cash 
Changes

Cash Flows
Balance  

as on June 30, 
2025

(Rupees ‘000)

 
 Issued, subscribed and paid up 
    share capital  14,017,095  – –  14,017,095 
 Capital reserve - share premium  3,158,734  –    –   3,158,734 
 Long term financing  18,917,362   31,149   12,056,941   31,005,452 
 Lease liabilities  274,716   245,765   (128,975)  391,506 
 Short term borrowings  50,439,844  –   9,508,858   59,948,702 
 Unclaimed dividend  3,077   3,504,274   (3,504,239)  3,112 

   86,810,828   3,781,188   17,932,585   108,524,601

Balance  
as on July 01, 

2023

Non Cash 
Changes

Cash Flows
Balance  

as on June 30, 
2024

(Rupees ‘000)

 
 Issued, subscribed and paid up 
    share capital  14,014,469  –    2,626   14,017,095 
 Capital reserve - share premium  3,143,605   1,036   14,093   3,158,734 
 Long term financing  17,288,082   35,186   1,594,094   18,917,362 
 Lease liabilities  128,935   266,440   (120,659)  274,716 
 Short term borrowings  42,148,912   1,117,431   7,173,501   50,439,844 
 Unclaimed dividend  4,074   5,617,471   (5,618,468)  3,077 

   76,728,077   7,037,564   3,045,187   86,810,828

   2025 2024

44. NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

 Average number of employees during the year  37,299 32,718

 Number of employees at end of the year  37,957 34,921
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   2025 2024
  Note (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

45. SHARIAH COMPLIANCE DISCLOSURE 

 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

 Assets: 

 Shariah compliant investments and bank 
 deposits/bank balances 

 Long term investment 9  198,017   191,526 
 Bank balances 20  26,894   59,325 

 Liabilities: 

 Financing as per Islamic mode 

 Long term financing 25  18,138,353   9,676,364 
 Short term borrowings 30  14,805,000   15,923,191 

 Accrued mark up as per convesntional mode 

 Long term financing 29  282,437   228,488 
 Short term borrowings 29  32,569   1,413,803 

 STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 

 Revenue earned from a shariah compliant business 33  179,405,283   158,182,719 

 Mark up on Islamic mode of 昀椀nancing 39  (3,156,998)  (4,097,945)

 Source and detailed break up of other income 

 Other income earned from shariah compliant: 38 

 Exchange gain - net   130,762  23,026
 Scrap sales and others   7,827   27,806 

 Other income earned from non - shariah compliant: 38  

 Dividend income   22,927  –  
 Realized gain on derivative financial instruments   288,794   442,679 
 Unrealized gain on derivative financial instruments  –    59,248 
 Profit on term finance certificates (TFCs)   84,058   118,072 

 
Relationship with shariah compliant banks 

Name of institutions Relationship with institutions 

MCB Islamic Bank Bank balance, long term financing and short term borrowing

Meezan Bank Limited Bank balance, long term financing and short term borrowing

Habib Bank Limited (Islamic Banking) Bank balance, long term financing and short term borrowing

Faysal Bank Limited Bank balance, long term financing and short term borrowing

Bank Alfalah Limited (Islamic) Bank balance and short term borrowing

Bank of Punjab (Taqwa Islamic Banking) Bank balance and short term borrowing

United Bank Limited - Ameen Bank balance and short term borrowing 

Allied Bank Limited (Islamic Banking) Bank balance
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46. REMUNERATION TO CHIEF EXECUTIVE, DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES

2025

Chief Executive Directors Executives

(Rupees ‘000)

 Managerial remuneration  84,933   117,663   4,294,337 
 Directorship fee  –     25,498   –   
 Reimbursable expenses  –     –     704,715 
 Bonus  –     –     313,198 
 Staff retirement gratuity  –     –     204,758 
 Contribution to provident fund  –     –     42,068 
 Other allowances  –     10,626   732,495 

   84,933   153,787   6,291,571 

 Number of persons 2 11 975

2024

Chief Executive Directors Executives

(Rupees ‘000)

 Managerial remuneration  75,485   76,564   2,779,171 
 Directorship fee  –     20,900   –   
 Reimbursable expenses  –     –     546,252 
 Bonus  –     –     279,381 
 Staff retirement gratuity  –     –     128,856 
 Contribution to provident fund  –     –     28,938 
 Other allowances  –     9,528   344,764 

   75,485   106,992   4,107,362 

 Number of persons 2 10 645

 
 The chief executive officer, executive director and some executives are provided with company maintained cars. 

 
47. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

 Related parties include associated companies and undertakings, entities under common directorship, directors, 
major shareholders, key management personnel, employees benefit trust and post employment benefit plans. 
The Group in the normal course of business carries out transactions with various related parties. Amounts due 
from and to related parties are shown under the relevant notes to the financial statements. Remuneration to 
directors and key management personnel is disclosed in note 46. Detail of transactions with related parties, other 
than those which have been specifically disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements are as 
follows:

     2025 2024
  Name Nature of transaction  (Rupees ‘000)  (Rupees ‘000)

 Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited Services received   561,506   264,908 
   Purchase of assets – net  –     8,275 
   Gratuity transferred  –     2,601 

 Texlan Center (Pvt) Limited Sale of yarn  2,229,525   2,852,716 
   Sale of packing material   77,438   122,989 
   Services received  279,951   –   
   Purchase of assets  13,908   –   

 Momentum Logistics (Pvt) Limited Services received  1,546,237   1,204,122 
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     2025 2024
  Name Nature of transaction  (Rupees ‘000)  (Rupees ‘000)

 PrintKraft (Pvt) Limited Purchase of packing material  641,373   731,832 

 Octans Digital (Pvt) Limited Services received  81,465   220,965 
   Purchase of assets  62,396   46 

 Socks & Socks (Pvt) Limited Services received  126,223   87,960 
   Sale of goods – net  185,988   54,184 
   Purchase of assets  –     838,935 

 Abacus Consulting Technology  Services received  7,258   –   
  (Private) Limited

 Interloop Europe Sale of socks  694,329   952,990 

 ILNA Inc. USA Services received  1,468,209   1,523,745 

 Interloop Provident Fund Trust Contribution to the fund  138,045   101,346 

 Key management personnel and  Repayment of housing finance loan  1,154   4,616
  other related parties Mark up on house building finance loan  52   444 
   Rent expenses  1,883   1,712 
   Dividend paid  2,955,774   4,739,070 

 
47.1 Following are the related parties with whom the Group had entered into transactions or have 

arrangements / agreements in place.

   Common Directorship Address
 Company Name Basis of  / Percentage of  and Country
  Relationship shareholding of Incorporation

 Interloop Holdings (Pvt) Limited Associate Common Directors 15-A, Peoples Colony No. 1, Faisalabad, 

     Pakistan. 

 Interloop Dairies Limited Associate Common Directors 15-A, Peoples Colony No. 1, Faisalabad,

     Pakistan.

 Texlan Center (Pvt) Limited Associate Common Directors Dagonna Road, Minuwangoda, 

     Sri Lanka.

 Momentum Logistics (Pvt) Limited Associate Common Directors 15-A, Peoples Colony No. 1, Faisalabad,

     Pakistan.

 PrintKraft (Pvt) Limited Associate Subsidiary of Associate 15-A, Peoples Colony No. 1, Faisalabad,

     Pakistan.

 IRC Dairy products (Pvt) Limited Associate Common Directors 15-A, Peoples Colony No. 1, Faisalabad,

     Pakistan. 

 Global Veneer Trading Limited Associate Common Directors Bahnhofasteasse22, 6300 Zug, Switzerland.

 Interloop Europe Associate Subsidiary of Associate Constructieweg 1, 7451 PS Holten,

     Netherlands. 

 Interloop Welfare Trust Trustee Common Directors 15-A, Peoples Colony No. 1, Faisalabad,

     Pakistan.

 Interloop Provident Fund Trust Trustee Post Employment Benefit Plan 15-A, Peoples Colony No. 1, Faisalabad,

     Pakistan.

 Octans Digital (Pvt) Limited Associate Subsidiary of Associate 15-A, Peoples Colony No. 1, Faisalabad,

    Pakistan.
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   Common Directorship Address
 Company Name Basis of  / Percentage of  and Country
  Relationship shareholding of Incorporation

 Shifa Medical Center Islamabad  Associate Common Directors Shifa, International Hospitals, Sector H-8/

    (Pvt) Limited    4 Islamabad, Pakistan. 

 Shifa National Hospital Faisalabad  Associate Common Directors Shifa, International Hospitals, Sector H-8/4

    (Pvt) Limited    Islamabad, Pakistan.

 Lyallpur Literary Council Associate Common Directors 15-A, Peoples Colony No. 1, Faisalabad,

     Pakistan.

 Socks & Socks (Pvt) Limited Associate Subsidiary of Associate 15-A, Peoples Colony No. 1, Faisalabad,

     Pakistan.

 IL Foods Limited Associate Common Directors 15-A, Peoples Colony No. 1, Faisalabad,

     Pakistan.

 Abacus Consulting Technology  Associate Common Directors Abacus House,  4 - Noon Avenue, Main

    (Private) Limited     Canal, Lahore. 54000

 ILNA Inc. USA Associate Common Directors 102 West 3rd Street, Suite 200 Winton-

     Salem, NC 27101, US

 IL Bangla Limited Associate Common Directors House # 267, Road # 19, New DOHS

     Mohakhali, Dhaka.

48. OPERATING SEGMENTS 

 Management has determined the operating segments based on the information that is presented to the Board 
of Directors of the Holding Company for allocation of resources and assessment of performance. Operating 
segments are reported in a manner consistent with internal reporting provided to the Chief Operating Decision 
Maker (‘CODM’). Segment performance is generally evaluated based on certain key performance indicators 
including business volume and gross profit.

 Based on internal management reporting structure and products produced and sold, the Group is organized into 
the following operating segments : 

 
a) Hosiery 
 
 This segment relates to the sale of socks. 
 
b) Spinning 
 
 This segment relates to the sale of yarn and its in-house use. 
 
c) Denim 
 
 This segment relates to the sale of denim products and garments. 
 
d) Apparel 
 
 This segment relates to the sale of  fashion apparels. 
 
e) Other operating segments 
 
 These represent various segments of the Group which currently do not meet the minimum reporting 

threshold mentioned in International financial reporting standards ‘Operating Segments’ (IFRS 8). These 
mainly include energy, yarn dyeing, active wear and other subsidiaries.
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   2025 2024
  UOM Figures in ‘000 Figures in ‘000

49. PLANT CAPACITY AND ACTUAL PRODUCTION 

 Hosiery 

 Installed capacity - knitting [DZN]  76,391   74,724 
 Actual production - knitting [DZN]  58,350   60,542 
 
 Spinning 

 Installed capacity after conversion into 20/s [LBS]  31,377   31,377 
 Actual production after conversion into 20/s  [LBS]  26,731   28,729 
 
 Yarn Dyeing 

 Installed capacity [KGs]  6,442   6,407 
 Actual production [KGs]  4,669   4,934 
 
 Denim 

 Installed capacity [Pieces]  9,500   6,975 
 Actual production [Pieces]  8,017   6,116 
 
 Active Wear, Apparel and other Subsidiaries 

 The plant capacity of these divisions is indeterminable due to multi product plans involving varying processes of 
manufacturing and run length of order lots. 

 
49.1 The actual production is planned to meet the internal demand and orders in hand. 

 
50. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 The carrying values of the financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their fair values. Fair value is the 
amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in 
an arm’s length transaction. 

 
 Fair value hierarchy 

 Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to settle a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 

 
 Underlying the definition of fair value is the presumption that the Group is a going concern and there is no 

intention or requirement to curtail materially the scale of its operations or to undertake a transaction on adverse 
terms.

 
 A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available 

from an exchange dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent 
actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

 
 IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ requires the Group to classify fair value measurements and fair value hierarchy 
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that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements of fair value hierarchy has the 
following levels: 

 
Level 1 :  Fair value measurements using quoted (unadjusted) in active markets for identical asset or liability.
 
Level 2 :  Fair value measurements using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable 

for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 
 
Level 3 :  Fair value measurements using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 

data (i.e. unobservable inputs). 
 
 Transfer between levels of the fair value hierarchy are recognized at the end of the reporting period during which 

the changes have occurred. 
 
 The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including 

their levels in the fair value hierarchy. It does not include fair value information for financial assets and financial 
liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

2025

Carrying Amount Fair Value

Fair value 
through 
pro昀椀t or 

loss

Amortized 
cost

Cash 
and cash 

equivalents
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

(Rupees ‘000)

 On balance sheet 昀椀nancial instruments 

 Financial assets measured at fair value 

 Derivative financial instruments  –     –     –     –     –     –     –     –   

 Financial assets not measured at fair value 

 Long term loans  –     522,775   –     522,775   –     –     –     –   

 Long term deposits  –     95,481   –     95,481   –     –     –     –   

 Trade debts  –     49,388,925   –     49,388,925   –     –     –     –   

 Deposits and other receivables  –     375,438   –     375,438   –     –     –     –   

 Accrued income  –     877   –     877   –     –     –     –   

 Short term investments  –     500,000   –     500,000   –     –     –     –   

 Cash and bank balances  –     –     1,088,334  1,088,334  –     –     –     –   

   –     50,883,495   1,088,334   51,971,829  –     –     –     –   

 

 Financial liabilities measured at fair value 

 Derivative financial instruments  13,056   –     –     13,056   –     13,056   –     13,056 

 Financial liabilities not measured at fair value 

 Long term financing  –     31,005,452   –     31,005,452   –     –     –     –   

 Lease liabilities  –     391,506   –     391,506   –     –     –     –   

 Trade and other payables  –     14,037,199   –     14,037,199   –     –     –     –   

 Unclaimed dividend  –     3,112   –     3,112   –     –     –     –   

 Accrued mark up   –     1,022,221   –     1,022,221   –     –     –     –   

 Short term borrowings  –     59,948,702   –     59,948,702   –     –     –     –   

   13,056   106,408,192   –     106,421,248   –     13,056   –     13,056
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2024

Carrying Amount Fair Value

Fair value 
through 
pro昀椀t or 

loss

Amortized 
cost

Cash 
and cash 

equivalents
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

(Rupees ‘000)

 On balance sheet 昀椀nancial instruments 

 Financial assets measured at fair value 

 Derivative financial instruments  59,248   –     –     59,248   –     59,248   –     59,248 

 Financial assets not measured at fair value 

 Long term loans  –     401,092   –     401,092   –     –     –     –   

 Long term deposits  –     89,451   –     89,451   –     –     –     –   

 Trade debts  –     41,638,589   –     41,638,589   –     –     –     –   

 Deposits and other receivables  –     459,660   –     459,660   –     –     –     –   

 Accrued income  –     1,497   –     1,497   –     –     –     –   

 Short term investments  –     500,000   –     500,000   –     –     –     –   

 Cash and bank balances  –     –     1,510,910   1,510,910   –     –     –     –   

   59,248   43,090,289   1,510,910   44,660,447   –     59,248   –     59,248 

 

 Financial liabilities measured at fair value  –     –     –     –     –     –     –     –   

 Financial liabilities not measured at fair value 

 Long term financing  –     18,917,362   –     18,917,362   –     –     –     –   

 Lease liabilities  –     274,716   –     274,716   –     –     –     –   

 Trade and other payables  –     13,377,436   –     13,377,436   –     –     –     –   

 Unclaimed dividend  –     3,077   –     3,077   –     –     –     –   

 Accrued mark up   –     2,689,751   –     2,689,751   –     –     –     –   

 Short term borrowings  –     50,439,844   –     50,439,844   –     –     –     –   

   –     85,702,186   –     85,702,186   –     –     –     –   

51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

 The Group finances its operations through equity, borrowings and management of working capital with a view to 
maintain an appropriate mix between various sources of finance to minimize risk. The Group follows an effective 
cash management and planning policy and maintains flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines 
available. Market risks are managed by the Group through the adoption of appropriate policies to cover currency 
risks and interest rate risks. 

 
 The Group has exposures to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 
 
 – Market risk 
 – Credit risk 
 – Liquidity risk 

 
51.1 Market risk 

 Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises interest rate risk, currency risk and other 
price risk. The sensitivity analysis in the following sections relate to the position as at June 30, 2025 and 
2024.
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51.1.1 Interest rate risk: 

 Interest rate risk represents the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Majority of the interest rate exposure arises from 
investments in term finance certificates, long term and short term loans, lease liabilities, short term 
borrowings and long term financing. 

 At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest bearing financial instruments is as 
follows:

   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
 Fixed rate instruments  

 Long term financing - Secured   7,209,947   8,473,992
 Lease liabilities against right of use assets   391,506   274,716 
 Short term borrowings - Secured   59,948,702   43,645,203 

 Variable rate instruments 

 Short term investments   500,000   500,000 
 Loan to director - Secured  –   1,153 
 
 Long term financing from financial institutions - Secured   23,795,505   10,443,370 
 Short term borrowings from financial institutions - Secured –   6,794,641 
 
 Fair value sensitivity analysis for 昀椀xed rate instruments 

 The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss. Therefore, a change in interest rate at the balance sheet date would not affect statement of 
profit or loss of the Group. 

 
 Cash 昀氀ow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 

 The following analysis demonstrates the sensitivity to a change in interest rates of 1%, with all other 
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax. The analysis is prepared assuming the amounts 
of floating rate instruments outstanding at reporting date were outstanding for the whole year.

   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
 Effect on profit and (loss) of an increase in interest  
  rate for short term investments   4,655   4,655 
 
 Effect on profit and (loss) of an increase in interest 
  rate for loan to director  –    11 
 
 Effect on profit and (loss) of an increase in interest 
  rate for long term financing   (221,536)  (97,228)
 
 Effect on profit and (loss) of an increase in interest 
  rate for short term borrowings  –   (63,258)

      (216,881)  (155,820)
 
 Decrease in interest rates at June 30 would have had the equal but opposite effect of these amounts. 

Sensitivity analysis has been prepared on symmetric basis.
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51.1.2 Currency risk / Foreign Exchange risk: 

 Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument, will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Foreign currency risk arises mainly where receivables and 
payables exist due to foreign currency transactions. 

 
 Exposure to Currency Risk 

 The Group’s exposure to currency risk is restricted to the amounts receivable from/payable to the foreign 
entities and bank balances which are denominated in currency other than the functional currency of the 
Group. The Group’s exposure to currency risk is as follows:

 2025 2024

 Particulars Currency F.Currency Rupees F.Currency Rupees
    (Amount ‘000 )

 Foreign currency bank accounts US $  161.12   45,709   1,122.60   309,300

  CNY  18,412.37   729,192   29,736.43   1,139,060

     774,901    1,448,360 

 

 Trade debts US $  160,240.44   45,444,188   140,794.83   39,183,202

  EUR €  3,575.81   1,188,064   1,086.01   323,500 

  CNY  27,120.73   1,074,073   11,616.83   444,985 

     47,706,325    39,951,687 

     48,481,226    41,400,047 

 Less: Payables – creditors US $  (1,383.98)  (393,188)  (2,086.65)  (581,758)

  EUR €  (84.93)  (28,268)  (135.05)  (40,299)

  GBP £  (3.40)  (1,325)  –     –   

  CHF  (0.60)  (213)  –     –   

  CNY  (39,965.54)  (1,582,769)  (10,169.30)  (389,537)

     (2,005,763)   (1,011,594)

 Less: Other payables US $  (440.61)  (125,178)  (456.04)  (127,145)

 On Balance sheet exposure    46,350,285    40,261,308 

 

 Under letter of credit US $  9,784.02   2,779,641   9,307.05   2,594,806

  EUR €  870.15   289,611   7,235.19   2,159,053 

  GBP £  19.83   7,728   39.30   13,828 

  JPY  ¥  7,765.34   15,299   46,834.50   81,047 

  CHF  71.28   25,339   1,500.00   464,565 

 Off Balance sheet exposure    3,117,618    5,313,299 

 
 The following significant exchange rates have been applied as at reporting date: 

 2025 2024

 Foreign Currency  Selling Buying Selling Buying
    (Rupees)

 US $   284.10   283.60   278.80   278.30 

 EUR €   332.83   332.25   298.41   297.88

 GBP £   389.65   388.97   351.85   351.22 

 JPY  ¥   1.97   1.97   1.73   1.73 

 CNY   39.66   39.60   38.53   38.31 

 CHF   355.50   354.87   309.71   309.16 
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 Currency rate sensitivity analysis 

 If the functional currency, at reporting date, had weakened by 10% against the foreign currencies with 
all other variables held constant, the profit before taxation would have increased / (decreased) for the 
year 2025 and 2024 by the following amounts:

   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 
 Foreign Currency

 US $   4,186,850   3,610,753 
 EUR €   107,977   26,366
 GBP £   (123) –
 CHF    (20) –  
 CNY   20,528   111,209 

      4,315,212   3,748,328 
 
 A 10% strengthening of the functional currency against foreign currencies at June 30 would have had 

the equal but opposite effect of these amounts.       
 

 Currency risk sensitivity to foreign exchange movements has been calculated on a symmetric basis. The 
analysis assumes that all other variables remained constant.

51.1.3 Other price risk: 

 Price risk represents the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), 
whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, 
or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. The Group is not exposed to 
any significant other price risk. 

 
51.2 Credit risk: 

 Credit risk is the risk representing accounting loss that would be recognized at the reporting date if one 
party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation or its failure to perform duties under 
the contract as contracted. Concentration of credit risk arises when a number of counterparties are 
engaged in similar business activities or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to 
meet contractual obligations that is susceptible to changes in economic, political or other conditions. 
Concentration of credit risk indicates the relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance to developments 
affecting a particular industry. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is as follows:

   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 Long term loans   522,775   401,092 
 Long term deposits   95,481   89,451 
 Trade debts   49,388,925   41,638,589 
 Deposits and other receivables   375,438   459,660 
 Accrued income   877   1,497 
 Short term investments   500,000   500,000 
 Bank balances  1,070,800  1,483,566 

      51,954,296   44,573,855 
 
 Long term loans consist of loans to employees and director. Loans to employees and director are secured 

against their retirement benefits. Therefore, the Group is not exposed to any significant credit risk on 
these loans. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended June 30, 2025



217Financial Statements

 Long term deposits have been mainly placed with suppliers of electricity, gas, telecommunication 
services and deposits against services and leased assets. Considering the financial position and credit 
quality of the parties and institutions, the Group’s exposure to credit risk is not significant. 

 
 Trade debts amounting to Rs. 13,476 million (2024: Rs. 18,318 million) out of total debts are secured 

against letters of credit and insured contract. Furthermore, credit quality of customers is assessed taking 
into consideration their financial position and previous dealings and on that basis, individual credit 
limits are set. Moreover, the management regularly monitors and reviews customers’ credit exposure. 
Accordingly, the Group is not exposed to any significant credit risk. 

 
 Other receivables constitute mainly subsidy on gas and receivables from custom authorities and State 

Bank of Pakistan. Considering the financial position of and credit quality of the institutions, the Group’s 
exposure to credit risk is not significant. 

 
 The Group has no material expected credit loss or impairment allowance at the year end regarding trade 

debts and other receivables. 
 
 Short term investments are investments in TFCs. The credit risk on these investments and their accrued 

profit is limited because counter party is bank with reasonably high credit ratings.  
 
 The credit quality of the Group’s bank balances can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings 

or to historical information about counterparty default rate:

 Name of Bank Date Long term Short term Outlook Agency

 Allied Bank Limited 24-Jun-25 AAA A1+ Stable PACRA
 Askari Bank Limited 24-Jun-25 AA+ A1+ Stable PACRA
 Bank Alfalah Limited 28-Jun-25 AAA A1+ Stable PACRA
 Faysal Bank Limited 24-Jun-25 AA A1+ Stable PACRA
 Habib Bank Limited 30-Jun-25 AAA A-1+ Stable JCR-VIS
 Habib Metropolitan 
    Bank Limited 24-Jun-25 AA+ A1+ Stable PACRA
 MCB Bank Limited 23-Jun-25 AAA A1+ Stable PACRA
 MCB Islamic Bank Limited 23-Jun-25 A+ A1 Stable PACRA
 Meezan Bank Limited 30-Jun-25 AAA A-1+ Stable JCR-VIS
 National Bank of Pakistan 23-Jun-25 AAA A1+ Stable PACRA
 Standard Chartered Bank 
    (Pakistan) Limited 23-Jun-25 AAA A1+ Stable PACRA
 The Bank of Punjab 30-Jun-25 AA+ A1+ Stable PACRA
 United Bank Limited 30-Jun-25 AAA A-1+ Stable JCR-VIS
 Bank of China Limited 3-Apr-25 AA- A1+ Stable CSPI
 China Citic Bank
    Corporation Limited 18-Jul-25 BBB+ F1 Stable FITCH
 CBC Bank 16-May-25 A F1+ Stable FITCH
 Agriculture Bank of China 16-May-25 A F1+ Stable FITCH
 ICBC Bank 16-May-25 A F1+ Stable FITCH
 CTBC Bank 24-Jan-25 BBB+ F1+ Stable FITCH
 M & T Bank 3-Oct-24 A F1 Stable FITCH
 JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. 1-Oct-24 AAA N1+ Stable FITCH
 
 Due to the Group’s long standing relationships with these counterparties and after giving due 

consideration to their strong financial standing, management does not expect non-performance by 
these counter parties on their obligations to the Group. Accordingly, the risk is minimal. 
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51.3 Liquidity risk 

 Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities. 

 
 The Group’s approach to manage liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient level of liquidity by holding highly 

liquid assets and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. 
At June 30, 2025 the Group has Rs. 45,370 million (2024: Rs. 26,596 million) unutilized borrowing limits 
available from financial institutions and Rs. 1,088.334 million (2024: Rs. 1,510.910 million) cash and bank 
balances. The management believes that the Group is not exposed to any liquidity risk. 

 
 The following are the contractual maturity analysis of financial liabilities as at June 30, 2025 and 2024:

2025

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash 昀氀ows

Within 1  
Year

More than 1 
Year and up 
to 5 years

More than 5 
Years

(Rupees ‘000)

 Financial Liabilities :

 Long term financing  31,005,452   45,416,392   5,300,251   24,670,266   15,445,875 
 Lease liabilities  391,506   391,506   79,077   312,429   –   
 Trade and other payables  14,037,199   13,951,691   13,951,691   –     –   
 Unclaimed dividend  3,112   3,112   3,112   –     –   
 Accrued mark up   1,022,221   1,022,221   1,022,221   –     –   
 Short term borrowings  59,948,702   32,060,662   32,060,662   –     –   

   106,408,192   92,845,584   52,417,014   24,982,695   15,445,875 
 
 2024

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash 昀氀ows

Within 1  
Year

More than 1 
Year and up 
to 5 years

More than 5 
Years

(Rupees ‘000)

 Financial Liabilities : 

 Long term financing  18,917,362   27,389,598   4,810,932   15,384,133   7,194,533 
 Lease liabilities  274,716   353,028   118,223   234,805   –   
 Trade and other payables  13,377,436   13,377,436   13,377,436   –     –   
 Unclaimed dividend  3,077   3,077   3,077   –     –   
 Accrued mark up   2,689,751   2,689,751   2,689,751   –     –   
 Short term borrowings  50,439,844   50,439,844   50,439,844   –     –   

   85,702,186   94,252,734   71,439,263   15,618,938   7,194,533 
 
 The contractual cash flows relating to the above financial liabilities have been determined on the basis of 

interest rates / mark-up rates effective as at 30 June. The rates of interest / mark up have been disclosed 
in note 25, 26 and 30 to these consolidated financial statements. 

 
51.4 Capital risk management 

 The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, maintain healthy capital ratios, strong credit rating and optimal capital structures in 
order to ensure ample availability of finance for its existing and potential investment projects, so that 
it can continue to provide returns for shareholders thereby maximizing their wealth, benefits for other 
stakeholders and reduce the cost of capital.  
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 The Group manages the capital structure in the context of economic conditions and the risk characteristics 
of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may, for example, 
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt.

 The Group monitors capital on the basis of debt to equity ratio, calculated on the basis of total debt to 
equity.

   2025 2024
   (Rupees ‘000) (Rupees ‘000)

 Long term financing   31,005,452   18,917,362 
 Short term borrowings   59,948,702   50,439,844 

 Debts   90,954,154   69,357,206 
 Equity   56,108,009   54,161,464 

 Total capital (equity + debt)   147,062,163   123,518,670 
 
 Gearing ratio (percentage)   61.85   56.15 
 

52. EVENT AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 

 The Board of Directors of the Holding Company in their meeting held on September 10, 2025 have proposed 
a final cash dividend of Re. 1 per share (2024: Rs. 2.5 per share), amounting to Rs. 1,401.71 million (2024: Rs. 
3,504.27 million), for approval of the members at the Annual General Meeting of the Holding Company.

53. DATE OF AUTHORIZATION FOR ISSUE 

 These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue on September 10, 2025 by the Board of 
Directors of the Holding Company. 

 
54. GENERAL 

54.1 Corresponding 昀椀gures 

 Corresponding figures have been rearranged and reclassified wherever necessary for the purpose of 
better presentation. However, during the year no reclassifications is made in the corresponding figures.

54.2 Following nomenclature has been changed during the year

 Previous year nomenclature Current year nomenclature  

 Final taxes     Levies

54.3 Rounding

 Figures have been rounded off to the nearest thousand of rupees.     
   

Chief Executive Of昀椀cer Director Chief Financial Officer
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Notice is hereby given that the 33rd Annual General Meeting (AGM) of Interloop Limited (the “Company”) will be held 

on Friday, October 10, 2025, at 10:00 a.m. at the Interloop Executive Club, Interloop Industrial Park located at 7-KM 

Khurrianwala - Jaranwala Road, Khurrianwala, Faisalabad, to transact the following businesses:

Members are encouraged to attend the AGM through the video link facility managed by the Company (Please see the 

notes section for details)

ORDINARY BUSINESS:

1. To confirm the minutes of the last Annual General Meeting (AGM) of the Company held on October 24, 2024.

2. To receive, consider and adopt the Annual Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended June 

30, 2025, together with the Auditors’ and Directors’ Report thereon and the Chairperson’s Review Report.

 In accordance with Section 223 of the Companies Act, 2017, and pursuant to the S.R.O. 389(I)/2023 dated March 
21, 2023, the Annual Audited Financial Statements along with Reports of the Company can be accessed through 
the following weblink and QR enabled code.

 

 https://investors.interloop-pk.com/financial-reports/

3. To declare and approve, as recommended by the Directors, the payment of Final Cash Dividend @ Rs.1/- per share 

i.e. 10% for the year ended June 30, 2025.

4. To appoint Auditors and fix their remuneration for the financial year 2025-26. The Members are hereby given 

notice that the Board of Directors, on the recommendation of the Board Audit Committee of the Company, has 

proposed the name of the retiring auditors, M/s Kreston Hyder Bhimji & Company, Chartered Accountants for re-

appointment as the Auditors of the Company.

OTHER BUSINESS:

5. To transact any other business with the permission of the Chair.

 By Order of the Board

 

Place: Faisalabad (Rana Ali Raza)

Dated: September 18, 2025   Company Secretary

NOTICE OF 33RD 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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NOTES:

1. Closure of Share Transfer Books:

 The Share Transfer Books of the Company will remain closed from October 03, 2025, to October 10, 2025 (both 

days inclusive). Transfer requests on prescribed format, received at the office of the Share Registrar of the Company, 

M/s. CDC Share Registrar Services Limited, CDC House, 99 –B, Block B, S.M.C.H.S., Main Shahrah-e- Faisal, 

Karachi-74400 on or before the close of business on October 02, 2025, will be treated ‘in time’ for the purpose of 

above entitlement(s) to the transferees and/or to attend the AGM.

2. Virtual Participation in the AGM Proceedings:

 Shareholders interested in attending the AGM virtually are hereby advised to get themselves registered with the 

Company by providing the following information via email at aliraza.rana@interloop.com.pk or general.meetings@

interloop.com.pk 

Name of 

Shareholder

CNIC No. Folio No./CDC 

Account No.

No. of Shares Contact No. Email Address

 Online meeting link and login credentials shall be shared with members who have submitted request via email 

containing all the required particulars by the close of business on Thursday October 09, 2025. The login facility shall 

remain open from 09:30 am till the start of the Meeting on October 10, 2025.

3. Electronic transmission of  Notice of Annual General Meeting and Annual Report 2025:

 In compliance with section 223(6) of the Act read with S.R.O 452(I)/2025 dated March 17, 2025, by SECP, the 

Company has electronically transmitted the Notice of the Annual General Meeting and the Annual Report of 2025 

through email to its Shareholders whose email addresses are available with the Company’s Share Registrar, M/s. 

CDC Share Registrar Services Limited. The printed notices of the AGM, after insertion of the weblink and QR 

enabled code for downloading the Annual Report, have also been dispatched under S.R.O. 389 (I)/2023, dated 

March 21, 2023. The Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended June 30, 2025, along with the reports 

have also been uploaded on the website of the Company. 

 

 https://investors.interloop-pk.com/financial-reports/

 

 However, the Company shall provide hard copies of the Annual Report to any member on their demand, at their 

registered address, free of cost, within one week of receiving such request on specified consent letter/form which 

is available on the Company’s website www.interloop-pk.com

 Further, Shareholders are requested to kindly provide their valid email address (along with a copy of valid CNIC) to 

the Company’s Share Registrar, M/s. CDC Share Registrar Services Limited CDC House, 99 –B, Block B, S.M.C.H.S., 

Main Shahrah-e- Faisal, Karachi-74400, if the Member holds any shares in physical form or to the respective 

Member’s Participant/Investor Account Services, if shares are held in book entry form.

4. Requirements for appointing proxies:

 All members, entitled to attend and vote at the meeting, are eligible to appoint another person in writing as their 

proxy to attend and vote on their behalf. A proxy must be a member of the Company. In case of corporate entities, 

a resolution of the Board of Directors / power of attorney with specimen signature of the person nominated to 

represent and vote on behalf of the corporate entity and an attested copy of CNIC shall be submitted to the 

Company at the meeting or along with a completed proxy form. The proxy holders are required to produce their 

original valid CNICs or original passports at the time of the meeting.
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 In order to be effective, duly completed and signed proxy forms must be received at the Company’s Registered 

Office at least 48 hours before the time of the meeting.

 Guidelines for CDC Account Holders issued by SECP:

 CDC account holders will further have to follow the below mentioned guidelines as laid down by the Securities and 

Exchange Commission of Pakistan in this regard:

a) For Attending the Meeting

i. In case of individuals, the account holders or sub-account holders whose registration details are uploaded 

as per the Regulations shall authenticate his/her original valid CNIC or the original passport at the time of 

attending the meeting.

ii. Members registered on CDC are also requested to bring their particulars, I.D. numbers and account 

numbers in CDS.

iii. In case of corporate entity, the Board of Directors’ resolution/power of attorney with specimen signature 

of the nominee shall be produced (unless it has been provided earlier) at the time of the meeting along 

with the proxy form to the Company. 

b) For Appointing Proxies

i. In case of individuals, the account holders or sub-account holders whose registration details are uploaded 

as per the Regulations shall submit the proxy form as per above requirements.

ii. Attested copies of valid CNIC or the passport of the beneficial owners and the proxy shall be furnished 

with the proxy form.

iii. The proxy shall produce original valid CNIC or original passport at the time of the meeting.

iv. In case of a corporate entity, the Board of Directors’ resolution / power of attorney with specimen signature 

shall be submitted (unless it has been provided earlier) along with proxy form to the Company.

v. Proxy form will be witnessed by two persons whose names, addresses and valid CNIC numbers shall be 

mentioned on the form.

5. Electronic Dividend Mandate:

 Under Section 242 of the Act, it is mandatory for all listed companies to pay cash dividend to its Shareholders 

through electronic mode directly into the bank account designated by the entitled Shareholders.

 To receive dividend directly into their bank account, Shareholders are requested (if not already provided) to fill 

the Dividend Bank Mandate Form for Electronic Credit of Cash Dividend available on the Company’s website i.e., 

www.interloop-pk.com and send it duly signed along with a copy of valid CNIC to the Share Registrar, M/s. CDC 

Share Registrar Services Limited, in case of physical shares. In case of shares held in CDC, Electronic Dividend 

Mandate Form must be directly submitted to Shareholder’s brokers / participant / CDC account services.

 In case of non-receipt of above information/form, the Company will be constrained to withhold payment of dividend 

to Shareholders. As per SECP directives, the dividend of Shareholders, whose valid CNICs are not available with the 

Share Registrar, may be withheld. All Shareholders having physical shareholding are therefore advised to submit 

a photocopy of their valid CNICs immediately, if already not provided, to the Share Registrar, M/s. CDC Share 

Registrar Services Limited without any further delay.
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6. Deduction of Income Tax from Dividend under Section 150 of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001  (“Income tax 

Ordinance”):

 The rates of deduction of withholding tax for Filers and Non-Filers as prescribed under Section 150 of the Income 

Tax Ordinance 2001, are as under:

• For Filers of income tax returns         15.00%

• For Non-Filers of income tax returns  30.00%

 Withholding tax on Dividend in case of Joint Account Holders

 Members who have joint shareholdings held by Filers and Non-Filers shall be dealt with separately and in such 

particular situation, each account holder is to be treated as either a Filer or a Non-Filer and tax will be deducted 

according to his/her shareholding.

 If the share is not ascertainable then each account holder will be assumed to hold equal proportion of shares and 

the deduction will be made accordingly. Therefore, in order to avoid deduction of tax at a higher rate, the joint 

account holders are requested to provide the below mentioned details of their shareholding to the Share Registrar 

of the Company latest by the Annual General Meeting date.

Folio No/  

CDC Account 

No

Total No of 

Shares

Name of 

Principal 

Shareholder and 

CNIC #

Share Holding Name of Joint 

Shareholders 

and CNIC #

Share Holding

	 Valid	Tax	Exemption	Certi昀椀cate	for	Exemption	from	Withholding	Tax

 A valid tax exemption certificate is necessary for exemption of the deduction of withholding tax under Section 150 

of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001. Members who qualify under Clause 47B of Part IV of the Second Schedule to 

the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001, and wish to seek an exemption must provide a copy of their valid tax exemption 

certificate to the Shares Registrar prior to the date of commencement of book closure, otherwise tax will be 

deducted according to the applicable laws.

7. Unclaimed Dividend / Shares under Section 244 of the Companies Act, 2017: 

 An updated list for unclaimed dividend / shares of the Company is available on the Company’s website i.e., 

www.interloop-pk.com.These are unclaimed dividend / shares, which have remained unclaimed or unpaid for a 

period of three (3) years from the date these have become due and payable.

 

 Shareholders are requested to ensure that their claims for unclaimed dividend and shares are lodged promptly. 

Shareholders, who by any reason, could not claim their dividend, if any, are advised to contact our Share Registrar 

M/s. CDC Share Registrar Services Limited, CDC House, 99 –B, Block B, S.M.C.H.S., Main Shahrah-e- Faisal, 

Karachi-74400 and collect / enquire about their unclaimed dividend, if any.  

 Incase no claim is lodged, the Company shall proceed to deposit the unclaimed/unpaid amount and shares with the 

Federal Government pursuant to the provision of Section 244 (2) of Companies Act, 2017.

8. Consent for video conference facility:

 Pursuant to Section 132(2) & Section 134(b) of the Companies Act, 2017, if the Company receives a consent 

form from the Shareholders holding aggregate 10% or more shareholding residing at geographical location to 

participate in the meeting through video conference at least seven (7) days prior to the date of meeting, the 
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Company will arrange video conference facility in that city subject to availability of such facility in that city. To avail 

this facility please provide the following information and submit it to the registered office of the Company:

 I/We, __________________________________ of ____________________, being a member of Interloop 

Limited, holder of ___________________________ ordinary share(s) as per Registered Folio/CDC Account No. 

______________________ hereby opt for video conference facility at _________________________.

 ___________________

 Signature of Member

9. Declaration for exemption of Zakat:

 In order to claim exemption from compulsory deduction of Zakat, Shareholders are requested to submit a notarized 

copy of Zakat Declaration Form “CZ-50” on Non-Judicial Stamp Paper of appropriate value to the Share Registrar, 

M/s. CDC Share Registrar Services Limited, of the Company before the close of share transfer books. In case shares 

are held in book entry form such Zakat Declaration Form (CZ -50) must be uploaded in the CDC account of the 

Shareholder, through their Participant / Investor Account Services. 

 Further, Non-Muslim Shareholders are also required to file Solemn Affirmation with the Share Registrar of the 

Company in case the shares are held in physical certificates or with CDC Participant / Investor Account Services in 

case shares are held book entry form. No exemption from the deduction of zakat will be allowed unless the above 

documents are complete in all aspects and have been made available as above. Moreover, shareholders are also 

requested to promptly notify any changes in their registered address.

10. Prohibition of Gifts:-

 In compliance with Section 185 of the Act read with Circular 2 of 2018, dated February 09, 2018, and S.R.O. 

452(I)/2025 dated March 17, 2025 of SECP has strictly prohibited companies from providing gifts or incentives, 

in lieu of gifts (tokens/coupons/lunches/takeaway/packages) in any form or manner, to the shareholders at or in 

connection with General Meetings. 
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  2,470   1   100  97,200
  2,070   101   500  616,854
  1,739   501   1,000  1,415,633
  2,723   1,001   5,000  6,644,820
  659   5,001   10,000  4,974,788
  229   10,001   15,000  2,816,288
  137   15,001   20,000  2,424,395
  108   20,001   25,000  2,498,195
  45   25,001   30,000  1,263,081
  34   30,001   35,000  1,113,119
  30   35,001   40,000  1,141,537
  34   40,001   45,000  1,435,111
  24   45,001   50,000  1,169,362
  23   50,001   55,000  1,195,748
  15   55,001   60,000  872,481
  24   60,001   65,000  1,509,858
  13   65,001   70,000  886,452
  7   70,001   75,000  509,236
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  7   85,001   90,000  611,553
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  2   150,001   155,000  306,989
  5   155,001   160,000  794,102
  2   160,001   165,000  321,051
  3   170,001   175,000  518,354
  2   175,001   180,000  353,300
  1   180,001   185,000  181,832
  1   190,001   195,000  190,928
  8   195,001   200,000  1,596,954
  3   200,001   205,000  601,854
  2   205,001   210,000  415,471
  1   210,001   215,000  213,561
  1   215,001   220,000  216,340
  4   220,001   225,000  898,798
  1   225,001   230,000  229,809
  1   235,001   240,000  240,000
  3   240,001   245,000  726,700
  4   245,001   250,000  1,000,000
  2   255,001   260,000  516,190
  2   260,001   265,000  523,060
  1   270,001   275,000  273,156
  1   275,001   280,000  280,000
  1   290,001   295,000  293,475

SHAREHOLDING

Number of Shareholders From To Total Shares Held

PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING 
AS ON JUNE 30, 2025
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SHAREHOLDING

Number of Shareholders From To Total Shares Held

  4   295,001   300,000  1,200,000
  1   300,001   305,000  301,450
  1   305,001   310,000  306,980
  2   315,001   320,000  633,078
  1   320,001   325,000  320,900
  1   335,001   340,000  339,285
  1   350,001   355,000  354,120
  1   360,001   365,000  361,530
  1   370,001   375,000  372,787
  1   395,001   400,000  400,000
  1   430,001   435,000  434,191
  1   435,001   440,000  436,396
  1   475,001   480,000  477,360
  1   480,001   485,000  485,000
  1   485,001   490,000  486,851
  4   495,001   500,000  1,995,936
  1   500,001   505,000  501,398
  1   540,001   545,000  541,676
  2   570,001   575,000  1,140,370
  1   620,001   625,000  625,000
  1   715,001   720,000  719,728
  1   740,001   745,000  744,565
  2   745,001   750,000  1,500,000
  1   795,001   800,000  800,000
  1   830,001   835,000  834,999
  1   880,001   885,000  883,952
  1   905,001   910,000  906,099
  1   945,001   950,000  950,000
  2   975,001   980,000  1,956,574
  1   1,000,001   1,005,000  1,000,030
  1   1,030,001   1,035,000  1,035,000
  1   1,095,001   1,100,000  1,100,000
  1   1,110,001   1,115,000  1,111,100
  1   1,170,001   1,175,000  1,173,597
  1   1,240,001   1,245,000  1,243,100
  1   1,250,001   1,255,000  1,255,000
  1   1,375,001   1,380,000  1,375,600
  1   1,395,001   1,400,000  1,395,900
  1   1,495,001   1,500,000  1,499,998
  1   1,600,001   1,605,000  1,600,649
  1   1,620,001   1,625,000  1,623,261
  1   1,635,001   1,640,000  1,638,563
  1   1,715,001   1,720,000  1,719,768
  1   1,865,001   1,870,000  1,870,000
  1   2,380,001   2,385,000  2,383,265
  1   2,530,001   2,535,000  2,531,295
  1   2,690,001   2,695,000  2,691,637
  1   3,250,001   3,255,000  3,251,453
  2   3,435,001   3,440,000  6,875,659
  1   3,665,001   3,670,000  3,666,953
  1   4,015,001   4,020,000  4,016,621
  1   4,130,001   4,135,000  4,130,905
  1   4,375,001   4,380,000  4,375,118
  1   5,755,001   5,760,000  5,756,377
  1   5,800,001   5,805,000  5,804,461
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SHAREHOLDING

Number of Shareholders From To Total Shares Held

  2   6,425,001   6,430,000  12,854,400
  1   8,505,001   8,510,000  8,505,004
  1   9,630,001   9,635,000  9,632,510
  1   9,715,001   9,720,000  9,719,745
  1   11,080,001   11,085,000  11,084,818
  1   11,110,001   11,115,000  11,111,100
  1   11,140,001   11,145,000  11,144,488
  1   11,565,001   11,570,000  11,568,960
  1   11,885,001   11,890,000  11,890,000
  1   12,065,001   12,070,000  12,069,188
  1   17,630,001   17,635,000  17,635,000
  1   21,565,001   21,570,000  21,568,960
  2   21,970,001   21,975,000  43,949,262
  1   31,110,001   31,115,000  31,111,348
  1   31,760,001   31,765,000  31,760,311
  1   37,435,001   37,440,000  37,438,351 
 1   89,155,001   89,160,000  89,155,912
  1   398,810,001   398,815,000  398,812,685
  1   479,625,001   479,630,000  479,627,935

 10,627     1,401,709,468

Categories of Shareholders  Shareholders Share Held Percentage

Director, Chief Executive Officer and their Spouse(s) and minor children

& sponsors  16   977,647,680   69.75 

Associated Companies, undertakings and related parties –    –     –   

NIT and ICP –  –    –

Banks Development Financial Institutions, Non–Banking Financial Institutions  9   25,550,900   1.82 

Insurance Companies  14   24,724,736   1.76 

Modarabas and Mutual Funds  46   40,235,619   2.87 

General Public 

a. Local  9,786   276,065,333   19.69 

b. Foreign  634   2,653,939   0.19 

Foreign Companies  4   43,581,686   3.11 

Others  118   11,249,575   0.80 

Totals   10,627   1,401,709,468   100.00 

Shareholders holding 10% or more   Shares Held   Percentage 

 2  878,440,620   62.67 

SHAREHOLDING

Number of Shareholders From To Total Shares Held
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COMPANY REGISTERED OFFICE

Established on April 25, 1992

Line of Business Textile Composite

Registered Office 15-A, Peoples Colony No. 1,  

 Faisalabad  

Fiscal Year-End 30th June 

External Auditors Kreston Hyder Bhimji & Co.  

 Chartered Accountants

Share Registrar CDC Share Registrar Services  

 Limited 

Website www.interloop-pk.com

STOCK INFORMATION

Exchange Listing Listed on Pakistan Stock   

 Exchange (PSX) on April 05,  

 2019.

Stock Symbol ILP 

Number of Shares Authorized 5,000,000,000

Number of Shares Issued 1,401,709,468

Number of Shareholders          10,627 (as on June 30, 2025)

REGULATORS FEE 

For the FY 2025-26, the annual listing fee of Pakistan Stock 

Exchange (PSX), the supervisory fee of Securities & Exchange 

Commission of Pakistan (SECP) and the annual supervision 

fee of Audit Oversight Board (AOB) has been paid within the 

stipulated time.

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

September 2025 Audited annual results for the 

year ended June 30, 2025

September 2025 Mailing of annual reports

October 2025 Annual General Meeting

October 2025 Unaudited first quarter 

financial results

February 2026 Unaudited half year financial 

results duly reviewed by 

Auditor

April 2026 Unaudited third quarter 

financial results

June 2026 Annual Business Plan & 

Budgets for next fiscal year

STATUTORY COMPLIANCE

During the year, the Company has complied with all applicable 

provisions, filed all returns/forms and furnished all the relevant 

particulars as required under the Companies Act, 2017 and 

allied rules, the Securities and Exchange Commission of 

Pakistan (SECP) Regulations and the Listing regulations of 

PSX.

SHARE TRANSFER SYSTEM

Share transfers received by the Company’s Share Registrar 

are registered within the prescribed period.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (AGM)

Pursuant to Section 132 of the Companies Act, 2017, the 

Company holds a General Meeting of shareholders at least 

once a year. Every shareholder has a right to attend the 

General Meeting. The notice of such meeting is sent to all 

the shareholders at least 21 days before the meeting and also 

advertised in at least one English and one Urdu newspaper 

having circulation nationwide.  

AGM 2025 WILL BE HELD AS ON:

Date: October 10, 2025

Time: 10:00 A.M.

Venue: Interloop Executive Club, Interloop Industrial Park, 

7 KM, Khurrianwala –Jaranwala Road, Khurrianwala, 

Faisalabad.

DATES OF BOOK CLOSURE

The register of the members and shares transfer books of 

the Company will remain closed from October 03, 2025 to 

October 10, 2025 (both days inclusive).

FINAL CASH DIVIDEND 

The Board of Directors in their meeting held on September 

10, 2025 has proposed a final cash dividend on ordinary 

shares at Rs. 1 per ordinary share.

DATE OF DIVIDEND PAYMENT

The payment of dividend, upon approval by shareholders at 

the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, will be made after 

October 10, 2025.

Last year, the Company has credited the final cash dividend 

on November 01, 2024 after approval from shareholders at 

the 32nd Annual General Meeting.

PROXIES

Pursuant to Section 137 of the Companies Act, 2017 and 

according to the Memorandum and Articles of Association 

of the Company, every shareholder of the Company who 

is entitled to attend and vote at a general meeting of the 

Company can appoint another person as his/her proxy to 

attend and vote on his/her behalf. Every notice calling a 

general meeting of the Company contains a statement that a 

shareholder entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint 

a proxy who sought to be a member of the Company. The 

instrument appointing a proxy (duly signed by the shareholder 

INVESTOR
INFORMATION
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appointing that proxy) should be deposited at the registered 

office of the Company not less than forty-eight hours before 

the said general meeting.

CIRCULATION OF NOTICE OF AGM AND ANNUAL 

REPORT 

In compliance with section 223(6) of the Act read with 

S.R.O 452(I)/2025 dated March 17, 2025, by SECP, the 

Company has electronically transmitted the Notice of the 

Annual General Meeting and the Annual Report of 2025 

through email to its Shareholders whose email addresses 

are available with the Company’s Share Registrar, M/s. 

CDC Share Registrar Services Limited. The printed notices 

of the AGM, after insertion of the weblink and QR enabled 

code for downloading the Annual Report, have also been 

dispatched under S.R.O. 389 (I)/2023, dated March 21, 

2023. The Financial Statements of the Company for the year 

ended June 30, 2025, along with the reports have also been 

uploaded on the website of the Company.

https://investors.interloop-pk.com/financial-reports/

DIVIDEND MANDATE (MANDATORY)

To facilitate the resident companies, the Securities Exchange 

Commission of Pakistan, through its S.R.O. 389 (I)/2023, 

dated March 21, 2023, 

As per provisions of Section 242 of Companies Act, 2017, 

any dividend payable in cash shall only be paid through 

electronic mode directly into the bank account designated by 

the entitled shareholders and SECP vide S.R.O.1145(I)/2017 

directed all shareholders to provide their valid International 

Bank Account Numbers (IBAN) to receive cash dividend 

electronically. Company shall be constrained to withhold the 

payment of Dividend to the shareholders, in case of non-

availability of IBAN of the shareholder or authorized person. 

UNCLAIMED DIVIDEND 

Shareholders, who by any reason, could not claim their 

dividends / shares, if any, are advised to contact our 

Share Registrar to collect / enquire about their unclaimed 

dividend/shares, if any. In compliance with Section 244 of 

the Companies Act, 2017, after having completed the 

stipulated procedure, all such dividend outstanding for a 

period of 3 years or more from the date due and payable 

shall be deposited to the Federal Government in case of 

unclaimed dividend and in case of shares, shall be delivered 

to the SECP.

WITHHOLDING TAX/ZAKAT ON DIVIDENDS:

Pursuant to the requirements under Section 150 of the 

Income Tax Ordinance, 2001, withholding tax is deductible 

at source on the amount of dividend paid by the Company 

at the rate of 15% for filers and at the rate of 30% for non-

filers. 

In the light of clarification from Federal Board of Revenue, 

all the shareholders who intend to seek exemption from 

withholding of taxes on payment of dividend under clause 

47B of Part – IV of the Second Schedule of the Income Tax 

Ordinance, 2001, are requested to provide valid Exemption 

Certificate under section 159(1) of the Income Tax Ordinance, 

2001 duly issued by the concerned Commissioner of Inland 

Revenue in order to claim the said exemption. Zakat is also 

deductible at source from the dividend at the rate of 2.5% 

of the face value of the share, other than corporate holders 

or individuals who have provided an undertaking for non-

deduction of zakat.

PROHIBITION OF GIFTS

In compliance with Section 185 of the Act read with Circular 

2 of 2018, dated February 09, 2018, and S.R.O. 452(I)/2025 

dated March 17, 2025 of SECP has strictly prohibited 

companies from providing gifts or incentives, in lieu of gifts 

(tokens/coupons/lunches/takeaway/packages) in any form 

or manner, to the shareholders at or in connection with 

General Meetings. 

REDRESSAL OF INVESTOR COMPLAINTS

Investors approach the Company for their queries and 

complaints generally through Company Secretarial 

Section. Various means of filing a complaint are available 

on Company’s website. Investors’ complaints /queries are 

usually related to receipt of latest dividends, request for 

hard copies of annual/quarterly reports, updation of bank 

account details to receive dividends, change of address, 

transfer/transmission of shares and unclaimed dividends etc. 

These queries / complaints are handled with utmost priority 

meeting the expectations of investors to their satisfaction.

STOCK MARKET DATA OF HIGH AND LOW PRICE OF 

EQUITY SHARES ON PAKISTAN STOCK EXCHANGE 

DURING FY 2025

Highest Lowest

82.50 Rs. 45.00
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PROXY FORM

INTERLOOP LIMITED

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

I/We_______________________________________________________________________________of_______________________ 

CDC A/C NO./ FOLIO NO. ______________________________ being a shareholder of Interloop Limited (“The Company”) 

hold ______________________________ Ordinary Shares do hereby appoint_____________________________________

Mr./Mrs./Ms_______________________________________________________of___________________________________ 

CDC A/C NO./ FOLIO NO. ____________________________ and or falling him/her_____________________________ 

of ___________________________ who is/are also a shareholder of the said Company, as my /our proxy in my /our absence 

to attend and vote for me /us at the 33rd Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on October 10, 2025 (Friday) 

at 10:00 A.M. at Interloop Executive Club, Interloop Industrial Park, 7-KM Khurrianwala-Jaranwala Road, Faisalabad and/

or any adjournment thereof in the same manner as I/we myself /ourselves would vote if personally present at that meeting.     

At witness my/our hand this ____________________ day of __________________ 2025.  

Affix 

Revenue Stamp of 

Rs. 5/- 

Witness 1:

1. Signed: 

 Name: 

 Address: 

 C.N.I.C/Passport NO.

Witness 2:

2. Signed: 

 Name: 

 Address: 

 C.N.I.C/Passport NO.

Important:

1. This Proxy Form, duly completed and signed, must be received at the Registered Office of the Company, Interloop 
Limited, 15-A, Peoples Colony No.1 , Faisalabad, not less than 48 hours before the time of holding the meeting.

2. If a member appoints more than one proxy and more than one instruments of proxies are deposited by a member 
with the Company, all such instruments of proxy shall be rendered invalid. 

3. The proxy form shall be witnessed by two persons whose names, addresses and CNIC/SNIC (Computer National 
Identity Card/Smart National Identity Card) numbers shall be mentioned on the form.

4. Attested copies of CNIC or the passport of the beneficial owners and the proxy shall be furnished with proxy 
form.

5. In case of corporate entity, the Board of Directors resolution/power of attorney with specimen shall be submitted 
(unless it has been provided earlier) along with proxy form to the Company.

Signature of Member(s)  ________________

(The signature should match with the

specimen registered with the Company)
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NOTE





(92) 41 4360 400

(92) 41 2428 704

externalaffairs@interloop-pk.com

P  :

F  :

M :

Corporate Office
1KM, Khurrianwala - Jaranwala Road,

Khurrianwala, Faisalabad, Pakistan.

(92) 41 4360 400

(92) 41 2428 704

P  :

F  :

Registered Office
15-A, Peoples Colony No.1,

Faisalabad, Pakistan.

InterloopLimited  

InterloopLtd 

interlooplimited

interlooplimited 

www.interloop-pk.com


